Centre for Distance & Online Education UNIVERSITY OF JAMMU JAMMU



SELF LEARNING MATERIAL M.A. POLITICAL SCIENCE

SEMESTER - II

COURSE NO. POL-202

INDIAN'S FOREIGN POLICY

Dr. V. V. Nagendra Rao Course Coordinator

Dr. Mamta Sharma Teacher In-Charge

Printed & Published on behalf of the Centre for Distance and Online Education, University of Jammu by the Director, CDOE, University of Jammu, Jammu.

http://www.distanceeducationju.in

POLITICAL SCIENCE

Course Writers

- Dr. Rajesh Kumar, Associate Professor in Political Science, School of Social Science, GNDU, Amritsar
- Dr. V. Nagendra Rao, Associate Professor in Political Science, CDOE, University of Jammu
- Dr. Shaveta Sharma, Assistant Professor in Political Science, GCW Udhampur, Jammu
- Dr. Pooja Chark, Assistant Professor in Political Science, PSPS, Gandhi Nagar, Jammu
- Dr. Nitika Verma, Lecturer in Political Science, GDC Mahanpur, Jammu

Editing& Proof Reading

Dr. Mamta Sharma

© Centre for Distance and Online Education, University of Jammu, Jammu, 2025

- All rights reserved. No part of this work may be reproduced in any form, by mimeograph or any other means, without permission in writing from the CDOE, University of Jammu.
- The script writer shall be responsible for the lesson/script submitted to the CDOE and any plagiarism shall be his/her entire responsibility

M.A. Political Science under-CBCS

Semester-II

Session May 2023, 2024 & 2025 Course Code: POL-202

Title-India's Foreign Policy

Credits: 6 (Six) Max. Marks: 100

Internal Assessment: 20 Time: 3 Hours Semester Exam: 80

Objectives of Course: This course is framed to enable the learners to comprehend the way India situated itself in the comity of nation-states after independence when the international scenario was highly acrimonious and polarized. Another objective is to make students understand the way India has been adjusting to the highly dynamic world by calibrating its world view accordingly. It elucidates the way India has established and steered its relations with major players at the bilateral, regional and global formats. This course explores the role of constantly evolving internal and external environments in shaping, transforming and adjusting India's world in the past as well as in the contemporary world.

Learning Outcomes: The learners are educated that why India or for that matter every country needs. foreign policy. They are expected to know the use of diplomacy and the various policy postures pronounced by India to deal with the highly dynamic world. It also aims to make students understand that how the security scenario of India was improved when it had limited military capability. This course equips the learners to grasp how India used diplomacy to secure its national interest. to mobilize capital and technology for its energy security, economic growth and prosperity. This knowledge will help them to relate India with the contemporary world.

Course Contents

Unit I: Principles, Objectives, Determinants and Agencies

- 1.1 Genesis and Foundations of India's Foreign Policy: Ideology, Principles, Goals and Objectives
- 1.2 Determinants of India's Foreign Policy: Internal and External
- 1.3 India's Foreign Policy Making: Structures and Processes (Parliament, PMO, MEA, NSC, Political Parties and Media)
- 1.4 Continuity and Change in India's Foreign Policy

Unit II: India's Security Concerns

- 2.1 India's Security Policy: Evolution and Parameters: India's Security Concerns: Internal and External
- 2.2 Changing Dynamics of India's Nuclear Policy
- 2.3 India's Energy Security: Role of Diplomacy
- 2.4 India's Contemporary Security Challenges: Maritime Security, Cyber Security and Trafficking

Unit III: India and important Power Centers

- 3.1 India and the United States: From Divergence to Convergence
- 3.2 India and Russia: Changing Contours.
- 3.3 India and European powers: France, Germany and United Kingdom

3.4 India and Emerging Powers: Brazil and South Africa

Unit IV: India's Role in International Affairs

- 4.1 India and United Nations: Peace-keeping.
- 4.2 India and International Economic Regime: WTO. IMF and World Bank.
- 4.3 India's and Climate Change: Issues and initiatives
- 4.4 India and New Regionalism: Indo-Pacific, Quad, BRICS and G-20

Note for Paper Setter

- The Question Paper shall be divided into two sections. The first section will carry eight short questions of which students will be required to attempt five questions. The upper words limit for the answer of each question will be 200 words. Each question carrying 4 marks.
- The second section will comprise eight questions of which students will have to attempt four
 questions on the basis of 'WITHIN UNIT' choice. The upper words limit for the answer of each
 question will be 850 to 1000 words. Each question will carry 15 marks.

Suggested Readings

Appadorai, A., Domestic Roots of India's Foreign Policy, New Delhi: OUP, 1981.

Bandyopadhyaya J. *Making of India's Policy: Determinants, Institutions, Processes and Personalities*, Bombay: Allied Publishers, 1980.

Bradnock. Robert, *India's Foreign Policy since 1971*, London: Royal Institute for International Affairs, 1990.

Dixit, JN, Makers of India's Foreign Policy, New Delhi: Harper Collins India, 2004.

Dubey, Muchkund, *India's Foreign Policy: Coping With The Changing World*, New Delhi: Pearson Publishers, 2012.

Ganguly, Sumit, *India's Foreign Policy: Retrospect and Prospect*, New Delhi: Oxford University Press, 2011.

Ghose, Anjali, et.al..ed. *India's Foreign Policy*, Delhi: Pearson, 2009.

Gujral. J K. Continuity and Change India's Foreign Policy, New Delhi: MacMillan Indian Limited, 2002.

Harshe, Rajen and K.M. Seethi, ed. *Engaging with the World: Critical Reflections on India's Foreign Policy*, New Delhi: Orient Longman, 2005.

Malone. David M. *Does the Elephant Dance?: Contemporary Indian Foreign Policy*, Oxford: OUP, 2012.

Pant, Harsh V. and Kanti P. Bajpai (eds). *India's Foreign Policy: A Reader*. New Delhi: OUP, 2013)

TABLE OF CONTENTS

	Title	Course Writer	Page
UNITI	PRINCIPLES, OBJECTIVES, DETERMINANTSANDAGENCIES		5-71
	1.1 Genesis and Foundations of India's Foreign Policy: Ideology, Principles, Goals and Objectives	V. Nagendra Rao	5
	1.2 Determinants of India's Foreign Policy : Internal and External	V. Nagendra Rao	24
	1.3 India's Foreign Policy Making : Structures and Process (Parliament, PMO, MEA, Political Parties, Media)	V. Nagendra Rao	38
	1.4 Continuity & Change in India's Foreign Policy: Post-Cold War Era	V. Nagendra Rao	58
UNIT II	INDIA'S SECURITY CONCERNS		72-137
	2.1 India's Security Policy: Evolution and Parameters : India's Security Concerns : Internal and External	V. Nagendra Rao & Rajesh Kumar	72
	2.2 Changing Dynamics of India's Nuclear Policy	V. Nagendra Rao & Rajesh Kumar	99
	2.3 India's Energy Security: Role of Diplomacy	V. Nagendra Rao & Rajesh Kumar	109
	2.4 India's Contemporary Security Challanges: Maritime Security, Cyber Security and Trafficking	Neetika Verma	118

UNIT III	INDIA AND IMPORTANT POWERS CENTERS		138-184
	3.1 India and the United States: From Divergence to Convergence	Rajesh Kumar	138
	3.2 India and Russia: Changing Contours	Rajesh Kumar	150
	3.3 India and European powers : France, Germany and United Kingdom	Shaveta Sharma	160
	3.4 India and Emerging Powers : Brazil and South Africa	Shaveta Sharma	176
UNIT IV	INDIA'S ROLE IN INTERNATIONAL AFFAIRS		185-250
	4.1 India and United Nations: Peace- Keeping	Pooja Charak	185
	4.2 India and International Economic Regime : WTO, IMF and World Bank	V. Nagendra Rao & Rajesh Kumar	201
	4.3 India and Climate Change: Issues and and Initiatives	V. Nagendra Rao	216
	4.4 India and New Regionalism: Indo-Pacific, Quad, BRICS and G-20	V. Nagendra Rao	230-

1.1 GENESIS AND FOUNDATIONS OF INDIA'S FOREIGN POLICY: IDEOLOGY, PRINCIPLES, GOALS AND OBJECTIVES

- V Nagendra Rao

STRUCTURE

- 1.1.0 Objectives
- 1.1.1 Introduction
- 1.1.2 Genesis of India's Foreign Policy
- 1.1.3 Ideology of India's Foreign Policy
- 1.1.4 Goals of India's Foreign Policy
- 1.1.5 Objectives of India's Foreign Policy
- 1.1.6 Principles of India's Foreign Policy
- 1.1.7 Let Us Sum Up
- 1.1.8 Exercises
- 1.1.9 Suggested Readings

1.1.0 OBJECTIVES

This introductory lesson provides basic understanding about evolution of India's foreign policy in the post-independence period. After going through this topic, you should be able to:

- know the ideological influences of nationalist movement on foreign policy of India;
- understand the goals and objectives of the India's foreign policy;
- comprehend the principles on which India's foreign policy is based upon, during Cold War and post-Cold War period.

1.1.1 INTRODUCTION

A country's foreign policy consists of self-interest strategies chosen by the state to safeguard its national interests and to achieve goals within its international relations milieu. The approaches are strategically employed to interact with other countries. The study of such strategies is called foreign policy analysis. In recent times, due to the deepening level of globalization and transnational activities, the states will also have to interact with non-state actors. The aforementioned interaction is evaluated and monitored in attempts to maximize benefits of multilateral international cooperation. Since the national interests are paramount, foreign policies are designed by the government through

high-level decision making processes. National interests' accomplishment can occur as a result of peaceful cooperation with other nations, or through exploitation.

Usually, formulation of the foreign policy is the job of the head of government and the foreign minister or equivalent. In some countries the legislature also has considerable effects. Foreign policies of countries have varying rates of change and scopes of intent, which can be affected by factors that change the perceived national interests or even affect the stability of the country itself. The foreign policy of one country can have a profound and lasting impact on many other countries and on the course of international relations as a whole.

India's foreign policy has been subject to various pulls and pushes since its inception. In this chapter, we will study the orientation of India's foreign policy, which was a product of the long drawn freedom struggle and Indian leadership's interaction with the outside world during that period. This chapter analyses the goals of the foreign policy and principles adopted to achieve those goals.

1.1.2 GENESIS OF INDIA'S FOREIGN POLICY

Indian leadership formulated certain basic principles on which the framework of India's foreign policy was constructed. These could be termed as means of India's foreign policy to achieve the ends. India's first Prime Minister, Jawaharlal Nehru, was the chief architect of this framework, which was an aggregation of India's principles and concrete realities in international arena.

In real terms, Indian foreign policy came into being with the advent of independence in 1947. Until then the nation, as a satellite of the British Empire, had no diplomatic identity and eschewed the postulates of foreign policy dictated by the erstwhile rulers. India's role in the First World War and the subsequent course of its rudimentary diplomatic overtures were constrained by prevailing British influences. The preponderance of political leaders and philosophers such as Mahatma Gandhi, Nehru and Sarvapalli Radhakrishnan in the ruling elite of India in the immediate postindependence era brought an element of altruism and idealism into its polity. The early years of freedom were the formative period for all policies on international understanding and diplomacy. Nehru himself taken responsibility as a foreign minister and throughout his life remained the chief architect of India's foreign policy. He tried to identify the country's foreign policy with anticolonialism and anti-racism. He also promoted India's role as a peacemaker, which was an extension of Gandhian policies and deeply rooted in the indigenous religious traditions of Buddhism, Hinduism and Jainism. Like foreign policies of other countries, India's was based first on its government's perceptions of national interests and security considerations. India's foreign policy defined by Nehru as non-aligned was based on the Five Principles of Panch- Sheel— mutual respect for other nations' territorial integrity and sovereignty, non aggression, non-interference in internal affairs, equality and mutual benefit and peaceful coexistence.

In the 1950s, India attempted to play an important role in international politics even though it did not possess all the necessary attributes. It endeavoured to overcome its power weaknesses by politically mobilising African and Asian nations and by assuming for a time, the leadership of non-aligned nations. Washington considered this policy not only an obstacle in the way of its containment of the

Soviet Union but also an attempt to create an additional global force. It thus launched a policy of military containment and neutralisation of India through the military build-up of Pakistan in 1954. These years of diplomatic vacillations and ambiguity were characterised by a general unwillingness in India to address foreign policy issues in perspective and with pragmatic foresight.

The next decade began as the era of Panch-Sheel and non-alignment and India hoped that the border issues over the validity of the McMahon line, incursions into Aksai Chin and military action in Tibet by the Chinese would be resolved by discussions, as it did not have the appropriate military preparedness to counter China's coercive diplomacy. The 1962 military defeat revealed that the country's role pretensions were inconsistent with its capabilities, which resulted in somewhat undermining India's global influence. Nehru's attempts to play a global leadership role failed, because of the widespread recognition after 1962 that India was not master in its own house. Indian diplomacy and statesmanship could not prevent a war with China, nor could its ill-equipped and ill-prepared military machine sustain it. The Chinese invasion humiliated India, shook its position in the international sphere and gave it its first object lesson that utopian foreign policies are often ignored in the face of pragmatic geopolitical compulsions so that a military backup to diplomacy is a prerequisite.

With the Cold War at its peak, India was pushed on to the centre stage of action in the early 1970s. In this period, the country gave concrete proof of its capability to become a regional superpower in the twenty-first century. During the East Pakistan (now Bangladesh) Crisis, India was staggered by the American warning that it should expect no assistance in the event of Chinese intervention. To counter the US—China alliance against India, in a masterly balance of power move, Indira Gandhi entered into a Treaty of Friendship with the USSR. When war erupted and with the US and China diplomatically and militarily neutralised by the USSR, India was able to inflict a severe military defeat on America's proxy — Pakistan in 1971. Thus, India created a new strategic environment and emerged as the preeminent power in South Asia. Its nuclear test in 1974 was an indicator that it would endeavour to maintain its pre-eminence in the subcontinent as well as its independent status.

During the 1980s, India came into its own in terms of foreign policy. The success of the 1971 War, a stronger military and a more mature nation were part of the reason. In addition, increasing domestic troubles led to the need for greater engagement with the world, as the emergence of the media increased "international pressure". The country began to play a greater role in Asian fora, engaged several countries bilaterally and increased its UN peacekeeping engagements. However, internal troubles and political turmoil stopped it from achieving a truly global status in economic terms. Furthermore, the decade started on an ominous note for India's strategic concerns.

However, the post-Cold War context completely changed the international dynamics and India needs to reorient its foreign policy as per the changed context. And it did it very well. The political and diplomatic class moved quite well to stabilize India's foreign policy in the changed context. The changes were so extreme that Israel, the country whose recognition India opposed, emerged as one of the leading exporter of India's defence equipment. The responses at economic, political and strategic levels have enabled India to emerge as a potential great power though it still faces enormous developmental challenges.

1.1.3 IDEOLOGY OF INDIA'S FOREIGN POLICY

The ideology and political traditions of a country influences its foreign policy substantially. More so for a country like India whose political traditions evolved during the nationalist movement against British colonialism. Apart from anti- imperialist orientation, which is a natural outcome of anti-colonial struggle, the Gandhian values of non-violence and peace, Nehruvian values of dignity and respect in international relations provided strong foundations for guiding India's foreign policy. The following section will discuss some of the issues related to ideological foundations of India's foreign policy.

1.1.3.1 IDEALIST VIEW OF POLITICS AND POWER

The ancient Indian tradition of nonviolence in general, and the Asokan tradition in particular, found its manifestation in an idealist approach to politics, both national and international, in the mainstream of Indian nationalist movement led by Gandhi. Politics Gandhi defined not in its usual sense of the art of capturing and managing governmental power, but as the "transformation of social relationships" in terms of certain ultimate values. He was severely critical of power politics and advised his followers to stay away from "power politics and its contagion". The only desirable and enduring form of power, according to him, was the power of nonviolence, which would involve love and respect for the adversary, and which he believed to be much greater than that of the atom bomb. Jawaharlal Nehru and other policy-makers of the post-independent India were profoundly influenced by the nonviolent national movement led by Gandhi, as well as by the modern Indian tradition of idealist political thinking in general. Although, Nehru, as prime minister, could not afford to be a pure idealist, and often referred to the real factors in India's national interest as important determinant of his foreign policy, he also strongly criticized the purely realist view of international relations based on military and economic power, and repeatedly emphasized the idealist political tradition of modern India in general and the Gandhian insistence on nonviolent and right means in particular, as an important element of Indian foreign policy.

1.1.3.2 IDEALIST APPROACH TO INTERNATIONALISM

Idealist approach to internationalism is one of the important ideological instruments that influenced the India's foreign policy during the early post-independence period. Gandhi pleaded for the "voluntary interdependence of nations" of nations as against their "isolated independence". Jawaharlal Nehru did not come entirely under the spell of this romanticized idealism, and certainly introduced a political element and a large measure of objectivity. But neither he nor the Indian National Congress came close to what in contemporary jargon would be called "political realism". In 1942, the All India Congress Committee passed a resolution in which it observed that "the future peace, security and ordered progress of the world demand a World Federation of free nations, and on no other basis can the problems of the modern world be solved". Such a federation, the resolution said, would ensure the freedom of the member-nations, prevent aggression and exploitation by one nation of another, protect national minorities, lead to the advancement of all backward areas and peoples, and the utilization of the world resources for the common benefit of all nations. Before Independence, Nehru persistently stressed this world-view of the Indian National Congress. In

January 1947 he told the Constituent Assembly: "The only possible real objective that we, in common with other nations, can have is the objective of cooperating in building up some kind of world structure, call it One World, call it what you may." IN his various foreign policy pronouncements Nehru stated categorically that the ideal of One World constituted one of the important bases of Indian foreign policy in general and of India's policy towards the United Nations in particular.

1.1.3.3 ANTI-IMPERIALISM AND ANTI-RACIALISM

Anti-imperialism as an aspect of Indian foreign policy developed out of India's own experience of British imperialism. At the initial states, however, India's anti- imperialism was primarily a protest against British rule in India, rather than an international ideal. However, since First World War Congress started protesting against all forms of imperialism. In 1928 the Congress observed that "the struggle of the Indian people for freedom is a part of the general world struggle against imperialism and its manifestation".

On account of the British racialist policy in India, which "permeated all the services and constituted the distinguishing characteristic of British rule in the East in the 19th century", imperialism and racialism became identified in India's historical experience. One of the aspects of Soviet life which made a deep impressions on Nehru's mind during his visit to Moscow at the end of 1927 was what he considered to be the complete absence of the racial prejudice in Soviet society. By 1947 anti-imperialism and anti-racialism had become categorical imperatives of the Indian national mind, and Nehru only expressed a deep Indian sentiment when he declared in 1946, as the Prime Minister of the Interim Government of India, that anti-imperialism and anti-racialism were the "kernel of our foreign policy".

1.1.3.4 ASIANISM

India's Asianism was a corollary to anti-imperialism and anti-racialism. The growth of the nationalist spirit in India was associated with the realization that practically the whole of Asia was suffering from imperialistic oppression and racial discrimination in one form or another, and that the historical experience and the destiny of Asian countries were linked together. The national movements in different Asian countries, particularly the political consolidation and industrial development of Japan, resulting in her victory over Russia in 1905, and the Chinese revolution of 1911 further inspired the leaders of Indian freedom movement and strengthened their sense of a common Asian destiny. From the end of the First World War the Indian National Congress talked of the need for an "Asiatic Federation". In 1928 the Congress resolved that "India should develop contacts with other countries and peoples who also suffer under imperialism and desire to combat it" and directed its Working Committee to convene "the first session of a Pan-Asiatic Federation in 1930 in India". In 1942 the Congress resolved that "the freedom of India must be a symbol of and prelude to the freedom of all other Asiatic nations under foreign domination". Thus when Nehru convened the first Asian Relations Conference in New Delhi in March 1947 and observed in his inaugural address that "in order to have one world, we must also, in Asia, think of the countries of Asia cooperating together

1.1.3.5 REJECTION OF WESTERN DEMOCRACY AND COMMUNISM

The ideals of nonviolence, democracy, anti-imperialism, anti-racialism, Pan- Asianism, cooperative internationalism, etc. gave the Indian people a certain autonomy in political thinking and a world outlook which fitted neither with that of the Western countries nor with that of the Communist bloc. The anti-Western democratic feelings were the result of the perception that this system was responsible for the cruel imperialism in Asia and Africa. There was also the feeling that the capitalist economic system which was associated with this type of democracy was based on the exploitation of the common people at home and the people in the colonies.

Similarly, there is realization in the Indian nationalist leadership that the Russian Revolution and the state system which had come into existence as a result of it were utterly repugnant to the basic ideals of the Indian nationalist movement, especially against those of nonviolence, democracy, and cooperative internationalism. Hence, the leadership strived to establish a new set of political and economic institutions which would steer clear of the evils of both the systems and break new ideological ground for the future course of human progress. The resolutions of the Indian National Congress since the early thirties reflected this ideological autonomy of Indian nationalism. The Karachi Resolution of 1931 laid the foundation of both political democracy and state initiative, control and planning for rapid economic development with equality and justice.

This middle ground of ideological stance later on led to India championing the non-alignment movement with likeminded countries. Non-alignment is basically aimed at keeping equidistance from western bloc led by America and Socialist bloc led by Soviet Union. It always voices of the newly independent countries, which later on popularly called as Third World countries. India is in the forefront of this Third World movement for a long time.

1.1.3.6 CHANGING CONTEXT: IDEOLOGY TO PRAGMATISM

It must be kept in the mind that the above mentioned ideologies and political traditions had grown up with the Indian freedom movement and the Indian National Congress in a colonial context. It is natural that any change in this context, both domestic and international, also changes the ideological perceptions. Hence, though Nehru represents the nationalist traditions, however, his foreign policy reflected a mixture of idealism and realism, and a constant effort to synthesize the two. Similarly, the next Prime Minister, Lal Bahadur Shastri displayed realism in both war and peace during his brief tenure. Under Indira Gandhi, there was a perceptible decline of idealism in both domestic and foreign policy, although the idealistic rhetoric was sometimes used as an ideological camouflage. But there was a strong emphasis on the anti-imperialist and anti-racialist aspects of foreign policy. The Janata Party, which came to power in 1977, pledged allegiance to Gandhian principles in both domestic and foreign policy.

However, there were important developments in 1960s that affected India's foreign policy substantially and led to the relative decline of Asianism. The idea of Asian solidarity had developed within the mainstream of the Indian national movement at a time when the partition of the subcontinent or the triumph of the Communism in China was not anticipated. Nehru always regarded

friendship between India and China as the only possible foundation of a movement for Asian unity. But the growing antagonism between India and China from 1959 onwards, culminating in the border war of 1962, undermined the foundations of Asianism as an element of India's foreign policy. The many wars that India fought with Pakistan further complicated the situation.

1.1.3.7 IDEOLOGY IN POST-COLD WAR PERIOD

India's foreign policy throughout the Cold War period, i.e. it's attainment of independence in 1947 to demise of the Soviet Union in 1991, guided by the ideological neutrality between East and West and not aligning with any one group on political or strategic matters. On a world-wide scale, this policy is well known as "active neutrality." It arises in part from the great need for peace in order to concentrate upon internal problems, and in part from a deep sense of security which characterized Indian thinking on world affairs until recently and which obviated the need to take sides. It has incidental advantages as well. India, unattached to any group, retains greater freedom of action to play its leadership role in Asia; also, the government can avoid antagonizing any one faction too much a vital consideration at a time when strong opposition is arising inside and outside of the Congress.

However, the collapse of the Socialist bloc of Soviet Union and Eastern Europe forced many countries alter trajectories of their foreign policies. The demise of the Soviet Union deprived India of the support of a veto-wielding power in the U.N. Security Council, ended a highly favourable armstransfer relationship that had enabled New Delhi to maintain a modern military, and removed a virtual guarantee against Chinese nuclear blackmail.

The Soviet collapse also undermined India's autarkic approach to economic development, which, in turn, had serious consequences with respect to its foreign policy options. Not only was the Soviet model of long-range planning, and massive state regulation of industry discredited, but almost simultaneously, in 1991, India faced an unprecedented financial crisis. The high cost of purchasing oil on the global spot market, the expenses incurred in repatriating thousands of workers from the Persian Gulf states before the onset of the first Gulf War, the loss of their remittances, and loan payments to multilateral banks drained India's exchequer.

Hence, the end of Cold War and demise of Soviet Union not only altered the foreign policy course but also led to the changes to domestic ideological positions and normative order. The economic reforms that were introduced in India, have significantly altered core national values, traditions, norms and ideological grounds on which social, political and economic systems were founded in the early years of independence.

Adjusting to the unipolar realities of early 1990s, India's leaders also began to dispense with their anti-American ranting on matters ranging from global disarmament to climate change to international trade negotiations, and New Delhi started to play a more constructive role in such global multilateral institutions as the World Trade Organization.

They also dropped their rhetoric on behalf of the Third World at the United Nations and in other multilateral fora. And in another dramatic shift, India, acting on a desire to ingratiate itself with

Israel and the United States, played a constructive role in overturning the obnoxious U.N. resolution that equated Zionism with racism.

Other important policy changes followed. Throughout the Cold War, in an attempt to court Arab public opinion and fearful of a domestic public backlash from its substantial Muslim minority, India had refused to maintain full diplomatic relations with Israel. Prime Minister Rao reversed this decades-old policy in a single stroke and with only mild domestic opposition. By so doing, he hoped to gain an invaluable ally in the Middle East, to acquire high-tech weaponry. New Delhi also made a concerted effort to improve relations with China, with which it had fought a disastrous border war in 1962, by expanding cultural exchanges, trade, and foreign investment, and through a series of confidence-building measures along the disputed border.

However, the new pragmatism that began to inform Indian foreign policy calculations with the Soviet collapse has not led to an uncritical acceptance of American global dominance. The issues of contention between the US and India changed, but not completely disappeared. In most critical multilateral forums of 21st century, the WTO and Rounds on Climate Change, India and the US were always on other side of the table, differing with each other's position. These and other issues of such nature will be discussed later on, in other lessons.

CHECK YOUR PROGRESS 1

NOTE: Use the space given below for your answers. Use separate sheet if space is not sufficient.

1	Who was the chief architect of India's foreign policy?
_	
W	hat are the Five Principles of Panch-Sheel?
3	What was India's foreign policy stance during the Cold War?

1.1.4 GOALS OF INDIA'S FOREIGN POLICY

The making of foreign policy is essentially an exercise in the choice of ends and means on the part of a nation-state in an international setting. It is necessary, first of all, to formulate a broad end or goal which will give a sense of purpose and direction to foreign policy. This goal need not, and in fact should not, be static in content; it must be a conceptually long-term goal to which immediate objectives, and the short-term policies pertaining to them, can be related. In the event of possible conflict between different short-term goals, the broad and long-term goal will indicate the direction of choice. Though broad, this goal should not be a vague one; it should be clearly definable and divisible into some concrete and specific components, since otherwise it will not be possible to formulate any goal-oriented clear policies (short-term or long-term) and foreign policy may

degenerate into a futile exercise, loose talk, and aimless shift of one thing to another. Though sometimes the policy makers may not always be able to relate their short-term policies to long-term goal, due to various factors and contingencies, but this relationship is the essence of rationality in the making of foreign policy.

In this broader perspective, India's foreign policy strived to attain some basic goals to secure territorial, political and human security of the country. Since foreign policy is always instrumental in uplifting the economic wellbeing of the people, naturally India's foreign policy always oriented to achieve economic development of the country in the post-independence period. The following section would highlight some of those goals which India considered vital to its national interest.

1.1.4.1 SECURITY

Securing the borders and lives of the people is the most important responsibility of any nation-state. Hence, security becomes the most primary goals of foreign policy of any country; so is India's. However, security should not be interpreted in narrow sense. The military preparedness of security cannot guarantee long-term security. Long-term and durable security always results from economic development and state-building. Similarly, militarily aggressive postures (hegemony) cannot be equated with the security. That is the reason there is no general agreement among scholars what constitutes security. A countries effort to attain security might become insecurity to others. Hence, while defining security one has to undertake a balanced viewpoint.

From international relations perspective, security implies external threat to territorial integrity; on this count India has bitter experiences as it fought many bitter wars with Pakistan, and one major war with China. The tension with Pakistan has not ended, the easing of tensions with China was of a recent date. However, India managed to achieve a measure of tranquillity on its northern borders and India and China were engaged in building confidence and understanding each other. This in now way implied any real dilution of China's relationship with Pakistan, but the logic of normalization of relations with India determined that China pursue its commitments to Pakistan less obtrusively, more subtly and with greater sophistication. The various Confidence Building Measures taken by India and China at the northern borders allowed greater flexibility to India's external policies.

Similarly, India also overcame its insecurities vis-a-vis sea based threats by building one of the professional navies in the world. These and other dimensions of security will be analysed in the next lessons.

1.1.4.2 ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT

Ever since India became independent, the political leadership always focused on economic development of the country. The Nehru's focus on heavy industries, the five year plans, emphasis on higher education and research, the big dams, etc. are intended to modernize the country and attain a respectable status in the international fora. And one of the important dimensions of the non-alignment was also to secure assistance from both West and Socialist bloc economic assistance to achieve development.

There is broad consensus at present in India that the country's single most important goal is to become the world's third largest economy by 2025 and, concurrently, also emerge as one of the key global political and security actors in the evolving multipolar world. Reflecting on it, recently India's Foreign Minister Sushma Swaraj while addressing at Growth Net Conference stated that "We have stepped up commercial divisions in our missions around the globe. The vision of the government is to empower people and bring about economic development. The foreign policy priorities are aimed at creating the right external environment for the same".

1.1.4.3 SEARCHING FOR IDENTITY

Apart from those above mentioned goals which are vital for any country's national interest, India also always striving to attain its own identity, rather than swayed by one or the other kind of influences. The non-alignment policy of India is an example for quest for own identity. India never became member of any security pacts, never became part of military alliances and never associated blindly with one superpower during Cold War period. Though many criticised India's tilt towards Soviet Union, it is largely in a particular context and to protect national interest when its security was threatened. And contemporary foreign policy is also pursuing the same goal of protecting its own unique identity, with clarity on international issues. For a country, which wants to attain economic prosperity must maintain its own positions on various issues rather than swayed by influences of other countries.

1.1.4.4 RESPECTFUL POSITION AMONG COMMUNITY OF NATIONS

A country like India, which is known for its civilisational history, rich traditions and political values, is always respected in international forums. In fact, India commanded much higher respected comparison to its power attributes. When India emerged as an independent country in 1947 it was a very weak economic player and much weaker military power. But still, it was respected by many countries and statesmen, for various reasons, most importantly the enlightened national leadership and the values professed during independence struggle. This can be seen when India was chosen as country for arbitrary in the Korean War which brought Cold War to the world.

In the contemporary period, India wants to keep that rich historical tradition by actively participating in various international forums. It was an important nation that significantly contributed to peacekeeping efforts of United Nations. Similarly it is playing very critical role in World Trade negotiations as well as negotiations on Climate Change. In fact, the situation has come to such an extent that now without India's consent it is very difficult to achieve any progress in these negotiations. In short, India has moved from a stage of "Rule-Follower" to "Rule-Maker". Hence, it is not unreasonable if India makes claims for permanent seat on United Nations Security Council. It's just a matter of time to finally attain this goal.

1.1.4.5 SECURING FRIENDLY NEIGHBOURHOOD

Another important goal of India's foreign policy from the beginning was having friendly relations with all the neighbouring countries. As stated earlier, Nehru organised Asian Relations Conference much before India attained independence. However, the partition, Wars with Pakistan and China, a

brief tension with Sri Lanka somewhat undermined this goal of securing friendly relations with all the neighbouring countries. However, recently India achieved considerable success in maintain cordial and friendly relations with all the neighbours. Though the tensions with neighbours were at its peak during Indira Gandhi's tenure, however, during the Janata Government India has achieved considerable progress in this direction.

However, the Gujral Doctrine is considered to have made a substantial change in the manner in which India's bilateral relations were conducted with its immediate neighbours, especially the smaller ones. The Gujral Doctrine is a set of five principles to guide the conduct of foreign relations with India's immediate neighbours as spelt out by I.K. Gujral, first as India's foreign minister and later as the prime minister. Among other factors, these five principles arise from the belief that India's stature and strength cannot be divorced from the quality of its relations with its neighbours. It, thus, recognises the supreme importance of friendly, cordial relations with neighbours. These principles are: first, with neighbours like Bangladesh, Bhutan, Maldives, Nepal and Sri Lanka, India does not ask for reciprocity, but gives and accommodates what it can in good faith and trust; second, no South Asian country should allow its territory to be used against the interest of another country of the region; third, no country should interfere in the internal affairs of another; fourth, all South Asian countries must respect each other's territorial integrity and sovereignty; and, finally, they should settle all their disputes through peaceful bilateral negotiations.

1.1.5 OBJECTIVES OF INDIA'S FOREIGN POLICY

Objectives are off-shoots of larger goals a country sets for itself. Once the broad and long-term goal has been decided upon, it is the task of makers of foreign policy to test the rationality of every short-term objective in the light of this goal. Hence, the long term goal can only be the cumulative result of a series of short- term objectives; unless the latter are consistent with the long-term goal, and the means for their efficient realization and rationality chosen, the actual long-term results of foreign policy will diverge from the set of goal. The means selected for the achievement of the various specific objectives need not and should not be a single unique means or a static one; different alternative means may be chosen. But there must be the highest logical probability of their efficiency in achieving the given objective.

The dominating ideology of India's freedom struggle undoubtedly got reflected in its post-independence foreign policy. While formulating India's foreign policy, the policy makers put the national interest at the core of it, along with the strategy to carve out an independent role for it in world politics. Accordingly, following objectives attained most important positions in India's foreign policy.

1.1.5.1 PROTECTING INDIAN CITIZENS

Protecting the interests of its citizens is one of the primary objectives of India's foreign policy. For example, successive Indian governments keep in mind interests of farmers while negotiating bi-lateral and multi-lateral trade agreements. A primary interest of any country is in self-preservation and well-being of its citizens. In international arena, interests of various countries often clash with each other and the states have to protect their own interests vehemently.. In modern times, economic

development is one of the key factors in determining state's international status. Thus, the treaties and agreements concluded with other states are drafted in a way to protect and promote economic interests of its own.

A foreign policy also protects interests of its citizens beyond the borders. For example, the External Affairs Ministry takes up issue of racial discrimination and harassment of Indian students in Australia with the Australian government in order to protect its citizens in that country. The Indian government also bring back those Indians who are working in other countries that are engulfed in War, Civil War or other disturbances.

A foreign policy also protects dignity and sentiments of the people of Indian origin throughout the world. For example, Indian government had asked its French counterpart to reconsider ban on Sikh's turbans in that country even though the Sikhs there may not be Indian citizens anymore and had accepted French citizenship.

1.1.5.2 SETTLE AND SECURE INTERNATIONAL BORDERS

Cross-border trade and broader bilateral intercourse can only be achieved when geographic boundaries are beyond doubt. India has achieved considerable success in securing its borders compare to the initial days of independence. The increased professionalism among the security forces and technological progress substantially contributed to this. Similarly, Indian Navy has emerged off late as one of the strong navies in the world. Due to the efforts of the Navy's Coast Guard, India could curtail some of the sea-based threats to its security. However, due to situation arising from Pakistan, still India is facing cross-border incursions. Reflecting these threats, Indian President in January 2015 expressed serious concern over repeated ceasefire violations on Line of Control (LoC) and recent incursions off the coastal line. He stated that ""While India is committed to peace and non-violence, we cannot afford the luxury of being complacent on our borders. Repeated violations of the ceasefire on the LoC and recent incidents of incursions off our coastal line are a matter of serious concern. We should be ready to take all steps necessary to ensure both internal and external security, and protect territorial integrity of our nation".

1.1.5.3 COMBATING NUCLEAR THREATS

Ever since China exploded nuclear bomb, India is experiencing a sort of nuclear insecurity. Though it has overcome by Pokhran nuclear explosions, however, the Pakistan's nuclear capability added additional dimension to its security. Recently, there were alleged reports that claiming links of Abdul Qadeer Khan, the father of Pakistan's nuclear bomb, to the terrorist organisations. This has led to considerable tension in the international community. Preventing the nuclear technology and weapons not falling into the wrong side has become an important dimension of nuclear security. Similarly, the recent nuclear efforts by Iran also created considerable turmoil in the international relations. Indian, being neighbourhood country, which maintains cordial relations with Iran, it has to factor all the dimensions related to nuclear threats emanating from the surroundings.

1.1.5.4 SECURING SEA LANES

India is making significant efforts to improve its naval capabilities to help safeguard vital sea lanes. For instance, India is cooperating with naval forces of other countries including that of the US, in the Gulf of Aden and off the coast of Somalia, to counter piracy and ensure safety and security of commercial shipping.

1.1.5.5 COMBATING GLOBAL THREATS THROUGH COMBINED ACTIONS

India is undertaking appropriate domestic measures to strengthen security, but the global nature of the threat requires global efforts. Issues such as terrorism, prevention and response to natural disasters, piracy, protecting sea lanes of communication and drug trafficking are the challenges that cut across national boundaries and require cooperative responses.

Terrorism continues to pose a threat to international peace and stability. India having been a victim of terrorism for many decades, has worked with the international community to strengthen the international framework to deal with this threat. In the UN for instance India has taken the initiative to pilot the Comprehensive Convention on International Terrorism or the CCIT, with the objective of providing a comprehensive legal framework to combat terrorism. Given the global nature of the threat India is working with our international partners including the US to tackle the problem.

1.1.5.6 MAINTAINING CORDIAL RELATIONS WITH MAJOR POWERS

Unlike the Cold War period, India's foreign policy nowadays is much more calibrated and attained sophistication to keep controversial issues under carpet and maintain very friendly and cordial relations with all the superpowers. Especially the turnaround India achieved in its relations with the United States is very worth noting. India's relationship with the United States is in fact built on shared values and converging interests. Both countries set up a comprehensive architecture of engagement based on broad political support in each of our countries, strong people to people linkages, and growing habits of cooperation. On the other hand, China emerged as a key priority of India's foreign policy. It has emerged as the largest trading partner of India, and India's engagement with China has become multi-faceted. Similarly, India also intensified its relations with European Union countries and South-East Asian countries. Though somewhat lost the earlier rigour, India and Russia are still cooperating with each other in bilateral and multilateral relations.

1.1.5.7 SECURING FAVOURABLE CONDITIONS IN MULTILATERAL FORUMS

India is playing significant contribution to the international relations by actively participating in multilateral forums. One of the key factor in this participation is to secure the countries national interests. Even though it was actively looking for the establishment of rule-based world trade system, however, India has seen as a hindrance for the progress of trade negotiations since it has taken a strong position against the proposals came from the Developed Western countries. India vehemently opposed some of the clauses as they are going to undermine India's social and economic interests. Similarly, India has also taken a substantial position in the negotiations of Climate Change which also attracted considerable criticism from the western countries.

However, India has achieved considerable success on the nuclear front, as it has been completed all the requirements for membership to the Nuclear Suppliers Group (NSG) and Missile Technology Control Regime (MTCR). It is going to become one of the members of these critical organisations very soon. However, it is not that successful in becoming permanent member of the Security Council of United Nations though there is general consensus in its favours. The demands originating from other countries for the same is prolonging the matter.

1.1.5.8 ENERGY SECURITY

To attain the broader goal of development is not possible without meeting the energy security required for it. India is on the cusp of emerging as a fairly developed nation within the next decade and a half, and this means that the energy requirement for an energy starved nation is going to jump significantly. For India to ensure that it has a suitable mix of energy sources to meet the expected demand, the government has to initiate long-term strategic planning and investment, in consultation and co-ordination with the private sector. Hence, India is strengthening the activities of ONGC's overseas organisation to secure energy security while maintain cordial relations with all the oil exporting countries.

1.1.5.9 DEEPENING RELATIONS WITH COUNTRIES THAT SUPPLY MILITARY HARDWARE

As an emerging power, India has to strengthen its military power that includes sophisticated weapon systems, communication systems and surveillance systems. Considering this vital requirement, India not only established diplomatic relations with Israel but also concluded agreements for supply of military equipment. India, also concluded similar agreements with the US, Britain, France, Russia and other European countries.

1.1.5.10 STRENGTHENING SAARC

Since establishing friendly relations with neighbouring countries is one of the goals of India's foreign policy, India is trying to institutionalise good neighbourly relations through a regional organisation, South Asian Association for Regional Cooperation (SAARC). Under the umbrella of this organisation, India is trying to improve military, political and economic relations among the countries of South Asia.

1.1.5.11 PLAYING A CRITICAL ROLE IN INDIA'S EXTENDED NEIGHBOURHOOD

Looking beyond South Asian neighbourhood, India is also attempting to expand circles of engagement, starting with South-east Asia, the Indian Ocean region, West Asia, Central Asia, Africa, and the world's major powers.

1.1.6 PRINCIPLES OF FOREIGN POLICY

Principles of the foreign policy are the guidelines to the policy makers through which India carries out its foreign relations. In essence, these are the means through which national interest is sought to be protected and promoted. However, the principles on which foreign policy operationalised is

always context specific. As context changes, the principles also change. The principles on which foreign policy conducted during the early years of independence were somewhat altered in the post-reform period.

1.1.6.1 PRINCIPLES IN EARLY PERIOD OF INDEPENDENCE

The nationalist movement and the values of the nationalist leaders have given strong normative order to the principles of India's foreign policy in the early period of independence. Some of these were explained below.

1.1.6.2 PROMOTION OF INTERNATIONAL UNDERSTANDING AND WORLD PEACE

India consistently emphasized on settlement of international disputes through dialogue and negotiations. India also laid great emphasize on purity of means. It had maintained that the means for the attainment of national interest must be pious. In order to promote international understanding and peace, Nehru had repeatedly spoke about futility of war and warned of ultimate disasters if Third World War would broke out. Even though such emphasize did not always result in success, it had certainly helped in reducing international tensions. Nehru realized that arms race, including deployment of nuclear weapons, would result in increased suspicions and mistrust among the nations. Also, the expenditure on arms would make the governments deprived of sufficient money required for upliftment of people from poverty. Therefore, India campaigned for disarmament in general and de-nuclearization in particular. At the same time, India maintained that onus of de-nuclearization rested on the shoulders of big powers, who must sacrifice their nuclear weapons for the sake of world peace and future of human race. On this ground, India refused to sign the Non-Proliferation Treaty (NPT), terming it as exclusionary and discriminatory.

1.1.6.3 NON-ALIGNMENT

Non-alignment has been the central pillar of India's foreign policy, which served its objectives and goals in international arena. Nehru's understanding was that India and other poor countries of Asia and Africa would not gain anything but lose out miserably by joining either of the military blocks of that time. According to him, instead of focusing on fight against poverty, illiteracy and diseases, they would end up being used as pawns in the war of no relevance to them. India's interests was in expanding 'area of peace' and not of war or conflicts. Therefore, India neither joined any of the military pacts of capitalist countries, such as SEATO, CENTO, Baghdad Pact or Manila Treaty; nor the Warsaw Pact of the socialist block. Thus, non-alignment was not a policy of isolation or inaction. In fact, it was a positive policy designed to promote national sovereignty and international peace. The grand success of India's non-alignment could be measured from the fact that majority of the poor and developing countries from all parts of the world adopted the similar policy and all of them joined hands to constitute the Non-Aligned Movement against the hegemony of both the ideological blocks during the Cold War period.

1.1.6.4 PANCH-SHEEL

Jawaharlal Nehru recognized that sovereignty of nation-state is supreme in international arena and peace and conflict revolved around it. In order to protect the sovereignty of each nation, all the nations

need to acknowledge and respect each other's sovereign rights. India emphasized that sovereignty can't differ from nation to nation and every state in the world enjoys equal amount of sovereign rights with regard to its people, territory, institutions and decision-making processes. This could be observed by all the nations by following Five Principles of Peaceful Co-existence, which were enthusiastically upheld and promoted by Nehru as Panch-Sheel. In Nehru's words, "I imagine that if these principles were adopted in the relation of various countries with each other, a great deal of the trouble of the present day world would probably disappear." In 1954, these principles were enunciated in bilateral agreement between India and People's Republic of China. They are:

- Mutual respect for each-other's territorial integrity and sovereignty;
- Mutual non-aggression;
- Mutual non-interference in each-other's internal affairs;
- · Equality and mutual benefit; and
- Peaceful co-existence.

The fifth principle in it, i.e. the Peaceful Co-existence was drafted keeping in view the then existing world situation, wherein the opposite camps of socialism and capitalism vowed to finish off each-other. Nehru propagated that nations based on different ideologies could co-exist and prosper if they follow the first four principles of Panch-Sheel and believed in the fifth one.

1.1.6.4 PROMOTION OF REGIONAL COOPERATION

India seeks friendly ties with all its neighbours and co-operations among all the countries in South Asia. Therefore, SAARC receives big support from Indian establishment, which sees as a tool to promote regional trade, business and people to people exchanges. Since South Asia, which is nothing but an Indian subcontinent in geographical term, faces more or less similar problems in all of its countries; such as poverty, illiteracy, malnutrition, ill-health and gender disparity etc., India advocates joint efforts to get rid of these problems.

However, the reforms introduced to Indian economy in the early 1990s added new priorities to the foreign policy.

1.1.6.5 PRINCIPLES IN THE POST-REFORM PERIOD

Underlining India's development-centric foreign policy, Prime Minister Manmohan Singh has enunciated the five core principles that animate the country's engagement with an increasingly globalised world, which include prioritising the economic aspirations of the over 1.2 billion Indians. India's prime minister has unveiled a pragmatic vision of the country's foreign policy that seeks to blend the economic imperative of unleashing prosperity without compromising on core values of democracy, pluralism and secularism. Manmohan Singh enumerated these principles while speaking to over 120 heads of Indian missions who have gathered in the Indian capital for a four-day conclave in November 2013.

Manmohan Singh outlined what he called the five principles that define India's foreign policy and exhorted the Indian envoys to ensure that they are guided by these principles in discharging their diplomatic duty.

- First, recognition that India's relations with the world both major powers and Asian neighbours are increasingly shaped by India's developmental priorities. The single most important objective of Indian foreign policy has to be to create a global environment conducive to the well-being of a great country.
- Second, that greater integration with the world economy will benefit India and enable people to realize their creative potential.
- Third, India seeks stable, long term and mutually beneficial relations with all major powers. India are prepared to work with the international community to create a global economic and security environment beneficial to all nations.
- Fourth, India recognizes that the Indian sub-continent's shared destiny requires greater regional cooperation and connectivity. Towards this end, India focuses on strengthening regional institutional capability and capacity and invests in connectivity.
- Fifth, India's foreign policy is not defined merely by its interests, but also by the values which are very dear to Indian people.

While outlining these five principles, Manmohan Singh also emphasised some of the core principles on which Indian foreign policy was conducted ever since it achieved independence. He lauded the Indian model of foreign policy, which is underpinned by strategic autonomy, non-alignment and the resolution of issues through diplomacy, for pursuing economic liberation of the country within the framework of time-tested principles of liberalism and democracy.

CHECK YOUR PROGRESS 2

NOTE: Use the space given below for your answers. Use separate sheet if space i	s not sufficient.
1. What is the Gujral Doctrine?	
	
2. What is the core principle of India's Non-Alignment policy?	
3. What regional organization does India actively support for cooperation?	

1.1.7 LET US SUM UP

The broader direction to the India's foreign policy evolved much before India achieved its independence, during the period of anti-colonial nationalist movement. The ideology, goals, objectives and principles of India's foreign policy strongly reflect the core values that emerged as guiding principles for the development of modern India. Hence, anti-imperialism anti-racialism, strong solidarity between Afro-Asian countries, non-alignment, peaceful coexistence, peaceful resolutions of international problems, strong adherence to United Nations Charter, friendly neighbourhood relations, etc. are part of these core values. However, since foreign policy of any country strongly determined by its national interest, throughout the post-independence period, the political leadership of India always tried balance these core values with the pragmatic interests. Hence, Indian foreign policy strongly guided both idealistic and realistic assumptions. However, the end of Cold War and the realities of post-Cold War world drastically altered the foreign policy course of the India. The economic reforms introduced in early 1990s shifted the focus of foreign policy in favour of economic considerations somewhat underplaying the political and normative values.

1.1.8 EXERCISES

- 1. How did Jawaharlal Nehru's idealism shape the foundational principles of India's foreign policy, and how did it evolve over time?
- 2. How did the 1971 Bangladesh Liberation War redefine India's regional influence and its strategic partnerships?
- 3. What role did anti-imperialism and anti-racialism play in shaping India's foreign policy during its early years of independence?
- 4. How did India's policy of non-alignment influence its diplomatic relations with major powers during the Cold War?
- 5. How does India's foreign policy balance short-term objectives with long-term goals?
- 6. What are the key factors driving India's quest for a distinct international identity?
- 7. How has India's relationship with China evolved in terms of border security and diplomatic ties?
 - 8. What are the main challenges India faces in securing favorable conditions in multilateral forums?
 - 9. How has India's commitment to economic development influenced its foreign policy decisions?
 - 10. How did India's Non-Alignment policy shape its international positioning during the Cold War?
 - 11. What are the key differences between India's early foreign policy principles and its post-reform period principles?

12. How does India balance its national interests with its core values in its foreign policy framework?

1.1.9 SUGGESTED READINGS:

Bajpai, Kanti, and Harsh V. Pant. *India's Foreign Policy: A Reader*. Oxford: Oxford University Press, 2013. Jaishankar, S. *The India Way: Strategies for an Uncertain World*. HarperCollins India, 2020..

Malone, David M., C. Raja Mohan, and Srinath Raghavan, eds. *The Oxford Handbook of Indian Foreign Policy*. Oxford: Oxford University Press, 2015.

Mehta, Pratap Bhanu. "Still Under Nehru's Shadow? The Absence of Foreign Policy Framework in India." *India Review* 8, no. 3 (2009): 209-233.

Mohan, C. Raja. "India and the Balance of Power." Foreign Affairs 85, no. 4 (2006): 17-32.

Muni, S.D. "India's Foreign Policy: The Democracy Dimension." *Cambridge Review of International Affairs* 18, no. 3 (2005): 269-284.

Rana, Kishan S. Bilateral Diplomacy. New Delhi: Manas Publications, 2002.

Upadhyaya, P. *India and the Non-Aligned Movement*. Journal of International Relations, Volume 22, No. 1 (2016), pp. 45-67.

1.2 DETERMINANTS OF INDIA'S FOREIGN POLICY: INTERNAL AND EXTERNAL

- V Nagendra Rao

External affairs will follow internal affairs. Indeed, there is no basis for external affairs if internal affairs go wrong.

-Jawaharlal Nehru

STRUCTURE

- 1.2.0 Objectives
- 1.2.1 Introduction
- 1.2.2 Determinants of India's Foreign policy
- 1.2.3 Determinants of India's Foreign policy: Internal Factors
 - 1.2.3.1 Geopolitical Identity
 - 1.2.3.2 Economic Development
 - 1.2.3.3 Political Structure
 - 1.2.3.4 Institutions and Interest Groups
 - 1.2.3.5 Ethnic Factors
 - 1.2.3.6 Religious Identity

1.2.4 Determinants of India's Foreign policy: External Factors

- 1.2.4.1 Big Power Politics
- 1.2.4.2 Developments in Neighbourhood
- 1.2.4.3 Nuclear Weapons
- 1.2.4.4 Multilateral Forums and Negotiations
- 1.2.4.5 Regional Organisations
- 1.2.4.6 Military Strength
- 1.2.5 Let Us Sum Up
- 1.2.6 Exercises
- 1.2.7 Suggested Readings

1.2.0 OBJECTIVES

This lesson provides basic understanding about the determinants of India's foreign policy, both internal as well as external. After going through this topic, you should be able to:

- know the national and international structures and context in influencing India's foreign policy;
- understand the domestic factors that are determining India's foreign policy;
- comprehend the role of external environment in influencing India's foreign policy.

1.2.1 INTRODUCTION

The linkage between domestic and international determinants of foreign policy has long been a widely debated topic in the field of international relations, and foreign policy analysis in particular. Some scholars argue that domestic politics and foreign policy are two independent arenas of issues. Others believe that the two respective issues cannot be separated from one another. Foreign policy and domestic politics are interdependent and could spill over into each other. While both schools of scholars make some convincing arguments about their respective cases, it's probably reasonable to expect that the degree of influence between domestic and international determinants of foreign policy is contingent on different foreign policy contexts. In some cases, international factors play a more important role, whereas in other cases, domestic reasons are more important.

1.2.2 DETERMINANTS OF INDIA'S FOREIGN POLICY

Foreign Policy is never determined by any one factor but is the result of the interplay of a large number of factors that affect the formulation of policy in different ways in different circumstances. Some of these factors are relatively stable and have to be taken as given by the makers of foreign policy, and can, therefore, be regarded as more basic or unchangeable determinants of policy than others. But the more variable institutional factors, and even the personal role of the decision-makers, are no less important in the process of decision-making than the basic determinants.

Even the basic determinants of foreign policy, however, vary in importance according to circumstances, and it is impossible to lay down any general rule regarding the relative importance of each of these factors, or a scale of priorities which the decision makers must permanently adhere to in making their policy decisions.

The basic factors that shapes or conditions India's foreign policy can be classified into two factors namely internal and external. The internal factors, which are the basic of all, are the domestic politics, geography, economic system, culture, military strength and national character. According to J. Bandopadhaya, the role of political institutions – public opinion, party system, lobbyists, ministry of external affairs, diplomacy, and persona are the other factors that influence in the making of India's foreign policy.

1.2.3 DETERMINANTS OF INDIA'S FOREIGN POLICY: INTERNAL FACTORS

The socio-economic, political structures and other internal dimensions a country strongly influence the foreign policy. Internal factors includes geopolitical identity (location, size, natural resources, neighbours), economic development (growth level, development of resources, per capita income levels, class structure, technological development, etc.), the political structure (nature of political system, character of ruling elite, party politics, activities of interest groups) – the factors that are playing active role in influencing the policies, both domestic as well as foreign policy.

1.2.3.1 GEOGRAPHICAL IDENTITY

Geopolitical identity of a country is shaped by geographical location and size of the country. The geographical positioning influences power relationships in international politics. It basically reveals the inter-relationship of politics, geography and demography.

There are two main reasons why geography should be regarded as an important determinant of India's foreign policy. In the first place, there are various aspects of geography which tend to influence foreign policy irrespective of the degree of industrialization and the level technology. Secondly, India and most of the neighbouring countries will take some time to attain the technological level of the leading industrial and military states. Hence, it will not be possible for India in the foreseeable future to ignore the Himalayas and the Indian Ocean, from the viewpoint of either trade and transportation or defence.

It is therefore obvious that geography is the foremost determinant of Indian foreign policy. The prediction that Lord Curzon made in 1903 has proved to be true. He observed that the geographical position of India would more and more push it into the forefront of International affairs. Jawaharlal Nehru too was fully conscious of the geographical importance of India. On 17th March 1950, in a speech in the Indian Parliament, he observed, "We are in a strategic part of Asia, set in the centre of Indian Ocean, with intimate past and present connection with West Asia, South-East Asia and Far Eastern Asia. Even if we could we would not want to ignore this fact." Himalayas and the Indian Ocean are determining factors of India's security. To begin with, the Himalayas were considered to be natural security guard for India. However, in the fifties and sixties it led to a new security orientation in Indian foreign policy. To defend Himalayas came to determine India's security and defence needs and consequently her relations with other nations.

Geography includes location, size, topography, state boundaries, population, climate, hydrography, soil, etc., and all of these elements are important in varying degrees for India's national politics and foreign relations. Some of these aspects will be discussed below.

Location

The history of international relations shows that location has always been an important determinant of foreign policy of a state. The strategic location of Britain helped her historically to rule over the seas in terms of both trade and naval power.

The highest mountain range of the world in the north and one of the three major oceans of the world in the south have given the Indian subcontinent a certain geographical insularity. The Himalayas cut off India from her northern neighbours militarily, politically, and commercially, although in the modern period this mountain range is no longer as impenetrable as it once used to be. The Indian Ocean similarly offers India a certain insularity in purely geographical terms.

But the strategic location of India at the centre of the great Asian arc stretching from Aden to Tokyo has made it inevitable from ancient times that she should pay a vital role in the history of Asia and the world in spite of her relative geographical insularity. India's strategic location at the centre of the Asian arc and on the Indian Ocean logically made India the bastion of the British empire in the East. The manpower, wealth and strategic advantage of India were used by Britain to establish and maintain her politico-military dominance over the rest of Asia and Africa.

The same strategic location gives India a central position in Asian and world politics. All the major air and sea routes of the world pass through India. India and Indian Ocean are an indispensable link in world trade and commerce. India is a major connecting link among the geographical areas called West Asia, East Asia or the Far East. From the geographical point of view, as Nehru often used to say, India is a kind of bridge between the East and the West, and inevitably involved in major global issues. India's location on the Indian Ocean has also made her defence and foreign trade heavily dependent on control over this Ocean and its sea-lanes. India's strategic location has placed it within easy reach of many sensitive areas including China, South-East Asia, West and East Africa. Hence, it is no surprise that Indian Navy emerged as one of the most powerful navies in the world.

Size

The fact that independent India emerged as seventh largest state in the world is not without considerable geopolitical significance. A large territory generally means a relatively large stock of natural resources. On the other hand, the vastness of India's territory has an important bearing on her external security. Unless there is a great difference in military power, it would not be easy for any other state to occupy the whole country.

The bigness of territory make India an important and independent factor in international relations in her own right. It would not be rational for India to behave in international relations like a small state with a small territory, population, and resource base. This is the reason for Nehru to state that: "I can understand some of the smaller countries of Europe or some of the smaller countries of Asia being forced by circumstance to bow down before some of the greater powers, because they cannot help it India is too big a country herself to be bound down

to any country, however big it may be. India is going to be and is bound to be a big country that counts in the world affairs".

1.2.3.2 ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT

Economic development plays important role in shaping the foreign policy discourse of any state. Successful empires were built on the edifice of strong economy. Even Kautalya in his famous

treatise called *Arthashastra* emphasises strong economy as a prerequisite to achieve foreign policy goals. Historically, it is proved that the economically powerful country is the one that established its hegemony, authority and control over rest of the world, be it Great Britain till 19th century and the United States in the 20th century.

The relatively backward state of the Indian economy, due to colonial exploitation, acted as a serious constraint of Indian foreign policy during the early years of independence. Even depending on other countries, particularly the big powers, for a mandatorily required food grains made India vulnerable for external influences. An economically weak country cannot build modern military power to thwart the external military threats. This is the reason why India has to face a defeat in its war with China.

However, India has achieved a significant turnaround in terms of economic development in recent period. The high economic growth of India placed it as 7th biggest economy in the world and in terms of PPP (purchasing power parity) it is already third biggest in the world. As the data released by Ministry of Finance, Government of India in July 2015, India's GDP crossed US dollar two trillion. This is a significant achievement if we consider the fact that it took almost 60 years (after independence) to cross one trillion, and it took just seven years to touch one trillion to two trillion. For all the predictions, by 2030

India is going to emerge as a third biggest economy in the world.

This economic development of India has enhanced its standing among the community of nations. It has moved from rule-follower to rule-maker in most of the multilateral negotiations. This is also the reason for India to overcome the nuclear apartheid practiced by the status quo powers and even concluded successful nuclear agreements with many countries, including United States. Many countries are already concluded strategic partnership agreements with India.

India's technological development, especially in information technology, has given further edge to India's foreign policy as many Indians are working in foreign countries are helping India to attain soft power in the conduct of its international relations. As a result, India's Overseas activities have gained momentum due to fillip the Indian Diaspora has given to its foreign policy. It is no surprise that in recent foreign visits of Prime Minister Narendra Modi, special efforts were made to mobilise overseas Indians, and the Prime Minister addressed in these meetings. Many Indian origin people also gained important responsibilities in the governments of other countries, particularly in the United States. And there are many Indians who are heading the leading multinational companies, including the Microsoft. All these have significantly contributed to enhance India's stature in international relations and provided leverage in conducting foreign policy.

Hence, it is not surprising when the then Finance Minster Chidambaram stated it is the economic growth that has enhanced India's standing in the international community. He said that: "India is respected not because it has acquired the capacity to launch rockets or satellites, or because of the size of its population, or because of its dominant presence in Asia. The world respects India because of its capacity to emerge as an economic powerhouse".

1.2.3.3 POLITICAL STRUCTURE

Foreign policy is not immune from the impact of values, ideas, initiatives and upheavals internally a country experiences. As we have studied in the previous lesson, the ideology and core values of the nationalist movement substantially influenced foreign policy of India in the early days of independence. The principles that guided India's foreign policy such as anti- imperialism, anti-racialism, Afro- Asian solidarity, non-alignment, peaceful resolution of international disputes, etc. largely reflect the political influences on India's foreign policy.

The political structure of state substantially influences its foreign policy. The nature of political system (democracy, authoritarianism, etc.), the character of ruling elite, the party politics, the activities of interest groups (religious, economic, political, etc.) considerably determine the foreign policy.

Ruling Elite

There is a public perception that foreign policy is elitist, which stems from the belief that issues pertaining to foreign powers are too remote to matter in the day- to-day lives of ordinary people. For much of India's history, that may well have been the case. The policies of Jawaharlal Nehru, India's first prime minister and one of the main proponents of the principle of non-alignment – a doctrine that defined Indian foreign policy during much of the Cold War – went unquestioned for decades.

India emerged as an independent nation with a broadly three-tiered ruling elite: the political class, the bureaucracy and the armed forces. Of these three, only political class has strong Indian outlook, since the remaining two were largely composed by British-trained officers. However, the situation has changed as time passed. The new generation of the officers are trained in Indian ethos and are as committed to advancing the national interest of India as India's political class.

However, one problem associated with foreign policy is the excessive dominance of the ruling elite in policy making. Since foreign policy making demands some sort of expertise as it has to deal with technical matters, the small minority of technocrats are determining the foreign policy matters. Hence the material interests and individual biases of the small class is distorting the policy-making and sometimes most of the issues have been decided on a very narrow prism.

Democracy

Democracy has been a major structural characteristic of the Indian political system, and is therefore a major source of strength for India's foreign policy. India can and should adopt a positive and proactive policy for the promotion of global democracy, including the democratization of UN system. India is the largest democracy in the world. Contrary to the Western predictions that India will collapse due to internal crisis and conflicts and it move towards a sort of authoritarianism, it has emerged as a successful democracy, not only in the Third World countries but globally. Comparing to its neighbourhood countries, India's democratic success was phenomenal. It is the political class, the legislative and executive part of the government, that ultimately determine the country's foreign policy.

However, the democratic nature of the country also sometimes creates some hurdles to

rational decisions on the foreign policy matters. The contestation between various political parties to determine the policy matters often leads to either stalemate or irrational decision. The populism and vote bank politics often leads to political mobilization of people on matters related to foreign policy. For instance, many times the political parties in Tamil Nadu are influencing the foreign policy decisions on Sri Lanka, and there are many occasions the Government of India succumbed to the pressure of these parties. Similarly, the Trinamul Congress in Bengal stalled the conclusion of agreements with Bangladesh on matters related to boundary and waters sharing. After a great persuasion with the West Bengal government, the Government of India successfully concluded an agreement in the early months of 2015.

1.2.3.4 Institutions and Interest Groups

The Indian official institutions of foreign policymaking broadly encompass the Cabinet, the Prime Minister's Office (PMO), the Ministry of External Affairs (MEA), the Indian Foreign Service (IFS), the Ministry of Defence (MoD), the Indian Parliament, and various manifestations of the defence and intelligence establishment (the armed forces, the Defence Research and Development Organization, the nuclear establishment, the Research and Analysis Wing, the Intelligence Bureau etc.).

While the defence of India's territorial sovereignty is viewed as paramount by virtually all of these, the defence establishment has historically played a selective role in wider foreign policymaking (except at times of military crisis), instead understandably choosing to focus on immediate threats from within India's neighbourhood. The broader conduct of diplomacy that spans the gamut of interstate relations (and more recently, a range of instruments underpinning India's "soft" power) has traditionally been the domain of the PMO, MEA, and IFS who are accountable to Parliament through various channels.

Apart from the Government institutions many non-government organisations and groups also significantly influence India's foreign policy. For instance, the NGOs acted proactively in guiding India's policy in the negotiations of World Trade Organisations as well as on climate change. Similarly, the trade and business organisations like Chambers of Commerce and FICCI also contribute significantly to the India's policy making, particularly on matters related to economic interests of India. Likewise, the many human rights organisations and their active role in organising people influences the decision making process in foreign policy.

1.2.3.5 ETHNIC FACTORS

Three kinds of domestic factors relevant to ethnic identity influence India's policies towards certain countries.

Transnational Ethnic Groups

Indian populations in border regions tend to share a common ethnic and sometimes religious bond with populations in adjacent countries. This is true of Tamils and Sri Lanka, Indian Punjabis and Pakistani Punjabis, Indian Kashmiris and Pakistani Kashmiris, Indian populations bordering the Tarai

region of Nepal, and even Malayalis (the people of Kerala) and the Gulf countries. By corollary, and extending the concept to religion, it is also true of the Hindu minorities in Bangladesh and Pakistan, and Muslims in India with respect to some neighbouring countries and communities.

The broad territorial division of ethnic groups within India and the strength of regional ethnic identities ensure that Indian policy towards the countries in question is always attentive to the preferences of domestic actors in these regions. This has been evinced by the sustained and vociferous support of the Tamil people and the Tamil Nadu government to the separatist movement of Tamils in Sri Lanka till the early 1990s, Similarly, there is "widespread sympathy" in Indian border regions and "most politicians and bureaucrats do not hesitate to express moral support" for the Madhesi movement for autonomy in the Tarai region of Nepal.

Secessionist Movements and Insurgencies

Due to its vast size and heterogeneous society and polity, India has been the subject of various conflicts between sub-national regions and the central government. Scholars particularly attribute this to the failure of the Indian state to ensure "substantive democracy and equitable development" for large swathes of society. This, they argue, has resulted in the discrediting of state-sponsored nationalism and, inter alia, the rise movements aimed at establishing separate sovereign status from the Union. The history of modern India is replete with such movements, many of which are still in progress.

Movements in border areas are particularly problematic because they become flashpoints with neighbouring countries, mainly due to three reasons. First, secessionist movements, especially armed movements, are likely to use the territories of adjacent countries to stage their attacks on the Indian state. This has negative consequences for the security of India's neighbours, and makes India diplomatically vulnerable to allegations of not doing enough to prevent its domestic conflicts from destabilizing the border regions of neighbouring countries. Second, and more importantly, the cross-border activities of secessionists create obstacles to neutralising these movements. Third, secessionist movements allow neighbouring countries with an interest in destabilising India to interfere in its internal affairs in an adverse manner. These number among the considerations that have influenced India's policy towards Pakistan in the case of the Khalistan movement, towards Myanmar, Bhutan, China and Bangladesh in the case of multiple secessionist movements in the Northeast, and towards Nepal in the case of the Naxalite (Maoist) movement. The existence of domestic groups of insurgents and separatists therefore significantly complicates India's security environment in South Asia.

Migration: New Ethnic Groups

The cross-border movement of large populations, although a version of the transnational ethnic group conundrum, presents a conceptually distinct challenge because it involves the large-scale migration of individuals into Indian territory, transforming an international affair into one with significant domestic ramifications. The mass migration of such populations either at one time or over time results in the creation of new ethnic groups in the border (and other) regions of India, with the potential of creating security problems, particularly in relations with respective originating countries.

Two examples stand out in this regard – the limited migration of Buddhist Tibetans escaping Chinese persecution, and the much larger and steady inflow of Muslim immigrants (legal and illegal) from Bangladesh into West Bengal and the North-eastern region of India. The creation and expansion of two new ethnic groups (Tibetan Buddhists and Bengali Muslims) to which post-independence Indian society was not accustomed has impacted the domestic reaction to these migrations, not least given suspicions attaching to the purported connections between some recent terrorist attacks in India and Bangladeshi elements, and consequently impinged on India's relations with China and Bangladesh respectively.

In the case of China, India has walked a tightrope between official recognition of Tibet as an integral part of China and granting asylum to the Dalai Lama and his followers in Indian territory. This is largely because Tibetan migrants are relatively small in number and representatives of a globally recognized struggle (yet one that the Indian government cannot officially endorse). Also, Buddhism is accepted as a native faith in India, albeit nowadays a very minor one numerically. By contrast, the domestic socio-political response to Bangladeshi Muslim immigrants has been much less forgiving, partly due to their faith and partly the purely economic motive driving the migrants onto Indian soil. The reaction has been particularly violent in Assam, where riots against migrant Bengalis date back to the 1960s and 1970s. Despite some progress towards normalisation of bilateral relations with Bangladesh, complicated by a host of other issues, the migration question remains a thorn in the Indian side. A manifestation of the domestic impulse was the Indian decision to construct a 4000km concrete fence along the Indo-Bangladesh border in 1984, a project that carries on till today and has created controversy between the two countries.

1.2.3.6 RELIGIOUS IDENTITY

The importance of religion as an integral component of the Indian worldview cannot be understated. Various commentators have highlighted the weight that Indian foreign policymakers attach to the religious opinions and sentiments of India's sizeable Muslim population, which by many accounts is the second largest in the world. C. Raja Mohan describes India as an "Islamic nation" with a national culture deeply influenced by Islam. Other members of the Indian intelligentsia have highlighted West Asia as a priority area for India not just for strategic reasons but also due to the spiritual and religious needs of India's Muslim population. Indeed the fear of alienating this population is cited as a major reason for the lack of a noticeable Indo-Israeli relationship until the 1980s. India also has the second largest Shia Muslim population in the world, which makes its ties with Iran, a Shia state, particularly relevant and sensitive. The fate of Indian Muslims is keenly followed by Iran and plays an important part in cementing a long-term relationship between the two countries.

The impulse to accommodate the sensitivities of India's Muslim community on at least some foreign policy issues derives more recently in part from a growing recognition that not all terrorism involving Muslims in India is likely any more to be directed from Pakistan or Bangladesh. The actual and potential interplay between some Indian Muslims and radical Muslim forces outside India has worried many in the security establishment for some time, but no consistent policy in this regard

has arisen under any recent Union government.

No other country has figured more prominently in the interplay of religion and India's security than Pakistan. (In this regard, religion is more fundamental to the political identity of India than some observers recognize). India's secular polity was forged as a conscious refutation of the idea that religion should be the basis of nationality, an idea more commonly referred to as the "two-nation theory." While the progenitors of Pakistan considered partition to be primarily a religious phenomenon, India's leaders viewed it as an instance of territorial self- determination. This basic divergence lies at the root of India's policy towards Pakistan and India's position on the Kashmir issue. While Pakistan views the status of Indian-controlled Kashmir as abhorrent to the idea of Muslim nationhood (i.e. a Muslim-majority state in a Hindu-majority nation), India views the Kashmir valley and surrounding territory as an integral part of its territorial identity. Moreover, Kashmir stands as a crucial test of India's secular character – a move towards independence for Kashmir or, worse still, its accession to Pakistan would undermine India's religious plurality while adding credibility to the two-nation theory. This could have "far-reaching, reactionary and undemocratic effects" in India.

CHECK YOUR PROGRESS 1

NOTE: Use the space given below for your answers. Use separate sheet if space is not sufficient.		
1.	How does geography influence India's foreign policy?	
2.	Which political structure significantly affects India's foreign policy?	
3.	How do ethnic factors impact India's foreign policy?	

1.2.4 DETERMINANTS OF FOREIGN POLICY: EXTERNAL FACTORS

A dominant international political discourse plays decisive role in deciding the foreign policy of a country. The structure of global power relations and the developments in immediate neighbourhood significantly influence foreign policy decisions.

1.2.4.1 BIG POWER POLITICS

India's external environment at the time of her independence was characterised by bipolarity and the

Cold War. The main task of the Indian diplomacy was to safeguard the country's newly one sovereignty and independence in the context of the military alliances and counter alliances of the big powers and their global strategic manoeuvres. The policy of non-alignment was the only rational option for India's foreign policy in this bipolar context of international relations.

The Sino-Soviet conflict diluted the bipolarity of international relations to a certain extent. However, the development of a US-China-Pakistan axis in the context of Sino-Soviet conflict posed a major threat to India's national interest. The prolonged Soviet presence in Afghanistan from 1979 onwards further strengthened this three-power axis and impelled India to move closer to the Soviet Union, particularly with regard to the security dimension of her foreign policy. The Cold War thus continued to be the most important international determinant of India's foreign policy till the beginning of 1990s.

The disintegration of the Soviet Union and the end of the Cold War has brought about a radical transformation in the structure of international relations. The USA has emerged not only as the only superpower of the world, but also as the unchallenged hegemon of the international system, both inside the UN and outside. Naturally, therefore Indian foreign policy has to adjust itself to his new reality of the international environment. The new direction and shape of Indian foreign policy must be such as to ensure that there is no total opposition or direct confrontation with the US. At the same time it is necessary to formulate a strategy of counter-hegemonic resistance against possible neo-imperialistic encroachment upon India's sovereignty in the economic or political interests of the US and its allies. Hence, the structural transformation of India's international environment necessarily involved radical change in the shape and direction of Indian foreign policy.

1.2.4.2 DEVELOPMENTS IN NEIGHBOURHOOD

India is also located in a volatile neighbourhood, with ongoing wars, insurgencies and unrest taking place in Sri Lanka, Nepal, Pakistan, and Afghanistan, and a coup in Bangladesh. Any developments in the neighbouring countries would have a cascading effect on India's national interest. The external factors play at two levels: regional and international. The immediate impact would be from regional level where major changes in politics, security or economy of India's neighbouring states would make significant imprint in India's foreign policy making. For instance, China's growing footprint in South Asian countries in the name development altered India's neighbourhood policy to revive its traditional approach of reactive polity to proactive one.

1.2.4.3 NUCLEAR WEAPONS

In spite of the end of the Cold War, the nuclear stockpiles of the US and Russia have remained almost as large as ever. India's immediate neighbour, China, has also developed considerable nuclear-weapon capabilities, including Inter Continental Ballistic Missiles (ICBMs) capability. In these conditions India has no option other than violating the international nuclear regime created by the US dominated west. India not only refused to sign the Non-Proliferation Treaty (NPT) but also exploded its own nuclear bomb. Now in changed international environment, India is successful to get a sort of acceptability for its nuclear status. It was also successful in terms of concluding agreements with many countries for cooperation in nuclear technology. It is also about to get a seat in international nuclear regime established by big powers.

1.2.4.4 MULTILATERAL FORUMS AND NEGOTIATIONS

Ever since the end of the Cold War, the dominant powers in the international relations are attempting to create a regulatory framework to create a normative order among the countries.

Mostly, these multilateral forums are aimed to promote the interests of the big powers and international finance and multinational corporations. For example, the World Trade Organisation has emerged as a regulatory body to order the trade relations among the countries. There are many similar forums to regulate various that are utmost concerned to international community, including Climate Change. All these organisations are influencing the foreign policies of all the countries. While adjusting to these international regimes, India is actively contributing to the outcomes voicing the interests of the developing countries.

1.2.4.5 REGIONAL ORGANISATIONS

The proliferations of regional organisations, as a offshoot of globalisation process also significantly influencing India's foreign policy. Traditionally India was associated with Non- aligned movement and organs established by the United Nations for trade and other development. However, the success of India in attaining some sort of economic development led it to become member of various regional and international organisations. For instance, India is actively involved with the ASEAN an organisation established for increasing cooperation between South- East Asian countries. Similarly, India is also founding member of the many other forums such as BRICS (Brazil, Russia, Indian, China and South Africa) and IBSA (India, Brazil and South Africa). The membership in these organisations has brought a new dynamism to India's foreign policy.

1.2.4.6 MILITARY STRENGTH

Indian foreign policy under Nehru was based more on diplomacy than on military power. But the border war with China in 1962, and four war with Pakistan have compelled India to augment her defence capability, although the imperatives of economic development are still as great as ever. In particular, the relentlessly hostile relations with Pakistan, and the continuously uneasy somewhat strained relations with China have impelled India to invest a larger portion of her resources in defence than would otherwise have been necessary. China's relatively large nuclear- weapon capability, Pakistan's nuclear programme, and the apparently active and continuous Chinese aid to Pakistan in the field of nuclear weapons have impelled India to adopt a strategy of developing a minimum credible nuclear deterrence.

On the whole, India's fairly large military capability makes her a major military power in Asia, and this enables her to play a significant role in both intra-Asian and international relations.

CHECK YOUR PROGRESS 2

NOTE: Use the space given below for your answers. Use separate sheet if space is not sufficient.

1. Why is religion considered an integral component of India's worldview?

2. How has India's Muslim population impacted its relationship with West Asia?	
3. Why did India's relations with Israel remain limited until the 1980s?	

1.2.5 LET US SUM UP

The realm of the foreign is an ideological concept, a product of international dynamics and domestic attributes. There is no denying that international socialization has re-shaped foreign relations, and similarly, the permeation of national politics on the international stage cannot be discredited. Since both factors play a pivotal role in external policy formulation, the domestic and the foreign are easily distinguishable conceptions. Whilst the two environments may be different, the relationship between foreign and domestic policy is thus determined on a common level of populism, with the decisions of state leaders reflecting notions of common consensus and agreement. Moreover, the relationship between domestic and foreign is also commonly linked by the influence of domestic culture, with heavy emphasis on social groups and social attitudes within states.

1.2.6 EXERCISES

- 1 How does India's geographical location influence its foreign policy?
- 2 Why is economic development considered crucial for India's foreign policy decisions?
- 3 How do transnational ethnic groups impact India's relations with neighboring countries?
- 4 What is the primary goal of secessionist movements?
- 5 How does transnational migration impact India's foreign relations?
- 6 Why is religious identity significant in India's foreign policy decisions?
- 7 How does India's large Muslim population influence its foreign policy decisions, particularly in West Asia?
- 8 How did the Cold War shape India's foreign policy choices and alignments?
- 9 Why did India refuse to sign the Non-Proliferation Treaty (NPT), and how did it justify its nuclear ambitions?
- How have regional organizations like BRICS and ASEAN influenced India's foreign policy?

1.2.7 SUGGESTED READINGS

Cohen, Stephen P. *India: Emerging Power*. Washington, D.C.: Brookings Institution Press, 2001.

Mohan, C. Raja. *Crossing the Rubicon: The Shaping of India's New Foreign Policy*. New York: Palgrave Macmillan, 2004.

Pant, Harsh V. *India's Foreign Policy: A New Paradigm*. New Delhi: Cambridge University Press, 2016.

Singh, S. Nihal. *The Rise and Fall of India's Foreign Policy: Challenges and Opportunities*. New York: Routledge, 2020.

Tellis, Ashley J., and Sean Mirski, eds. *Crux of Asia: China, India, and the Emerging Global Order*. Washington, D.C.: Carnegie Endowment for International Peace, 2013.

___×__

1.3 INDIA'S FOREIGN POLICY MAKING: STRUCTURES AND PROCESS (PARLIAMENT, PMO, MEA, NSC, POLITICAL PARTIES & MEDIA)

- V Nagendra Rao

STRUCTURE

- 1.3.0 Objectives
- 1.3.1 Introduction
- 1.3.2 Foreign Policy Making: Structures and Processes
- 1.3.3 Foreign Policy Making: The Parliament
 - 1.3.3.1 Consultative Committee of Parliament on External Affairs
 - 1.3.3.2 Standing Committee of Parliament for External Affairs
 - 1.3.3.3 Parliament Influence on Foreign Policy
- 1.3.4 The Prime Minister's Office (PMO)
- 1.3.5 The Ministry of External Affairs
 - 1.3.5.1 Structure and Organisation
 - 1.3.5.2 The MEA: Critical Appraisal
- 1.3.6 Political Parties
 - 1.3.6.1 The Congress
 - 1.3.6.2 The BJP
 - 1.3.6.3 The Left Parties
 - 1.3.6.4 Regional Parties
- 1.3.7 Media and Foreign policy
 - 1.3.7.1 Media Role: A Critical Appraisal
- 1.3.8 Exercises
- 1.3.9 Suggested Readings

1.3.0 OBJECTIVES

This lesson provides basic understanding about the major structures and processes involved in the making of India's foreign policy. After going through this topic, you should be able to:

- know the role of Parliament, the Prime Minister's Office and Ministry of External Affairs in the overseeing India's foreign policy;
- understand the influence of political parties in shaping India's foreign policy;
- comprehend the role of media in influencing India's foreign policy.

1.3.1 INTRODUCTION

There is a specific area that emerged in the academic field of international relations and is the "Foreign Policy Analysis" (FPA). Foreign policy analysis involves the study of how a state makes foreign policy. As it analyzes the decision making process, FPA involves the study of both international and domestic politics. FPA also draws upon the study of diplomacy, war, intergovernmental organisations, and economic sanctions, each of which are means by which a state may implement foreign policy. As a field of study, foreign policy analysis is characterized by its actor-specific focus. In the simplest terms, it is the study of the process, effects, causes, or outputs of foreign policy decision-making in either a comparative or case-specific manner. The underlying and often implicit argument theorizes that human beings, acting as a group or within a group, compose and cause change in international politics.

Foreign policy politics is the process by which the choices of foreign policy strategy are made. It is much more complex than the conventional wisdom depicts. The basic patterns are of both consensus and conflict, with positive and negative variations of each in terms of their effects on policy.

The "actors" in India's foreign policy making are many: the Parliamentarians, the Prime Minister's Office (PMO), the Ministry of External Affairs (MEA), etc. Apart from these official organisations, many other political and social institutions also influence foreign policy, viz. political parties, media, interest groups, etc. The following sections in this lesson explain the structures and processes involved in the making of India's foreign policy.

1.3.2 FOREIGN POLICY MAKING: STRUCTURES AND PROCESSES

The rationality of foreign policy depends largely on the process of decision making at various levels: on the nature and extent articulate public opinion on foreign policy and the manner of its expression, the institutions of political parties concerned with foreign policy, pressure groups, parliament, the inter-ministerial institutions concerned with national security and foreign policy, the Foreign Office, the Foreign Minister, and finally, the Cabinet and Prime

Minister's Office (PMO). At every step the given boundary conditions must be properly studied and assessed, the practicability and probable consequences of alternative policies examined,

foreign policy coordinated with defence, economic, trade and other allied policies, short-term and long-term aspects of policy synthesized, and various cost-gain calculations made, before rational decisions on foreign policy can be made. A multi-staged, institutionalized and articulate decision making process, in which there is a high incidence of knowledgeability, competence and objectivity, leads to the formulation of effective policy that maximizes the advantages. On the other hand, personal or centralized decision making, and the prevalence of ignorance, incompetence, or passion in the decision making process would lead to irrationality and leads to negative consequences.

In a cabinet form of government like that of India, the Foreign Minister occupies the pivotal position in the entire process of policy making. She is informed and advised from below by the Foreign Office, and influenced and controlled from above by public opinion, political parties, pressure groups, parliament, the Cabinet, and the Prime Minister. She is an important member of Cabinet, of parliament, and of the ruling political party. But her ties with the lower region occupied by the bureaucracy are also quite strong. It is the Foreign Service that studies the conditions in the foreign countries from day to day, and reports to the Ministry of External Affairs. At the South Block it is the Foreign Service which again compiles, and assimilates the reported data and puts up their substance to the Foreign Minister with suitable recommendations from time to time. The Foreign Service also observes and reports on the reactions evoked by Indian policies in the foreign countries concerned, as well as the problems and difficulties of implementing Indian foreign policy abroad. The Foreign Service, therefore, possesses, or is at any rate expected to possess, more detailed knowledge of the field conditions abroad than the Foreign Minister. While a Foreign Minister may not always accept the recommendations, if any, which come up to him from the South Block, he cannot afford to ignore the mass of factual data put up to him by the Foreign Service for his information and assessment.

1.3.3 FOREIGN POLICY MAKING: THE PARLIAMENT

Theoretically, parliament in a democratic state is expected to influence the formulation of foreign policy in a variety of ways. Its resolutions, either supporting or opposing policies proposed by the government, or by suggesting or forcing upon government new policies, whether of a broad or a specific nature are expected to influence the broad orientation, detailed formulation, and implementation of foreign policy. It can also influence specific aspects of foreign policy through its power to sanction appropriations, by cutting down or increasing the budgets of the Ministries of External Affairs, Defence and other allied ministries. Moreover, Parliament has the power to set up by legislation new machinery and governmental institutions for the making of foreign policy. Members of parliament participating in international delegations, including those sent to the United Nations, can share the responsibility for detailed policy making, though perhaps only marginally. Individual members of parliament specializing in foreign affairs, whether belonging to ruling party or the opposition, can influence the making of foreign policy by drawing attention to defects or inadequacies in the policies pursued by the government, even when no formal resolution is passed one way or the other.

Article 246 of the Indian Constitution empowers parliament to legislate on all aspects of

foreign affairs which are defined as "all matters which bring the Union and the relation with any foreign country". The Union list includes among the subjects over which parliament has legislative powers treaties, diplomatic, consular and trade representation, the UNO and international conferences, international agreements and conventions, war and peace, foreign jurisdiction, emigration, citizenship, passports, visas, etc. Under Articles 253 parliament also has the exclusive authority to legislate for implementation of international treaties, agreements and conventions, and decisions arrived at in international conferences. Such parliamentary institutions as the Public Accounts Committee and the Estimates Committee are in a position to influence foreign policy marginally, through financial control over the External Affairs and other related ministries.

1.3.3.1 CONSULTATIVE COMMITTEE OF PARLIAMENT ON EXTERNAL AFFAIRS

An important institutional link between parliament and foreign policy is the Consultative Committee of Parliament on External Affairs. Informal Consultative Committees were first time created in 1954 for the various ministries/departments of the Government of India. These meetings were would be attended by the Senior Officers of the Ministries who would assist the Minister in regard to information on specific items on the agenda and provide the Minster with facts and figures. But in reality, the Committee was a mere transmission belt between the Foreign Minister and parliament for the conveyance of the official foreign policy. Generally speaking, its members were merely given a detailed explanation of the government's foreign policy with a view to facilitating the acceptance of this policy by parliament.

The role of the Consultative Committee of Parliament on External Affairs in the making of foreign policy appears to have declined over the years. The process started during the time of Indira Gandhi and continuing till now.

1.3.3.2 STANDING COMMITTEE OF PARLIAMENT FOR EXTERNAL AFFAIRS MINISTRY

The institution of Standing Committee of Parliament for each Ministry was created in 1991. In addition to the Consultative Committee of Parliament for External Affairs, there came into existence a Standing Committee of Parliament on External Affairs, with somewhat different functions, which are as follows:

- 1. To scrutinize the demand for grants of the Ministry of External Affairs and report to the Speaker of the Lok Sabha and the Chairman of the Rajya Sabha.
- 2. To examine and report on proposed legislation, related to the Ministry of External Affairs, if the proposed legislation concerned is referred to the Standing Committee by the Speaker or the Chairman.
- 3. To review the Annual Report of the Ministry of External Affairs.
- 4. To review the policy statement read by the Minister for External Affairs on the floor of the Lok Sabha and Rajya Sabha, if it is referred to the Standing Committee by the speaker or the Chairman respectively.

The Standing Committee meetings are attended by bureaucrats not the Foreign Minister.

Members of the Standing Committee do not have any opportunity to interact with the Foreign Minister. But the Committee can summon officers of the Government of India, including the Foreign Secretary, as witnesses. Moreover, at the time of scrutinizing the demand for grants of the MEA, the Standing Committee discusses the overall foreign policy and offers its suggestion to the MEA, which are sometimes used by the latter in due course. For instance, the Standing Committee of Parliament on External Affairs observed in a report in 1998 that adequate attention had not been paid to overseas Indians a major element of India's foreign policy. It recommended that a new Division should be created in the Ministry of External Affairs exclusively for the Overseas Indians. This recommendation was accepted by Ministry in 1999. In 1999 the Committee pointed out that inadequate attention had been paid to research in the Policy Planning Division of the Ministry of External Affairs, and recommended the revival of the old research cadre. This recommendation was also accepted by the Ministry.

According to J. N. Dixit, who functioned as a National Security Adviser, the Standing Committee of Parliament on External Affairs has been more effective, since its inception, than the Consultative Committee in influencing the making of foreign policy. Another senior retired diplomat, Ambassador

K.S. Rana, has, however, pointed out certain weaknesses in the functioning of the Standing Committee, on the basis of his own experiences of attending its meetings. After observing that the Standing Committee ensures transparency and accountability in the functioning of the MEA, Rana says: "But the Committee seems to lack expertise to pursue issues in depth. There are instances of assurances given to the Committee that have subsequently been forgotten. In the MEA, since Missions are often the places where action is to be taken on the recommendations of the Committee, no one seems to have asked if these Missions are actually instructed to produce the follow up. The Committee seems to have its own hobby-horses that figure in its reports, and could benefit from a wider focus on its examinations".

1.3.3.3 PARLIAMENT INFLUENCE ON FOREIGN POLICY

With regard to the influence of parliament on foreign policy, it would appear that the Government generally tended to ignore parliament before making major foreign policy decisions during the Nehru era as well as the immediate post-Nehru period. In certain cases, however, parliamentary criticism and adverse public opinion compelled it, during this period, to modify policies adopted by it towards major international developments or crisis situations affecting our national interest or the fundamental principles of our foreign policy. In other words, while generally being unable to influence foreign policy decisions in advance, parliament sometimes acted as a check on foreign policy excesses.

Parliament was sometimes deliberately and wilfully ignored by the Government in the Nehru era. For instance, the Chinese encroachments on what India claimed to be her own territory started shortly after the 1954 agreement, but for five years, up to 1959, parliament was not informed of these encroachments by the government.

A major example of the wilful neglect of the parliament by the Government during the first

Indira Gandhi era is provided by the deliberate bypassing of the parliament with regard to the Simla Agreement of 1972 with Pakistan. An understanding regarding the agreement was reached at a summit meeting between India and Pakistan on 2 July 1972, and its provisions were immediately made public. According to the understanding, the Agreement was to be ratified by the governments of the both countries.

The same trend of neglecting the parliament in decision making with regard to foreign policy is still continuing. There are many examples for this. For instance, during Rajiv Gandhi tenure, when the Rajiv-Jayawardene Agreement of 1987 was signed, neither ther terms of the agreement nor the despatch of the IPKF to Sri Lanka had the approval of the Parliament. Similarly, the NDA Government under Atal Bihari Vajpayee has not taken Parliament into confidence when it conducted secret talks with the US government after Pokhran II nuclear tests to sign CTBT. There were repeated demands in parliament for details of Singh's parleys, but the Government failed to respond positively.

The most recent crisis India witnessed with regard to foreign policy was when it concluded nuclear agreement with the United States of America. The entire opposition questioned that agreement and the Left parties' criticism against the Manmohan Singh government was very severe. Since the government did not accommodate the demands, the Left parties withdrew support to the UPA government, and with a great difficulty the government survived.

Hence, the history of parliamentary process reveals that though India's Parliament is a sovereign body of decision making, and it has supreme authority to pass any law, in reality, the executive centred around the Prime Minster is real power centre in the making of foreign policy. The actual foreign policy making is carried by the executive with an active role played by the PMO and MEA.

1.3.4 THE PRIME MINISTER OFFICE (PMO)

The elevation of the Prime Minster Office (PMO) to the key decision making body is a recent phenomenon. The PMO was grown out of the older Prime Minister Secretariat (PMS). It was given the present name by Morarji Desai when he became the Prime Minister in 1977 and replaced the PMS. The PMO became very powerful institution during the Indira Gandhi's tenure in the early 1980s with

P.C. Alexander as Principal Secretary. Several key departments were transferred from the Ministry of Home Affairs to the PMO, which started playing an almost decisive role in both security matters and foreign policy.

When the BJP came to power in 1998 under the Prime Ministership of Atal Behari Vajpayee, the PMO continued to play a high-profile role in foreign policy, particularly through Brajesh Mishra, the Principal Secretary to the PM, who headed the PMO. Mishra was also appointed as National Security Advisor (NSA) when the National Security Council (NSC) was set up in 1998. From that time onwards, he functioned as both head of the PMO and NSA, making it difficult to distinguish between his two different roles. While holding these two positions, Mishra played a major role in the making of foreign policy, and virtually sidelined the Ministry of External Affairs

(MEA), particularly the Foreign Secretary. After Pokhran II nuclear tests, he travelled all over the world to explain the reasons for India's nuclear tests. Mishra also took a very significant interest in Pakistan, and the then Foreign Secretary, Raghunath, reportedly had to follow his instructions strictly. As A. G. Noorani wrote in the *Statesman* in April 1999: "The PMO is no mere coordinator now. It conducts negotiations with foreign dignitaries, talks to the media and involves itself with everything under the sun". When the strategic partnership agreement was signed with Russia during President Putin's visit to India in October 2000, the detailed media briefing on the India-Russia agreement was done by Brajesh Mishra. During the Indo-Pakistan Agra Summit of July 2001 also, it was the PMO which played a decisive role, while the MEA, including the Foreign Secretary, remained largely invisible.

The PMO continues to play critical role even after the NDA lost power in Delhi and the UPA formed coalition government under Manmohan Singh as Prime Minister. J. N. Dixit, a seasoned and experienced diplomat, has been appointed as National Security Advisor who involved in many secret negotiations with his Pakistani counterpart to resolve all the bilateral disputes between India and Pakistan, including Kashmir. As a Prime Minister who committed to peaceful relations between India and Pakistan, the PMO under Manmohan Singh almost succeeded to conclude an agreement with Pakistan. However, the cross border terrorism undertaken by Pakistan based organisations nullified further advancement in Indo- Pak relations. One specific feature of the Manmohan Singh period is that even though, the PMO played a critical role in matters of foreign policy, the MEA was not undermined. It has got its due importance in matters of foreign policy and there is coordination between both the organisations and played a complimentary role. This period was also witnessed the most experienced, senior and seasoned politician Pranab Mukherjee as a Foreign Minister. This well-coordinated efforts of the PMO and the MEA resulted in achieving one of the most successful outcomes of India's foreign policy – concluding a nuclear deal with the United States of America.

When Narender Modi became the Prime Minister after the BJP winning the 2014 general election, it was generally expected a strong role of the PMO in foreign policy making. True to the expectation, Modi is taking active party in the India's strategic and foreign policy matters, travelling all over the world to enhance India's strategic depth and standing. Focusing more on advancing India's economic interests, Modi has given strong emphasis to improving bilateral relations with big powers, without jeopardising relations either with the US or China. But precaution was taken not to undermine the importance of the MEA by appointing a strong personality and senior leader of the BJP Sushma Swaraj as a Foreign Minister. Though Sushma Swaraj not even accompanied the Prime Minister in his overseas tours, however, she is playing an important role in the making of foreign policy. One of the successes that the present NDA government achieved was the conclusion of Indo-Bangladesh agreement that resolved most of the outstanding problems between both the countries, including the settlement and clear demarcation of the border. Many acknowledged the critical role played by the MEA under the stewardship of Sushma Swaraj that include boarding Mamata Benerjee, the Chief Minister of West Bengal who initially was very critical of the settlement as she perceived it undermining water rights of West Bengal.

Nevertheless, being a strong prime minister, it is natural to expect that the PMO is going to

play a very important role in foreign policy making under Narender Modi, though the policy making will be guided more by the core group of the BJP, a cohesive party with a clear ideological orientation and strategy about future India and its role in the community of nations with a extensive focus on economic growth and development.

1.3.5 THE MINISTRY OF EXTERNAL AFFAIRS (MEA)

In a parliamentary democracy, foreign policy, like domestic policy, is the prerogative of the political executive. The Foreign Office, like the other departments of government, is primarily responsible for carrying out the directives of the former. But on account of the far- flung and highly complex nature of foreign policy in the modern world, the Foreign Office has to perform a much greater informative and advisory role vis-a-vis the political executive than any other departments. While the Foreign Minister, and ultimately the Prime Minister and the Cabinet, are responsible for actual decision making with regard to the fundamentals of foreign policy, the Foreign Office is responsible for feeding them with detailed and adequate information, analyzing and evaluating the available data, and recommending concrete measures in each case. The Foreign Office, therefore, plays a vital and indispensable role in the making of foreign policy, without being ultimately responsible for it.

1.3.5.1 STRUCTURE AND ORGANISATION

The Ministry of External Affairs is headed by one of the key members of the Cabinet as Foreign Minister, who generally assisted by a Minister of State and/ or a Deputy Minister. It has also been customary to allot some territorial and administrative work to these State and Deputy Ministers.

Next in the hierarchy of the Ministry of External Affairs is Foreign Secretary, who for a long time, during the entire tenure of Nehru, called as Secretary- General. Since Nehru was both Prime Minister and Foreign Minister from the beginning, it was considered necessary to have a senior officer as the administrative head of the Foreign Office to supervise and coordinate the activities of the Ministry and to advise the Prime Minister on policy details. He was officially described as "the principal official adviser to the Minister on matters relating to foreign policy" and was said to be "responsible for the supervision and coordination of the work of the Ministry as a whole".

At the head of the Ministry of External Affairs is the political executive, consisting of the Minster for External Affairs and the Minister of State for External Affairs. Below the level of the political executive is the bureaucratic structure of the Foreign Office headed by the Foreign Secretary. Presently, there are five Secretaries in the Ministry of External Affairs including Foreign Secretary, Secretary (East), Secretary (West), Secretary (Multilateral & Economic Relations – M&ER), Secretary (Amrericas & CPV). CPV refers to Consular, Passport & Visa. Below these five secretaries, two additional secretaries are placed to assist the Foreign Secretary. Below the level of Secretaries and Additional Secretaries are a large number of Joint Secretaries, Directors, Deputy Secretaries, Under Secretaries, and Attaches, in a descending order of status. Divisions are two categories: a) Specialised Divisions such as administration, security, economic, publicity, finance, policy planning etc.; and b) Territorial divisions looking after each region of the world, like Africa, Central Asia, East Asia, Europe, Gulf, etc.

The main source of information regarding happenings in foreign states and other international developments at the disposal of the Ministry of External Affairs is the large network of Missions and Posts maintained by it abroad. These Missions and Posts are also ultimately responsible for the effective implementation of foreign policy. The Foreign Office at the Delhi which controls the administration and supervises the work of the Missions and Posts represents a two-way transmission belt between the latter and the Foreign Minister and the Cabinet.

The MEA and its Missions and Posts abroad conducts various activities that include political diplomacy, economic diplomacy, cultural diplomacy, propaganda or external publicity, policy planning and personal planning.

1.3.5.2 THE MEA: CRITICAL APPRAISAL

The MEA being a professional organisation that is responsible for coordinating India's foreign policy is staffed with personal that were trained to carry out responsibilities. Their functions are more diverse than the functions carried by other ministries in the Government of India. As the world is getting complex day by day, so are the functions and activities of the bureaucracy in the MEA. The increased multilateralism, sophisticated publicity and propaganda due to cutting edge technology and social networking, dealing with newer global crimes such as terrorism, piracy, cyber crimes, etc. are making the task of the MEA tougher. The MEA is trying it best to cope up with all these challenges.

However, the MEA is not adequately placed to carry this growing complexity of international relations. There are many structural weaknesses to handle the gamut of foreign policy. First and foremost structural problem is related to less manpower: about 800 diplomats carry the responsibilities of the MEA, whereas China has 4000 diplomats and the USA has nearly 20000. As the responsibilities are increasing with the growing stature of India in international politics, there is urgent need to enhance the staff to handle multitude of activities. There is a mismatch between the demands of present foreign policy making requirements and supply of the staff.

Many scholars are also pointed out that India's foreign policy decisions are often highly individualistic – the province of senior officials responsible for particular policy areas, not strategic planners at the top. As a result, India rarely engages in long-term thinking about its foreign policy goals, which prevents it from spelling out the role it aims to play in global affairs. The other concern is that Indian foreign-policy makers are insulated from outside influences, such as think tanks, which in other countries reinforce a government's sense of its place in the world.

Several current and former ambassadors are critical of overwhelming role played by the bureaucracy rather than political executive. The lack of top-down planning is somewhat undermining the optimum balance between societal requirements and policy making. One of the former ambassadors to several European countries stated that "I could never find any direction or any paper from the foreign office to tell me what India's long-term attitude should be toward country X. Positions are the prerogative of the individual ambassador."

This lack of top-down instruction means that long-term planning is virtually impossible. Many

of the officials confirmed that India produces no internal documents or white papers on grand strategy. Moreover, newly minted ambassadors are given very loose guidelines and little background information about their regions of responsibility, and they are not required to produce reports on their goals.

The absence of grand strategic thinking in the Indian foreign policy establishment is amplified by the lack of influential think tanks in the country. Not only is the foreign service short-staffed, but its officers do not turn to external institutions for in-depth research or analysis of the country's position. U.S. foreign-policy makers, by contrast, can expect strategic guidance from a broad spectrum of organizations that supplement the long-term planning that happens within the government itself. But in India, there are very few policy-oriented research institutions that focus on international relations. Those that do are often private organizations funded by large corporations, so they inevitably focus chiefly on trade issues. Even when Indian think tanks house retired foreign service officers and ambassadors - who often have access to senior government officials -- they are still not seen by the government as useful sources of advice.

Countries that aspire to great-power status usually look beyond tactical challenges, imagine a world that best suits their interests, and work to make that vision a reality. The problem for India is that its foreign policy apparatus is not yet designed to do that. India's inability to develop top-down, long-term strategies means that it cannot systematically consider the implications of its growing power. So long as this remains the case, the country will not play the role in global affairs that many expect.

CHECK YOUR PROGRESS 1

NOTE: Use the space given below for your answers. Use separate sheet if space is not sufficient.

1. What does Foreign Policy Analysis (FPA) primarily focus on?
2. Who holds the pivotal position in India's foreign policy making?
3. Which committee was created in 1991 to scrutinize the Ministry of External Affairs?

1.3.6 POLITICAL PARTIES

Political parties play a critical role in a democracy; more so in a parliamentary democracy where they act as a aggregators of segmented interests of economic, political and religious. In India, the existence of many political parties and pluralities of interests they represent adds a sort of complexity to foreign policy making.

1.3.6.1 THE CONGRESS

The unbroken domination of the Indian political system by the Indian National Congress for nearly four decades after independence, and Nehru's towering leadership imparted a unique character to the process of decision making in Indian foreign policy. However, the opposition parties on both the left and the right, as well as various groups within Congress, exercised some influence on the making of foreign policy. With the waning of Congress power and the appearance of a visible trend towards the growth of more complex and polycentric political system in the country, particularly since 1998, it has become somewhat difficult for any political party to exercise decisive influence over the shape and direction of Indian foreign policy.

The domestic and foreign policy of the Government of India after independence were largely based on the resolutions of the Indian National Congress adopted during the freedom movement and afterwards. Hence, the fact that the Congress was continuously in power during the most formative period of India's foreign policy has been of decisive importance from the point of view of the decision making in foreign policy. The Congress itself had been during the freedom movement, and remained at least for two decades after independence, a broad political platform representing the consensus of many dissimilar and divergent political opinions, and this trend of decision making was largely reflect in foreign policy as well. The resolutions of the Congress on foreign policy were, however, largely the handwork of Nehru, and this fact, coupled with his unquestioned monopoly within the government with regard to foreign policy decisions, made the concrete formulation, if not the broad orientation of India's foreign policy the product of Nehru's own thinking to a great extent. His main contribution probably lay in harmonizing and synthesizing the rightist and leftist opinions on foreign policy within the party and bringing them to a common focus. Nehru's own foreign policy thinking, and the detailed decisions made by him, were probably influenced to a certain extent by the actual and potential reaction of the various opposition parties.

Like Nehru, Indira Gandhi also dominated the formulation and implementation of foreign policy during her two tenures as Prime Minister. But she had to depend heavily for her survival as Prime Minister and political leader, particularly during her first tenure, on the support of the CPI and the so-called "Progressive Congressmen" who were inclined towards the CPI and the Soviet Union. This must have been one of the reasons for the apparent pro- Soviet tilt of her foreign policy, although the situation in the subcontinent arising out of the Bangladesh crisis of 1971 and the resulting polarization of external powers was another major cause of this tilt.

However, the Janata government in 1977 and later on the BJP government in 1998 somewhat attempted alter some of the policies pursued by the Congress, particularly with regard to anti-

Americanism. Moreover, the dissolution of Soviet Union and the end of Cold War brought significant shift to Congress orientation towards India's foreign policy. The Congress under Manmohan Singh, initiated economic reforms and moved closer to the United States. It successfully concluded a nuclear deal with the US and started playing active role international relations, especially in multilateral forums such as WTO and also took proactive role in regional forums such as BRICS and IBSA. Apart from that it also attempted to improve friendly relations with the neighbourhood.

1.3.6.2 THE BJP

The BJP has got strong ideological proclivities. It believes in greatness of Hindu traditions and impact of these traditions not only in the Indian subcontinent and in entire Asia. When it was first in office between 1998 and 2004, the BJP governed within the context of a coalition. Many of its coalition partners had not necessarily shared the party's ideological agenda and especially its vision of Hindu nationalism. Consequently, some of its most cherished goals have to be set aside. Yet, manifestations of the BJPs own foreign policy attitudes were evident in the Pokhran II nuclear explosions and the programme of nuclear weaponization, the development of friendly relations with Israel, the new pro- American orientation of Indian foreign policy, the emphasis on state power, the abandonment of the planned economy, privatization and liberalization of the economy, and the opendoor policy towards foreign direct investment from multinational corporations.

In 2014, the BJP returned to office with a clearcut majority in parliament. Even though it has a set of allies, it does not depend on them for its survival in office. Hence, it is in a position to execute the policy without any constraints. Hence, one sense the kind of policy orientation the Narender Modi government is going to undertake on matters of foreign policy.

The BJP's domestic agenda under the leadership of Narender Modi is clear: despite some inevitable setbacks, his government is keen to promote rapid economic development, while it has little use for India's long-held (if imperfect) commitment to a secular polity. What are some of the initial portents of his preferred foreign policy goals and outcomes? At the outset, it is important to mention that unlike every other government since India's independence, the new regime has not felt compelled to publicly affirm its fealty to non- alignment. Modi's lack of reference to this important lodestar in India's foreign policy constitutes a dramatic departure from the past. His silence on the matter is significant because the doctrine was closely identified with the politics of the once-dominant Congress Party and India's first prime minister, Jawaharlal Nehru.

Modi's extremely vigorous ventures abroad and changes at global, regional, and bilateral levels seem to herald a markedly new era in India's foreign policy. Three key imperatives in his foreign policy can already be discerned. The first involves engaging with a number of advanced industrialized states to boost India's economic interests. The second involves designing a strategy to cope with a resurgent China. The third involves attempts to improve relations with India's neighbours as well as states in the Indian Ocean littoral also with a firm eye toward limiting China's influence. The one exception to this effort may well be India's bilateral relations with Pakistan.

Modi's lack of interest in historical baggage was exemplified in his decision to invite U.S. President Barack Obama as the chief guest at India's annual Republic Day parade in January 2015. This gesture was fraught with considerable meaning: no U.S. president had ever been asked to grace this occasion. In many ways, this move could be construed as a signal that his government is ready to forge a normal working relationship with the United States. Given the fraught history of Indo-U.S. relations, the significance of the invitation cannot be underplayed.

Modi has also displayed a keen interest in bolstering existing relationships and expanding India's presence in the emergent global order. These initiatives deserve some comment. Without cataloguing every one of Modi's foreign trips, it is possible to highlight the most salient. Even before travelling to the United States, Modi visited Japan. The Indo-Japanese relationship is of particular significance to this regime for a number of compelling reasons. At the outset, both Modi and his Japanese counterpart, Shinzo Abe, are unabashed nationalists. They are also acutely concerned about the rise and assertiveness of China. Consequently, Modi's visit to Japan in late August 2014 was multi-faceted, and not surprisingly highlighted the security dimensions of the relationship.

At a regional level, Modi also seems more prone to taking new initiatives as well as risks in his dealings with India's neighbours. Some choices seem entirely consistent with his ideologically charged worldview, while others appear to demonstrate a streak of pragmatism. Two key issues seem to animate his regional agenda. First, it is evident that he deems that good relations with India's neighbours are essential to the country's security and well-being. While previous prime ministers in the recent past had expressed similar sentiments, their willingness and ability to follow through on their rhetoric had fallen short. The other, unstated concern, of course, is the looming presence of China in South Asia. Not surprisingly, almost immediately upon assuming office, Modi visited the small Himalayan kingdom of Bhutan. This trip was significant because it was an obvious attempt to ward off the attempts of China to woo Thimphu.

This pragmatic attitude has been most evident in Modi's willingness and ability to resolve a nagging border dispute with Bangladesh even though it required a constitutional amendment. The resolution of this land border dispute effectively removed a significant and long-standing irritant in Indo-Bangladeshi relations.

Modi's foreign policy has also not neglected India's other neighbours. To that end he has visited Myanmar, Nepal, and Sri Lanka. In all three countries, apart from specific bilateral issues, he has not lost sight of a central concern: the growing presence and influence of China. In Nepal, which he visited in August 2014, he deftly emphasized India's regard for Nepal sovereignty, saying that Nepal's water resources were its own and that it was for Nepal to decide whether or not it would provide India with hydro-electric power. These statements were deliberately designed to assuage long-standing Nepalese misgivings about India.

A curious amalgam of ideology and pragmatism has also been manifest in BJP's dealings with India's long-standing adversary, Pakistan. In a remarkable departure from the past, Modi

invited the political leadership of all South Asian states to his inauguration as prime minister and chose not to exclude Prime Minister Nawaz Sharif of Pakistan. Indeed, at the time, a number of commentators suggested that this decision to include Sharif indicated a willingness on Modi's part to renew a stalled dialogue with Pakistan. These hopes, however, were soon dashed. The decision to resume Foreign Secretary level talks was withdrawn immediately after the Pakistan Ambassador's meeting with Hurriyat people.

Modi has displayed similar resolve in his dealings with China. During Chinese President Xi Jinping's visit to India in September 2014, the People's Liberation Army made incursions in a disputed region along the Sino-Indian border in Ladakh. Modi forthrightly told Xi that such incidents were unacceptable. Similarly, even as he undertook efforts to resolve the border dispute with China and attract investment, it is reported that he did not shy away from highlighting India's security concerns during his visit to Beijing in May 2015.

From both the cases discussed above, it can be inferred that Modi has brought a new, more muscular resolve to India's foreign policy. This demonstration of firmness is entirely in keeping with the ideological roots of the BJP.

1.3.6.3 THE LEFT PARTIES

In the early days of India's independence the Communist Party of India has significant popularity among the masses. However, its disastrous strategies and political and ideological orientations gradually eroded that popularity. Initially, the Communist Party of India refused to accept that India has achieved the independence; used to consider India as a puppet of British imperialism. It has undertaken armed struggle in Telangana in which it has lost substantial cadre. However, the split in 1964 brought a qualitative change to the Left politics in India. The CPI has become closer to the ruling Congress as they both share similar proximity towards the Soviet Union. In fact, the CPI has gone to the disastrous extent when it supported Indira Gandhi during emergence. Later on development in international politics brought back some sort of balance to its policies, though the support base of both CPI and CPM eroded substantially as it was witnessed in 2014 general elections. First time it recorded the lowest presence in Lok Sabha, CPM with 9 seats and CPI with one.

In matters of foreign policy, both the Left parties take more or less similar perspectives. They strongly advocate for solidarity of Third World countries to fight against imperialism, neo-colonialism, economic liberalism imposed by Western countries, the US operations in developing countries, close ties between all the South Asian countries, meaningful cooperation between India and China, etc. They are very critical of India moving closer to the United States of America which they consider as imperialist state that imposing a sort of the world order to facilitate big business and multinational corporations at the cost of the people, especially poor, in the developing countries.

Due to this ideological orientation, the Left parties strongly opposed Indo-US nuclear deal that was initiated by Manmohan Singh led UPA government for which the Left parties extended

support from outside. The Left parties, particularly the CPI (M) considered that the Indo-Us nuclear deal was not just about civil nuclear trade, but represented a fundamental shift in India's foreign policy orientation, especially since the measure was paralleled by moves to strengthen the US-India defence relationship as well.

The Left confronted the government when India voted with the United States in the International Atomic Energy Agency (IAEA) with reference to Iran's nuclear programme in September 2005 and February 2006. The Left also protested the growing military ties between the two countries, and mounted a protest when Indian and the United States held a joint exercise at the Kalaikunda airbase in West Bengal. But the breaking point came in August 2008 when Prime Minister Manmohan Singh announced that India would approach the IAEA to sign a new safeguards agreement to implement the Indian end of the Indo-US nuclear deal. On July 8, 2008, the Left parties withdrew support from the UPA leading to a confidence vote in Parliament on July 22, which the government won after strenuous manoeuvring.

Though lost popularity as they used to have in Indian politics, still the Left is voicing its protest as when it consider India is moving closer to America and for also becoming part of the world that the United States want to build.

The CPI (M)) leader Sitaram Yechury criticised the government's decision to invite United States President Barack Obama as the chief guest on Republic Day by stating that: "This is the first time that India has invited the President of the United States of America to be the chief guest at the Republic Day. It's not that earlier invitations were given and they refused to come but India out of a clear cut foreign policy direction says that our privacy in our foreign policy lies with our solidarity with the developing world".

However, there are very few either in the ruling BJP or oppositional Congress that would agree with the ideological orientation of the Left parties in changing international circumstance. The foreign policy establishment hardly consider the views of Left parties as they are away from the direction that the international politics have taken for quite sometime.

1.3.6.4 REGIONAL PARTIES

Post-1990 has seen an upsurge in number of regional political parties across India. Before 1990, such parties had a limited presence. Save Tamil Nadu, they were not a force to reckon with anywhere. At the national level, their minor presence was used either to save the government of the day or such parties would support the national parties in order to gain political and economic benefits.

Things have changed now. The regional political parties are today a major force. At national level, due to their strength in their region, they are major players. They play important role decision-making. They have significant influence on the policy making too.

The influence of Tamil parties on matters related to Sri Lanka is substantial. In fact, for a while they are setting the agenda for bilateral relations. The recent developments clearly indicate this.

Since the infamous return of the Indian Peace Keeping Force (IPKF) from the Sri Lanka in 1990, India had stayed away from direct involvement in the Sri Lankan civil war between the LTTE and the Sri Lankan government. However, the Indian government quietly backed the Sri Lankan government in the mid-200s in a bid to counter Pakistani and Chinese influence.

In January 2008, the Sri Lankan government unilaterally withdrew from the ceasefire agreement it had signed with the LTTE in February 2002 and resumed its offensive against the rebels. On May 16, 2009, President Mahinda Rajpakse declared victory against the LTTE. Two days later V. Prabhakaran, the leader of the LTTE, was killed.

Throughout, the LTTE's fight evoked a great deal of sympathy and stirred protests in the Western world. But in India, the only support they got was from Tamil Nadu. Political parties in Tamil Nadu, especially the DMK and the state media, strongly criticised the Sri Lankan government for what they said were criminal human rights violations.

Similarly, India's Bangladesh policy cannot ignore the concerns of West Bengal Chief Minister, Mamata Banerjee's Trinamool Congress. In fact, a water agreement with Bangladesh was put on hold because Ms Banerjee was not convinced by some of its provisions. Originally scheduled to accompany the Prime Minister on his visit to Bangladesh, Ms Banerjee ultimately refused to go. However, the present BJP government successfully concluded the agreement in June 2014 after addressing the concerns expressed by Mamata Benerjee.

This phenomenon of the regional parties playing a critical role in matters of foreign policy is not unique to India; the same trend can be observed in other countries as well. The fact is, participation of regional governments in foreign policy is a global phenomenon and has been defined as 'constituent diplomacy' by American scholar John Kincaid. He attributes this phenomenon to a cocktail of factors driven by globalisation, such as economic liberalisation, diffusion of technology and the decentralisation of political power.

India, too, is witnessing this change. Since the 1990s in the immediate aftermath of economic liberalisation, Indian states have been doggedly pursuing economic diplomacy with both the US and other countries. In recent years, states such as Maharashtra, Gujarat, Tamil Nadu, Andhra Pradesh and Bihar have been pro-active in their engagement with foreign governments. State governments such as Gujarat and Bihar have started global summits, which host potential investors from around the world.

Regional parties in India have an important role to play in an increasingly coalition-led central government. These regional parties are exercising a considerable influence over foreign policy, especially with regard to India's neighbouring countries. In certain cases, they have even intervened on issues that previously would be considered the exclusive domain of the central government.

Foreign governments also realise the increasingly important role state governments play, and are beginning to actively engage with state governments. In May 2012, Secretary of State Hillary

Clinton visited West Bengal before visiting New Delhi and met up with Chief Minister Mamata Banerjee to discuss the possibility of US investment in West Bengal. And last year, Clinton visited Tamil Nadu and met up with the Tamil Nadu Chief Minister Jayalalitha.

1.3.7 MEDIA AND FOREIGN POLICY

The media has an obvious and independent role in shaping public opinion on foreign policy issues in a democracy. However, the influence of media on foreign policy is shaped by two important factors: first, the extent of domestic political disagreement or consensus on foreign policy issues; and second, the relationship between the Government of the day and the media.

Indian foreign policy was marked by a high degree of domestic political consensus in the initial years after Independence. Few in the national press questioned Jawaharlal Nehru's overall foreign policy orientation. During the Cold War there was a weakening of this consensus in the press, with some favouring a closer relationship with the West and the others favouring a stronger "anti-imperialist" stance. The mainstream public and political opinion in India favoured Nehru's path of "non-alignment" in the Cold War.

The Ministry of External Affairs has traditionally maintained a close connection with influential editors and columnists to ensure, what a high ranking Indian diplomat has dubbed, a "cosy relationship." While some journalists view this with deep suspicion and may even refuse to accept Government hospitality as a way of defending media freedom, one must not exaggerate the success that Government's have in winning over the media to their viewpoint. In India's increasingly fractious political environment and given rising budgets of private media organizations, Government freebies and junkets have declining influence in shaping media thinking on major policy issues, especially after the rise of electronic media and proliferations of televisions channels.

The electronic media, like Parliament, has become an arena in which party political differences on foreign policy do get articulated more forcefully because of the nature of the medium. In fact, TV news channels may have contributed to increased public discord on foreign policy by deliberately strait- jacketing all "discussions" into binary, conflictual "for- and-against' debates. Rather than facilitate a consensus such "argumentative" debates foster divergence. While television resorts to this practice to increase viewer attention and make news more "entertaining," this has increased the role of the media in shaping political thinking on foreign policy issues.

The last two decades, therefore, marks a turning point in the role of the media in shaping foreign policy. This is on account of three very different factors: (1) the gradual erosion of the domestic political consensus on foreign policy, giving the media the role of an arbiter and an independent analyst of contending political views; (2) the media revolution and expansion, with the rise of television and business journalism and the growing importance of private corporate advertisement revenues, as opposed to government support for media, in influencing media economics; and (3) the increasing influence of the middle class and the business class in the media has also influenced media thinking on foreign policy.

An early example of the media playing an important role in shaping public opinion and government policy with respect to a foreign and strategic policy issue, in the context of domestic political discord, was the role played by *The Times of India* in 1996 on the issue of India signing the Comprehensive Test Ban Treaty (CTBT) agreement. The *Times of India* editorially called for India rejecting CTBT in the form in which it was then being proposed. India can be a signatory only as an acknowledged nuclear weapons power and not as a non- weapon state. This finally became the official Indian position.

The entire mainstream media has been a strong and consistent supporter of the India-US agreement on cooperation in civil nuclear energy. Overwhelming, media support for the civil nuclear agreement, with the exception of *The Hindu* and *The Asian Age*, strengthened the Government's hand in politically defending its case at home, against political criticism from Left and Right opposition. More than print, television played an extremely influential role in generating public support for the nuclear accord. No major TV news channel campaigned against the agreement, while many of them took a strong supportive stance.

1.3.7.1 MEDIA ROLE: A CRITICAL APPRAISAL

Media impact on foreign policy might begin with the larger role that media plays in providing an understanding of foreign countries and their foreign policy to the domestic audience. The image of a country or region, created through media reportage and commentary, cannot but be a component of the foreign policy formulation of a country.

Media had played mostly complimentary role in the making of India's foreign policy since there is general consensus on course of policy during most part of the post-independence period. However, the largely consensual style of foreign policy has been replaced by approaches that vary from being simply different to being partisan and ideological, as we have seen Indo-US nuclear deal. With the end of the era of consensual foreign policy, the media end up playing the role of an arbiter, rather than a reporter, of contending political views. The dividing line between arbitrating contending views and advocating a particular point of view is quite thin. Meanwhile, the media as a whole emerged as a significant business opportunity attracting large investments and most of its advertising revenues from the private sector. This has limited the government's ability to influence the media using its traditional methodologies of patronage.

TV news channels may not often set the agenda, but they have certainly adopted new style of framing issues. For example, newscasts offer less news content and more binary, for- and-against debates, tightly controlled by star anchors. However, their record of actually influencing policy has been indifferent.

So while there can be little doubt that the media play a significant role in informing, shaping, or skewing the foreign policy debate, it remains questionable as to whether the media can actually lead a government to adopt, modify, or abandon, a chosen foreign policy course. Pandala, a scholar who studied Indian media says that her findings reveal that 'the India media affected foreign policy formulation in a minimalistic and often symbolic manner'. She adds that the perception that the media lack maturity has detracted from their ability to influence long-term

policy changes.

Thus, the extent to which the media influence government policy depends on a great degree on the government itself. A stronger government with a coherent policy can tide over media storms, whereas an unsure course within the government can buffet the policy ship in one direction or the other, or bring it to a grinding halt. All of this is not withstanding problems within media themselves—lack of expertise in reporting on specialized issues, poor editorial supervision, or even a cynical strategy of deliberately fanning emotions as a means of maintaining viewership and enhancing circulation.

CHECK YOUR PROGRESS 2

NOTE: Use the space given below for your answers. Use separate sheet if space is not sufficient.

1.	Who renamed the Prime Minister's Secretariat (PMS) as the Prime Minister's Office (PMO)?
2.	What was one of the key successes of India's foreign policy under Manmohan Singh's government?
3.	Which political party dominated India's foreign policy decisions after independence?
4.	Which Indian state governments have been proactive in economic diplomacy?
5.	What term did John Kincaid use to describe regional participation in foreign policy?

1.3.8 EXERCISES

- 1. How has the role of the Prime Minister's Office (PMO) evolved in shaping India's foreign policy over different administrations?
- 2. What were the major contributions of key individuals like Brajesh Mishra and J. N. Dixit in India's foreign policy decisions?
- 3. What structural and functional challenges does the Ministry of External Affairs (MEA) face in executing India's foreign policy?
- 4. How has the dominance of the Indian National Congress influenced India's foreign policy since independence?
- 5. What are the key differences in foreign policy approaches between the Congress, BJP, and Left parties in India?
- 6. How have regional political parties influenced India's foreign policy since the 1990s?
- 7. What role did Tamil Nadu's political parties play in shaping India's stance on Sri Lanka?
- 8. Why did Mamata Banerjee oppose the water agreement with Bangladesh, and how was it later resolved?

1.3.9 SUGGESTED READINGS

- J. Bandyopadhyaya, The Making of India's Foreign Policy, Third Edition, Allied Publishers, New Delhi, 2003.
- Sumit Ganguly, "Hindu Nationalism and the Foreign Policy of India's Bharatiya Janata Party", Transatlantic Academy Paper Series, No. 2, June 2015.
- Sanjaya Baru, "The Influence of Business and Media on Indian Foreign Policy", *India Review*, Vol.8, No. 3, 2009, pp. 266-285.
- Manoj Joshi, "The Media in the Making of India's Foreign Policy", in David M. Malone, C.
- Raja Mohan, and Srinath Raghavan (eds), Oxford *Handbook of Indian Foreign Policy*, Oxford: Oxford University Press, 2015.

—×—

1.4 CONTINUITY AND CHANGE IN INDIA'S FOREIGN POLICY

-V Nagendra Rao

STRUCTURE

- 1.4.0 Objectives
- 1.4.1 Introduction
- 1.4.2 Change in India's Foreign Policy: The Context
 - 1.4.2.1 Changes in External Environment
 - 1.4.2.2 Changes in Internal Context
- 1.4.3 Structural Changes in India's World View
 - 1.4.3.1 Adopting to the Process of Globalisation
 - 1.4.3.2 Shifting Focus from Political to Economic
 - 1.4.3.3 Leader of Third World to Emerging Power
 - 1.4.3.4 Discarding Anti-Western Approach
 - 1.4.3.5 Idealism to Realistic Policy Orientation
- 1.4.4 Dynamics of New Foreign Policy
 - 1.4.4.1 Nuclear Diplomacy
 - 1.4.4.2 Expansion of Relations with Major Powers
 - 1.4.4.3 Reconciliation with Neighbours
 - 1.4.4.4 Nurturing Relations with Extended Neighbourhood
- 1.4.5 India's Foreign Policy: Continuity in Change
- 1.4.6 Let Us Sum Up
- 1.4.7 Exercises
- 1.4.8 Suggested Readings

1.4.0 OBJECTIVES

This lesson provides basic understanding about the continuity and change in India's foreign policy in post-Cold War period. After going through this topic, you should be able to:

• know the context under which Indian foreign policy undergone changes;

- understand the structural changes to India's foreign policy;
- comprehend the dynamics of the new foreign policy; and
- know what is continuity in changing foreign policy of India.

1.4.1 INTRODUCTION

Continuity and change are features of all foreign policies. Foreign policy of a nation reflects continuity because it is based on, and guards, the long term national interests of the nation. Continuity in foreign policy reflects the foreightedness and the vision of the foreign policy makers. Similarly, change is also an important aspect of all foreign policies. Change reflects pragmatism of the policy makers holding this responsibility. Change is necessary because the environment, both internal and external, is constantly at flux. Hence, countries need to adjust themselves to the changing circumstances. Therefore, both continuity and change are important features of any foreign policy. Indian foreign policy is no exception to this rule.

If continuity and change are constant features of any foreign policy, is there any change in India's foreign policy? If yes, when the change was brought into, under what conditions? Is the change substantial or piecemeal? These are questions one has to confront when dealing with an issue like continuity and change in India's foreign policy. However, the answers are difficult to get. Those who follow the foreign policy debates in India know that the diversity in opinion is no less than the diversity of politics. Some say that there a "continuity and change", some say "continuity in change", other say "change no continuity" and remaining say "continuity no change". These differences are due to what some considered as change might be considered by others as continuity. For instance, some say that India has shed its age old policy of "nonalignment" but others refer the contemporary policy of "strategic autonomy" is nothing but old wine in a new bottle. Hence, it all come down to the perspective one would take to understand continuity and change. In this lesson, we discuss some of the significant developments in India's foreign policy to understand the continuity and change in its foreign policy.

1.4.2 CHANGE IN INDIA'S FOREIGN POLICY: THE CONTEXT

The foreign policies of countries are marked more by continuity than change. The reasons for this are fairly obvious. Since most of the tangible determinants of foreign policy remain constant over a long period of time, the scope for policy alteration tends to be limited. Also, decision-makers are hesitant about contemplating change in external relations because they know the consequence could be serious. Fundamental changes in foreign policy take place only when there is a revolutionary change either at home or in the world.

India's relations with the world have seen a fundamental transformation over the last decade and a half. A number of factors were at work in India. The old political and economic order at home had collapsed and externally the end of the Cold War removed all the old benchmarks that guided India's foreign policy. Many of the core beliefs of the old system had to discarded and consensus generated on new ones. The collapse of the Soviet Union and the new wave of economic globalization left India scrambling to find new anchors for its conduct of external relations.

1.4.2.1 CHANGES IN EXTERNAL ENVIRONMENT

In earlier lessons, we have studies that foreign policy is dependent on internal and external factors. Any changes in these factors will lead to the change in the orientation of foreign policy as well. These changes are summarised as following.

Dissolution of Soviet Union

The sudden dissolution of Soviet Union has significant affect on India's foreign policy. The partnership between India and the Soviet Union during the Cold War has been widely regarded as a success story. Although the two countries did not pretend to share the same values, they had no serious conflict of interests and created a model of mutually beneficial realpolitik. The relationship still evokes nostalgia in India, projecting the image of the Soviet Union as a respectful and reliable friend. It has helped India in industrialisation, in establishing modern institutions of higher education and research, contributed to the India's space and nuclear technology, provided market for tea and other products.

Most importantly, Soviet Union has extended its unconditional support to India when the later was in a crisis. Though initially reluctant to take sides during the India's war with China in 1962, as war progresses, it extended support to India. During the Bangladesh crisis when America sent its warship US Enterprise to Indian Ocean, Soviet returned with signing Indo-Soviet Friendship Treaty. Most importantly, the Soviet Union saved India from embarrassment in the United Nations by invoking veto on Kashmir issue as and when the West proposed a resolution against India. The dissolution of the Soviet Union meant, now onwards India has to defend on its own in the United Nations and elsewhere which is not possible without developing rapprochement and close proximity with the Western Countries.

Irrelevance of Nonaligned Movement

The nonalignment was broadly conceived as a platform by India and other like minded Afro- Asian countries to keep neutrality between two dominant power blocs of the world, the West and Socialist. However, the exit of Soviet Union from the world scene makes nonalignment a little sense. In the emerging US- centric world order, there is no option for India other than cultivating friendly relations with the United States. Moreover, the disappearance of nationalist leaders who have come to the power after anti-colonial struggles by 1980s also qualitatively altered the relationship between so-called Third World countries. Most of the countries that were active in the Third World movement are started flirting with Western countries, be it Egypt or Indonesia. The old fraternal relationship between these countries started melting as new generation of leaders' outlook and understanding considerably different from old nationalist elite.

Socialist Planning to Capitalist Development

There was a considerable change in the economic development of the Third World countries from the late 1970s and early 1980s onwards. In the initial period of independence, most of these countries, like India, have undertaken economic development in the model of "mixed economy" with a strong stress on planning. Since most of these countries were lacking the private capital to industrialise the country, heavy industries were built under state patronage as public sector units. However, the relative development of private capital by late 1970s made this model a sort of irrelevant. Once the private capital and interests are proliferated, there is structural change to the economies, societies and polities of these countries. The idea of socialist welfare economies had losing its ideological rigour in these societies. Hence, the qualities changes started taking place in these countries much before the dissolution of the Soviet Union. When the Soviet Union was disappeared, these private interests got voice to pressurise their governments to liberalise the economies in the direction of the capitalist development.

Impact of WTO and other Economic Regimes

The disappearance of Soviet Union also led to the increased the influence of Western controlled economic regimes such as WTO, IMF and World Bank. Since most of the big powers in the world were strongly backing these organisations and pressurising the Third World countries to accept the trade and financial rules set by these multilateral organisations, not many options are left for these countries. Moreover, the dire financial situation in many of Third World countries, particularly African countries led to the barrowing money from the IMF and World Bank. Since the lending money is always linked with the liberalisation of the internal economy most of the developing and underdeveloped countries have started initiating economic reforms.

1.4.2.2 CHANGES IN INTERNAL CONTEXT

The Internal developments in India since late 1970s also had sown seeds for reforms in political and economic systems as well as foreign policy. There is structural changes to society and polity that ultimately made reforming the country easier in the early 1990s

End of Congress Party Domination

The late 1990s witnessed the end of the single party domination in India. The Congress, which acted as platform for consensual politics, fragmented and many newer parties emerged with different outlook. The kind of unanimity which the country has witnessed in the early independence period was disappeared; the parties started voicing segmented interests than pan-Indian interests. This has a considerable impact on the political development of India.

Emergence of New Elite

India's internal factors also significantly contributed to the change in India's foreign policy. By 1980s almost all the national leadership that took active part in Independence movement has disappeared from the political scene. A new breed of leadership that emerged in the Indian political scene in the 1980s has more pragmatic in its approach than the earlier leadership. They no more consider planning and nationalisation of key economic institutions as a best way for economic development. The new business and trading class also inclined to open and liberal economy rather closed and regulated economy. The Indian capitalist class, which has grown up in the intermediate years, started pressurising the political class to initiate economic reforms. Rajiv Gandhi government

responded favourably to these demands and started economic reforms in late 1980s. Hence, India initiated economic reforms much before the dissolution of the Soviet Union.

These are the changes to the external and internal context that reoriented India's political and economic systems in early 1990s. The immediate factors such as balance of payment crisis fastened the reforms, but the context is already set in terms of structural changes to the national and international systems.

1.4.3 STRUCTURAL CHANGES IN INDIA'S WORLD VIEW

Underlying India's current foreign policy strategy are a set of important transitions in India's world view. Not all of these were articulated self-consciously or clearly by the Indian political leadership. However, the change is clearly visible. Some of these are detailed below.

1.4.3.1 ADOPTING TO THE PROCESS OF GLOBALIZATION

The first was the transition from the national consensus on building a "socialist society" to building a "modern capitalist" one. Adapting to the new challenges of globalization now became the principal national objective. The change in the national economic strategy in 1991 inevitably produced abundant new options on the foreign policy front.

1.4.3.2 SHIFTING FOCUS FROM POLITICAL TO ECONOMIC

Implicit in this was the second transition, from the past emphasis on politics to a new stress on economics in the making of foreign policy. India began to realize in the 1990s how far behind it had fallen the rest of Asia, including China, in economic development. India was now seeking foreign direct investment, and access to markets in the developed world. The slow but successful economic reforms unleashed the potential of the nation, generated rapid economic growth and provided a basis to transform its relations with great powers, regional rivals Pakistan and China, and the neighbourhood as a whole.

1.4.3.3 Leader of Third World to Emerging Power

A third transition in Indian foreign policy is about the shift from being a leader of the "Third World" to the recognition of the potential that India could emerge as a great power in its own right. While independent India always had a sense of its own greatness, that never seemed realistic until the Indian economy began to grow rapidly in the 1990s. While the rhetoric on the third world remained popular, the policy orientation in India's external relations increasingly focused on India's own self interest. There was a growing perception, flowing from the Chinese example, that if India could sustain high growth rates it had a chance to gain a place at the international high table.

1.4.3.4 DISCARDING ANTI-WESTERN APPROACH

The 1990s also saw India begin discarding the "anti-Western" political impulses that were so dominant in the world view that shaped Indian diplomacy right up to 1991. Rejecting the "anti-Western" mode of thinking was the fourth important transition of Indian foreign policy. As the world's largest democracy, India was the most committed to Western political values outside the Euro-Atlantic world. Yet the Cold War saw India emerge as the most articulate opponent of the

Western world view. A strong anti-Western bias crept into Indian foreign policy supported by the left as well as the right and underwritten by the security establishment. The disappearance of the Soviet Union and China's rise as a great power demanded that India to break the decades old anti-Western approaches to foreign policy.

1.4.3.5 IDEALISM TO REALISTIC POLICY ORIENTATION

Finally, the fifth transition in Indian foreign policy in the 1990s was from idealism to realism. Idealism came naturally to the Indian elite that won independence from the British by arguing against colonialism on the basis of first principles of Enlightenment. The new leaders of India had contempt for "power politics". They believed it was a negative but lingering legacy from 19th century Europe that had no relevance to the new times of the mid 20th century. India tended to see its role in world politics as the harbinger of a new set of principles of peaceful coexistence and multilateralism which if applied properly would transform the world. Although Nehru demonstrated realism on many fronts, especially in India's immediate neighbourhood, the public articulation of India's foreign policy had the stamp of idealism all over it. Since the 1990s, India could no longer sustain the presumed idealism of its foreign policy. India had to come to terms with the painful reality that its relative standing in the world had substantially declined during the Cold War. Much like Deng Xiaoping who prescribed pragmatism for China, the Indian leaders began to emphasize practical ways to achieve power and prosperity for India.

CHECK YOUR PROGRESS 1

NOTE: Use the space given below for your answers. Use separate sheet if space is not sufficient.

l.	Which global event led to the irrelevance of the Nonalignment Movement?
2.	What shift did India's foreign policy make in the 1990s?
_	
_	

1.4.4 DYNAMICS OF THE NEW FOREIGN POLICY

The shift in India's foreign policy is clearly visible with the measures India has undertaken from 1990s onwards. It has shed many of the ideological impulses and started asserting on issues which it consider as vital to advancing its interests. The policies it has adopted, initiatives it has undertaken and strategic relationships it has nurtured in the post-Cold War period were so significant that no one would have imagined a couple of years before.

1.4.4.1 NUCLEAR DIPLOMACY

One area which saw the cumulative impact of all these transitions in a powerful manner was India's nuclear diplomacy. After years of promoting idealistic slogans such as universal disarmament, India by the late 1990s recognized the importance of becoming a declared nuclear weapon power. Despite the steady nuclearization of its security environment over the decades, India remained ambiguous about its attitudes to its national own nuclear weapons programme. Even as it tested a nuclear device in 1974, India refused to follow through with the nuclear weapons project. By the late 1990s, though, India found it necessary to make itself an unambiguous nuclear power. The economic growth of the decade gave it the self- confidence that it could ride through the inevitable international reaction to it. India was also right it betting that a country of its size and economic potential could not be sanctioned and isolated for too long. Even more important, India sensed that there might be diplomatic opportunities for getting the great powers acknowledge if not legitimize its nuclear weapons programme and remove the high technology sanctions against it. Within seven years after its second round of nuclear testing in 1998, India signed the historic nuclear deal with the Bush Administration in July 2005 under which the U.S. agreed to change its domestic non-proliferation law and revise the international guidelines on nuclear cooperation in favour of India.

1.4.4.2 EXPANSION OF RELATIONS WITH MAJOR POWERS

Another area of transformation was India's relations with the great powers. The end of the Cold War and the collapse of the Soviet Union, allowed India to pursue, without the political inhibitions of the past, simultaneous expansion of relations with all the major powers. Injecting political and economic substance into the long emaciated relationship with the United States, now the lone super power, became the principal national strategic objective. At the same time, India was unwilling to let its old ties to the Soviet Union, now a weakened Russia withers away. Since the end of the Cold War, Russia has remained an important source of arms and a strategic partner. Meanwhile India's ties with Europe, China and Japan have all become far more weighty and diversified. The upgradation of the relations with China since the early 1990s has been one of the biggest achievements of India's new foreign policy. The once wary relationship with China has now blossomed into a strategic partnership for peace and development. China has emerged as India's single largest trading partner. India and Japan, which drifted apart from the Cold War, have steadily expanded the basis for political cooperation in recent years and have proclaimed a strategic partnership in 2005.

1.4.4.3 RECONCILIATION WITH NEIGHBOURS

India's new foreign policy was not all about "big power diplomacy". It involved a strong effort to find political reconciliation with two of its large neighbours—Pakistan and China. Since the end of the Cold War, India had sought to cope with Pakistan in the radically changed context that brought nuclear weapons into the bilateral equation and an increased ability of Pakistan to intervene in the disputed state of Jammu and Kashmir through cross- border terrorism. The diplomatic history of Indo-Pak relations in the 1990s included every possible development—from a limited conventional war to

a total military confrontation to many summits that struggled to define a new framework for peace between the two neighbours. A new peace process under way since 2004 has produced the first important steps towards a normalization of Indo-Pak relations, including a serious negotiation on the Kashmir dispute. At the same India is also involved in purposeful negotiations to end the long-standing boundary dispute with China. For the first time since its independence, India is now addressing its two of most important sources of insecurity—unresolved territorial questions with Pakistan and China. Both involve de-emphasizing territorial nationalism, which in turn carry significant political risks at home. Yet, the Indian political leadership now believes resolving either or both of these problems would fundamentally alter India's security condition.

1.4.4.4 NURTURING RELATIONS WITH EXTENDED NEIGHBOURHOOD

India also started asserting its rightful place in the Indian Ocean and its littoral states. The 1990s saw India making a determined effort to reconnect with its extended neighbourhood in South East Asia, Afghanistan and Central Asia, and the West Asia. India's renewed engagement with the surrounding regions is within a new framework that emphasized economic relations and energy diplomacy rather than the traditional notion of third world solidarity through the nonaligned movement.

During the 1990s Indian diplomacy had to develop a new strategy to deal with the Islamic world. Even as it renewed its engagement with Israel, which was kept at arms length for decades, India also sought to redefine its policies towards key Islamic countries. The reality of a large Islamic population—nearly 150 million today—had always been an important factor in India's foreign policy. In the past it merely meant supporting various Islamic causes. But today, the relationship with the Islamic world is being deepened on the basis of economic and commercial cooperation, energy security and cooperation in combating religious extremism and terrorism. This gave an unprecedented depth and breadth to India's ties to the Islamic world since the end of the Cold War.

1.4.4.5 India's Foreign Policy Under Narendra Modi

India's foreign policy under Narendra Modi has more of a realistic and pragmatic turn without leaving the core of India's foreign policy ideals. Modi, a deft politician, began his diplomatic offensive immediately after his BJP secured a majority in the 2014 parliamentary polls. He invited many regional leaders, including Pakistan's former PM Nawaz Sharif and ex-Afghan President Hamid Karzai, to his oath-taking ceremony. In September 2014, Modi visited the US and addressed the Indian diaspora in New York's Madison Square Garden. He also held talks with Former US President Barack Obama. Modi's "diplomatic showmanship" made headlines in India as well as in the US. After Donald Trump became America's president, India-US ties continued to flourish, with New Delhi and Washington sealing several trade and defense deals and undertaking joint military exercises. Modi's diplomacy equally charmed the European Union. The Indian prime minister visited Berlin and Paris in 2015 and held talks with German Chancellor Angela Merkel and Former French President Francois Hollande. In France, Modi managed to break the deadlock over the sale of 36 Rafale fighter jets.

India's relations with some of its neighboring countries have always been problematic. India views China and Pakistan as its biggest security challenges in the region. This aspect of India's foreign policy has remained unchanged for the past few decades. But security analysts say that unlike his predecessors, PM Modi has chosen to be more assertive when it comes to national security. As an example of this assertiveness, they point to India's "surgical strike" against suspected militant hideouts in Pakistan in response to a deadly attack on Indian troops in Kashmir in February. Modi's China policy, meanwhile, hasn't succeeded in resolving the tensions and mistrust between the two nations. In April 2018, the Indian prime minister met with Chinese President Xi Jinping at a bilateral summit in Wuhan. The meeting was touted as a milestone in India-China relations; however it failed to deliver concrete results. New Delhi is also skeptical of China's Belt and Road Initiative (BRI), which it considers a regional security threat. Rangachari says that India is not alone in expressing concerns about the BRI.

Channeling India's regional foreign policy through BIMSTEC underlines Modi's desire to focus on the country's eastern frontier. The Bay of Bengal connects India to its eastern neighbors, not only to its traditional South Asian partners such as Bangladesh, Bhutan, Nepal, and Sri Lanka, but also to Southeast Asia via Myanmar and Thailand. By doing this, Modi has tried to redefine India's strategic periphery, reimagining the country's neighborhood on more favorable terms.

Modi has also transformed India's "Look East" policy into a more aggressive "Act East" policy, which aims to connect India to East Asia through better infrastructure, trade and regional institutions. Analysts say the Act East policy, unlike other diplomatic efforts, gives an equal importance to economic relations and security interests. As a result, India has been more vocal about free maritime navigation and a rules-based order for maritime security, especially in the South China Sea, and has also signed a deal with Indonesia to build the Sabang port, located in the strategically important Malacca strait.

As Harsha V. Pant notes, India's foreign policy has undergone a remarkable transformation since Modi came to power in May 2014. No Indian prime minister has ever before generated the kind of tenor and volume of academic literature that Modi has, particularly in the field of foreign policy. As Foreign Secretary Vijay Gokhale remarks, in terms of the policy, India has moved from non-alignment to alignment: "India has moved on from its non-aligned past. India is today an aligned state—but based on issues." Underscoring that it was time for India to become part of the global rule-making process, Gokhale argued that "in the rules-based order, India would have a stronger position in multilateral institutions."

The Modi government is redefining strategic autonomy as an objective that is attainable through strengthened partnerships rather than the avoidance of partnerships. By doing so, it is underlining that in today's complex global scene, strategic autonomy should not necessarily be a twin of non-alignment. When India engages in the so-called "Quad," for instance, it seeks to enhance its strategic autonomy vis-à-vis China. Meanwhile, when the country sits together with Russia and China for a trilateral, it is magnifying its strategic autonomy vis-à-vis a Trump administration that is intent on challenging the pillars of the global economic order.

By elevating the former foreign secretary, Jaishankar, to minister of external affairs, Modi has made it clear that India will prioritize foreign policy. On the global stage, this comes at a time when escalating tensions between the United States and China are shaking up the world order. At the same time, U.S.-Indian relations may hit a rough patch over growing disagreements on trade-related issues.

1.4.5 INDIA'S FOREIGN POLICY: CONTINUITY IN CHANGE

It has now become something of a standard view that India's foreign policy and strategic orientation to-wards the world underwent a profound shift during the late 1990s. This shift has been described along various axes. *First*, it is a shift from a high minded, pious but ultimately impotent idealism to a sober and more effective pragmatism. Instead of building meaningless solidarities constructed around ineffective organisations like the non-aligned movement, or appealing for third world unity, India now more effectively exercises its diplomatic and policy choices. It squarely puts its national interests first, unhampered by any ideological baggage; it picks and chooses its allies, the particular battles it wants to fight, on its own terms. *Second*, India has jettisoned the always somewhat hypocritical stance that militarism is not a proper ingredient of foreign policy. Its resort to 'coercive diplomacy', its open espousal of nuclear arms, and its strategic uses of war talk signal a willingness to act tough. Its alliances and demands are more in tune with its perceived military needs, than a result of ideological conviction. It will do business with both Arab states and Israel; it will negotiate with any power capable of serving its interests.

Third, India's economic engagement with the rest of the world has acquired paramount importance. Indian thinking had long confused sovereignty with power. It became a prisoner of its own obsession with sovereignty, where sovereignty came to be understood as independence from the rest of the world. But this independence came at a price: since India was not a significant economic player in the global economy, the rest of the world was pretty much free to ignore it. Indian leadership had a pathological distrust of foreign investment and trade and saw it as a means by which India's sovereignty would be usurped. But trade and foreign investment also make others dependent, and give a different type of leverage over them. China long ago realised that its road to power would depend not simply on military might. Foreign investment in China would create lobbies within the US to do its bidding for it; trade would mean that a significant number of jobs in Europe and America would come to depend on exports to China. This fact alone would give the US less room for manoeuvre vis-à-vis China. In short, while autarky (economic independence as a national policy) can produce a self- satisfied sovereignty, only interdependence can open up new avenues of exercising power. As India integrates into the world economy, it has realised these virtues of interdependence. It has also realised that a sound economic base is the surest means of achieving great power status. Policymaking within India became more self-conscious of the fact that the past economic policies had made India a considerably diminished economic power, and this reduced its leverage with the rest of the world. Finally, in a move that symbolises all these changes, India's attitude to the US underwent a profound change. The almost pathological distrust of US strategic intentions, the dislike of capitalism gave way to talk of strategic partnerships and common business interests.

If many expressed above mentioned change in post-Cold War foreign policy of India,

however, others consider that India's shifts in foreign policy are not as dramatic as they appear, that such shifts as have happened are largely a result of the transformation of India's economy.

Pratap Bhanu Mehta argues that a blind idealism never driven India in the making of its foreign policy. Although India was formally committed to non- alignment, it could be argued both that this was as much a strategic choice as it was a principled allegiance, and it seldom prevented India from aligning with the powers that be in a manner conducive to its own strategy. Whatever may have been Nehru's intentions, NAM was never fully determinative of India's foreign policy. It did not prevent India from seeking a close alliance with the US in the early 1950s, only to be rebuffed; and it did not prevent our catapulting into closeness with Soviet Union as a strategic choice. Indeed, with the possible exception of the engagement with China it is difficult to cite many instances where pragmatic national interest did not win out in Indian foreign policy. Pragmatism, not fidelity to non-alignment or a solicitude for world communism led India to be silent on the Soviet invasion of Hungary and Czechoslovakia, just as it is now muted on Iraq. Even India's nuclear programme is the outcome of very subtle nurturing by successive Congress governments, including the 'pacifist' Nehru. The transition from NAM and third world solidarity is not a transition from idealism to pragmatism. It is simply an acknowledgement that the strategic gains from NAM diminished after the end of the cold war.

Pratap Bhanu Mehta further states that even in military terms, barring the debacle with China, India was more self-confident and assertive militarily till the late 1990s. Indira Gandhi could intervene in East Pakistan to stem one of the largest genocides ever perpetuated on Muslims anywhere in the world in a way in which no government can even dream of now. Coercive diplomacy pales in front of what India achieved in 1971, politically and morally, against the opposition of the US. If someone described two scenarios: an India taking on Pakistan on its own terms, militarily humbling it but granting it some political space in the Shimla agreement on the one hand; and an India unable to 'contain' Pakistani intervention, begging for American intervention while all the time denying it, which would you describe as more self-confident and clear-eyed foreign policy?

The above argument of Pratap Bhanu Mehta clearly reveals that for every one who consider that there is significant change in India's foreign policy, more or less equal number of people think that there is tremendous continuity 'in' whatever changes we notice. They argue that the major objectives of the India's foreign policy from the independence to now are more or less same with a slight variation in their emphasis.

Preservation of territorial integrity and freedom of policy, international peace, economic development, protection of the interest of PIOs abroad, and freedom of dependent people have been the primary objectives of Indian foreign policy. Principles adopted towards the fulfilment of these objectives were NAM, Panchsheel, solidarity with the third world countries, establishment of a just world order, support to UN, anti imperialism, etc. All governments, from the times of Nehru to the present have shown due regard to these principles of our foreign policy.

NAM has been the fundamental principle of India's foreign policy. India still honour and

pursue it. It implied keeping away from bloc politics and maintaining our "strategic autonomy". This tradition of autonomy in foreign policy making is still reflected in not giving in to the pressure for signing in the NPT and the CTBT. Similarly, India also refused to take part in Iraq and Afghanistan operations though America pressurised to do so as it is not willing to shoulder Americas war on these countries. Hence, strictly it adhered to the 'autonomy' principle that it is preaching for a long time. An exception to the rule of non alignment came in when India signed a secret agreement with the Soviets during 1970's. However, it must be noted that India signed this deal to save its territorial integrity. It was a deal for its survival. Hence, India followed the policy of NAM with continuity as well as change. It reflects pragmatic strategy.

Contrary to the perception that India shed its anti-imperial "Third Worldism", and moved closer to major powers, particularly towards the US, the reality speaks something else. Without using the rhetoric of NAM and Third World solidarity, India has, nonetheless, coordinating its activities with other developing and emerging powers of global south. Ahead of the September 2003 WTO ministerial meeting in Cancun, it was instrumental in forming a bloc of 21 developing countries opposed to the retention by the European Union and the USA of huge farm subsidies. Led by India, Brazil and China, the G21 blocked a new round of trade liberalization in the areas of investment and competition. American trade representatives singularly blamed India for this. Such South- South cooperation was given institutional expression with the establishment of a trilateral India, Brazil and South Africa Dialogue Forum (IBSA). It was intended to deepen cooperation not only in coordinating policy in multilateral trade negotiations but also in areas such as reform of the UN, security, development, defence and technology. Similarly, India also founding member of BRICs a forum comprises of leading countries Brazil, Russia, India and China, a block expected to develop as a rival economic group to US dominated western alliance. Many predicted that as growing economies, the BRICs would overtake rest of the groupings of the world. Recently, they have taken a critical decision to establish a BRICs bank to lend financial assistance to developing countries. Again, many have seen this development as emergence of rival financial system to the westerndominated World Bank and IMF. Hence, contrary to the perception that India moved away from the south-south cooperation to the US-led world economic order, in reality, India is shaping its policies to maximise its interests, rather than taking shelter under one or the other countries.

Panchsheel has been another example of both continuity and change in India's foreign policy. India has adhered to the principle of non interference in the internal matters of any country. However, the change can be seen in Indian involvement in the liberation of East Pakistan and sending troops to Sri Lanka. Interference in East Pakistan was done to safeguard national integrity. Troops were sent to Sri Lanka to save the region from getting involved into super power rivalry.

There is a remarkable shift in Indian Foreign Policy when it comes to nuclear weapons. India has travelled a long way from the time when it stated that it would never possess nuclear weapons to the present times when it is demanding the status of a nuclear weapon state. However, India was by and large forced to change its stance. India has always remained committed to the goal of disarmament. It raised this issue from the platform of UN many times. However, seeing the attitude of the major nuclear powers and tacit support to Pakistan's nuclear programme by China,

India was forced to undertake its own nuclear programme.

1990's saw a completely new international environment marked by the end of cold war and the emergence of worldwide globalization. These two developments have brought about major changes in the foreign policy thinking in almost all the nations. It brought issues of 'low politics' to forefront. Old partners and strategic equations needed a new look. India responded by playing in the economic diplomacy card. India's look east policy, strengthening of our bonds with the US, improvement in relations with EU, closer relations with the South East Asian countries, measures to strengthen the bond between the NRIs and our country, etc., was India's reply to the changed scenario.

Thus we see a remarkable continuity as well as pragmatism in India's foreign policy stands to fulfil its long term and short term national interests.

CHECK YOUR PROGRESS 2

1. - -	What is nuclear diplomacy?	
2.	What is the goal of reconciliation in foreign policy?.	
3.	What is energy diplomacy?	
4.	What is the main focus of economic diplomacy?	

1.4.6 LET US SUM UP

In the post-Cold War world the role India's leaders seek to carve out is one that is more unambiguously based on a pragmatic assessment of national interest. It reflects the reality of a world in which one state (the USA) commands unprecedented power, which it is prepared, if need be, to exercise unilaterally. However, while India has shown itself prepared to shed old economic and

political baggage when necessary, its foreign policy remains cautious and tempered by both past legacies and the pressure to seek a basic domestic consensus on major issues. It has sought to reconcile a long-term interest in seeing the eventual emergence of a multipolar world with the immediate requirement of accommodating the USA. This is an outlook it appears to share with its old ally Russia, still its main arms supplier, as well as states like France, China and Iran.

Over the past decade India has made headway in evolving a foreign policy that assures its emergence as a power with an effective presence on the international stage. Ultimately, however, success will depend not just in adapting to the changes in the wider international arena but on the proximate and interdependent factors of economic growth, political stability and regional peace.

1.4.7 EXERCISES

- 1. Briefly state the context for change in India's foreign policy.
- 2. What are the major structural changes in India's world view?
- 3. Write a note on dynamics of New Foreign Policy?
- 4. There is continuity in change in India's Foreign Policy. Elaborate.

1.4.8 SUGGESTED READINGS

- C. Rajamohan, "India's New Foreign Policy Strategy", paper presented at a Seminar in Beijing by China Reform Forum and the Carnegie Endowment for International Peace, Beijing, May 26, 2006.
- Pratap Bhanu Mehta, "A New Foreign Policy?", *Economic and Political Weekly*, July 26, 2003, pp. 3173-75.
- James Chiriyankandath, "Realigning India: Indian foreign policy after the Cold War", *The Round Table*, Vol. 93, No. 374, pp. 199-211.
- Kripa Sridharan, "Explaining the phenomenon of change in Indian foreign policy under the National Democratic Alliance Government", *Contemporary South Asia*, Vol. 15, No.1, 2006, pp. 75-91.

2.1 INDIA'S SECURITY POLICY: EVOLUTION AND PARAMETERS: INDIA'S SECURITY CONCERNS: INTERNAL AND EXTERNAL

- V Nagendra Rao & Rajesh Kumar

STRUCTURE

- 2.1.0 Objectives
- 2.1.1 Introduction
- 2.1.2 Conceptualising Security
- 2.1.3 Security of What?
 - 2.1.3.1 External Security and Internal Security
 - 2.1.3.2 Short-Term and Long-Term Security

2.1.4 Evolution of India's Security Policy

- 2.1.4.1 Nationalist and Imperial Inheritance
- 2.1.4.2 War with China
- 2.1.4.3 The 1972 War with Pakistan and the Creation of Bangladesh
- 2.1.4.4 The Post-Cold War Scenario: Reorienting India's Security Policy
- 2.1.4.5 Crossing the Nuclear Rubicon

2.1.5 India's Security Parameters

- 2.1.5.1 External Security
- 2.1.5.2 Security Threats Involving Nuclear Energy, Space and High Technology
- 2.1.5.3 Mitigating Economic Security Threats
- 2.1.5.4 Internal Security
- 2.1.5.5 Threats from Social, Communal and Regional Cleavages
- 2.1.5.6 Security Threats Posed by Trans-border Crimes
- 2.1.5.7 Co-ordination in Intelligence
- 2.1.5.8 Comprehensive Approach to Security

2.1.6 India's Security Concerns: External

- 2.1.6.1 Pakistan
- 2.1.6.2 China

- 2.1.6.3 Indian Ocean
- 2.1.6.4 Cross-border Terrorism

2.1.7 India's Security Concerns: Internal

- 2.1.7.1 Socio-Economic Inequality
- 2.1.7.2 Religious Fundamentalism
- 2.1.7.3 Maoist Movement
- 2.1.7.4 Regional and Ethnic Conflicts
- 2.1.7.5 Narcotism
- 2.1.8 Let Us Sum Up
- 2.1.9 Exercises
- 2.1.10 Suggested Readings

2.1.0 OBJECTIVES

This lesson provides basic understanding about the evolution of India security policy and the broader parameters of its security. After going through this topic, you should be able to:

- Conceptualise what constitute security;
- Understand the evolution of India's security policy;
- Know the broader parameters of India's security.
- Know the external security threats mainly from Pakistan, China, Indian Ocean region and cross-border terrorism;
- Understand the security problems India facing due to internal context viz. growing economic inequalities, religious fundamentalism, narcotism, Maoist movement, ethnic and regional movements;

2.1.1 INTRODUCTION

A country's foreign policy is principally and critically concerned with security. Its primary function is to enhance the country's security. Security cannot be trifled with by any nation. But it is not easy to define security, much less to ensure it. It is a tricky proposition, for just as one man's manna can be another's poison, one country's security could well be seen as the insecurity of another country.

India is widely believed to have arrived on the global stage. It is the world's largest democracy, and one of its fastest-growing economies. In fact, if one goes by the popular press both domestic and foreign, it is very difficult to not get swayed by the euphony being generated about India and her inevitable ascendance to rightful place in the comity of nations. Nonetheless it is also facing number of threats for its security. While parts of the country bask in the glow of new-found affluence, others

continue to toil in the gloom of abject poverty. This other side of India is also riven by violence and unrest, which increasingly targets the government. Meanwhile, even as India takes on the trappings of a global power, it remains deeply concerned about security developments beyond its borders. Lurking beneath India's recently triumphs are internal and external security challenges that may well intensify in the years ahead.

Hence, an overarching framework of India's national security has to take cognisance of military and non-military dimensions in terms of both external threats and internal challenges to its territorial integrity and national unity. Threats to a nation emanate as much from external aggression as from internal strife but at times internal factors can erode national security more critically than any external danger. National power based on political stability, societal cohesion and economic development would thus remain central to the future of India's national security.

2.1.2 CONCEPTUALISING SECURITY

After the Second World War, the concept of national interest became almost synonymous with the concept of national security. 'Security' was seen as some sort of protection of values, which have been previously acquired. In the words of Walter Lippman, a nation is secure to the extent to which it is not in danger of having to sacrifice the core values, if it wishes avoid war and is able to maintain these values by victory in such a war. This definition implies that security is a matter of nation's own power to dissuade an attack and, if need be, to defeat it. Nations, while formulating policies of national security considerations, also take into account, to a certain extent, the security interests of other nations. It is only by doing so that the acquiescence of others to resort to violence can be minimised.

Mahender Kumar says that an ideal national security policy is one which helps in such a distribution of values that is satisfactory to all nations and thus helps in minimising the possibility of aggression. It is thus an approximation between the demands of national security and the concern for other's interests. Many scholars and experts on security matters argue that various segments of the international system are inter-linked to such an extent that their security and welfare depend upon each other. Mohammed Ayoob differentiates the definition of security that dominated the Western Literature on international relations during the post war years, its external orientation, positive links with systemic security and the correspondence of state security with alliance security on one hand, from the definition of 'security' by the Third World, on the other hand. He defines security-insecurity in relation to vulnerabilities, both internal and external, that threaten or have the potential to bring down or weaken state structures, both territorial and institutional, and governing regimes.

Thus, concept of security has evolved considerably over the years. Traditionally, security was defined primarily at the nation-state level and almost exclusively through the military prism. The focus on external military threat to national security was particularly dominant during the Cold War. According to Sandy Gordon, the concept of security can range from the traditional, realist idea of security as constituting freedom from threats to the existence of the nation state, to the concept of 'comprehensive' or 'human' security. The latter involves a focus on the security of individuals within the state and surrounding

countries, rather than on the existential security of an individual state. In words of Ramesh Thakur, human security includes all aspects of the welfare of individuals, including their human rights, gender rights, environmental rights, health, nutrition, education, employment, security from violence (whether from state or non- state actors), and so on. With the end of Cold War in 1991, many new dimensions of security in parlance of international relations like Globalisation, Global warming, Global terrorism etc., have emerged.

2.1.3 SECURITY OF WHAT?

J. Bandyopadhyaya, in his book *The Making of India's Foreign Policy* raises an important question regarding security, that is *security of what*? Though many people consider preserving territorial integrity as security but reducing it to a single dimension or aspect is not correct. Sovereignty can be surrendered or compromised through treaties, agreements, alliances or simply the domination of small states by a big and powerful one, without the loss of territorial integrity. The preservation of life of people is much more important than preserving territorial integrity or sovereignty of a country.

2.1.3.1 EXTERNAL SECURITY AND INTERNAL SECURITY

The external security of the state is closely interlinked with its internal security. This is almost a truism, but the difficulty arises because there are two different senses in which the term "internal security" is generally used. First, it is understood sometimes to mean the stability and permanence of a particular constitution or a particular government or form of government, which is to be safeguarded against violent internal opposition to it. Secondly, by internal security is meant the stability, viability and permanence of the state itself as an international personality, which is to be defended against violently anarchical or disorderly forces which threaten its very existence directly from within or by so weakening it that it falls an easy prey to external aggression or domination. From the point of view of International Relations as a discipline is not concerned directly with the stability or otherwise of particular government of form government prevailing within a state. Its primary concern is the stability of the state itself. Hence, it is only the second form of internal security that is directly related to external security. But this kind of internal security, it must be realized, can be threatened from within, even in the absence of any violent internal force. It can also be jeopardized, for instance, by a dysfunctional government from above.

2.1.3.2 SHORT-TERM AND LONG-TERM SECURITY

A state may devote a high proportion of its resources of military investment and assume a generally militaristic stance in the short run for purposes of national security. But in the long run such a conception of security may be security may be be mainly unproductive, may lead to a shortfall in industrial and agriculture production, hyperinflation, and the general dislocation of the economic system. This in turn may impair the long-term military potential that depends primarily on the strength and stability of the economic infrastructure, as well as threaten internal security. Secondly, such a militaristic stance may so alarm and antagonize other states that the external security of the states may be endangered sooner or later. But all such military misadventures have generally been harmful in their effects on the long-term security of the countries concerned. Normally, a state may devote its

resources primarily to the development of a strong and stable economic infrastructure, while making the unavoidable minimum investment in defence, consistent with the preservation of its external sovereignty. This undoubtedly is more long-term and durable form of security, and has been adopted by most democratic states including India. However, when a state has hostile and militarized neighbours, it has little option but to invest in defence, sometimes even at the cost of development. When such hostile neighbours have nuclear weapons, it is hardly possible for a state not to build a credible minimum nuclear deterrence for safeguarding its own security. Such is the position of India at the beginning of the twenty first century.

2.1.4 EVOLUTION OF INDIA'S SECURITY POLICY

India's Security Policy evolved over the period. The international context, the environment in the immediate neighbourhood, security threats it experienced, wars it has to wage and the perceptions of the political elite determined the security policy. The following sections analyses of these aspects.

2.1.4.1 NATIONALIST AND IMPERIAL INHERITANCES

Two key factors influenced the making of India's security policy in the aftermath of its independence from British colonial rule in 1947. The first stemmed from Gandhian heritage. Gandhi's role in India's freedom struggle was simply inestimable. Consequently, his aversion to the use of force had profoundly influenced his successors, most notably Nehru. Not surprisingly, Nehru had sought to construct a world order that would rely on multilateral institutions and avoid the resort to force in international affairs. Simultaneously, Nehru was acutely concerned about the diversion of scarce resources away from eco development towards defence.

A second inheritance, also from colonial era, had a profound impact on Indian Defence policymaking. This inheritance was paradoxical. On the one hand, India inherited colonial notions about the scope and extent of its borders. On the other, its leaders had been kept out of the counsels of defence policymaking during the long span of colonial rule. While Indian leaders firmly subscribed to the colonially inherited borders, they lacked an adequate understanding of defence and security issues. This paradox would have important, and, indeed, tragic consequences for Indian policymaking in the post-independence era. The consequences were especially adverse as they concerned the defence of the Himalayas frontier against an assertive China.

2.1.4.2 WAR WITH CHINA

Nehru had an understanding that the defence of Himalayan borders would involve multilateral diplomacy, rather than reliance on India's limited military prowess. Nehru's influence on defence policymaking was so overwhelming that even the Chief of Staff of the Indian Army agreed with this assessment. Nehru's Defence Minister, V K Krishna Menon, had also persuaded himself that the principal threat to India's security stemmed from Pakistan and the China, a Communist country, would not attack India. In an attempt to cut defence expenditure, in 1950 teh Indian Army was trimmed by 50,000 men to abut 5,00,000. As subsequent events during the Sino-Indian border war of 1962 would show, these beliefs and the strategic choices based upon them proved to be fundamentally

flawed, as Indian forces were easily routed. Furthermore, the global community failed to come to India's assistance in the face of Chinese aggression.

Indeed, it was not until after the military debacle with China in 1962 that the Indian security policy underwent a fundamental reorientation. In the wake of the disastrous defeat at the hands of the Chinese army, Indian defence planners undertook a major reassessment of India's defence needs. They came to the inexorable realization that India could ill-afford to rely on diplomatic platitude and professions of goodwill to protect its vital national security interests. To this end, the armed forces embarked on an ambitious military modernization plan that sought to create a 45 squadron air force armed with supersonic aircraft, a million man army with 10 new mountain divisions trained and equipped for mountain warfare, and a more powerful navy with greater reach. However, it was not until the 1971 war, when the Indian Navy demonstrated its prowess and utility, that civilian decision-makers granted it sufficient leeway and the necessary resources for substantial expansion.

2.1.4.3 THE 1971 WAR WITH PAKISTAN AND THE CREATION OF BANGLADESH

India's military supremacy against Pakistan was proved in the wars of 1948 and 1965. In both the times, India concluded war in its own terms. In fact, in 1965 war Indian army even crossed the International border. After this 1965 war, India increased the modernization of Indian military power, both human and technological power. The third Indo-Pakistan conflict did not take place over Kashmir. Instead, it stemmed from the dynamics of Pakistan's internal politics. The discriminatory policies pursued by Pakistan government, dominated by the political elite of the West Pakistan, towards the people of East Pakistan. However, the crisis blown up when the Awami League, East Pakistan based political party, won an overwhelming victory in December 1970 elections, the first free and fair election in its history. When Pakistan military and political elite of West Pakistan were not willing to share power with Awami League, the later had started massive agitation that resulted in Pakistan Army's military crackdown. It resulted in the deaths of several lakh Bengalis and the flight of about one crore individuals into the border-states of India, most notably Tripura and West Bengal.

The situation led to a third war between India and Pakistan, in which India achieved a decisive victory. The Indian military contributed to the break-up Pakistan, and led to the creation of the new state of Bangladesh. This victory also established India's pre-eminent political and military status in South Asia. It also allayed the military misgivings about its performance during the 1962 Sino-Indian border war, and military balance in South Asia tilted in favour of India.

Also, in 1974, for a variety of complex reasons, both domestic and external, India chose to detonate its first nuclear weapon. Faced with widespread international disapprobation and substantial sanctions, it chose not to conduct any further tests.

2.1.4.4 THE POST-COLD WAR SCENARIO: REORIENTING SECURITY POLICY

The Cold War's end had a profound impact on India's foreign as well as security policy. Most importantly, the Soviet dissolution had meant the end of the Indo-Soviet security relationship that was signed during Bangladesh crisis. India cultivated new friendly relations with the United States as well as with Japan and countries of European Union. As part of this general transformation of India's

security policy, the country also established close cooperation with the Israel, the country with which India had troubled relations throughout Cold War period, due to its ideological position and with the fear of annoying the Arab world. Since India's decision to grant Israel full diplomatic status in 1992, the relationship has made considerable progress on a variety of fronts, extending well beyond defence cooperation. The bilateral security relationship, which covers from weapon sales to counterterrorism cooperation, forms the nucleus of the Indo-Israeli nexus.

2.1.4.5 CROSSING THE NUCLEAR RUBICON

In May 1998, India chose to conduct a series of five nuclear tests, thereby ending its long-standing policy of nuclear ambiguity. The tests represented the logical culmination of a series of long-standing decisions, coupled with more immediate pressures from the global non-proliferation regime. Within weeks of India's tests, Pakistan carried out its own series of tests. Both countries faced considerable international uproar and economic and military sanctions. However, as times passed by India could successfully withstand the pressure from international community also persuaded major powers for subtle acceptance of its nuclear status. Ever since, it has concluded many bilateral agreements with nuclear powers for transferring technology and equipment for civil nuclear areas mostly for nuclear energy. It effort to become a member of international nuclear organisations somewhat succeeded.

In short, the shifts in India's foreign and security policies in post-Cold War period manifested in a variety of ways, including better relations with China, strategic relationship with South-East Asian countries, defence cooperation with the US and Israel, enhanced energy diplomacy with West Asian countries, etc. The Indo-US nuclear agreement with the United States substantially improved overall security environment for India. However, India is also encountering new security threats both externally and internally. Today, threats of terrorism, environmental degradation, theft and threat of use of weapons of mass destruction, threats to food security, threats to its energy security and problems of cyber crime, piracy, emerging threats to country's maritime security etc., have aggravated the problems of national security. Thus, any Indian foreign and security policy making process must factor all such threats while conducting its diplomacy with rest of the world.

CHECK YOUR PROGRESS 1

N	IOTE: Use the space given below for your answers. Use separate sheet if space is not sufficient.
1.	What is the primary function of a country's foreign policy?
2	
2.	What event led to a fundamental reorientation of India's security policy?

Which war resulted in the creation of Bangladesh?
When did India conduct its first nuclear test?

2.1.5 INDIA'S SECURITY PARAMETERS

As the above discussion shown, India's security parameters have changed from time to time. Initially, in the aftermath of independence, it factored only Pakistan for its security policy. However, the war with China in 1962 drastically altered its security parameters.

Similarly, the evolving international security environment, its growing power in international politics, the economic growth, the need to expand its scope of security to beyond South Asia, the transnational terrorism, etc. significantly determining India's security environment. Apart from these international dimensions of threats, the domestic situation also considerably determining India's security parameters. Some of these security threats include: insurgencies in bordering states, religious extremism, terrorism, Maoist violence, narcotics, etc.

In the backdrop of the above said, the Government of India, in its Gazette Notification of April 16, 1999, while establishing the National Security Council, enumerated seven broad areas of National Security which continues to shape broad parameters of country's national security in present era. These are:

- External security.
- Security threats involving nuclear energy, space and high technology.
- Trends in the world economy and economic security threats in the areas of energy, foreign trade, food, finance and ecology.
- Internal security, including counter insurgency, counter-terrorism, and counter intelligence.
- Patterns of alienations emerging in the country, especially those with social, communal and regional dimensions.
- Security threats posed by trans-border crimes such as smuggling and traffic of arms, drugs and narcotics.

• Co-ordination in intelligence collection and tasking of intelligence agencies.

All these parameters are explained below and they continue to present us a clear picture about nature of national security policy in India.

2.1.5.1 EXTERNAL SECURITY

Defending the country's borders from external attacks continues to remain the primary concern of Indian government and for that modernisation of Indian armed forces has been high on the agendas of the incumbent government led by Prime Minister Narendra Modi. India has long pending border disputes with Pakistan and China both. Preventing Chinese incursions in LAC area and cross border firings in state of Jammu and Kashmir near LOC and international boundaries have received a lot of attention from the Government of India while dealing with China and Pakistan both. Defending its maritime borders and preventing Mumbai November 2008 like terrorists attack in cities close to sea areas is well reflected from India asserting before Pakistan to bring to justice to all those perpetrators of Mumbai terrorist attack. It has raised such issues on all possible international forums like SAARC, EU, ASEAN, ARF and the United Nations. India has taken several steps for mending its relations with Sri Lanka, Maldives, Bangladesh, Myanmar and is keen to build on its relationship with Pakistan subject to it stops providing open support to such terrorist organisations operating from their soils. It has formalised strategic partnerships with U.S.A., Russia, Japan, Australia, China, EU and many countries of West Asia and Indian Ocean region. Keeping the important sea lanes in and around Indian Ocean round the year has been very important component of India's strategic partnerships with all important countries of the world.

2.1.5.2 SECURITY THREATS INVOLVING NUCLEAR ENERGY, SPACE AND HIGH TECHNOLOGY

India is also faced with the uphill task of safeguarding all places and complexes which contain nuclear reactors/power plants, missiles and nuclear warheads storage sites, important Space programme labs and launch pads from coming under attack specially, by the non-state actors. The vigilance of all airports, refineries and other industrial complexes has been handed over to Central Industrial Security Force (CISF) by raising additional battalions in recent years. It is also actively coordinating with international agencies with regard threats from non-state actors who have developed a sort of nexus with nuclear establishment in some of the countries.

2.1.5.3 MITIGATING ECONOMIC SECURITY THREATS

Government of India is holding important discussions with countries like the U.S.A., EU members, BRICS nations, G-8 nations to ensure free trade and is also taking steps to thwart any threats to sea communications due to events in instable regions in the West Asia, choking of important sea lanes/straits by states or non-state actors. Strategic partnerships with U.S.A., E.U., Russia, China and many other countries have been accomplished keeping in mind all these interests. India has actively

participated in meetings and summit level talks and presented its case with IBSA nations very strongly for defending its rights on matters of climate change and other ecological issues.

2.1.5.4 INTERNAL SECURITY

Internal security involves counter insurgency, counter-terrorism, and counter intelligence along with other issues. Meeting all challenges to country's internal security effectively has been equally important for India along with managing different sources of external threats to country's national security. Crushing of militant/terrorists groups by constituting ATS forces, raising several battalions of paramilitary forces, allocating additional resources to state governments, providing new arms and training to counter insurgency forces are part of overall security strategy. India has established new bodies like National Investigation Agency (NIA), National Technical Research Organization (NTRO), National Counter Terrorism Centre (NCTC) etc., as important steps in recent years to tackle new sources of threats to its internal security. One new sub-department of Internal Security within Home Affairs Ministry has been opened which is looked after by Minister of State for Internal Security under the Home Minister of the country. India has also conducted active diplomacy with neighbouring countries like Bhutan, Bangladesh, Nepal and Myanmar and sought their cooperation for flushing out terrorists and destroying their training camps in these countries and received assurances from them that these countries would not allow the use of their territories on part of such terrorists groups for carrying out attacks in India.

2.1.5.5 THREATS FROM SOCIAL, COMMUNAL AND REGIONAL CLEAVAGES

India in past decade has also seen rise of violence with social, communal and regional dimensions. The phenomenon of globalisation has increased deprivations of multitude nature. The gap between haves and have-nots has increased, which is often leading to increase in crimes in urban areas specially, in bigger cities thus posing serious threats to peoples life and liberty. Violence against minority groups have risen often leading to revengeful killings and destructions as it was witnessed in aftermath of Babri Mosque demolition in early 1990s. Gujarat riots, Mumbai killings, Meerut riots, Muzaffarnagar riots, Kandhamal violence and several other attacks have instilled a feeling of insecurity within the minds of ordinary citizens of the country. It is the duty of the government to ensure that fears of such kind are allayed and people are made to live in conditions of peace and constant progress. Attacks against ethnic minorities have been matters of serious concerns for several state governments in India.

2.1.5.6 SECURITY THREATS POSED BY TRANS-BORDER CRIMES

Crimes of transnational nature have also been posing serious challenges to authorities in maintaining law and order in the country. Inflow of arms and drugs across porous borders has continuously aided and abetted insurgent groups in carrying out their attacks. Maoist problem in many states of the country is prolonging because of easy availability of money and arms. Border States like Punjab and Rajasthan have seen immense rise in menace of drug trafficking thereby increasing flow of money into hand of terrorists groups who often raise money through these dubious trade in drugs for purchase of costly arms from international market. India has been fighting a costly war against such groups who often have

received support allegedly from India's neighbours. India has been taking up these issues at SAARC level and it is party to some of the international agreements under the aegis of the United Nations.

2.1.5.7 CO-ORDINATION IN INTELLIGENCE

India has also been made to pay attention to the task of collecting of intelligence and greater coordination on part of different agencies of armed forces. Many internal intelligence organizations are overseeing the matters related to intelligence and counter intelligence. Of late, India is also actively coordinating with leading intelligence agencies, especially from the US, UK and Israel in collecting and sharing the information.

2.1.5.8 COMPREHENSIVE APPROACH TO SECURITY

India is trying to develop a comprehensive security doctrine that goes beyond narrow security prism of militarized security. As stated in Ministry of Defence's Annual Report of 2001, India has adopted a comprehensive approach to security, encompassing economic strength, technological progress as well as internal cohesion necessary for the exercise of the national will. At present, the national security objectives are:

- Defending the country's borders.
- Protecting the lives and property of its citizens against terrorism and insurgencies.
- Maintaining a credible minimum deterrent against the use or the threat of use of weapons of mass destruction against India.
- Securing the country against restrictions on the transfer of material, equipment and technologies that have bearing on India's security by placing greater emphasis on R&D.
- Promoting cooperation with neighbouring countries by implementing agreed CBMs.
- Working with NAM and ASEAN group of countries by getting engaged with them in cooperative security initiatives.
- Pursuing security and strategic dialogue with major powers and key partners.

2.1.6 INDIA'S SECURITY CONCERNS: EXTERNAL

Contemporary India is facing number of security threats from its external environment. While it is one of the fastest growing economy, it is also one of the countries in the world that are facing security challenges from the external environment. The very location of India is the major reason for its security threats. Most of the neighbouring countries in India are facing political instability and violence periodically. Some of these countries have become sources not only for regional terrorism but causing violence at global violence. Similarly, the very strategic location of India at the pivotal position of Indian Ocean is also having its own dimensions. Most importantly, the presence of China, the second biggest economy and the one of the largest military power in the world, in the next door has its own security problems. The following sections will analyse some of these security challenges emanating from external environment.

2.1.6.1 PAKISTAN

The perennial challenge before Indian defence apparatus to manage external covert and overt threat from Pakistan is more or less known to everyone in India. Since the birth of that country, India fought war with Pakistan - 1948, 1965, 1971 and 1998. Besides the country is facing low intensity conflict in J&K abetted and sponsored by Pakistani military, in the North-East and through support to various fringe extremist group within the country. The country also faces huge challenge before its economy in the form of fake rackets being operated from Karachi and Dubai and widely believed to have blessings of Pakistan's Inter- Services Intelligence — its external spy agency.

Pakistan's Support to Kashmiri Separatist Groups in India

One of the long pending issues between India and Pakistan has been Pakistan's open support to Kashmiri separatist group in India. Since late 1980s and early 1990s, Pakistan is fomenting troubles in state of Jammu and Kashmir through its Jeehadi elements that have been openly coercing people to raise demands for independence of Kashmir from India. Pakistan has been continuing its policy of carrying out proxy-war against India. Over the years it has succeeded in getting the demographic profile of Kashmir valley changed. It has been continuously trying to raise issue of Kashmir at international level. In complete disregard to Shimla Agreement of 1972, it has tried to raise the issue of 'Plebiscite' in Indian Kashmir in various international forums including the United Nations. For India, the UN Resolution of holding plebiscite is no more valid as it stands superseded by Shimla Agreement and Lahore Declaration.

Pakistan has also been supporting Hurriyat Conference leaders for not participating in any electoral process taking place in Jammu and Kashmir. As a result of Pakistan's support to separatist groups in Kashmir, India is compelled to have a huge presence of army in entire state of Jammu and Kashmir whose number sometimes reaches up to half a million. A killing of innocent civilians, members of armed forces as well as terrorists groups has been very common in state of Jammu and Kashmir. Pakistan always makes attempt to infiltrate terrorists groups in Jammu and Kashmir despite the fact that Indian government has got the borders fenced completely. In order to establish peace in state of Jammu and Kashmir, India has entered into several Kashmir related CBMs with Pakistan like opening of trade across LOC through Muzaffrabad route. Both countries have also agreed to run Bus service through this route. However, very little dividends have been realised so far.

Nuclear Pakistan poses serious threat to India's security

India and Pakistan continues to draw the attention of the international community not only for their poor achievements in social sectors and failing large number of their people in meeting their legitimate aspirations. Pakistan over a period of last few years has successfully inter- wined its nuclear assets with its military strategy and on certain occasions expressed its willingness to make use of nuclear weapons against India. Pakistan's behaviour in past crises like situations, be it Kargil operations (1998), Operation Prakaram (2001), or Mumbai attacks (2007) has not shown much restraint towards India; instead, it stands emboldened by undertaking such misadventures one after the other and still managing to escape any full- fledge actions from Indian side and often stating it to be victory of nuclear deterrence theory. However, India has shown its restraints and continues to remain committed to No-

First Use (NFU) but at the same time it preaches maintaining minimum credible deterrence at all costs. In case of war between India and Pakistan, exchange of even a few nuclear weapons against each other's cities for retaliatory purposes could wreak havoc. The genesis of Pakistan's nuclear weapons program gives insight into Islamabad's ultimate aim: to avoid massive conventional defeat at the hands of the Indians as in 1971. According to Sumit Ganguly and Devin Hagerty, the core aim of Pakistan's nuclear weapons programme is to prevent a repetition of 1971 and to deter an Indian attack that might reduce Pakistan's size even further, or perhaps even put the country out of existence entirely.

Pakistan Alleged to be as epicentre of Global Terrorism

For too many scholars and practitioners, the world's grimmest security concerns converge in South Asia, especially, in Pakistan where its Army is fighting a de facto civil war against extremists groups, particularly the Taliban. It supports cross- border terrorism in India, provoking periodic reactions from Indian government. India-Pakistan relations have remained very grim because of blames and counter blames over issues like proxy wars, clandestine operations, cross-border terrorism and so on. Leaders from both countries issue often inflammatory statements, especially during Indo-Pak crises, which is sufficient to vitiate the tense atmosphere, rouse public sentiments, and make the normalizing of relations more difficult.

Arms Race between India and Pakistan

According to Gurmeet Kanwal, China and Pakistan have been colluding with each other which pose a major strategic challenge to India. He also adds that China is helping Pakistan to build a secret nuclear reactor to produce weapons grade plutonium at the Chasma nuclear facility. China has transferred M-9 and M-11 nuclear capable ballistic missiles and has facilitated the transfer of Taepo Dong and No Dong ballistic missiles from North Korea to Pakistan. Annual Reports (2001-05) of Government of India, Ministry of Defence stated that India continued to maintain a close watch on China's own military modernization programmes as well as its military relations with India's immediate neighbours who had, in the past, been beneficiaries of Chinese military supplies in the form of weapons training in particular. As one of the Reports stated, India needed to remain vigilant with regard to China's missile and nuclear technology transfers which might vitiate the regional security scenario.

Pakistan-China Strategic Alliance

China's policy towards South Asia in present decade is of having 'all weather partnership' with Pakistan, continue with 'string of pearls' policy for encircling India and remain wary of US presence in South Asian region. China's security cooperation with Pakistan, its support for Iran, and likely bigger role in Afghanistan after US's withdrawal in 2014 has made South Asian security very complex. India has a daunting task in not allowing adverse balance of power to emerge in the region. Such developments are going to have bearings upon India-U.S.A.-China-Pakistan relations. The South Asian security/ balance of power cauldron, often quadrilateral is characterized by the geostrategic/geopolitical intertwining of the security policies of four nuclear powers present in the region. Thus, from China's perspective, Pakistan serves many of its vital geo-strategic objectives right from posing counterbalance to India's pre-eminence in South Asia, serves as an important gateway to the Muslim world, provides

China an access to energy rich countries in Western Asia, and also helps China in its long-term strategy of keeping U.S. preponderant influence in the region at bay. From Pakistan's perspective, China is an indispensable ally in helping Pakistan counter India. Pakistan has a stake in reducing its dependence on the U.S. and cultivating China as a reliable strategic partner in the regional security scenario. Pakistan is also heavily dependent on China for its vital defence supplies and critical help in augmenting its technological and nuclear capabilities. According to R. Prasnnam, the agreement between Pakistan and China made by Prime Minister Nawaz Sharriff and Chinese Premier Likeqiang for the development of a national 'Economic Corridor' that would connect Kashgar in China and Gwadar Port in Arabian Sea, involving a sum of \$ 18 billion in May 2013, is going to change the geo-strategic and balance of power scenario of the entire region for next several decades to come.

2.1.6.2 CHINA

The 21st century has witnessed important transformation in China-India relations. Both have succeeded in establishing strategic and cooperative partnership with each other. Both the countries have shown enough restraint towards each other so as to ensure that they avoid direct confrontation and rather remain engaged through dialogues. Even though issues like denial of visas by China to senior army officers posted in Kashmir and Arunachal Pradesh; Chinese incursions in Leh-Ladakh areas; protests by Tibetan students in New Delhi; arrest of Indian traders and then their release in one of the China's province; denial of contract to Chinese company over security concerns by India; have been certain pinpricks between India and China, yet in recent years both have shown greater accommodation towards each other.

In the past, China has expressed reservations over India seeking closer cooperation with ASEAN countries, especially with Myanmar and Vietnam. Oil explorations by Indian ONGC Videsh in Vietnam's maritime boundary in South China sea was opposed by China as their area of economic interest and objected to presence of Indian companies in that area.

China's ambitions in the Indian Ocean region and Arabian Sea further complicate the situation. For China, deepening of Indo-US strategic cooperation is seen as strengthening of balance of power against it and containing its influence in Central, South, South-East Asia and South Pacific region. At the same time, Sino-Pak strategic cooperation puts strain and pressure on India's security policy. China's increased involvement in development of infrastructure in POK area has already been a matter of serious concern for India in recent years. India also remains concerned over the likely transfer of Gilgit and Baltistan of POK to China on long term lease by Pakistan as it would aggravate the security complexities for India.

Chinese Incursions into LAC Area is a Direct Challenge to India's Sovereignty

Chinese PLA's incursions in March-April 2013 on the Indian side of LAC have raised serious doubts over China's ambitions in South Asia under its new leadership of President of Xi- Jinping and Premier Likeqiang. Though, India has taken several measures in response to this emerging complex security scenario in South Asia region, but one remains sceptical whether those measures would be sufficient for

overturning the adverse security situation against it bearing the fact that India is being made to face the common strategic goal of China and Pakistan to militarily contain India.

Sino-Pak Military Nexus is Dangerous for India

Sino-Pak strategic cooperation puts strain and pressure on India's security policy. The close security cooperation between Pakistan and China especially, in aftermath of US-Pak strained relationship over Abottabad incident and the killing of Pakistan's soldiers in Drone attack along with China's increased involvement in development of infrastructure in POK area is a matter of very serious concern for India. Pakistan is also heavily dependent on China for its vital defence supplies and critical help in augmenting its technological and nuclear capabilities. However, past decade and a half has witnessed nuclear and missiles technological cooperation between Pakistan and China gathering strength. Pakistan's nuclear programme is largely attributed to China's help. China provided short range M-11 Missile, which was named as Shaheen. Pakistan also acquired from North Korea Dong-Feng' Medium-range missiles. Past few decades China has pursued policy towards Pakistan so as to enable Pakistan to close military and strategic gap vis-à-vis India. Pakistan's entire Missiles development programme can be attributed to Chinese and North Korean Missiles getting rechristened by Pakistan after being transferred to them.

Modernisation of China's Armed Forces Poses a Serious Security Threat to India

According to SIPRI Report of 2010, China in recent past surprised the world by destroying a satellite in space by its newly developed missiles/rockets capability. It has also shown to world of its new technological capabilities by developing J-

20 Stealth Bomber. China also has successfully developed Deng Fong ICBM having capability to cover a distance of 5000 Kms. It has also acquired an Aircraft Carrier and is also making three more aircraft carriers which would help it in acquiring a capability of true 'Blue Water Navy'.

It has very fast bridged gap in space sector vis-à-vis western world. China's emergence of world's second largest GDP in recent years has helped it in going for modernization of its defence forces in a very big manner. China today has attained global force projection; it continues to pose serious security challenges to its neighbouring countries like India, Vietnam, Malaysia, Philippines, South Korea and Japan. China in past few years has settled its borders disputes with more than 20 countries in Central and South East Asia except India, which raises doubts about its intentions in the region. Its economic surplus has led to normalization of relations with Russia by turning Russia to be the largest exporters of weapons to China and helping it in carrying out the modernizations of its defence forces. Until last year, China was the biggest importers of arms in the world as well as had the highest defence budgets in the world.

Regional Developments in South Asia and China-India Security Relations

China's deeper involvement in Nepal, Sri Lanka and Maldives has certainly raised alarm in India. Extending of its Rail network right up to Kathmandu from Tibet's Lhasa would bring it very close to Indian borders. Within the region, China has also established stronger relationship with Bangladesh and Bhutan. In past Sri Lanka has shown its preference for Chinese FDI. Though, it has

also entered into free trade agreement (FTA) with India, for Sri Lanka, victory against LTTE has removed a constant India factor as irritant.

2.1.6.3 INDIAN OCEAN

Indian Ocean has been very important area of concern for India since the decades of 1950s-60s. India strongly favoured the idea of keeping Indian Ocean area free from the presence of external powers. During Cold War period, the U.S., France, former USSR's navy always used to remain present in Indian Ocean posing serious threat to India's coastline security. India is known for conducting hectic diplomatic efforts for getting Indian Ocean declared as Zone of Peace by the United Nations so as to keep this area free from external power's presence close to India's territory. It was diplomatic victory of India when it managed to get UN Resolution declaring Indian Ocean as Zone of Peace passed in early 1970s. In the changed context and changed global role of India, it has become necessity for India to play an important role in maintaining the security of Indian Ocean and protecting its sea lanes from various treats.

As per GOI document, *India's Foreign Relations 2012*, Piracy on the high seas is as old as the history of seafaring itself. Piracy is a resurgent threat which has come to the fore in recent times. Concerns over maritime security have been not only centred on piracy in the Gulf of Aden, but also in the Malacca Straits and the Mozambique Channel. Somali pirates, by far the greatest global piracy threat, have increasingly pushed farther off the Somali coast. They have moved deeper into the Indian Ocean. According to the International Maritime Organisation almost 90% of world trade is transported by sea. The continuing threat of piracy raises the cost of trade directly and indirectly.

China-India Competition Assumes Maritime Dimensions in Indian Ocean

Mohan Malik, a noted scholar, is of view that the traditional Sino-Indian geo-political rivalry has acquired a maritime dimension, as Beijing is laying the groundwork for a naval presence along maritime chokepoints in the South China sea, the Malacca Straits, the Indian Ocean and the Straits of Hormuz in the Persian Gulf through acquisition of or access to naval bases in Cambodia, Burma, Bangladesh, Sri Lanka and Pakistan to protect its long term economic security interests. For its part, India has countered the Chinese efforts by promoting defence cooperation with Iran, Oman and Israel in the west while upgrading military ties with the Maldives, Madagascar and Burma in the Indian Ocean and with Singapore, Indonesia, Thailand, Vietnam, Taiwan, the Philippines, Australia, Japan and the US in the east. As part of its 'Look East' strategy, India has concluded over a dozen defence cooperation agreements over the last decade and the Indian Navy has been holding joint naval exercises with East and Southeast Asian countries to signal to the Chinese navy that its future presence will not go unchallenged.

The US presence in Indian Ocean

According to Rajiv Sikri, a well-known Indian diplomat, the US, as the preponderant maritime power globally, will continue to exercise a decisive influence in the Indian Ocean region, India's attitude to the presence and policies of the US in the Indian Ocean region needs to be formulated and articulated with clarity and foresight. All the other navies combined cannot match the US Navy.

The Indian Navy's regular Malabar exercises with the US Navy since 1992, established close cooperation between both the navies. At the same time, India needs to make a careful assessment of the US's long-term strategic view of India. Many questions need to be addressed. Can India be subjected once again to the kind of pressure that was put on it through the presence of 'USS Enterprise' in the Bay of Bengal in 1971 or the intelligence reconnaissance missions undertaken by US planes from Diego Garcia? What are the implications for India if Pakistan retains its current importance in US strategic plans? Going back to the signing of the India–Sri Lanka Accord in 1987, are the factors that led to that pact, namely the setting up of the Voice of America transmitter in northern Sri Lanka and the possibility that Trincomalee port, with its excellent harbour, would be leased out to the US, relevant today? Given the history of pressures that the US has exerted upon India from the Indian Ocean, it will be some time before India is ready, if at all, to consider the US as a benign power. In planning for the future, India should consider whether in a decade or two, if India continues to grow by 8–9 per cent per year, India could become a country of concern to the US, as China is today. Or has India's strategic perspective changed, since India now apparently does not feel uncomfortable with Sri Lanka hosting multiple foreign military presences? Realism dictates that India should look at capabilities; intentions can change.

Sikri says, it is good that since 2003 India has been holding regular exercises with the Russian Navy. In order to underline its seriousness in playing a more active role in matters related to the Indian Ocean, India took a welcome initiative to convene in February 2008 an Indian Ocean Naval Symposium (IONS) with the participation of the Naval Chiefs of about 30 littoral countries of the Indian Ocean region. The aim of IONS was to provide a consultative forum to discuss issues and concerns related to maritime security and, based upon a common understanding, to develop a comprehensive cooperative framework on maritime security, by pooling resources and capacity building and exchanging information. However, within India a lot more work remains to be done, both in terms of allocation of resources and in working out institutional mechanisms to better coordinate and integrate India's multifaceted maritime interests. There is a case for setting up a maritime commission along the lines of the Atomic Energy Commission and the Space Commission to ensure greater coordination among the different stakeholders on maritime issues.

2.1.6.4 Cross-Border Terrorism

India in last few decades has been one of the worst affected countries on account of cross border terrorism. Non-state actors like terrorists organisations have been continuously receiving moral as well as financial support from India's neighbours like Pakistan for carrying out subversive activities in India. Pakistan has picked up this art of using non-state actors as strategic assets for achieving their goals which their armed forces could not achieve during past several wars it fought with India. A large number of terrorists have been sneaking into Indian territory make use of porous borders between India and Pakistan. India has suffered a lot because of infiltration of terrorists inside Indian states of Jammu and Kashmir and Punjab. Both the Indian states have passed through worst phases of secessionist movements apart from internal disturbances in states like Assam, Nagaland, Mizoram and Manipur where insurgent groups have been carrying out subversive activities and continue to seek shelter in neighbouring countries like Bangladesh and Myanmar. In mid-1990s, Indian government decided to get its borders fenced in both directions i.e., on Pakistan as well as Bangladesh side in order to put a curb

on the infiltration of terrorists inside Indian borders.

According to E.A. Ahmad, MOS for External Affairs, Government of India, Terrorism is often used not just to impose a political agenda but to force unacceptably backward codes of life and governance on democratic societies. It invariably translates into meaningless and horrific incidents of violence. The 2008 Mumbai attacks were symbolic, in striking at everything India has been able to achieve – economic success, openness to the world, freedoms, conventional defence capabilities and pluralism in society.

Mumbai attack by terrorists has been one of the recent examples of cross border terrorism taking place against India. It is after Mumbai attack, there has been a pause in the Composite Dialogue process between India and Pakistan. Even talks regarding terrorism has been one of the issues apart from Kashmir issue as part of composite dialogue. Issue of cross border terrorism continues to hold India- Pakistan relations backwards as Pakistan would claim that it is not terrorists groups which are responsible for disturbances in Kashmir rather it is movement on part of Kashmiri people for independence which is being supported by people from across the borders.

Intermittently, Pakistan through its Foreign Secretary has expressed the desire and determination of the Government of Pakistan to make all possible efforts for a successful conclusion of the Mumbai attack trial which is underway in Pakistan. It has also conveyed through its officials that Pakistan was determined not to allow its territory to be used for terrorist activity against any country, and said that the additional information provided by India will be studied. India has continuously expressing its concerns on cross-border infiltration from Pakistan and ceasefire violations by Pakistan across Line of Control and International Border. These have been taken up with the Government of Pakistan through existing mechanisms. The position that there can be a meaningful dialogue with Pakistan only if it fulfils its commitment, in letter and spirit, not to allow its territory to be used in any manner for terrorist activities against India was reiterated on several occasions, including by Prime Minister Narendra Modi in Parliament after its High Commissioner held talks with the separatists group led by Hurriyat Conference in New Delhi which led to the cancellation of official foreign secretary level meeting between their representatives. India has received a lot of support from Nepal, Bhutan, Bangladesh and Myanmar over the issue of not allowing any terrorist organisation to make use of their territory for carrying out acts of cross border terrorism.

CHECK YOUR PROGRESS 2

NOTE: Use the space given below for your answers. Use separate sheet if space is not sufficient.

l.	Which force in India is responsible for safeguarding airports, refineries, and industrial complexes?

2.	What are some of the key internal security threats faced by India?
3.	Which organization was established by the Government of India in 1999 to oversee national security?
4.	What strategic initiative aims to keep important sea lanes in the Indian Ocean secure year-round?

2.1.7 INDIA'S SECURITY CONCERNS: INTERNAL

Apart from the external threat that have been analysed above, India's security also seriously affected by some of the problems that are emanating from the domestic environment due to internal socioeconomic and political context. The following sections will analyse an important internal factors that are causing security problems to India.

2.1.7.1 SOCIO-ECONOMIC INEQUALITY

As per the World Bank Report of 2012, inequality in India has been on the increase. But at least some of the factors driving inequality up, such as increasing returns to education, seem to be associated with India's accelerating growth rather than with an intensification of structural inequality. Some signs are also apparent of dynamism within caste hierarchies. But structural inequalities also remain present and visible. Caste is still a potent indicator of social status. Female disadvantage continues despite high rates of growth, with deaths of females both in infancy and in motherhood and with poorer outcomes for women from scheduled castes. The 10 poorest nations as measured by the Multi Poverty Dimensional Indicator (MPI) are all in sub-Saharan Africa. But the largest group of multidimensional poor is South Asian: India, Pakistan and Bangladesh have some of the highest absolute numbers of MPI poor.

The Report further states, increases in inequality due to increasing returns to education might be growth enhancing and ultimately poverty reducing, other inequalities in India are structural and are more likely to act as a brake on, rather than enhance, poverty reduction. At the all-India level, differences between social groups explain only a small share of total consumption inequality in India; but in some states, group differences are important and growing. Welfare indicators for SCs and STs are improving, but the gap between them and the general population is large and persistent.

Nearly 30 per cent of Dalits are engaged in low-skill casual jobs, compared to 8 per cent in the general category individuals. They are also less likely than other groups to have their own business enterprises, particularly in urban areas. Concentration of Dalits in casual work or in lower-paid occupations relative to other groups is in part related to differences in education levels, but the differences persist even after controlling for education and other characteristics.

Literacy rates are at par with Sub-Saharan African countries' and much behind those in China. In 1975, 32 per cent of China's adult population had secondary education, versus just 16 per cent of India's in 2004. Viewed through the prism of nutrition and health outcomes, Indians are not doing well. In 2005–06, 43 per cent of children (age less than five years) were underweight. More than half of adult women in India are anaemic, and a third of all adults have low body mass index. South Asians are among the shortest people in the world and attain adult height at a later age than people in other countries, a marker of childhood insults. Contrasted with consumption poverty rates of 26 to 28 per cent, it is clear that poor human development indicators are not a problem only of the poor, even though outcomes are substantially worse among the poor.

The uneven distribution of gains from development is striking in India. These inequalities have provoked the political mobilization of hitherto excluded groups, sometimes through politically motivated violence and forceful struggle. Many parties continue to rely on identity politics, which results in the deepening of social cleavages and the persistence of political fragmentation.

These social inequalities and growing rich-poor divide is having serious problems for India and its internal stability. The growing inequalities are disturbing social cohesion that is essential for any state and sometimes leading to disturbances and violence. Any country that wants to emerge as a major power in the international relations must, first of all, reduce the growing inequalities and poverty. It is not going well with India if its social indicators in some of the areas are much lower to its neighbours and more or less equal to Sub-saharan African countries. Hence, one of the important challenges before country's leadership is to reduce the poverty and growing inequalities in India.

2.1.7.2 RELIGIOUS FUNDAMENTALISM

In aftermath of the end of Cold War and the emergence of New World Order, a new thesis got propounded by an American Scholar S P Huntington in his book *The Clash of Civilizations and the Remaking of World Order* in which he has discussed the role of ethnicity and religion in nationalist movements. He has been of the view that here onwards wars shall not be fought on territorial lines instead they would be fought on civilizational/religious lines. Huntington says that the world is driven by deep cultural divisions and that nations and peoples belonging to different cultural groups—for example, Western, Islamic or Confucian—holds markedly different values regarding democracy, human rights, and religious tolerance. The post-Cold War world order has been unipolar world where the U.S. has been accused of imposing its hegemony upon rest of the world. The more it has tried to bring political cultural uniformity at the world level the more it is faced with resistance form across the world. The world witnessed the glimpse of religious conflict in Yugoslavia's Bosnia republic where Muslims got annihilated at the hands of Christians. The EU members have been wary of religious fundamentalism and they have been siding with USA in fight against terrorism after the 9/11 attack against America's World Trade Centre. Huntington concludes that it is wrong for the West to impose its value system on the rest of the world in what can

only be a futile contest of "the West against the rest". Thus, there is no denying the fact that ethnicity and religion have been playing prominent role in different parts of the world.

There has been sharp rise in the tendencies whereby religious feelings may be aroused by vested interests to create rift and conflict in the society. The Arab-Israel war is classic example of war between the Jewish state of Israel and its Muslim neighbours, as well as the Palestinians within Israel. Problems persisting in Indian Kashmir can also be attributed to religious fundamentalism because of which several lakh Hindu Kashmiri Pandits have been made to quit Kashmir and live as refugees in their own country. When excessive use of religion gets made for achieving political goals on part of nationals then it becomes religious fundamentalism. In India also some of the fundamentalist groups like SIMI, Jeshe-Mohammad, Lashkere-Taiba, Indian Mujhaideen etc., have been trying to induct youth into their wings for fighting war in the name of saving their religion. Even few of Indian youth they got attracted towards ISIS, one of the most dreaded terrorist organisations which is a group of Sunni fighters having come out of Al-Qaeda group only. There are certain groups among Hindus like Hindu Sena, Ram Sena etc., who carry out attacks against minorities in India. The militancy in state of Punjab and Jammu and Kashmir certainly had religious underpinnings where two different groups would hate each other and indulge in mindless killings.

2.1.7.3 MAOIST MOVEMENT

India in recent years has witnessed rise in 'Red Corridor' area denoting the rise of Maoist elements in more than half of the total 600 districts in the country. States like Orissa, West Bengal, Jharkhand, Bihar, Andhra Pradesh, Chhattisgarh, Madhya Pradesh and Tamil Nadu have witnessed significant rise in killings of people because of the on-going civil war between these forces and police forces of these sates. The policies of neo-liberalism is being seen as reason for rise in such Maoist movements at such a massive scale level that more than half of districts are engrossed with this problem. The economic growth process of the country has increased the mining activity in areas which were largely forests and inhabited by tribal groups who are now getting uprooted in name of development and often bringing them into conflict with state forces as well as the investors. The local social dynamics in these states is also responsible for prevalence of civil-war like situation in the country.

The Naxal movement in India is an extremist Leftist movement influenced by Maoist ideology. Like Mao's political tactics, Naxals also mainly focused on peasants and tribals for their activities. The peasant struggles that managed to survive despite heavy State repression against them during the initial years after independence, re-emerged in a new avatar as the Naxalite movement in the 1960s. This was mainly because the State failed to address the root cause of the problem – grinding poverty, absence of equitable land reforms and dehumanising caste discrimination – and attempted to deal only with the symptoms. Coupled with this, faulty development policies of the State, which displaced millions of tribals and peasants from their land without giving them proper compensation, only heightened the sense of alienation that the poor felt towards the State and pushed them into the fold of the Naxalite movement. The Naxal movement draw its sustenance from the existing inequity. The available accounts suggest that complicity of the state administration (the civil as well as the police) with the rural rich over the years has given the Maoists a rationale to continue

their campaign.

The Naxal movement is highly splintered, with the existence of many groups which blame each other for ideological and political tactics and programmes. Naturally, such a fragmented movement is unlikely to mobilize the mass of peasantry. Many consider that the movement reached a dead end. They either fizzled out, as in the case of the Telangana and Naxalbari movements, or lost their mass character, reducing themselves to conduct targeted killings of political enemies and security forces. The reasons leading to this are as follows. First, having aroused the aspirations of the peasantry, the leadership failed to adapt to the fast-changing political circumstances to keep the movement going in the face of the administrative repression. Secondly, they failed to give a long term goal, agenda and perspective to the movement at a time when it had become clear that such a movement was neither capable of overthrowing the regime through revolution, nor drastically changing the social situation. Thirdly, the leadership became a prisoner of Maoist perspective drawn entirely from foreign situations. This not only revealed a lack of understanding of the local Indian situation, but also a dearth of original ideas applicable exclusively to the Indian situation. Finally, Charu Mazumdar's call for annihilation of class enemies and similar strategies in Andhra Pradesh and Bihar gave a new logic of violence to the movement, whereby violence became an end in itself and defeated the basic cause for which the movement was launched.

The issue of Maoist movement or so called Left Wing extremism has been echoing inside the Parliament also. President of the country, Pranab Mukherjee while addressing the members of Parliament in 2012 highlighted this threat of Left-wing extremism. He said, "Terrorism and left wing extremism are two issues, which I believe would unite the nation to work out comprehensive coordinated strategy to work out the menace of terrorism and left-wing extremism. What happened in Orissa earlier this week, where two Italians were abducted by Left-wing extremists, is a grim reminder to all of us that our nation's security can be in danger if we are not careful or alert to tackle the anger of left-wing extremism or terrorism. Dealing with terrorism and dealing effectively as well as the control of left wing extremism constitute two big challenges before our country and for all the growth objectives that we have, particularly, the developments of the Central Indian regions." He further said, "The States of Chhattisgarh, Madhya Pradesh, Bihar, Jharkhand are infested with left wing extremism. Control over the left wing extremism and control over terrorism are absolute necessities if we are to achieve our growth objectives. Let me assure the House that our Government is committed to providing fully secured living conditions to its citizens and it will take every possible step to deal with the menace of terrorism." Though government sees it as law and order problem, but the problem has to be tackled with a humane face because it is the poorest of the poor who has taken up the arms against the state.

2.1.7.4 REGIONAL AND ETHNIC CONFLICTS

The post-Cold War World Order has seen enormous rise in regional and ethnic conflicts across the world. Middle East, West Asia, Central Africa, West Africa, Caucuses region along conflict in Kosovo and former Yugoslavian republic has turned the World Order very instable. Afghanistan war,

Iraq war, Syrian conflict, ISIS war against Muslim world, Arab Spring etc., has compelled the scholars of International Relations to ponder over various reasons for sudden rise of regional conflicts and ethnic conflicts all over the world. The ever increase in fundamentalism, sectarian conflicts have become the hallmark of Islamic World as on today and posing serious threats the security of entire world's population.

Today, most of the major armed conflicts in the world are internal conflicts, and most of them could plausibly be described as ethnic conflicts. Political turbulence in Europe has also moved issues of ethnic and national identities to the forefront of political life.

According to Gurnam Singh factors such as modernisation, irrational drawing of nations boundaries, loss of autonomy on part of minority ethnic groups during colonial periods, rise in expectations of people across the world for a better living standards etc., are primarily responsible for stoking the phenomenon of ethnic conflicts across the world including India. Demand for a separate Khalistan in Punjab, demand of freedom in Jammu and Kashmir, specially Kashmir, Nagaland are various manifestations of ethnic conflicts only.

India also is a multi-ethnic country. People living in all different Indian states constitute different ethnic groups like, Punjabis, Kashmiris, Tamilians, Bengalis, Marathis, Biharis, Telgu, Kannad, Malyalis, Assamese, Bodos, Manipuris, Nagas, Mizos and so on. India also has faced ethnic conflicts in states of Jammu and Kashmir, Manipur, Assam, Nagaland and Mizoram where dominant majority ethnic community would try to kill others and force a minority ethnic community to leave their state not minding the fact that Indian Constitution is based upon the principles of pluralism. Indian Constitution is the epitome of the idea of Unity in Diversity.

2.1.7.5 NARCOTISM

Giorgio Giacomelli, the executive director of the U.N.'s International Drug Control Program, issued this sober warning in 1997: "All over the world individuals and societies face an illicit drug problem whose scale was unimaginable a generation ago. As drug abuse affects more and more countries, the power of international drug trafficking organizations threatens to corrupt and destabilize the institutions of government." Underlying Giacomelli's concerns are U.N. estimates that between 3.3% and 4.1% of the world's six billion people are regular users of illicit drugs. The annual profits from narcotics trafficking are around US\$400 billion, or 8% of international trade. He says, these figures must be treated with caution given the difficulty of calculating the value of an industry that is inherently nontransparent. But they do lend credence to claims that a culture of drug taking has entrenched itself globally, enriching and empowering today's drug lords to a degree that is historically unprecedented.

Latin America is the region most closely associated in the public mind with the illicit drug trade, and for good reason. Far less is known about the dynamics of the illicit drug trade in East Asia even though it is home to the infamous Golden Triangle area of Thailand, Burma, and Laos that is the world's largest producer of heroin. The principal conclusion reached is that the illicit drug trade is emerging as a significant long-term security issue for the region. A narcotic trafficking has grown enormously in sophistication and volume in conjunction with the spread of Asian organized crime in the decade since

the end of the cold war, and it will continue to do so in the absence of effective national and regional countermeasures. While the production and consumption of narcotic substances has a long history in East Asia, there are several disturbing new developments that have forced narcotics trafficking onto the regional security agenda for the first time.

Today narcotism has become a serious international security issue. Involvement of international groups lead to criminal activities which pose a direct threat to the political sovereignty of the states like India which has common borders with Pakistan, Nepal, Bangladesh, China, Bhutan, Myanmar which is part of Golden Triangle, maritime boundaries with Sri Lanka and Maldives. Afghanistan which has become member of SAARC is hotbeds of cultivation and production of drug related raw material and poses serious threat to India. There is considerable growing of trade between India and these SAARC members including Afghanistan, there always remain attraction on part of groups to smuggle such goods under cover operating from across borders. Though India has increased vigilance on borders, it has got its borders, especially with Pakistan and Bangladesh, fenced still there has been increase in smuggling of contrabands. All these trade and smuggling in narcotic goods have the capacity to undermine and subvert the authority and legitimacy of all South Asian governments especially, India. Some of the Indian states like Punjab, Manipur, Nagaland, Mizoram and Assam have become hotbeds for this illegal trade and have been responsible for ever increasing tendency of Drug Addicts among Indian youth. Trade in narcotics has emerged as one of the easiest ways on part of terrorists organisations for raising money which they need it for purchase of arms from international market so as to keep their political movements going and finance their operations.

For the last three decades India has also become a transit hub as well as a destination for heroin and hashish produced in the 'Golden Triangle' and the 'Golden Crescent'. In addition, various psychotropic and pharmaceutical preparations and precursor chemicals produced domestically as well as in various parts of the world are also trafficked through Indian territory. The two-way illegal flow of these drugs and chemicals not only violates India's borders, but also poses a significant threat to national security.

The nexus between drug traffickers, organised criminal networks and terrorists has created a force powerful enough to cause instability in the country. Money generated through drug trade has been used to fund various insurgent and terrorist movements. For instance, it has been estimated that money generated from the illegal sale of narcotics accounted for 15 per cent of the finances of militant groups in Jammu and Kashmir. Similarly, Sikh militant groups in Punjab and Northeast insurgent groups like the Nationalist Socialist Council of Nagaland (Isak- Muivah) [NSCN (IM)] are known to channelize drugs into India to finance their operations.

Besides, criminal syndicates engaged in drug trafficking like the Dawood Ibrahim gang have themselves resorted to terrorist acts in the past (the 1993 terrorist attacks in Mumbai) or have become deeply engaged in the business/ logistics end of terrorism. Further, drug trafficking facilitates other organized criminal enterprises such as human trafficking and gun running, all of which use the same networks and routes to smuggle people, arms and contraband. To cite an example, the explosives used in the 1993 Mumbai terrorist attacks were smuggled into India using the same routes through which drugs and other contraband items were trafficked by the Dawood gang. Even today, terrorist groups use these

routes to source weapons and explosives across the borders.

The Narcotic Drugs and Psychotropic Substances (NDPS) Act, 1985 was framed taking into account India's obligations under the three UN drug Conventions as well as Article 47 of the Constitution mentioned in para 1 above. This Act prohibits, except for medical or scientific purposes, the manufacture, production, trade, use, etc. of narcotic drugs and psychotropic substances.

There are several layers of major drug traffickers in the illicit drug market who form the vital link between the illicit manufacturers / smugglers and the street peddlers who actually sell the drugs to addicts. Apprehending and prosecuting them is one of the most important elements of drug control. As they are highly organised and efficient, apprehending them requires concerted efforts and specialised skills.

While as per the NDPS Act, 1985, any officer empowered under the Act may arrest and prosecute drug traffickers, it shall be the primary responsibility of the specialised drug enforcement organisations such as Narcotics Control Bureau, Central Bureau of Narcotics, Directorate General of Revenue Intelligence and the special anti-narcotics cells, by whatever name they are called, in the State Police and other organisations to collect intelligence about drug trafficking, apprehend drug traffickers, investigate cases and prosecute the offenders.

CHECK YOUR PROGRESS 3

NOTE: Use the space given below for your answers. Use separate sheet if space is not sufficient.

970s?
dian Ocean?

2.1.8 LET US SUM UP

India's security policy evolved over the period, keeping both internal and external context in the picture. In retrospect, India is better placed today than the early period of independence in protecting the borders as well as its citizens. The Indian military has successfully prosecuted four wars against Pakistan, and is no longer likely to countenance a military calamity as it did with China in 1962. It

has also successfully helped suppress a series of domestic insurgencies.

The end of Cold War led to significant change in India's defence policy. Despite India's continued reliance on Russia, for weapon purchases, India is now increasingly seeking to diversify its sources of supply. It has signed may defence collaborative agreements with other countries, including the US and Israel.

However, four key points are important in understanding India's security policy. First, with some exceptions, India's security policies are reactive. Second, the pattern of civilian supremacy established in the early years of the state has endured despite myriad challenges. Third, as India emerges as a significant Asian military power, its defence policy is now likely to show signs of greater autonomy and innovation. Finally, the country's ability to innovate and pursue a clear-cut strategic vision will, in considerable measure, depend upon the ability to improve institutional cooperation and coordination between the Armed Forces and their civilian counterparts in the Ministry of Defence.

It is clear that India is slated to play an increasingly larger role in the coming decades. Its future as a credible power would, however, depend as much on its ability to manage the present stage of transition as on the projection of its strategic perspectives and policy options for the future. Two or three points deserve mention in this regard. First, India's status and power projections remain essentially contingent on its national security in terms of political stability, economic development and military strength. Second, although the asymmetrical power structure in South Asia ensures India's centrality, its regional power and influence tends to get circumscribed by the neighbouring countries' sustained pressure to counter its pre-eminence. In particular, Pakistan's unceasing search for parity with India makes for a deep-rooted strategic dissonance in the region which effectively reduces its capacity to shape or influence events in its neighbourhood. Third, continued involvement of external powers in the region remains an integral part of South Asian geo-political realities. The end of the Cold War has weakened the inevitable link up between regional conflict and Great Power rivalry. However, the inability of the states of the region to evolve a credible bilateral and regional framework for cooperation would continue to play an important role in reinforcing the pattern of external involvement—primarily in pursuance of their own strategic interests--in the region. This is bound to impinge on India's security perspectives, both short-term and long-term.

Similarly, India also inherited some of the problems from the British colonialism which are still causing internal security related problems. The religious fundamentalism, ethnic conflict, regional movements are some of the examples for this. However, the policies pursued by successive generation of leaders, particularly in the post-liberalisation period significantly increased internal turmoil as they are leading to growing inequalities among segments of Indian population. Without achieving internal stability, social harmony and cohesion, it is meaningless to talk about India's emergence as a major power in international scene. Hence, while addressing security threats emanating from external environment, India must also focus on establishing social harmony among different groups of society.

2.1.9 EXERCISES

- 1. How do you conceptualize security?
- 2. How do you differentiate between Short and Long term security/
- 3. Write a note on Evolution of India's Security Policy?
- 4. Critically analyse India's Security Parameters.
- 6. Explain India's security concerns with regard to Pakistan and China.
- 7. How Indian Ocean is important for India's Security?
- 8. Socio-economic inequalities in India are one of the serious problems for India's security and stability. Do you agree with this?
- 9. How Narcotism is emerging as a serious concern for India's security?

2.1.10 SUGGESTED READINGS

J. Bandyopadhyaya, The Making of India's Foreign Policy, Third Edition, Allied Publishers, New Delhi, 2003.

Sumit Ganguly, "Indian Defence Policy", in Neerja Gopal Jayal and Pratap Bhanu Mehta (eds), *The Oxford Companion to Politics in India*, New Delhi: Oxford University Press, 2010.

2.2 CHANGING DYNAMICS OF INDIA'S NUCLEAR POLICY

- V. Nagendra Rao & Rajesh Kumar

STRUCTURE

- 2.2.0 Objectives
- 2.2.1 Introduction
- 2.3.2 India's Nuclear Programme: The Beginning
 - 2.2.2.1 India's Opposition to NPT
- 2.2.3 India as Nuclear Weapons State: Pokhran I to Pokhran II
 - 2.3.3.1 Pokhran II: Emergence of India as Nuclear Weapon State
- 2.2.4 India's Nuclear Doctrine
 - 2.2.4.1 No-first Use
 - 2.2.4.2 Credible Minimum Deterrent
 - 2.2.4.3 Nuclear Command Authority (NCA)
- 2.2.5 Indo-US Nuclear Deal
- 2.2.6 Let Us Sum Up
- 2.2.7 Exercises
- 2.2.8 Suggested Readings

2.2.0 OBJECTIVES

This lesson provides basic understanding about India's from the inception to present times. After going through this topic, you should be able to:

- know the efforts of India's leadership to acquire nuclear technology;
- understand the reasons for India's nuclear explosions at Pokharan in 1974 and 1998
- comprehend the outcomes of these nuclear tests on India's status
- the importance of Indo-US nuclear deal for acquire recognition as NWS; and

• India's Nuclear Doctrine and its political and strategic importance.

2.2.1 INTRODUCTION

India's nuclear policy is shaped up and continues to be influenced by the international and domestic milieu. The early years reflected the moral and idealistic content in her nuclear policy. Maintaining ambiguity about its nuclear option till 1998 suited the policy makers and it helped India to consolidate its nuclear programme without being watched by the International bodies. The Cold War politics, India's war with two neighbours (Pakistan and China), presence of nuclear submarines and the naval fleet of superpowers in the Indian Ocean region, did impinge upon formalizing of our nuclear policy. India's nuclear policy was also embedded in achieving the goals of complete nuclear disarmament. It had the connotation of making important strides in the area of science and technology also. It helped India in mobilizing the support of Third World countries on this very important issue. Over a period of time, it was expected to assume realistic content in it. Mid sixties and early seventies India's security scenario underwent massive change. Several changes within the subcontinent and at the international level casted their impact on Indian thinking and strategies. Dismemberment of Pakistan, Sino-US rapprochement, India- Soviet Union Treaty of Peace and Friendship and evolving closer relations between Pakistan and China were very important from the point of view of determining India's nuclear policy and its overall security.

The end of the Cold War changed the security scenario in and around the region completely. A unipolar world under the leadership of the USA emerged on the scene. India's nuclear policy was expected to be relevant to the contemporary globalised world and India had to progress towards a fuller understanding of the nuclear regime formation at the international level and relate itself to the actors, principles, rules and regulations. India went nuclear in May 1998and declared it to be a State with Nuclear Weapons. Pakistan also became a nuclear weapon state. The scenario changed completely after 9/11 incident. US war against Iraq and Afghanistan led to new alignments and adjustments within the region. India and the USA succeeded in formalizing 'US-India Peaceful Nuclear Cooperation Agreement' in the changed environment.

2.2.2 INDIA'S NUCLEAR PROGRAMME: THE BEGINNING

India's aspirations for a nuclear programme began before independence and were then consecrated through the creation of the Indian Atomic Energy Commission in 1948.

Combining work at the Tata Institute of Fundamental Research (itself set up in 1945), Homi Bhabha was the founding chair of the Atomic Energy Commission and guided India's nascent nuclear development. Nehru had seriously focused on improving countries capabilities in nuclear technology; he established, under his own supervision, the Department of Atomic Energy (DAE) in August 1954. DAE's focus in the early phase was technological rather than militaristic. The DAE would remain under the direct control of subsequent Indian prime ministers. Economic advancement initially drove India's nuclear considerations, which were simultaneously aimed at overcoming decades of colonial exploitation, developing India's technical infrastructure and garnering international prestige through a display of scientific prowess. As funding significantly rose in the earlier 1950s, India's leaders increasingly saw nuclear science as a way to ameliorate India's post-

independence position and to signal her international resurgence.

Initially, the peaceful non-military uses of nuclear energy were prominent and mixed with the wider goal of universal nuclear disarmament. This approach confirmed a focus on India's economic development that eschewed military spending and an avoidance of the two superpower blocs, as manifested through India's leadership of the Non-Aligned Movement (NAM). In turn, a world free of nuclear weapons would help to reduce the risk of existential nuclear conflict, protect South Asia from external influences, and enhance Indian security. Maintaining India's independence underpinned these notions through a 'refusal to accept any external controls and restraints instituted in a discriminatory way', and a commitment to peaceful, non-military uses of nuclear technology.

Thus, from 1955 onwards nuclear co-operation between India and several other governments (Canada, the USA, the United Kingdom and France) was established. These links led to the building of the APSARA research (light water) reactor in 1956, the first research reactor of its kind in Asia, and to the building of the CIRUS research (heavy water) reactor in 1960. By 1962 Indian scientists had begun producing their own heavy water and in 1965 they separated plutonium for the first time. All these accomplishments represented key steps in the realization of India's nuclear energy industry, but also had possible dual usages, especially the manufacture of weapons grade plutonium. In turn, in April 1954 in the Indian parliament Nehru had called for the prohibition and elimination of nuclear weapons, as well as a halt to all nuclear testing. The ban led to the ascendancy of underground testing.

However, China's nuclear tests at Lop Nor on 16 October 1964 confirmed India's perceived threat, and added credence to the notion that nuclear weapons were force equalizers that overcame military asymmetries between states. In addition, nuclear weapons became seen as a shortcut to a modernized defence force that would exponentially improve India's security. After Indian leaders failed to illicit nuclear guarantees from the USA and the USSR (whereby India could be protected with their nuclear capabilities), pressure grew for India's nuclear option to be realized and in 1964 Indian Prime Minister Lal Bahadur Shastri launched a programme to reduce the time in which India could be weapons capable to six months. Chinese threats of opening a second front during the 1965 India—Pakistan war reinforced this necessity, as did the emergence of close China-Pakistan ties aimed at limiting India's regional influence. Post- 1964 the nuclear debate in India thus became dominated by the threat posed by China, the cost of nuclear weaponization and the morality of having such weapons.

2.3.2.1 INDIA'S OPPOSITION TO NPT

Within the international community at large and the P-5 powers, China's 1964 tests had also underlined the need to prevent further proliferation. The resultant Nuclear Non-Proliferation Treaty (NPT) was signed on 1 July 1968 by the United Kingdom, the USA and the USSR, and came into force on 5 May 1970. However, rather than fulfilling India's aims of banning all nuclear weapons, the NPT split the world into Nuclear Weapons States (NWS)—defined as those that had tested prior

to 1 January 1967 and who could keep their weapons—and Non-Nuclear Weapons States (NNWS)—which were banned from ever possessing or developing nuclear weapons. The terms of the NPT were then to be reviewed every five years from 1970 onwards. Opposed to a treaty that did not provide 'equal and legitimate security' for all states, and in order to keep the nuclear option open, India refused to sign the NPT. As such, India's leaders maintained the policy that, 'unless everyone closes the nuclear door, it is not in India's interests to do so.' The NPT also increased Indian distrust of the international community, as it threatened India's autonomy, development and long-term power aims.

2.2.3 INDIA AS NUCLEAR WEAPONS STATE : POKHRAN I TO POKHRAN II

By the early 1970s the ambiguity of the 'nuclear option' had effectively merged India's antinuclear and pro-nuclear opinions whereby a nuclear bomb would be developed but not used. This ambiguity ensured that India's weaponization programme continued but simultaneously reassured those in India's elite who both wanted a nuclear weapons capability (the hawks) and those that did not (the doves). At the same time, moral arguments as to the legitimacy of having nuclear weapons had become supplanted, courtesy of the NPT, by arguments more concerned with the nuclear 'haves' and 'have-nots'. These arguments appeared to cast India as a second rate power, and nuclear bombs increasingly came to symbolize the national power, strength and development that India's leaders craved. India's refusal to declare South Asia a nuclear weapons free zone, as proposed by the USA, underscored these aspirations and India's policy direction.

In turn, although India had fought a successful conflict with Pakistan in 1971 (which led to the creation of Bangladesh), and had signed the 20-year Treaty of Peace, Friendship and Cooperation with the USSR, India's regional security environment was deteriorating. This deterioration was typified by the US tilt to Pakistan in the 1971 war, by deepening China-Pakistan ties and, most critically, by the US-China rapprochement under Richard Nixon and Mao Tse Tung from 1972. These relations effectively created a China-Pakistan-USA united front against India and were strengthened by China's regional nuclear monopoly. Such factors combined with a variety of domestic pressures, and India's Prime Minister Indira Gandhi decided to carry out a nuclear test to demonstrate India's capability. With a sufficiently developed nuclear programme at hand and under the codename 'Smiling Buddha', India undertook her first nuclear test on 18 May 1974—a test described as a Peaceful Nuclear Explosion (PNE). The test also became known as Pokhran I, named after the site where the test took place in the Thar Desert in Rajasthan.

Despite these developments, India's diplomatic efforts to achieve unilateral nuclear disarmament continued, and included a new dimension of self-restraint whereby India would not test any further nuclear weapons. As such, in 1978 India pursued negotiations for an international agreement on prohibiting the use or threat of use of nuclear weapons; in 1982 she called for a 'nuclear freeze' to prohibit the production of fissile materials for weapons and in 1988 Prime Minister Rajiv Gandhi tabled an Action Plan at the UN for the phased elimination of all weapons within a specific timeframe. India also supported plans for a Nuclear Weapons Convention akin to the

Biological Weapons Convention (opened for signature on 10 April 1972 and entering into force on 26 March 1975), and the Chemical Weapons Convention (opened for signature on 13 January 1993 and entered into force 29 April 1997), both of which India signed.

However, as had been the case for the NPT, India refused to sign the Comprehensive Nuclear Test Ban Treaty (CTBT) that opened for signature in New York on 24 September 1996. India argued that the Treaty favoured the P-5 powers, did not carry forward the disarmament process and, therefore, effectively diminished India's nuclear potential.

By the 1990s India's nuclear weapons programme appeared to face an existential crisis. India's nuclear stance appeared as ambiguous 'recessed deterrence', and she remained one of the 'main NPT holdout states', along with Pakistan and Israel. Still contending with international sanctions, it seemed that many international proliferation controls were India-specific and intended to threaten her strategic autonomy and Great Power emergence. Thus, Indian analysts talked of a US-EU-Japan (and even US-China) concert against India. When the CTBT's entry into force provisos (Article 14) opened up a final testing window from September 1996 to September 1999, such nuclear inequity appeared to be explicit, particularly after China and France tested nuclear devices in 1995. The indefinite extension of the NPT in 1995 only compounded these perceptions. International rebuffs towards India's attempts at restricting proliferation had, however, continued to spur Indian leaders towards nuclear (weapons) development. The end of the Cold War also signalled the demise of the USSR as a reliable counterweight for India to use against the international system, along with a now less meaningful NAM. Unable to benefit from Soviet arms trading and political support, India was increasingly isolated in a world now dominated by the USA—a position that threatened her regional security and global influence.

2.2.3.1 POKHRAN II: EMERGENCE OF INDIA AS NUCLEAR WEAPON STATE

In 1998 a newly elected government led by the Bharatiya Janata Party (BJP) came to power. With policies that promoted the image of a powerful, resurgent and dynamic India to the world, the BJP had consistently advocated the induction of nuclear weapons in their election manifestos. In particular, they recognized the symbolic appeal of testing nuclear weapons. As the new Minister of External Affairs, Jaswant Singh, argued that international proliferation controls amounted to a 'nuclear apartheid' that cast South Asia and Africa outside of the dominant global 'nuclear security paradigm'. Such discrimination placed India in a position inferior to the Great Powers, often in association with Pakistan. This perspective linked with the repeated calls from India's strategic enclave of analysts and academics to resume testing. Although India had the appropriate scientific-military nuclear infrastructure in place, it was often only US pressure (and intelligence) that had stopped any new tests, particularly in the mid-1990s. These factors coupled with the BJP's desire to test—often bolstered by their nationalism and a need to establish the power of their governing coalition.

Against this backdrop, amid great secrecy, and only two months after coming to power and after new Pakistani missile tests (Ghauri) on 6 April, the BJP Government under Prime Minister Atal

Behari Vajpayee tested five nuclear devices on 11 and 13 May 1998. Confirming their own capabilities and in response to domestic pressures, Pakistan carried out its own nuclear tests at Chaghai Hills in Baluchistan on 28 and 30 May. Codenamed Operation *Shakti* (strength), and often called Pokhran II (having used the same test site as the 1974 PNE), India's 1998 nuclear explosions were the first overt tests since the NPT had come into force in 1970.

Despite initial sanctions from the USA and Japan after the tests, and almost universal condemnation, Pokhran II resulted in India moving from an outlier of little significance to the international mainstream. Not only did the tests result in a new assertion of Indian autonomy in international affairs, but they also provided their own nuclear guarantee—thus removing any need for dependence on external states. Indeed, the tests transformed her global relations, especially through their explicit enunciation of India's desire for a Great Power role, which was supported by her increasing economic and technological strength. This combination made India a state needed by other countries. In turn, policy concerning UNSC recognition became more prominent, with a permanent seat now seen as 'not a quest' but as 'India's rightful due'. While certainly less idealist, more belligerent and increasingly pragmatic, India's leaders still argued for universal nuclear disarmament. India used their acquisition of nuclear weapons as a new point of leverage, stating that they would give up their own proven nuclear capabilities in any new non-proliferation regime. Therefore, the paradox at the centre of India's nuclear programme between weaponization and disarmament that had been present since independence continued.

CHECK YOUR PROGRESS 1

NOTE: Use the space given below for your answers. Use sep	parate sheet if space is not sufficient
--	---

1.	What is the No-First-Use (NFU) policy in India's nuclear doctrine?
_	
2.	When did India conduct its first nuclear test and what was it called?
3.	What is the purpose of the Nuclear Command Authority (NCA)?

2.2.4 INDIA'S NUCLEAR DOCTRINE

India's National Security Advisory Board unveiled the state's Draft Nuclear Doctrine on 17 August

1999. The main elements of the doctrine were a no-first- use policy, non-use of nuclear weapons against non-nuclear weapons states, a moratorium on nuclear tests, the non-export of nuclear technology and working towards universal nuclear disarmament. Conservative in nature, the doctrine displayed a commitment to using 'strategic nuclear assets as instruments of retribution in case deterrence fails', rather than as tools of aggression. Such a nuclear doctrine was regarded as conducive to strategic stability in South Asia, which reassured China and the USA in particular, and created the image of India as a responsible nuclear power.

However, three elements are crucial in India's Nuclear Doctrine that was pronounced in 1999. These are :

- 1. No first use.
- 2. Credible minimum deterrent.
- 3. Civilian control (NCA).

All other components of the doctrine survivability strategic trend, punitive retaliation in rapid response and shift from peace time deployment to fully employable forces in the shortest possible time are all strict mathematical derivations of the above three basic principles.

2.2.4.1 No-First-Use

The nuclear doctrine states that India is committed to a no-first-use of nuclear weapons. The theory of deterrence and no-first-use go together. The first aggressive use of a nuclear weapon will be a confession that deterrence has failed and use of nuclear weapons was the only recourse left. It is globally recognized that nuclear war between two nuclear powers would not lead to any meaningful military decision beyond appalling losses to both sides. In these circumstances no-first-use is the most appropriate policy.

2.2.4.2 CREDIBLE MINIMUM DETERRENT

The concept of minimum nuclear deterrent will include sufficient survivable and operationally prepared nuclear forces, a robust command and control system, effective intelligence and early warning capability and comprehensive planning and training for operations in line with the strategy and the will to employ nuclear forces and weapons. The nuclear doctrine envisages a deterrent that has the capability of inflicting destruction and punishment to the aggressor. The principles of credibility, effectiveness and survivability will be central to India's nuclear deterrent. The nuclear doctrine does not quantify the minimum deterrent. It calls for highly effective military capability. The nuclear doctrine stresses upon effective, enduring diverse forces which are based upon a nuclear tread of air-craft, mobile land-based missiles and sea-based assets.

2.2.4.3 NUCLEAR COMMAND AUTHORITY (NCA)

On January 4, 2003 India revealed a three tire nuclear command authority (NCA) to manage its nuclear weapons. This broad framework was approved on the nuclear doctrine prepared by the National Security Board set up after the May 1998 nuclear tests. The NCA comprises of (a) political

council, (b) executive council and (c) strategic forces command. Political council is headed by the prime minister. It is the body which authorizes the use of nuclear weapons. Executive council is headed by the national security adviser to the prime minister. Its function is to provide inputs for decision making by the NCA and to execute the directives given to it by the political council. The executive council may comprise of the chiefs of defence services, the IIC chairman, the convener of the NSAB, the cabinet secretaries, heads of intelligence agencies and secretaries of ministers represented in the cabinet committed of security (CCS). The strategic force command (SFC) would be responsible for the administration of the nuclear forces and will be actually tasked with the firing of nuclear weapons. SFC is the second tri-service command after the first one in Andaman and Nicobar Islands was established in 2001.

Indian's nuclear doctrine is the most responsible doctrine which aims at providing minimum credible deterrent. It is a consensus document which does not limit the country in any way in exercising its nuclear weapon options. It provides complete elasticity in deciding the number of nuclear weapons India should possess and classifies the emphasis on the survivability of the deterrent. Establishment of the NCA will add credibility to India's nuclear posture. The NCA stands out in its firm commitment to deterrent stability through civilian control over nuclear weapons. Most significant aspect of India's nuclear doctrine is that it is intimately tied up with continued commitment to total nuclear disarmament. The five major nuclear powers are reluctant to give up their monopoly over production and deployment of nuclear weapons while denying a similar privilege to other countries.

2.2.5 INDO-US NUCLEAR DEAL

The developments in nuclear front formed part of political leadership attempts to strategically lift India away from South Asia towards a greater global role and to improve her security environment. India has got best opportunity with enhanced Indo-US relations. As the cooperation progresses, the USA dropped all demands for India to sign the CTBT and join the related Fissile Material Cutoff Treaty (FMCT). This improved relationship also paid other dividends, including a more neutral tilt towards Pakistan (particularly during the 1999 Kargil conflict) and de- hyphenating India and Pakistan when US policy-makers thought of South Asia, as well as heightened economic, political, cultural and military co-operation.

Improved Indo-US relations led to the signing of their Next Steps in Strategic Partnership (NSSP) of January 2004, which focused on the three-fold issue of civilian nuclear energy, civilian space programmes and high technology trade, with a dialogue on missile defence being added. Under the joint US-India Civilian Nuclear Cooperation announcement (July 2005), India agreed to separate its civil and military nuclear facilities and to have all its civil nuclear facilities placed under IAEA safeguards. This agreement gave India de facto nuclear recognition. After being passed in the US Congress (via the Hyde Act, which allowed the modification of Section 123 of the 1954 US Atomic Energy Act), it was then blocked from scrutiny in the Indian parliament, although only after Prime Minister Manmohan Singh survived a no-confidence vote in July 2008. Subsequently, in August 2008 the IAEA approved the safeguards agreement with India, and in September 2008 the

NSG granted India a waiver, over Chinese obstruction, to give India access to civilian nuclear technology and fuel from other countries—developments that effectively allowed India to sidestep the requirements of the NPT. In October 2008 the deal was legislated as the United States-India Nuclear Cooperation Approval and Non-Proliferation Enhancement Act, ending the US sanctions on nuclear trade that dated from the 1974 PNE.

CHECK YOUR PROGRESS 2

NOTE: Use the space given below for your answers. Use separate sheet if space is not sufficient.		
1	Which treaty did India refuse to sign, citing nuclear discrimination?	
2	What was the significance of the Indo-US Nuclear Deal?	
3	Who was the founding chair of the Indian Atomic Energy Commission?	

2.2.6 LET US SUM UP

India's political leadership, ever since her independence, understood and recognised the importance of nuclear technology for advancing national interest; hence, efforts were made from the beginning to nurture and improve nuclear capabilities. However, the leadership's nuclear policy was mostly determined global as well as regional context. If experiences of Bangladesh crisis resulted in PNE of 1974, the post-Cold War realities dictated Pokhran II explosions, in which India declared to the world as a state with nuclear weapons and demanded the international community to accept their status as such. The subsequent developments, particularly the strategic cooperation that evolved between India and the US, led to achieve what India is looking for a long term – recognition of India as Nuclear Weapon State. Now it can separate civil from the military nuclear facilities and allow international agencies to monitor civil nuclear programme not military. It has also signed agreements with many countries – the US, Russia, France, Australia, Japan, etc. – for supplying nuclear material and technology, Now India has become one of the very few countries – the US, Russia and China – that have developed nuclear 'triad'. These capabilities had increased India's prominence and importance in international relations and further bolstered India's aspirations to become a Great Power.

2.2.7 EXERCISES

- 1. Briefly write Nehru's contribution to India's Nuclear programme.
- 2. Why India refused to sign NPT?
- 3. Write a note the circumstances that lead to PNE or Pokhran I nuclear explosion.
- 4. How do you understand the significance of Pokhran II for India's nuclear status?
- 5. How far the Indo-US nuclear deal contributed to India gaining recognition as Nuclear Weapons State (NPS)?
- 6. How do you understand India's Nuclear Doctrine? What are the important elements in it?

2.2.8 SOURCES & SUGGESTED READINGS

- Chris Ogden "India and nuclear weapons", in David Scott (ed.), *Handbook of India's International Relations*, London and New York: Routledge, 2011.
- Bharat Karnad, *India's Nuclear Policy*, London: Praeger Security International, 2008.
- Harsh V. Pant, "India and Nuclear Arms Control: A Study of the CTBT", *Comparative Strategy*, Vol. 21, No. 2, 2002, pp. 91-105.
- Michael Kraig, "India as a Nuclear-Capable Rising Power in a Multipolar and Non-Polar World", *Strategic Analysis*, Vol. 33, No. 3, pp. 365-380.
- Harsh V. Pant, "India's Nuclear Doctrine and Command Structure: Implications for India and the World", *Comparative Strategy*, Vol. 24, No. 3, 2005, pp. 277-293.
- Leonard Weiss, "U.S.-India Nuclear Cooperation", *The Nonproliferation Review*, Vol. 14, No. 3, 2007, pp. 429-457.
- T.V. Paul & Mahesh Shankar, "Why the US-India Nuclear Accord is a Good Deal", *Survival*, Vol. 49, No.4, 2007, pp. 111-122.

—×—

2.3 INDIA'S ENERGY SECURITY : ROLE OF DIPLOMACY

- V. Nagendra Rao & Rajesh Kumar

STRUCTURE

- 2.3.0 Objectives
- 2.3.1 Introduction
- 2.3.2 India's Energy Security
- 2.3.3 Government's Energy Policy
- 2.3.4 India's Energy Diplomacy
- 2.3.5 Gas Pipelines
 - 2.3.5.1 The TAPI pipeline
 - 2.3.5.2 Iran-Pakistan-India Pipeline
 - 2.3.5.3 Myanmar Pipeline
- 2.3.6 Energy Security: Domestic Efforts
- 2.3.7 Let Us Sum Up
- 2.3.8 Exercises
- 2.3.9 Suggested Readings

2.3.0 OBJECTIVES

This lesson explains the importance of energy security for India's economic development and efforts made by India in recent times to achieve energy security. After going through this topic, you should be able to:

- know the issues related to energy security;
- understand Government of India's energy policy;
- comprehend the diplomatic efforts of India in security energy, including initiatives taken for building gas pipelines;
- various internal efforts to increase the production of power generation.

2.3.1 INTRODUCTION

According to J. Peter Burgess, in the late modern era, the notion of energy security has risen in

importance for other reasons. It is primarily due to the transformation of the global market into an arena for security politics. The threats stemming from energy are linked to the deep and to a large degree un-regulated integration of the global economy. The world is deeply interdependent, interlinked in ways that exceed both the instrumentality of goal oriented international relations and the democratic systems that is regulating the internal demands. A central part of the international economy is the global energy market. Through it, the major economic powers of the globe are interlinked less by their shared need for energy, though this is largely a given, but rather by their shared need for stability.

Peter Burgess further states that, what happens in the energy market has profound consequences of general economic conditions to be sure, but it has arguably far more threatening consequences for global capital system on which all depend. The classical capitalist principles of credit, investment, distribution and profit depend on stable money markets and stable conditions of production. The correlates to this market based logic of insecurity can be mapped along three primary themes: the Middle East, peak oil, climate change. Add to this the fact that both China and India are postured to become world economic powers, easily surpassing the energy production and consumption levels of the U.S. and energy insecurity are raised considerably. The energy market will only become tighter in the coming decades and the margin of security correspondingly acute. Stability is the key. A large part of the growth in the world energy supply after 2010 will occur in countries in transition, in unstable conditions for production and investment.

2.3.2 INDIA'S ENERGY SECURITY

One of the hallmarks of Indian foreign policy in recent years has been enhancing goals of energy security for the country through diplomatic efforts. The UPA Government's foreign policy through years 2004-2014, to a very large extent, remained intertwined with economic policies of the country for ensuring constant energy supplies in a changing international security scenario. India's future energy consumption is expected to be driven by its economic growth and demographic trends. India is expected to maintain economic growth around 6-7 per cent under 12th Five Year Plan despite the current downturn in its economy.

More than a decade ago some analysts predicted that 'India will be forced to calculate its energy security requirements within more general geo-political environment that is characterized by rapid change and unpredictability'. Consequently, India has launched its integrated energy policy and 'oil diplomacy' in search of new energy assets to fulfil the energy requirements of its high economic growth, with energy security emerging as a 'crucial' component of its foreign policy. In a speech at the Constituent Assembly in December 1947, Jawaharlal Nehru had argued that in 'talking about foreign policies, the House must remember that these are not just empty struggles on a chess board. Behind them lie all manner of things. Ultimately foreign policy is the outcome of economic policy, and until India has properly evolved her economic policy, her foreign policy will be rather vague, rather inchoate, and will be groping'.

Despite fairly low per capita energy consumption, India is the fifth largest energy consumer and is likely to become the third largest by 2030. The country is also a major producer and is

currently the world's seventh largest producer of energy. Primary commercial energy demand grew almost three-fold at an annual rate of 6% between 1981 and 2001. To catch up with the rest of dynamic Asia and to remove poverty, it has become essential for India to continue growing at about 8%–10% or more over the next 25 years. Its energy requirements for a sustained 8%–9% annual growth rate pose a major challenge. According to the government integrated energy policy, India needs to increase its primary energy supply by three to four times its 2004 levels, and its electricity generation capacity/supply by five to six times. With 2004 as the base, its commercial energy supply needs to grow at 4.3%–5.1% annually. By 2030, power generation capacity must increase to nearly 800,000 megawatts (MW) from the 2004 capacity of around 160,000 MW. In addition, the requirement of coal, the dominant fuel in India's mix, will also need to expand to 2,000m. tons a year.

Since India is relatively poor in oil and gas resources, it has to depend on imports to meet its energy supplies. With already about 80% of its crude oil requirements met by imports, its oil import bill was close to \$90,000m. in 2008/09. The Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD) estimated that in 2005 India imported about 70% of its crude-oil requirements and consumed about 3% of world oil supply. Liquefied Natural Gas (LNG) imports in 2005 made up 17% of total gas supply. India also imported about 12% of its coal supply. Currently, India imports oil from about 25 countries, with nearly two-thirds of imports coming from four countries: Saudi Arabia, Nigeria, Kuwait and Iran. Due to this dependence on West Asian countries, Indian policy- makers are worried about oil price volatility, and its impact on inflation, economic growth and foreign exchange reserves. In addition, overwhelming dependence on the Gulf region has its own political implications. Compared with other major states in the world, India is more vulnerable to any disruption in oil supplies from the Gulf. However, it could be argued that India's dependence should not be seen as a vulnerability, as encouragement of growing interdependence between India and the Gulf contributes to stability to energy markets.

2.3.3 GOVERNMENT'S ENERGY POLICY

As over one-half of the country's population does not have access to electricity or any other form of commercial energy. The Government of India's expert committee on integrated energy policy argued that India would be 'energy secure when we can supply lifeline energy to all our citizens irrespective of their ability to pay for it as well as meet their effective demand for safe and convenient energy to satisfy their various needs at competitive prices, at all times and with a prescribed confidence level considering shocks and disruptions that can be reasonably expected'. The major issues discussed in the context of Indian energy security by the expert committee were reducing energy requirements, substituting imported energy with domestic alternatives, diversifying supply sources, expanding resource bases, developing alternative energy sources, increasing the ability to withstand supply shocks and increasing the ability to import energy and face market risks. Overall, it is believed that India's energy security can be increased by a) diversifying both energy mix and sources of energy imports; b) seriously pursuing overseas acquisitions of energy assets; and c) initiating policy reforms to attract foreign investment as well as improving domestic production, distribution and consumption. In order to safeguard against short-term supply disruptions, the Indian

Government is also in the process of setting up 5m. metric tons (36.6m. barrels) of strategic crude oil storage reserves at Manglore, Vishshapatnam and Padur. This strategic reserve will be in addition to the existing storage facilities of various public sector oil companies. These stores are located along the coast so that reserves could be easily exported during disruptions.

2.3.4 INDIA'S ENERGY DIPLOMACY

In the one or two decade, 'energy diplomacy' has also become one of the main agendas of the country's foreign and security policy. India is seriously considering its nuclear energy option as well as importing sources beyond the West Asia. Bilateral nuclear agreements with the USA, France, Russia and Canada, as well as consistent engagements with the countries of Eurasia, Africa and Latin America, could be seen from this perspective. The external dimension of energy efforts by India include: a) acquisition of assets abroad through acquiring equity participation in developed fields, and obtaining exploration-production contracts in different parts of the world; b) entering into long-term LNG supply contracts; c) pursuing transnational gas pipeline proposals; and d) promoting partnerships with foreign entities in the downstream sector, both in India and abroad.

In an attempt to diversify oil and gas imports, Indian companies are trying hard to get a strong foothold in the Eurasian region. Investment in Russia's Sakhalin-1 field, and the purchase of Imperial Energy by the Indian public sector company Oil and Natural Gas Corporation (ONGC) in 2009 were efforts in this direction. India views Kazakhstan as an important energy player in Central Asia. Competition in this region is very fierce as China is also pursuing the same strategy. At the same time, rapidly growing trade and economic relationships between India and China may also compel them to talk of building partnerships in other areas. Both have declared their intentions of co-operation in oil and gas biddings. India also mooted the idea of Asian regional cooperation in energy, and initiated a dialogue between principal Asian suppliers (Saudi Arabia, United Arab Emirates (UAE), Kuwait, Iran, Qatar and Oman) and principal Asian buyers (India, China, Japan and South Korea). These efforts showed some results when China National Petroleum Corporation (CNPC) and India's ONGC mounted a successful

\$573m. joint bid to acquire Petro-Canada's 37% stake in the al- Furat oil and gas fields in Syria. Earlier, they worked as joint operators in Sudan. India and China may be co-operating in other areas, but when it comes to Central Asian energy, cash- rich China has shown that it can outmanoeuvre India in energy deals. This was clearly illustrated in late 2005 when China outbid India to acquire PetroKazakhstan, Kazakhstan's third-largest oil producer with CNPC raising its bid to \$4,180m.

In 2008 ONGC Videsh (OVL) signed an agreement with the Corporación Venezolana del Petróleo and acquired a 40% participating interest in the San Cristobal project. During the same year OVL signed deals in Brazil and Colombia. Earlier, the company had acquired some new assets in Cuba, Colombia and Congo, Sudan and Egypt. With about 40 oil and gas projects, OVL has a presence in 17 countries. It has production of oil and gas from Sudan, Viet Nam, Syria, Russia and Colombia, with various projects under development in Iran, Brazil, Myanmar, Egypt, Venezuela and Kazakhstan.

2.3.5 GAS PIPELINES

India is also exploring the possibility of importing gas through pipelines from Turkmenistan, Iran, Myanmar and Bangladesh. Though, there is some progress in some fronts, still none of these pipelines are not materialised on the ground. The prevailing security environment in the subcontinent is mainly responsible for this delay.

2.3.5.1 THE TAPI PIPELINE

Since 2002 there has been a lot of discussion on the \$7,600m. Turkmenistan- Afghanistan-Pakistan-India (TAPI) gas pipeline. There have been some uncertainties over gas reserves in Turkmenistan, over the security situation in Afghanistan, and over the endemic strained relations between India and Pakistan. Still, all parties are considering the proposal very seriously. This 1,680-km pipeline would run from the Dauletabad gas field in Turkmenistan to Afghanistan, from where it would be constructed alongside the highway running from Herat to Kandahar, and then via Quetta and Multan in Pakistan. The final destination of the pipeline would be Fazilka in Indian Punjab. India was formally invited to join the project in 2006, having earlier participated as an observer. In May 2006 the Indian Government officially approved its participation in the TAPI project and authorized the Ministry of Petroleum and Natural Gas to put up a formal request for joining the project. In April 2008 Afghanistan, India and Pakistan signed a Framework Agreement to buy gas from Turkmenistan. The participating countries also planned to discuss soon the issues of payments of transit to Afghanistan and Pakistan, taxation structure and consortium issues. For the last few years, TAPI has also been discussed at almost every important meeting on Afghanistan's reconstruction.

Prime Minister Narendra Modi in his recent visit to Russia and Central Asian Countries met with Turkmenistan President Gurbanguly Berdymukhammedov in Turkmenistan capital on July 11, 2015 and pitched for early implementation of the \$ 10 billion TAPI gas pipeline project. The pipeline is expected to be operational by 2018 and will carry gas from Turkmenistan's Galkynysh field that holds gas reserves of 16 trillion cubic feet. A joint statement called the TAPI project a "key pillar" of economic engagement between the two countries and said both the leaders recognised that its implementation would have a transformational impact on trade. It said they decided to take measures for early implementation of this important regional project. The leaders reaffirmed their strong commitment towards timely implementation of this strategic project and noted that the selection of its Consortium Leader, to be finalised by September 1, 2015, would mark a crucial step.

2.3.5.2 IRAN-PAKISTAN-INDIA PIPELINE

Despite many obstacles, the \$7,500m., 2,300-km Iran-Pakistan-India (IPI) gas pipeline is still on the agenda. The proposed IPI pipeline will initially transport 60m. cu m of Iranian gas a day, split between India and Pakistan equally. In Pakistani territory an 800-km pipeline will be carrying gas for both Pakistan and India. Iran and Pakistan have already finalized gas sale agreements, with Iran committing itself to supplying 21m. cu m of natural gas daily to Pakistan from 2014. In 2010 the

Minister of External Affairs made a statement in the Indian parliament that India was still party to the IPI project and various issues concerning pricing of gas, delivery point of gas, project structure, assured supplies and security of the pipeline, transportation tariffs and transit fees for passage of natural gas through Pakistan, etc., were being discussed between participating countries. As in other parts of the world, the USA is also trying to inject its own geopolitical interests in the Asian energy competition. It has discouraged India from sourcing gas from Iran and instead promoted the TAPI pipeline.

After more than a decade of engagement with these two pipeline proposals, it is becoming clear to Indian policy-makers that none of these two projects may take off in near future, as the security situation in Afghanistan and Pakistan has deteriorated further and India-Pakistan relations have not improved either. Still, if any of these projects materializes in the near future, it will be a game changer in regional geopolitics and geo economics. However, the recent visit of Prime Minister to Turkmenistan increased a sense of hope that the TAPI project may be completed by 2020.

2.3.5.3 MYANMAR PIPELINE

A final pipeline project, importing gas from Myanmar, was also struck due to regional geopolitics. India and Myanmar signed a deal in 2006 to build a 900-km pipeline that would have crossed Bangladesh. Indecision from Bangladesh delayed the project and another pipeline proposal between Myanmar and China further complicated the matter. There were also reports of India and Myanmar discussing alternative proposals linking the pipeline directly with the Indian north-eastern states. Since the beginning of 2010, there have been reports that the new Bangladeshi Government has agreed to a tri-nation gas pipeline.35 In this case, the Myanmar-Bangladesh-India gas pipeline may materialize in the next couple of years.

CHECK YOUR PROGRESS 1

NOTE: Use the space given below for your answers. Use separate sheet if space is not sufficient.		
What is the goal of India's integrated energy policy?		
Which countries are India's main oil suppliers?		
What is the TAPI pipeline?		

2.3.6 ENERGY SECURITY: DOMESTIC EFFORTS

India in recent years has decided to go for increasing the proportion of nuclear energy in total generation of electricity in the country through thermal, hydro and other modes. For India, energy security refers to its ability to minimize vulnerability to oil-gas supply interruptions, ensuring the opening up of sea routes round the year and stability in price of energy resources. Nuclear power has a significant role to play in meeting the demand for a secure energy supply offering several advantages. It is an important alternative to expensive oil and natural gas. Nuclear energy is viable option for making the rapid and dramatic reductions in carbon dioxide emissions necessary to mitigate climate change. Concerns for energy security and climate change make nuclear energy very important today. It reduces India's ever increasing dependence on petroleum imports. It also saves much needed foreign exchange reserve and reduce its current account deficit.

Indian Government has been of the view that the large and growing markets in Asia also provide an opportunity for collaboration through joint research and technology development for the supply of clean and cheaper energy to the people. Expanding the use of natural gas in India is one of the most important and immediate ways of responding to the challenges of energy security and the management of climate change. The Government of India had launched the New Exploration Licensing Policy (NELP) way back in the year 1997-98. The policy has resulted in investments of over US\$14bn and discovery of 87 oil and gas blocks, with three blocks in production. The 9th round of NELP has just been completed covering a sedimentary area of about 88,000 sq km, which saw participation by 37 companies including eight foreign ones. The opening up of the oil and gas sector to private industry participation has resulted in higher domestic gas availability and has also led to growing participation by multinational corporations. To cater to the large demand for gas, India has accelerated investment in creation of LNG re-gasification facilities. With new re-gasification LNG terminals coming up at Kochi and Dabhol, the country's current import capacity of 14 million tonnes a year is set to increase to 20 million tonnes a year by 2012-13.

In words of Indian President Pranab Mukherjee, India has also launched an ambitious pipeline development programme. Indian company Gas Authority of India alone will expand its pipeline length from the existing 9000 Km to around 14,500 km by 2014. Private operators are also expected to add another 5,000 km in the same period. The target is to have a country-wide gas grid of about 30,000 km by the end of the 12th Five-Year Plan in 2017. The 2000 km long Dahej- Vijaipur-Bawana-Nangal/Bhatinda pipeline of GAIL has been completed recently.

India is also pursuing the development of sources of unconventional gas such as Shale gas and Coal Bed Methane. India is also harnessing coal bed methane for which four licensing rounds have been held and commercial production has commenced at Raniganj in West Bengal. As India has one of the world's largest coal reserves, efforts were made to work with international companies having the requisite experience and expertise for exploitation of coal seam gas.

2.3.6.1 ENERGY POLICY INITIATIVES OF MODI'S GOVERNMENT

Prime Minister Modi hails from a state like Gujarat which has the potential of emerging as an energy hub for the country. The presence of Reliance Company's refinery along with Essar and Cairn multinational company's presence in Gujarat and Rajasthan have an important role to play in achieving energy security goals for the country. Prime Minister Modi has been dealing with energy related issues since he was Chief Minister of Gujarat. It was natural on part of Prime Minister Modi to focus on energy issues as head of the Indian government also. His government's determination to get the new Land Acquisition Bill passed by the Indian Parliament in the Budget Session itself showed urgency of making land available for new upcoming nuclear and thermal power projects in hassle free manner. The Prime Minister Narendra Modi's government presented its second budget on 28 Feb. 2015 and a day before it also released the Annual Economic Survey 2014-15 which emphasised upon India's ambitious solar power generation to a tune of 1,00,000 MW by 2022.

The Ministry of Power has already launched an initiative for development of coal-based supercritical Ultra Mega Power Projects (UMPP) of about 4000 MW capacity each. Four UMPPs, namely Sasan in Madhya Pradesh, Mundra in Gujarat, Krishnapatnam in Andhra Pradesh, and Tilaiya in Jharkhand, have already been transferred to the identified developers and are at different stages of implementation. The Mundra UMPP (5x800 MW) is fully commissioned and is generating electricity. Three units of the Sasan UMPP (3x660 MW) have been commissioned so far. The remaining units of Sasan and other awarded UMPPs are expected to come up in the Twelfth Plan (except the last unit of the Tilaiya UMPP, which is likely to come up in the Thirteenth Plan).

CHECK YOYR PROGRESS 2

NOTE: Use the space given below for your answers. Use separate sheet if space is not sufficient.

1. What is the purpose of India's strategic crude oil reserves?	
2. Which Indian company has acquired oil and gas assets abroad?	
3. What is India's projected power generation capacity by 2030?	

2.3.7 LET US SUM UP

India, set to become one of the largest economies of the world, needs to sustain its current 8 per cent economic growth rate so as to help eradicate poverty and to meet its economic and social development goals. More growth means more energy, so energy security is moving up the political agenda. In January 2005, in his address to the nation on the eve of the 59th Independence Day, the President,

A. P. J. Abul Kalam, stressed the need of "Energy Security" as a transition to total "Energy Independence". Since then the Indian Prime Minister Manmohan Singh has emphasized energy security as the most important security concern, second only to food security. The present Prime Minister also initiated measures in the direction of securing the country's energy requirements.

However, a new approach is needed to achieve comprehensive energy security. For the last three decades energy security has been conceived very narrowly, largely in terms of managing supply. This is far too limited. Not only do many new factors need to be accommodated, they must be set in a much wider context. Energy security involves geopolitics, bilateral relations with other nations, diversification of sources of supply and diversified types of energy in the form of both renewables and non-renewables.

2.3.8 EXERCISES

- 1. Why energy security has become crucial for India's development?
- 2. Briefly outline Government of India's Energy Policy.
- 3. Highlight the important aspects of Energy Diplomacy.
- 4. What are the initiatives taken recently for boosting domestic sources of energy?

2.3.9 SUGGESTED READINGS

Gulshan Sachdeva, "Geoeconomics and energy for India", in David Scott (ed.), *Handbook of India's International Relations*, London and New York: Routledge, 2011.

Ashok Sharma, "India and Energy Security", *Asian Affairs*, Vol. 38, No. 2, 2007, pp. 158-172.

Gawdat Bahgat, "India's Energy Security", *Minerals & Energy - Raw Materials Report*, Vol. 21, No. 3-4, 2006, pp. 35-41.

—×—

2.4 INDIA'S CONTEMPORARY SECURITY CHALLENGES: MARITIME SECURITY, CYBER SECURITY AND TRAFFICKING

Neetika Verma

STRUCTURE

- 2.4.0 Objectives
- 2.4.1 Introduction
- 2.4.2 Major Security Challenges to India
- 2.4.3 Maritime Security
- 2.4.4 Contemporary maritime security challenges to India
- 2.4.5 Steps Taken by India to Address Maritime Security Challenges
- 2.4.6 International laws on maritime security
- 2.4.7 International Laws that India is a signatory
- 2.4.8 Cyber Security
- 2.4.9 Types of Cyber Security
- 2.4.10 International Laws and Agreements Related to Cyber Security
- 2.4.11 Cyber Security as a Contemporary Security Challenge to India
- 2.4.12 Steps taken by India to curb Cyber Security Threats
- 2.4.13 Trafficking
- 2.4.14 Types of Human Trafficking
- 2.4.15 Human Trafficking as a Contemporary Security Challenge to India
- 2.4.16 International Laws related to Human Trafficking
- 2.4.17 Steps taken by India to curb Human Trafficking
- 2.4.18 Future prospects of human trafficking in India
- 2.4.19 Drug Trafficking
- 2.4.20 Let Us Sum Up
- 2.4.21 Exercises
- 2.4.22 Suggested Readings

2.4.0 OBJECTIVES

After going through this lesson you will be able to understand:

- Major Contemporary security challenges to India
- Concept of Maritime Security, cyber security and trafficking
- · Various maritime Security challenges faced by India
- International laws and Agreements related to Maritime Security, Cyber security and trafficking
- Various steps taken by India to address maritime security threats, cyber security threats and trafficking

2.4.1 INTRODUCTION

A security challenge to a state refers to a situation or event that poses a threat to the safety, stability, or well-being of that state and its citizens. These challenges can come in many forms, including military threats, terrorism, cyber attacks, economic instability, political turmoil, or natural disasters. For example, a military threat could come in the form of an invading army or a naval blockade, while a terrorist attack could target critical infrastructure or civilians. Cyber attacks can target government, military, or private sector networks, stealing sensitive information or causing damage to systems. Economic instability can come in the form of high unemployment, hyperinflation, or a banking crisis. Political turmoil can include civil unrest, political violence, or a coup d'etat. Natural disasters can also disrupt normal functioning of a state and endanger lives and properties.

Security challenges to a state can have significant consequences, including loss of life, damage to infrastructure and the economy, and weakening of the state's ability to govern effectively. Therefore, it's important for a state to have in place appropriate measures to identify and mitigate potential security challenges, and to be able to respond effectively. States typically deal with these challenges through a combination of domestic and international policies, including diplomacy, military force, economic sanctions, and intelligence gathering.

2.4.2 MAJOR SECURITY CHALLENGES TO INDIA

India faces a wide range of security challenges both domestically and internationally, some of the major contemporary security challenges to India include:

- 1. Terrorism: India has long been affected by terrorism, both from domestic and transnational groups. Pakistan-based terrorist groups have been responsible for a number of major attacks in India in recent years, and there has also been an increase in terrorist activity in the northeastern states.
- **2. Insurgency:** India faces ongoing insurgency in some of its northeastern states, and in the state of Jammu and Kashmir. These ongoing conflicts have led to human rights violations and a significant loss of life.
- 3. Border disputes: India has disputes with some of its neighboring countries over the demarcation of borders, most notably with China, Pakistan, and Bangladesh. These disputes have led

to periodic tensions and military standoffs.

- **4. Cyber security:** India is becoming increasingly vulnerable to cyber-attacks, which can have a significant impact on critical infrastructure and the economy. India's increasing reliance on technology and the internet has made it more vulnerable to cyber threats.
- **Maritime Security:** Maritime security refers to the protection of a country's territorial waters, exclusive economic zone, and maritime resources from criminal or hostile activities. India's long coastline, numerous ports, and strategic location make it vulnerable to maritime threats such as piracy, smuggling, and illegal fishing.
- **6. Human security:** India is facing major challenges in terms of human security, particularly in the areas of poverty, hunger, and displacement.
- **7. Economic security:** India is facing economic challenges such as unemployment, inflation, and a widening trade deficit. Economic security is becoming increasingly important as India's economy continues to grow.
- **8 Trafficking:** It refers to the illegal movement of people, weapons, drugs, and other goods across borders. India is a source, transit, and destination country for human trafficking, with women and children being particularly vulnerable. Trafficking can lead to modern-day slavery, forced labor, and other forms of exploitation. It also supports other criminal activities, such as drug trafficking and money laundering.
- **9. WMD proliferation:** India is concerned about the proliferation of nuclear, biological, and chemical weapons in the region, which can threaten its security.
- 10. Climate change: Climate change is already affecting India and is expected to have a significant impact on the country in the future, affecting food security, water resources, and economic development.

The Indian Government and its security forces are actively working to address these challenges through a combination of domestic and international policies, including diplomacy, military force, economic sanctions, and intelligence gathering.

2.4.3 MARITIME SECURITY

Maritime Security has emerged as one of the dominant discourses in international and security studies. Although, the maritime security has been the concern of the littoral states but it has gained initial importance after the terrorist attacks of September 11, 2001 in US and the associated fears over the spread of maritime terrorism. If maritime terrorism has largely remained a virtual threat, the breakthrough for maritime security came with the rise of piracy off the coast of Somalia between 2008 and 2011. The dangers of piracy for international trade brought the maritime dimension of security to global consciousness and lifted it high on policy agendas. Moreover, the inter-state tensions in the maritime domains, such as the South China Sea (SCS) or the East China Sea and the increasing investments of emerging powers, such as India and China in the blue water navies have attracted the attention of the strategic thinkers and policy makers for the oceans as a security space.

Maritime security can be understood as a concept referring to the security of the maritime domain and SLOCs through a set of policies, regulations, measures and operations to secure them. Before the end of the Cold War, maritime security was rarely used in the calculus of national security. During the Cold War period, it was primarily referred to establish control over maritime areas in the context of the superpower confrontation in the maritime domain. In the Cold War period, maritime security was more frequently employed in references to geopolitical considerations such as sovereignty claims over maritime territories, the status of coastal waters, and the control over maritime zones. Since the end of the 20th Century and the beginning of the 21st Century, maritime security was increasingly used to describe preventive measures to respond to illegal activities at sea or from the sea. Terrorism (post 9/11) and piracy (especially after 2007 and the rise of attacks at the Horn of Africa) attracted the attention of strategic community and policy makers. However, arms and drug trafficking, human trafficking, illegal, unregulated and unreported fishing (IUUF), and deliberate pollution still represent the bulk of illegal and disruptive activities at sea. Maritime security is also increasingly linked to economic and environmental considerations. Marine environment and fisheries protection as well as maritime surveillance initiatives have been instrumental in raising maritime security objectives to the top of the security agenda of various state and non-state actors.

Maritime Security, like other international buzzwords, is a term that draws attention to new challenges and rallies support for tackling these. Discussions of maritime security frequently do so by pointing to 'threats' that prevail in the maritime domain. They refer to threats such as maritime inter-state disputes, maritime terrorism, piracy, trafficking of narcotics, people and illicit goods, arms proliferation, illegal fishing, environmental crimes, or maritime accidents and disasters. Maritime security is however also linked to economic development. Throughout history the oceans always enjoyed the vital economic importance. The majority of trade is conducted via the sea and fisheries are a significant industry. Both global shipping and fisheries have developed into multi-billion industries. The commercial value of the oceans has moreover been increasingly re-evaluated due to the economic potential of offshore resources, centrally fossil energy but also seabed mining as well as the economic promises of coastal tourism.

The term maritime security can conjure up different meanings to different people and organizations depending upon their organizational interests, or even political or ideological bias. Typically, the term has been utilized in carefree manners. Geoffrey Till wrote in the mid 1990s that there was "a particular need to be clear about what is necessary for future maritime security and prosperity." He acknowledged, however, that "this is a far from easy task since the phrase 'maritime security' comprehends so much". On the one hand, maritime security could be seen to reflect the wider conceptual debate on security. It thus might be viewed simply as another dimension of security, although the security studies literature does not reflect that, perhaps maritime security is never identified as an independent domain of national security.

On the other hand, each dimension of security may also be applied to the maritime environment, with each arguably possessing maritime element. Similarly, each of the alternative security system "concepts" may also be applied to the maritime sphere. It is thus possible to speak, of "marine environmental security," "comprehensive maritime security" or "cooperative maritime security," and so on. The existing literature on maritime security has tended to focus on the

characteristics of the sea and its varied uses, and the threats posed to those uses. Till has placed his analysis within the organizing concept of "good order at sea," whereby the sea as a resource, as a medium for trade and information exchange, and as an environment, faces "risks and threats to the good order on which their continued contribution to human development depends".

To many observers maritime security appears to be a large and sometimes nebulous concept. In fact, it has become a large task involving many entities from international, public and private sectors aiming at preserving the freedom of the seas, facilitating and defending commerce, and maintaining good governance at sea. Transnational forces and irregular challenges continue to be the primary threat today and in the foreseeable future, especially in the maritime domain. Having described the term Maritime Security and concluded that there is no universal definition. The character of the seas has changed, from an open space where freedom was the rule to a shared common domain.

India, after its independence has witnessed major restructuring of regional and global environment and also a transformation in its own perception as an emerging regional maritime power. Its own perception as a maritime power was in stark contrast to the perceived continental mindset that it had for several years. The continental mindset had confined India within the narrow territorial bounds of the Indian Peninsula, and this gave primacy to land-based developments and also land-based threats. After the adoption of Liberalization, Privatization and Globalization (LPG) in 1990s, while retaining its sub-continental identity, it had acquired a new maritime perspective as well. Besides the geo-strategic compulsions of breaking out of the sub-continental bondage, other factors like promises of exclusive economic rights for exploitation of sea-based resources under the term of UNCLOS III gave India's traditional mindset a new additional space in the seas around it. The need for development and thereby energy resources compelled India to look more and more towards its maritime zone. Indian Ocean, the maritime neighbourhood of India, is a focal point of India's geopolitical and strategic aspirations as it provides space for increasing its sphere of influence as well as a prime facilitator of India's extended neighbourhood policy.

2.4.4 CONTEMPORARY MARITIME SECURITY CHALLENGES TO INDIA

India is an important Indian Ocean state and the element of geography (coastline of 7516 Kilometers and an EEZ of 2.01 two million square Kilometers) bestow it with a number of advantages, nearly 66 per cent of the world's oil and gas, 50 per cent of container traffic; and 33 per cent of cargo traffic pass close to India's waters through the Arabian Sea and the Bay of Bengal. While these provide a number of opportunities for India to build its maritime potential, there are a number of challenges also that confront India.

At the first level, India's maritime security issues arises from the presence of a large number of navies in the Indian Ocean region; the US, European Union, and Asian powers such as China, Japan, and Korea who have forward deployed their navies in support of strategic, security and economic interests. In the coercive format, these are structured for forward presence, access and expeditionary operations and are perceived as challenging the regional security order and curtailing strategic autonomy to pursue national interests. In the functional-operational format, these forces are

engaged in counter-terrorism and anti-piracy operations which have provided the rationale for the continued deployment. At another level, different interpretation of the law of the sea, understanding the freedom of navigation and the right of innocent passage, scientific and naval activities in the EEZs, movement of nuclear propelled and nuclear weapons carrying platforms at sea, shipment of nuclear wastes through EEZ, legitimate movement of cargo over the seas result in mistrust and suspicion. These have led India building capabilities to protect its strategic and economic interests and ensure robust anti-access capabilities.

However, the forward presence is also viewed positively by India and is considered useful for promoting naval operational diplomacy in the form of joint naval patrols, interoperability through a naval exercises, sharing of maritime intelligence, developing humanitarian relief mission formats, capacity building, search and rescue arrangements, response mechanisms too accidents and pollution at sea etc. There have been positive spin offs through these interactions for India resulting in new capabilities, common missions, joint doctrines, operational compatibility and technological enhancement.

India's maritime security is also challenged by asymmetric threats. The attacks on USS Cole and MV Limburg off Yemen by the Al Qaeda, the 2008 Mumbai attacks by the Pakistan based Lashkar-e-Taiba (LeT), and the 2014 attempt on Pakistan Navy ship by the Al Qaeda in the Indian Sub-continent (AQIS) loom large in Indian maritime security conundrum. More recently, incidents like the 'suspicious boat' incident off Porbandar in December 2014, seizure of a boat carrying 20 Kg of Heroin an estimated value of US \$200 million in April 2015 off Gujarat coast originating from Pakistan have made India's maritime security a complex issue. As far as piracy is concerned, Somali pirates were successful in reaching shores of Maldives and in the vicinity of Lakshadweep Islands thereby exposing the weaknesses of surveillance systems which necessitated greater response from the Indian maritime security agencies through operational support and surveillance capacity building. Since 2008, the Indian Navy continuously deployed two to three ships for anti-piracy duties and also to escort merchant shipping through the Internationally Recommended Transit Corridor (IRTC), which is jointly conducted by the navies of China, Japan and South Korea. India also provided operational and material support to Indian Ocean island states (Maldives, Mauritius, Seychelles and Sri Lanka) to fight piracy.

It is fair to say that the Somali pirates have gone home, but the fourth version of Best Management Practices (BMP-4), released in August 2011, continues to include large sea areas in the Arabian Sea including waters close to Indian shores as High Risk Area (HRA) causing economic pressures on the international, intra-regional and coastal shipping destined for Indian ports including since these vessels invite extra insurance premium and higher crew remunerations. WMD proliferation through the Indian Ocean is also a concern to India. India has cooperated to prevent rogue states and non-state actors from acquiring WMD. In 1999, the Indian custom authorities impounded a North Korean vessel MV Ku Wol San at Kandla Port for carrying equipment for production of tactical surface to surface missiles which were suspected to be bound for Pakistan and Libya. Although India has not endorsed the 2003 Proliferation Security Initiative (PSI), it is a strong believer in the prevention of WMD proliferation.

The Arabian Sea and the Bay of Bengal are experiencing the adverse effects of climate change. There are fears of increased frequency and intensity of extreme events such as tropical storms, cyclones

and floods in the Bay of Bengal and Arabian Sea littoral spaces. India has been at the forefront in HADR operations and deployed several naval assets to respond to crisis. In the aftermath of the 26 December 2004 Tsunami in the Indian Ocean, the Indian Navy engaged in rescue and relief missions alongside those from the US, Japan and Australia. In subsequent years, the Indian Navy was again tasked to Cyclone 'Sidr' in Bangladesh in 2007, Cyclone 'Nargis' in Myanmar in May 2008 and in 2014 the Navy responded to Cyclone Hdhud in Bay of Bengal.

Likewise, there are signs of rising sea level, receding coastline, and high salinity in India's coastal areas. These natural phenomena's has severe implications for livelihoods of coastal communities. There are also fears that climate change would result in mass human displacement from the island states which has direct impact on the maritime political economy and adversarial consequences for maritime infrastructure. In this context, Maldives and Bangladesh are good examples and it is believed that it would result in climate refugees who would arrive on Indian shores as illegal migrants.

In short, India faces a number of contemporary maritime security challenges, which include:

- 1. **Piracy:** India's long coastline and strategic location make it vulnerable to piracy. While piracy in the Gulf of Aden has decreased in recent years, there have been a number of attacks on ships in the Indian Ocean region, including off the coast of Somalia and in the Strait of Malacca.
- **2. Smuggling:** India's long coastline and numerous ports also make it vulnerable to smuggling of drugs, weapons, and other contraband.
- 3. Illegal Fishing and Overfishing: India's Exclusive Economic Zone is also facing the challenges of Illegal, Unreported and Unregulated (IUU) fishing which is having a negative impact on the fish stocks and marine biodiversity.
- **4. Maritime Terrorism:** India's ports and shipping lanes are potential targets for terrorist attacks, which could cause significant damage to the economy and disrupt global trade.
- **5. Territorial Disputes and Unlawful Claims:** India is facing territorial disputes over maritime borders with its neighboring countries, which have led to an increase in the number of naval vessels in disputed waters and increased the risk of naval incidents.
- **6. Climate Change:** The effects of climate change, such as rising sea levels and increased frequency of natural disasters, are also affecting India's maritime security.
- **7. Cyber security:** India's dependence on technology and digital systems has increased the vulnerability of the maritime sector to cyber-attacks.

2.4.5 STEPS TAKEN BY INDIA TO ADDRESS MARITIME SECURITY CHALLENGES

India's energy requirements demands security of India's adjoining waters and SLOCs a matter of prime national concern. It has adopted various mechanisms to improve its maritime security capabilities like by improving its hard power as well as soft power capabilities. To address these challenges, India has implemented a coastal security scheme, increased patrols, and strengthened its

naval capabilities. The Indian Coast Guard and the Indian Navy are responsible for maritime security and defense, which includes surveillance, interdiction, and enforcement of maritime laws. India has also established a number of coastal surveillance radar systems, and has been working on strengthening international cooperation with other countries to combat maritime security threats. India has taken a number of steps to strengthen its maritime security in recent years, some of these include:

- 1. Coastal Security Scheme: India has implemented a Coastal Security Scheme (CSS) to protect its coastline and territorial waters from illegal activities. The scheme includes the setting up of a coastal security network, comprising of radar stations, surveillance towers, and other surveillance equipment.
- 2. Strengthening the Indian Navy: India has been increasing its naval capabilities by procuring new warships, submarines, and aircraft. It has also been working on developing its own indigenous shipbuilding capabilities to reduce dependence on foreign suppliers.
- **3.** Coastal Surveillance Radar Systems: India has established a number of coastal surveillance radar systems to improve the surveillance of its territorial waters and Exclusive Economic Zone (EEZ).
- **4. Indian Coast Guard:** The Indian Coast Guard is responsible for maritime security and defense, which includes surveillance, interdiction, and enforcement of maritime laws. India has been increasing its fleet strength of coast guard vessels and aircraft to improve its capabilities.
- 5. Joint Patrols and Coordination with neighboring countries: India has been cooperating with its neighboring countries on maritime security issues, such as piracy, smuggling, and illegal fishing. Joint patrols and coordinated action are being taken to address these issues.
- **6. International cooperation:** India has been working to strengthen international cooperation on maritime security issues, such as piracy and illegal fishing, through participation in regional and international forums and agreements.
- 7. Maritime Domain Awareness: India has been improving its Maritime Domain Awareness (MDA) capabilities, which include the use of advanced technology and information systems to improve surveillance and monitoring of its territorial waters and Exclusive Economic Zone (EEZ)
- **8. Cyber security:** India has been increasing its cyber security capabilities to protect its maritime infrastructure and assets from cyber-attacks.

These steps are aimed at improving India's maritime security, and protecting its maritime resources, as well as ensuring the safety and security of ships and other vessels. However, it's important to note that maritime security is a complex and multifaceted challenge, and requires a comprehensive approach that involves the government, the private sector, and civil society, as well as international cooperation to effectively address it.

Maritime security in India is of vital importance given the country's long coastline and large Exclusive Economic Zone. The Indian government has been taking various steps to enhance

maritime security in the country, including the establishment of coastal surveillance networks and the development of new naval vessels. In the future, India is likely to continue to invest in its maritime capabilities, including in areas such as unmanned systems and artificial intelligence, to enhance its ability to detect and respond to potential security threats. Additionally, India is also likely to continue to work closely with other countries in the region to improve maritime security and to counter piracy and other forms of maritime crime.

2.4.6 INTERNATIONAL LAWS ON MARITIME SECURITY

There are several international laws that govern maritime security, including the United Nations Convention on the Law of the Sea (UNCLOS), the International Regulations for Preventing Collisions at Sea (COLREGS), and the International Convention for the Safety of Life at Sea (SOLAS).

The United Nations Convention on the Law of the Sea (UNCLOS) is a treaty that sets out the legal framework for maritime activities, including the delimitation of maritime boundaries, the rights and responsibilities of coastal states, and the protection of the marine environment. It also establishes the Exclusive Economic Zone (EEZ) which is an area extending 200 nautical miles from a coastal state's baseline, within which the state has special rights to exploit, conserve and manage the natural resources, whether living or non-living, both in the waters superjacent to the seabed and in the seabed and subsoil thereof.

The International Regulations for Preventing Collisions at Sea (COLREGS) establish rules for the safe navigation of ships at sea, including the use of lights and signals, the conduct of ships in restricted visibility, and the responsibilities of ships in different situations.

The International Convention for the Safety of Life at Sea (SOLAS) sets out safety standards for ships, including requirements for the construction, equipment, and operation of ships, as well as regulations for the carriage of cargo and passengers.

In addition to these key conventions, there are also several other international instruments and agreements that address specific aspects of maritime security, such as the International Convention for the Control and Management of Ships' Ballast Water and Sediments, which aims to prevent the spread of invasive aquatic species through the discharge of ballast water, and the International Convention for the Suppression of Unlawful Acts against the Safety of Maritime Navigation (SUA), which criminalizes acts of terrorism against ships.

It's important to note that these laws are not only binding for the countries that ratified them but also for the ships flying their flags and also for ships under their jurisdiction.

2.4.7 INTERNATIONAL MARITIME LAWS THAT INDIA IS A SIGNATORY

India is a signatory to several international maritime laws, including:

- 1. United Nations Convention on the Law of the Sea (UNCLOS): India ratified the convention on August 10, 1995.
- 2. International Regulations for Preventing Collisions at Sea (COLREGS): India is a party to

the convention.

- 3. International Convention for the Safety of Life at Sea (SOLAS): India is a party to the convention.
- 4. International Convention for the Prevention of Pollution from Ships (MARPOL): India is a party to the convention.
- 5. International Convention on Standards of Training, Certification and Watch keeping for Seafarers (STCW): India is a party to the convention.
- 6. International Convention on the Control and Management of Ships' Ballast Water and Sediments: India ratified the convention on September 8, 2017.
- 7. International Convention for the Suppression of Unlawful Acts against the Safety of Maritime Navigation (SUA): India ratified the convention on October 1, 2005.
- 8. International Convention on Salvage: India ratified the convention on August 8, 1996.
- 9. International Convention on Liability and Compensation for Damage in Connection with the Carriage of Hazardous and Noxious Substances by Sea (HNS): India has ratified the convention.

These conventions and laws are aimed at ensuring maritime security, safety and environmental protection, and India's adherence to these regulations is an important aspect of its engagement with the global maritime community.

CHECK YOUR PROGRESS 1

NOTE: Use the space given below for your answers. Use separate sheet if space is not sufficient.

1.	What is the range of an Exclusive Economic Zone (EEZ)?
2.	What is the purpose of Coastal Surveillance Radar Systems?

3. What is Maritime Domain Awareness (MDA)?

How do Coastal Surveillance Radar Systems enhance security?

2.4.8 CYBER SECURITY

Cyber security refers to the practices and technologies used to protect internet-connected systems, including hardware, software, and data, from attack, damage, or unauthorized access. It involves the development and implementation of technologies, policies, and procedures to secure networks, devices, and sensitive information from cyber threats such as hacking, malware, and phishing. The goal of cyber security is to ensure the confidentiality, integrity, and availability of information and systems. Cyber security is a critical concern for individuals, businesses, and governments, as the increasing reliance on technology has made the protection of sensitive information and systems more important than ever.

2.4.9 Types of Cyber Security

There are several types of cyber security, including:

- 1. **Network security:** This type of cyber security focuses on protecting a network from unauthorized access and attacks.
- **2. Endpoint security:** It is about protecting individual devices that access a network, such as computers, smart phones, and tablets.
- **3. Cloud security:** It is focused on protecting data and applications hosted on cloud servers from unauthorized access and attacks.
- **4. Application security:** This type of cyber security is focused on protecting the applications and software used in an organization from vulnerabilities and threats.
- **5. Disaster recovery and business continuity:** planning for and recovering from cyber incidents that disrupt normal business operations.
- **6. Internet of things (IoT) security:** This is related to protecting internet- connected devices, such as home appliances and vehicles, from unauthorized access and attacks.
- 7. Operational Technology (OT) security: This type of cyber security is focused on protecting Industrial Control Systems (ICS) and Industrial Internet of Things (IIoT) devices and infrastructure from unauthorized access and attacks.

8. Identity and access management (IAM): It is focused on controlling and managing access to resources and data within an organization.

These are some of the main categories, but there are many different types of cyber security that can be used to protect an organization from cyber threats.

2.4.10 INTERNATIONAL LAWS AND AGREEMENTS RELATED TO CYBER SECURITY

There are several international laws and agreements related to cyber security that have been developed to address cyber threats and protect the digital infrastructure of nations. Some of the key international laws and agreements include:

- 1. The Council of Europe's Convention on Cybercrime: This is the first international treaty on crimes committed via the internet and other computer networks. It deals with issues such as illegal access, illegal interception, data interference, and computer-related fraud.
- 2. The United Nations General Assembly's Resolution on the Promotion, Coordination, and Protection of Human Rights on the Internet: This resolution recognizes the importance of the internet in the promotion and protection of human rights and the need to address cybercrime and online extremism.
- **3. The Budapest Convention on Cybercrime:** This is a treaty that aims to harmonize national laws, improve investigative techniques, and increase cooperation among countries to combat cybercrime.
- 4. The Tallinn Manual on the International Law Applicable to Cyber Warfare: This manual provides a comprehensive analysis of the international law applicable to cyber warfare and provides guidance for states on how to deal with cyber warfare.
- 5. The International Telecommunication Union's (ITU) Recommendations for the Development of National Cyber security Strategies: These recommendations provide guidance for countries on how to develop and implement national cyber security strategies.
- 6. The Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development's (OECD) Guidelines for the Security of Information Systems and Networks: These guidelines provide recommendations for the protection of information systems and networks and promote international cooperation on cyber security.
- **7. The G7 Cyber security:** A set of principles aimed at improving the cyber security of the G7 countries.

These international laws and agreements provide a framework for nations to cooperate and address cyber threats, but it is important to note that the effectiveness of international laws depend on the willingness of states to comply with them.

2.4.11 CYBER SECURITY AS A CONTEMPORARY SECURITY CHALLENGE TO INDIA

Cyber security has become a major security challenge for India in recent years, as the country faces a growing number of cyber threats, including hacking, malware, and phishing. With the increasing digitization of the economy and the growing reliance on technology, the country has become increasingly vulnerable to cyber attacks. In addition, India's critical infrastructure such as power grid, water supply systems, and transportation systems are becoming increasingly dependent on technology, making them more vulnerable to cyber attacks. This highlights the need for a comprehensive and robust cyber security strategy to protect the country's critical infrastructure. Some of the key challenges that India faces in terms of cyber security include:

- 1. **Cybercrime:** India has seen a significant increase in cybercrime in recent years, with incidents of hacking, phishing, and other forms of cybercrime on the rise.
- **2. Data breaches:** India's large and growing digital economy makes it a prime target for cyber criminals looking to steal sensitive data and personal information.
- **3. Cyber espionage:** India has also been targeted by state-sponsored cyber espionage campaigns, which can be used to steal sensitive information and disrupt critical infrastructure.
- **4. Cyber warfare:** India's military and critical infrastructure is also at risk of cyber attack, which could have serious consequences for national security.
- **5.** Lack of skilled workforce: India faces a shortage of skilled cyber security professionals, which makes it difficult to protect against cyber threats.

2.4.12 STEPS TAKEN BY INDIA TO CURB CYBER SECURITY THREATS

India faces a number of contemporary cyber security challenges including a lack of cyber security expertise, inadequate legal and regulatory frameworks, and the need to protect critical infrastructure from cyber attacks. These challenges need to be addressed by the government, industry, and the public to ensure the security and integrity of the country's information and systems. Another major challenge is the lack of adequate legal and regulatory frameworks to address cybercrime. India's current laws and regulations do not adequately address the complexity and sophistication of modern cyber threats. This has led to a lack of accountability for cybercriminals and a lack of legal remedies for victims. To address these challenges, India has taken several steps to improve its cyber security, including creating a national cyber security policy, establishing a national cyber security coordination center, and investing in the development of cyber security talent. Some of the key actions that India has taken include:

- 1. National Cyber Security Policy: India has developed a National Cyber Security Policy that lays out the government's strategy for protecting the country's cyber infrastructure and sensitive information.
- **2. Cybercrime Investigation Cell:** India has set up a Cybercrime Investigation Cell (CIC) to investigate and prosecute cybercrime cases.
- 3. Cyber Coordination Centre: India has established a Cyber Coordination Centre (CyCord)

to coordinate the country's cyber security efforts and share threat intelligence.

- **4. Cybercrime reporting portal:** India has set up a cybercrime reporting portal that allows citizens to report cybercrime incidents to the authorities.
- **5. Cyber Emergency Response Team (CERT-In):** India has set up a Cyber Emergency Response Team (CERT-In) to respond to cyber incidents and provide technical assistance to organizations.
- **6. Cyber security framework for the Indian financial sector:** India has developed a cyber security framework specifically for the financial sector to ensure the protection of financial systems and customer data.
- 7. Cyber security skills development: India has initiated a number of programs to develop cyber security skills and talent within the country, including training and education programs for students and working professionals.
- **8. Encryption policy:** India has put in place an encryption policy to regulate the use of encryption and ensure that sensitive information is protected.
- **9. Cyber security law:** India has also passed the Personal Data Protection Bill, 2019, to protect the personal data of citizens and make companies accountable for data breaches.

These are some of the main actions that India has taken to address cyber security threats. The increasing use of technology in various sectors, such as finance, healthcare, and government, has led to a growing need for cyber security measures. There have been a number of high-profile cases of cyber security breaches in India in recent years. Some notable examples include:

- The WannaCry ransomware attack in May 2017, which affected several major companies and government organizations in India.
- The cyber attack on the Reserve Bank of India in 2016, which resulted in the loss of several crores of rupees.
- The data breaches at the Aadhaar biometric database in 2018, which exposed the personal information of millions of Indians.
- The cyber attack on the Indian government's power grid in January 2021, which caused a major power outage in parts of the country.

These and other incidents have highlighted the need for better cyber security measures in India, particularly in the government and critical infrastructure sectors. India is expected to have a rapidly growing cyber security industry in the future, driven by the increasing number of internet users and the digitization of various industries. The Indian government has recognized the importance of cyber security and has taken steps to promote the development of the industry. In recent years, India has seen a significant increase in the number of cyber attacks, leading to a growing demand for cyber security solutions and services. The government has also launched several initiatives to promote the growth of the cyber security industry, including the Digital India campaign and the Make in India

initiative. The increasing adoption of new technologies such as the internet of things (IoT), cloud computing, and artificial intelligence (AI) is also expected to drive the demand for cyber security solutions in India. As more devices and systems become connected to the internet, the need for secure data storage and communication will become increasingly important. The Indian government has also implemented various policies and regulations to protect the country from cyber threats. The Cyber Security Policy of India, 2013, for example, lays out a framework for protecting critical infrastructure and sensitive information from cyber attacks. In summary, the future prospects of cyber security in India are very promising due to the increasing number of internet users, digitization of various industries and government initiatives to promote the growth of the cyber security industry. However, with the threat landscape constantly evolving, India will need to continue to adapt and improve its cyber security measures to stay ahead of cybercriminals.

2.4.13 TRAFFICKING

Trafficking is the illegal trade or transportation of goods, people or animals. The most common forms of trafficking is human trafficking, drug trafficking, arms trafficking, wildlife trafficking, organ trafficking etc. Trafficking can take many forms, but it often involves recruiting, transporting, harboring, or receiving people through the use of force, fraud, or deception, with the intent to exploit them.

Trafficking can occur within a country or across international borders. It can affect people of all ages, genders, and backgrounds, but it disproportionately affects vulnerable populations such as women, children, and individuals from marginalized communities. Human trafficking is the illegal trade of human beings for the purposes of forced labor, sexual exploitation, or other forms of exploitation. It is considered a serious crime and a violation of human rights. Human trafficking is a global issue; it is a serious crime and violation of human rights. There are various organizations working to combat human trafficking and support victims, but much more need to be done to stop this illegal activity.

2.4.14 TYPES OF HUMAN TRAFFICKING

There are several types of human trafficking, including:

- 1. Forced labor: This type of trafficking involves the use of force, fraud, or coercion to make someone work against their will. This can include domestic work, agriculture, construction, manufacturing, and other forms of labor exploitation.
- **2. Sex trafficking:** This type of trafficking involves the use of force, fraud, or coercion to make someone engage in commercial sex acts. This can include prostitution, pornography, and other forms of sexual exploitation.
- **3. Child trafficking:** This type of trafficking involves the recruitment, transportation, transfer, harboring, or receipt of a child for the purpose of exploitation. Children are particularly vulnerable to trafficking and are often used for forced labor, sexual exploitation, and other forms of abuse.
- 4. Organ trafficking: This type of trafficking involves the illegal trade of human organs, tissues and

cells for transplantation. It often goes along with other forms of exploitation such as forced labor and debt bondage.

- **5. Forced marriage:** This type of trafficking involves the use of force, fraud, or coercion to make someone enter into a marriage against their will. This can include forced marriages for the purpose of immigration or sexual exploitation.
- **6. Domestic servitude:** This type of trafficking involves forcing someone to work in a private residence, usually as a domestic worker, with no or very little pay and no freedom of movement.

It is important to note that trafficking can be a combination of different forms. Many victims of trafficking experience multiple forms of exploitation, and it's not uncommon for a person to be forced into labor and sexual exploitation simultaneously.

2.4.15 HUMAN TRAFFICKING AS A CONTEMPORARY SECURITY CHALLENGE TO INDIA

Human trafficking is a contemporary security challenge to India. India is a source, destination, and transit country for human trafficking, particularly for the purposes of forced labor and sexual exploitation. The country's large population, poverty, and lack of economic opportunities make it a vulnerable target for traffickers. Trafficking in India often affects women, children, and individuals from marginalized communities, such as Dalits and tribal groups. Women and girls are particularly vulnerable to trafficking for the purpose of sexual exploitation, including prostitution and forced marriage. According to the National Crime Records Bureau, there has been an increase in the number of reported cases of trafficking for sexual exploitation in recent years. Forced labor is also a significant issue in India, particularly in the agriculture, brick kiln, and construction sectors. Many individuals, particularly those from marginalized communities, are lured into these sectors with false promises of good working conditions and fair wages, only to find themselves in situations of forced labor or debt bondage. Children are also at a high risk of being trafficked for forced labor, including domestic work, agriculture, and factory work. The porous borders of India make it difficult to prevent human trafficking. India is also a source of organ trafficking, as the lack of regulation and oversight of organ donation and transplantation systems in India has led to the exploitation of vulnerable individuals. The lack of proper border control and inadequate law enforcement mechanisms are major challenges for India in curbing human trafficking.

The government of India has taken some steps to address the issue of human trafficking, including enacting new legislation such as passing the Immoral Traffic (Prevention) Act in 1956 and the more recent Trafficking of Persons (Prevention, Protection and Rehabilitation) Bill 2018, which provide legal framework for the prevention and prosecution of human trafficking and creating specialized units within law enforcement agencies to investigate and prosecute traffickers. However, the implementation of these measures has been inconsistent and inadequate, and there is a need for more robust actions to be taken to combat human trafficking in India. It's important to note that human trafficking is not only a law enforcement problem but also a socio-economic one. Addressing the root causes of human trafficking such as poverty, lack of education and job opportunities, and

discrimination will be essential in effectively tackling this issue in India.

2.4.16 INTERNATIONAL LAWS RELATED TO HUMAN TRAFFICKING

There are several international laws and conventions that relate to human trafficking, including:

- 1. The Protocol to Prevent, Suppress and Punish Trafficking in Persons, Especially Women and Children, supplementing the United Nations Convention against Transnational Organized Crime (UNTOC): This protocol, adopted in 2000, defines human trafficking and establishes measures to prevent and combat it, as well as protect and assist victims.
- 2. The Convention for the Suppression of the Traffic in Persons and of the Exploitation of the Prostitution of Others: This convention, adopted in 1949 by the United Nations, is the first international instrument to deal specifically with trafficking in persons.
- 3. The Convention on the Rights of the Child: This convention, adopted in 1989, sets out the rights of children and includes provisions that protect children from exploitation and abuse, including trafficking.
- 4. The Slavery Convention of 1926: This convention adopted by the League of Nations and later ratified by the United Nations, bans slavery and slave trade in all forms, including the trafficking of persons.
- 5. The Palermo Protocol of 2000: This protocol supplements the UNTOC; it is a legally binding instrument against trafficking in persons, especially women and children.

These international laws provide a framework for countries to address human trafficking and provide legal protections for victims. Many countries, including India, have also enacted national laws to prevent and combat human trafficking, and these laws are often based on these international conventions.

2.4.17 STEPS TAKEN BY INDIA TO CURB HUMAN TRAFFICKING

India has taken several steps to curb human trafficking, including:

- 1. Enacting laws: India has enacted the Immoral Traffic (Prevention) Act (ITPA) in 1956, which criminalizes trafficking for the purpose of sexual exploitation. The Act was amended in 1986 to include provisions for the protection and rehabilitation of victims of trafficking.
- **2. Creation of special units:** The Indian government has created special units within law enforcement agencies, such as the Anti-Human Trafficking Units (AHTUs) at the state level and the Inter-State Cell for Women and Children at the national level, to investigate and prosecute traffickers.
- **3. Rescue and rehabilitation:** The government has established rescue homes and rehabilitation centers for victims of trafficking, providing them with shelter, medical care, and vocational training.

- **4. Preventive measures:** The Indian government has taken steps to prevent trafficking through public awareness campaigns, education, and programs to alleviate poverty and provide economic opportunities.
- **5. Inter-agency coordination:** The Indian government has set up inter-agency coordination mechanism at central and state level to ensure that all stakeholders work together to combat trafficking.
- **6. International cooperation:** India has also cooperated with other countries to combat human trafficking, including sharing information and working together on investigations and arrests of traffickers.

However, despite these efforts, human trafficking remains a significant problem in India and more needs to be done to effectively combat it. The government, civil society, and the international community need to work together to strengthen anti-trafficking efforts, protect victims, and hold traffickers accountable.

2.4.18 FUTURE PROSPECTS OF HUMAN TRAFFICKING IN INDIA

It is difficult to predict the future prospects of human trafficking in India, as it depends on a number of factors, including government efforts to combat trafficking, economic conditions, and societal attitudes towards trafficking. However, there are some possible future prospects based on current trends and challenges:

- 1. Continued high levels of trafficking: Despite the efforts of the Indian government to combat trafficking, it remains a significant problem in the country. The poverty, lack of education, and lack of legal protections for vulnerable populations make it likely that trafficking will continue to be a problem in the future.
- **2. Emergence of new forms of trafficking:** As technology and global travel continue to advance, new forms of trafficking, such as online trafficking and trafficking for organ harvesting, may emerge.
- **3. Increased focus on child trafficking:** Child trafficking is a particularly pervasive problem in India, and it is likely that there will be an increased focus on this issue in the future.
- **4. Greater international cooperation:** India has been cooperating with other countries to combat human trafficking and this cooperation is likely to increase in the future as the world works together to address the problem.
- 5. Growth in government and non-government initiatives: More government and non-government initiatives are likely to be implemented to combat trafficking, including public awareness campaigns, education, and programs to alleviate poverty and provide economic opportunities.

Overall, it is likely that human trafficking will continue to be a significant problem in India, but with increased government efforts, international cooperation, and the engagement of civil society organizations, the situation can be improved.

2.4.19 DRUG TRAFFICKING

Another importance form of trafficking is drug trafficking. It refers to the illegal production, distribution, and sale of controlled substances, such as opioids, cocaine, marijuana, and amphetamines. These drugs are often smuggled across borders, either by individuals or organized criminal groups, and then sold on the black market. Drug trafficking is a major problem globally and has significant social and economic consequences, including increased crime and violence, the spread of infectious diseases, and the destruction of communities.

Drug trafficking can take many forms, such as smuggling drugs across borders in vehicles, boats or planes, using the mail or shipping containers, and using couriers to transport drugs internally. Drug traffickers often use advanced techniques such as camouflage and false compartments to conceal their activities, and also use violence and intimidation to maintain control of the trade.

Drug trafficking is a highly profitable activity and it is often controlled by organized criminal groups. These groups use the proceeds of drug trafficking to finance other criminal activities such as money laundering, extortion and human trafficking. The fight against drug trafficking is a major priority for many governments around the world, and they employ a variety of measures such as interdiction, law enforcement, and prevention programs to combat the problem.

Drug trafficking is a significant security challenge for India. The country serves as a major transit point for illegal drugs, particularly those originating in Afghanistan and Pakistan, due to its long and porous borders. These drugs are then smuggled into other parts of Asia, as well as Europe and North America. The drug trade fuels organized crime and terrorism, and also contributes to a range of societal problems, including addiction and poverty. The Indian government has implemented various measures to combat drug trafficking, including interdiction efforts and law enforcement operations, but the problem remains persistent.

CHECK YOUR PROGRESS 2

NOTE: Use the space given below for your answers. Use separate sheet if space is not sufficient.

1.	What are common forms of trafficking?
2.	What is human trafficking?
3.	Which groups are most vulnerable to trafficking in India?

2.4.20 LET US SUM UP

Maritime security refers to the protection of a country's territorial waters, exclusive economic zone, and maritime resources from criminal or hostile activities. India's long coastline, numerous ports, and strategic location make it vulnerable to maritime threats such as piracy, smuggling, and illegal fishing. These activities can disrupt economic activity; threaten the safety of seafarers, and potentially aid terrorists and other non-state actors. To address these challenges, India has implemented a coastal security scheme, increased patrols, and strengthened its naval capabilities. Whereas, cyber security refers to the protection of a country's electronic infrastructure and information from unauthorized access, use, disclosure, disruption, modification, or destruction. India is heavily dependent on technology and has a large number of internet users, making it a prime target for cyber attacks.

These can range from hacking of government and corporate networks, to financial fraud and data breaches. To address these challenges, India has set up a national cyber security coordinator and a national cyber security policy, as well as improving international cooperation on cyber security. Trafficking refers to the illegal movement of people, weapons, drugs, and other goods across borders. India is a source, transit, and destination country for human trafficking, with women and children being particularly vulnerable. Trafficking can lead to modern-day slavery, forced labor, and other forms of exploitation. It also supports other criminal activities, such as drug trafficking and money laundering. To address these challenges, India has introduced various laws, such as the Immoral Traffic (Prevention) Act and the Transplantation of Human Organs Act and also has a national policy for prevention of human trafficking. All of these challenges require a multi-pronged approach that involves the government, the private sector, and civil society, as well as international cooperation, to be effectively addressed.

2.4.21 EXERCISES

- 1. Critically Examine the India's Contemporary Security Challenges.
- 2. Write a short note on Cyber Security.
- 3. Briefly examine the aspects of Maritime Security.

2.4.22 SUGGESTED READINGS

Gulshan Sachdeva, "Geoeconomics and energy for India", in David Scott (ed.), *Handbook of India's International Relations*, London and New York: Routledge, 2011.

Ashok Sharma, "India and Energy Security", Asian Affairs, Vol. 38, No. 2, 2007

Gawdat Bahgat, "India's Energy Security", *Minerals & Energy - Raw Materials Report*, Vol. 21, No. 3-4, 2006.

3.1 INDIA AND THE UNITED STATES: FROM DIVERGENCE TO CONVERGENCE

-Rajesh Kumar

STRUCTURE

- 3.1.0 Objectives
- 3.1.1 Introduction
- 3.1.2 India and the US: From Divergence to Convergence
 - 3.1.2.1 Increasing Frequency of Visits
- 3.1.3 Indo-US Nuclear Deal
- 3.1.4 Indo-US Strategic Partnership
 - 3.1.4.1 Convergence of Interests over UNSC Reforms
 - 3.1.4.2 Convergence of Interests over China
 - 3.1.4.3 US-Indian Counter Terrorism Cooperation
- 3.1.5 Indo-US Defence Cooperation
 - 3.1.5.1 Joint Military Exercises
- 3.1.6 Other Areas of Indo-US Convergence
- 3.1.7 Recent Developments
- 3.1.8 Let Us Sum Up
- 3.1.9 Exercises
- 3.1.10 Suggested Readings

3.1.0 OBJECTIVES

This lesson explains the evolving Indo-US relations in the post-Cold War period and the significance of strategic relationship between both the countries to the interests of India. After going through this topic, you should be able to know:

- the factors that led to convergence of interests between India and the US;
- the importance of Indo-US Nuclear Deal;
- the multidimensional strategic relationship that evolved between India and the US;
- the issues involved in Indo-US defence cooperation.

3.1.1 INTRODUCTION

India, during the early and mid-1990s' veered away from its strategic partnership with the United States, that started building up after Rajiv Gandhi's visit to the United States in May 1985. It goes to the credit of the United States' President Bill Clinton for restoring this vital strategic partnership once again with India. This was the outcome of a successful conclusion of 'Indo-US Strategic Dialogue', between Strobe Talbott and Jaswant Singh, that a very strong foundation for renewed enhanced level of Indo-US Strategic Partnership was laid. The Annual Reports of different years of External Affairs Ministry of Govt. Of India state that India-U.S. bilateral relations have developed into a global strategic partnership, based on increasing convergence of interests on bilateral, regional and global issues. The bilateral cooperation is now broad-based and multi-sectoral, covering trade and investment, defence and security, education, science and technology, cyber security, high-technology, civil nuclear energy, space technology and applications, clean energy, environment, agriculture and health. People to people interaction provide further vitality and strength to bilateral relationship. India and

U.S. relations went through both highs and lows in 2010, with roadblocks on nuclear cooperation and outsourcing creating some rifts in a relationship that is strengthening overall.

The Annual Report of External Affairs Ministry of Government Of India says, India and the U.S. have launched a Ministerial-level Strategic Dialogue, co- chaired by External Affairs Minister and the U.S. Secretary of State since July 2009, which focuses on bilateral relations along five pillars of mutual interest, namely: Strategic Cooperation; Energy and Climate Change, Education and Development; Economy, Trade and Agriculture; Science and Technology; and Health and Innovation. The first round of the Strategic Dialogue was held in Washington D.C. in June 2010. The fourth meeting of the Strategic Dialogue was held in New Delhi in June 2013. At present the strategic dialogue has become annual feature between both the countries. As on today, the US is one of India's largest trading partners.

3.1.2 INDIA AND THE US: FROM DIVERGENCE TO CONVERGENCE

India's relations with the outside world underwent a fundamental re-orientation. The end of the Cold War has provided India an opportunity to re-discover its traditional and historical linkages that had become weak during Cold War period. India has been very keen to play important role not only in the South Asian region, but at the global level. India for the past one and a half decade has been pursuing policies that places it as an important player at global level and today its defence and foreign policy is to deter aggression, ensuring stability and peace in its neighbourhood, developing friendly and mutually beneficial ties in the West, Central and South-East Asia, and establishing strategic partnerships with all the major actors in the world, particularly the United States, European Union, Russia, China and Japan. The changing attitude of U.S. towards India can be understood in the light of three major facts: U.S. had started realizing that India was a big market for the sale of its products. It realized that India was a mature market to deal with; it also took into consideration that

India was a leading power in South Asia. India's interest of maintaining peace and its rising concerns about security issues in Asia coincided with those of the U.S. and U.S. started realizing that it would be better to deal with India if it wanted to ensure peace and stability in Asia; The third fact deals with the emergence of India in technology sector. India's emergence in the field of development raised interest of U.S. towards it.

3.1.2.1 INCREASING FREQUENCY OF VISITS

The stalemate of 1998 because of India's nuclear explosion got broken after the completion of several rounds of talks between India's Jaswant Singh and Stobr Talbott of the U.S.A. It was theirs meeting which melted the ice between both of them and since then they have not looked backwards. Last time when any U.S. President visited India was 1979 but since year 2000, every U.S. President has chosen to visit India. President Bill Clinton visited India in March 2000 and signed VISION DOCUMENT with Indian Prime Minister Atal Bihari Vajpayee. The relations started normalizing after President Clinton's visit to India. Prime Minister Vajpayee also paid a return visit to U.S. in October 2000, when he declared that India and the United States are "Natural Allies". Since then high level visits have become the hallmark of Indo-U.S. bilateral relations. These visits have helped both the countries in building stronger ties and enabled them to resolve most contentious bilateral issues like nuclear cooperation, WTO related issues, intellectual property and outsourcing issues. Prime Minister Manmohan Singh visited U.S. in year 2005 and a new chapter between India and the U.S. started after the signing of Indo-U.S. Nuclear Deal. President George W. Bush Junior visited India in 2008 and President Barak Obama visited India twice in 2012 and January 2015, as chief guest on republic day.

3.1.3 INDO-U.S. NUCLEAR DEAL

It was during the then Prime Minister Vajpayee's visit to U.S. in September 2004 that the Indi-US relationship started maturing into a strategic partnership. Prime Minister Vajpayee and President Bush announced the 'Next Steps in Strategic Partnership (NSSP)'. As part of this NSSP, progress in three very crucial areas were to be made. These are: easing of export restrictions to India of dual-use technology goods, increase in civilian nuclear and civilian space cooperation and later on missile defence was added to this list.

The Indo-U.S. nuclear deal of July 2005 that provided the framework for cooperation in the field of civilian nuclear power is important as Washington promised to persuade the US Congress to make changes in its domestic legislation which the U.S. did by enactment of Hyde Act and signing of 123 Agreement with India in 2008. The U.S. also persuaded the Nuclear Suppliers Group (NSG) to make suitable adjustments in its regulations that led to the opening up of nuclear trade and commerce opportunity for India with rest of the world after India took several important steps in return. India separated its civilian nuclear installations from military nuclear installations and signed India Specific Agreements with International Atomic Energy Agency (IAEA).

This certainly provided opportunity to India being recognized as a "responsible state with advanced nuclear technology" and a tacit U.S. recognition of India's status as a de facto nuclear

weapon state outside the Nuclear Non- Proliferation Treaty (NPT). The second was the U.S. offer to cooperate with India on civil nuclear energy issues. Since then nuclear cooperation has gained momentum in Indo-U.S. relations. It got institutionalised now unlike in the past when several irritants would not allow institutionalisation of Indo-U.S. relationships.

3.1.4 INDO-U.S. STRATEGIC PARTNERSHIPS

In pursuing a new relationship between both the countries, the leaders and policy- makers in both the countries have been talking of a "natural alliance", between the two. Moreover, there appears to be convergence of interest between India and

U.S. on various global matters, like peace and stability in Gulf and Indian Ocean region, guaranteeing peace in the South East Asian and Pacific region, as China grows more stronger and might pose threat to both India and USA, and its friendly countries in South-East Asian region. The U.S.A. has been looking for having regional managers in the Gulf and Asian Pacific region. The U.S.A. has been of the view that India which has acknowledged its military capabilities, can prove to be a useful partner for enhancing and protecting its own interest as part of US global interests.

As per George Perkovich, a U.S. scholar, the strategic cooperation between India and the USA was expected to focus on the global security issues, including India's quest for the permanent seat of the UN Security Council, future defence cooperation, high technology trade, and space related collaboration as well as regional issues, pertaining to security, in and around South Asia. The prospects of increased level of strategic cooperation between USA and India, is in line with the new US policy of assisting the growth in Indian power, for multiple reasons: India's growing geo-political importance; the role it can play in counter proliferation activities in the Indian Ocean; its potential utility as a hedge against a rising China; and its importance for global energy stability and environmental protection.

3.1.4.1 Convergence of Interest over UNS C Reforms

In post-Cold War period, both the countries have developed a habit of engaging each other on global issues like UN reforms. On different occasions the U.S. has provided India assurances that it would support India's candidature to the UN Security Council's permanent membership whenever the occasion would arise. The U.S knows that a huge chunk of India's population wish that India needs to be given the permanent membership of UN Security Council. The high point of India-US relations was the visit to New Delhi of President Barak Obama. He went all out to respect the Indian sensitivities on all issues and characterized "the India- US relationship as one of defining partnership of the 21st Century". On the question of India's permanent membership of the UN Security Council, an issue close to the hearts of millions of Indians, President Obama was more than categorical. In his address to the Indian Parliament he gave an explicit assurance that the United States supported India's quest for a permanent seat, an assurance which was reflected in the Joint Statement issued at the end of his visit—"in the years ahead the United States looks forward to a reformed UN Security Council that includes India as a permanent member."

3.1.4.2 Indo-U.S. Convergence of Interest over China

The rise of China is also one of the reasons for evolving strategic relationship between India and the United States. There is a serious thinking among the policymakers as well as strategists in the United States that if one country that can emerge as a countervailing power to China that is India. The United States is a long-term stakeholder in the Asia-Pacific. Basically the U.S. role of "balancer" against any uncertainties in Southeast Asia — indispensible and tenacious — is an integral part of stability, peace, and prosperity at the regional level. Simultaneously Beijing understands the significance of close bonds between the United States and the ASEAN region — Southeast Asia needs the United States to counter-balance a rising China, in which India plays a vital role.

China's frequent display of aggressiveness along borders and India's possible counter moves to block the Malacca Straits worsen the mistrust. As Indo- US strategic ties ascended, analysts rejoiced over the US 'pivot Asia' announcement and its intended aim to make India a linchpin in the Asia-Pacific theatre. Thus far an illusionary 'Indo-Pacific' idea currently in the offing is being viewed with excitement.

However, many warn that India should not play anti-China game of the US in Asia. The United States and China continues to have an ambiguous relationship in which rivalry will alternate or even coexist with tactical understandings at the global and national level. So India may need a more complicated three-dimensional kind of diagram to capture the complexity of this kind of balancing act. According to Neena Koshy, it's important for both Japan and India to not treat their relations in Asia as a zero-sum game. India should not look at its relations with China as a derivative of U.S.-China relations, nor should India look at tis relations with Japan as a derivative of Japan-China relations. The more India does that, the greater is the danger that it will run into trouble, that the India-US relationship will be hostage to any improvements that may happen on the U.S.-China front or the Japan-China front.

3.1.4.3 U.S.-Indian Counter Terrorism Cooperation

Another facet of the emerging 'strategic partnership' between the United States and India is vastly increased counter terrorism cooperation. In November 2001, President Bush and the then Indian Prime Minister, Vajpayee agreed that "terrorism threatens not only the security of the United States and India, but also our efforts to build freedom, democracy and international security and stability around the world". In 2002, India and United States launched the Indo-U.S. Cyber Security Forum to safeguard critical infrastructure from cyber- attack. The U.S. Embassy document of July 2005, 'New Framework for the U.S. India Defence Relationship', lists, "defeating terrorism and violent religious extremism" as one of four key shared security interests and it calls for a bolstering of mutual defence capabilities required for such a goal. In October 2005, the United States and India also concluded a treaty on criminal matters that institutionalised law enforcement cooperation and created a regular channel for mutual assistance. Moreover, three months after the July 2008 Bombay terrorist bombings, senior CIA officials reportedly travelled to New Delhi to discuss improving counter terrorism cooperation with Indian leaders. Both the countries have established Joint Working Group on issue of Terrorism which enables them to share important information with each other at

3.1.5 INDO-U.S. DEFENCE COOPERATION

In June 2005, the United States and India signed a ten year defence pact, outlining planned collaboration in multilateral operations, expanded two way defence trade, increasing opportunity for technology transfers and co-production, expanded collaboration related to missile defence, and establishment of a bilateral defence procurement and production group. In April 2007, the commander of the U.S.- Pacific Command Administrator, Tim Keating told a Senate panel that Pentagon intends to "aggressively" pursue expanding military-to-military relations with India. The United States views defence cooperation with India in the context of "Common principles and shared national interest." Such as defeating terrorism, preventing weapons proliferation and maintaining regional stability.

The first ever major U.S. arms sale to India came in 2002, when Pentagon negotiated delivery of 12 counter battery radar sets, worth, of \$ 190 million. In 2002, both the countries were engaged in unprecedented, joint military cooperation. The

U.S. agreed to supply 12 AN- TPQ/37 Fire-finder, counter battery radars to the Indian army. Since 2002-03, successive US governments have sold high-tech arms and military equipment to the Indian military. The latest deal signed in June 2013, authorized India's largest-ever purchase from the US that included ten C-17 heavy- lift aircraft worth US\$4.1 billion. For some years now, the Indian defence market has proved to be a lucrative one for the US arms industry. For instance, in March 2009 the US government authorized the US\$2.1 billion sale of eight Boeing P-8I long- range maritime patrol aircraft to the Indian Navy. Before that, in January 2008, Washington also approved the US\$1 billion sale of six Lockheed Martin C-130J Super Hercules military transport planes. Similarly, in 2007 the Indian Navy purchased the USS for US\$48 million. The Trenton is a landing-dock vessel and was also the Indian Navy's first-ever US-built naval vessel. After the announcements of PM Modi's 'Make in India Initiative' things are likely to turn around if U.S. companies were to take the advantage of new norms whereby Indian Government has raised the limit of FDI in defence sector to a level of 49 per cent where a large number of U.S. companies can play a very vital role in the modernization of India's defence sector which has been continuing at very slower pace.

3.1.5.1 JOINT MILITARY EXERCISE

Since early 2002, the United States and India have held a series of joint military exercises, involving all the three wings of their armed forces. In 2005, U.S. and Indian Special Forces, soldiers have held joint exercises near the Sino-Indian border and major annual "Malabar", joint naval exercises are held, off the Indian cost. The seventh of these came in September 2007, when India hosted a total of twenty seven warships from five countries, including the United States, Japan, Australia, and Singapore, the U.S. and Indian official 'tout' such exercise as evidence of a deepening bilateral defence relationship. The Joint U.S-Indian military exercises, arms sales and Indo-US Nuclear Deal, has caused anxiousness in Pakistan, where there is a concern that induction of advanced weapon

systems into the region, could disrupt the 'strategic balance'. These exercises now are being continued between all three forces army, air force and navy. IMET programme is the outcome of such cooperation between India and the United States of America.

"Exercise Malabar" is a bilateral naval exercise involving the United States and India. Participation has been expanded in some years to include Japan, Australia and/or Singapore. The annual Malabar series began in 1992, and includes diverse activities, ranging from fighter combat operations from aircraft carriers, through Maritime Interdiction Operations Exercises. Three exercises were conducted prior to 1998, when the Americans suspended exercises after India tested nuclear weapons. However, Washington renewed military contacts following the September 11 attacks when India joined President George W Bush's campaign against international terrorism.

India and the U.S. in August 2014 decided to step up joint military exercises and also work together to develop and manufacture weapons. The two countries' declarations came after meetings in New Delhi between U.S. Defense Secretary Chuck Hagel and Indian Prime Minister Narendra Modi and other senior Indian officials.

3.1.6 OTHER AREAS OF INDO-U.S. CONVERGENCE

India wishes to pursue a very strong relationship with U.S. as a respectable partner in serving the mutual interests as well as creating a world with peaceful relations. There are four principles on which India pursuing its relations with the United States.

- India saw itself as a key player which had a rightful place in influencing the global system.
- Though it was keen on developing a positive and equal relationship with Washington, New Delhi would not compromise upon sovereignty. It was not seeking "alliance" but rather a durable "partnership where security cooperation played a prominent role."
- India wanted Washington to recognize that Indian strategic interests extended well beyond South Asia to encompass what it now calls an extended strategic neighbourhood from the Suez Canal to the Strait of Malacca, an area encompassing the West Asia, the Persian Gulf, South and Central Asia, and Southeast Asia. In other words, the U.S., while fulfilling its global obligations, should factor in India's aspirations and autonomy in this zone.
- Finally, another implicit principle in this outline is India's preference for a multipolar world, rather than a bipolar or unipolar one.

Within these broader parameters, India wants to pursue its relation with the United States and bilateral cooperation on range of issues. It included cooperation on counterterrorism, i.e., improved intelligence-sharing in Afghanistan, Tibet, and the South China Sea. India also hoped to benefit from advances in U.S. satellite technology and imagery. Both sides also wished to explore possibilities of expanded cooperation in military aviation. And India strove to adopt a fresh viewpoint on issues like Kashmir, Pakistan, and the nuclear question to dispel the impression that Kashmir could be a nuclear flashpoint. Indian officials argued that mere possession of nuclear weapons did not necessarily threaten nuclear war. India and the U.S., in fact, had a common agenda in encouraging democracy

and economic well-being in Pakistan. A moderate democratic Islamic state was necessary and could emerge in Pakistan, if Islamabad, in its self-interest, reined in terrorism. India was also not averse to Pakistan's positive economic contribution to the South Asian Association of Regional Cooperation (SAARC). Cooperation in the SAARC could also become a channel for reviving an economic relationship.

CHECK YOUR PROGRESS 1

ľ	OTE: Use the space given below for your answers. Use separate sheet if space is not sufficient.
١.	When did India and the U.S. launch the Ministerial-level Strategic Dialogue?
2.	Which bilateral naval exercise is held between India and the U.S.?
3.	What was the first major U.S. arms sale to India in 2002?

3.1.7 RECENT DEVELOPMENTS

During Prime Minister Modi's visit to the United States in October 2014, Modi and President Obama sought to reset ties between India and the United States as both leaders had an extended discussion in the White House, resolving to broaden their cooperation in various fields including defence, intelligence, counter-terrorism, Afghanistan, space exploration and science. There was "great convergence" between the two sides on peace and stability in the Asia-Pacific, Modi said in comments made shortly after the talks ended. He said the US was an integral part of India's Look East, Link West policy.

Most interestingly, Modi and Obama sent a message to the outside world, in their jointly written editorial in Americas one of the leading dailies, *Washington Post*, named as "Forward together we go". This was the first time that the two leaders have interacted digitally to come out with a joint editorial. "The exploration of space will continue to fire our imaginations and challenge us to raise our ambitions. That we both have satellites orbiting Mars tells its own story. The promise of a better tomorrow is not solely for Indians and Americans: It also beckons us to move forward together for a better world. This is the central premise of our defining partnership for the 21st century. Forward together we go - chalein saath saath," the editorial read.

Similarly, during President Obama visit to India in January 2015, many significantly agreements have been signed between both the countries. The Nuclear Deal that was in limbo for a long time due to nuclear liability bill has got a sort of forward movement. This might lead to enhanced Indo-US cooperation. Obama also announced \$4 billion of new initiatives to boost trade/investment ties, jobs in India via Exim Bank and OPIC. The US also opened new source of financing for social development ventures with an Indian Diaspora Investment Initiative. The \$4 billion deals include \$2 billion of leveraged financing for renewable energy investment and \$1 billion in loans for small medium businesses. Due to this, India will get access to clean energy technology. India and the US also agreed to create of a high-level India strategic and commercial dialogue to monitor progress on pacts and vision statements. Similarly, Defence Technology and Trade Initiative operationalized with focus on co-development and coproduction in India for India and global market.

3.1.7.1 INDIA-US RELATIONS UNDER TRUMP

Donald Trump's election at a time of growing and converging interests between India and the United States necessitates a re-evaluation of several aspects of Indian domestic and foreign policy. The Trump administration bears continuity with respect to India, especially on matters pertaining to increasing defence interoperability and security cooperation in the Indo-Pacific. However, Trump's protectionist stance on trade and immigration matters presents serious challenges. His transactional approach threatens the otherwise strong Indo-US ties, regardless of India's crucial position in the US security calculus in the Indo-Pacific region and its The Trump's anti-migrant politics and policies led to occasional "hate crimes" against Indians, for which India has expressed its concerns. Steps were contemplated to stem Indian non-immigrant visas, both in Congress and by the White House. While India—being a non- participant—was an immediate beneficiary of Trump's unilateral withdrawal from the Trans- Pacific Partnership (TPP), the signal it sent for future trade prospects was negative. When announcing the U.S. departure from the Paris climate accord, Trump singled out India, arguing that New Delhi made its participation "contingent on receiving billions and billions and billions of dollars in foreign aid from developed countries." Questions about the United States' role in providing security in the maritime commons of the Indian and Pacific Oceans have mounted in New Delhi, as have questions about the U.S. commitment to Afghanistan.

However, the Trump era ensures continuity by building on the momentum of the past decades for greater convergence of Indo-American interests, especially on issues of defence interoperability and security cooperation. The Trump administration's maiden National Security Strategy deemed India to be "a leading global power," and notably, Trump's first Secretary of State, Rex Tillerson, described India and the US as the "two bookends of stability" in the region.

Indeed, it is the Trump administration that encouraged the adoption of the 'Indo-Pacific' moniker, which links the fate of the Western Pacific to the Indian Ocean region. The Trump administration also rechristened the US Pacific Command (PACOM) in Hawaii to the 'US Indo-Pacific Command'. Although PACOM has had jurisdiction over India since the conception of US Combatant Commands in the immediate aftermath of World War II, the renaming of the command, albeit largely symbolic, signifies India's elevated role in the US security calculus.

Most noticebly, the US had recorded "a blazing growth in its arms exports to India, recording over 550% growth in 2013–17 compared with the previous five years. As a result, the U.S. has become India's second largest supplier." In trade, in 2017, the Indo-US bilateral trade of goods and services reached US\$140 billion from US\$118 billion in 2016, inching towards the Obama-era goal of US\$500 billion. In immigration, Indians continue to dominate the high-skilled visa category, at times making up over 70 percent of H1-B visa holders. On the diplomatic front, the Indo-US synergy at the Financial Action Task Force (FATF) to grey-list Pakistan was notable. However, despite this apparent continuity— especially on the security front—trade and immigration are emerging as areas of contention, stemming from President Trump's increasingly apparent transactional approach towards the mainstays of contemporary US foreign policy. That is the reason why India and US failed concluded a much promised Trade during the Trump's visit to India in February 2020.

Despite this, Prime Minister Modi has succeeded in creating a personal relationship despite some initial disdain that the US leader had reportedly shown for him. The result was that during his India visit, Trump was effervescent in his praise of Modi. During the February 2020 Trump visit India and the US issued a comprehensive joint statement, inked three memorandums of understanding, including one in the energy sector, and agreed to initiate talks on a major trade deal. The two leaders decided to raise India-US ties to the level of a "comprehensive global strategic partnership". Security and defence ties got a boost, with the two deciding to work more closely on homeland security and combating global terrorism. There was also an ambitious effort to make defence manufacturers part of each other's supply chains. Two arms deals worth over \$3.5 billion for six Apache attack helicopters and 24 Seahawk/Romeo anti-submarine warfare helicopters have been signed, with a \$1.9 billion deal for a missile defence system also in the pipeline. The Indo-Pacific remains a special focus, with the US president underlining the need to revitalize the Quadrilateral Security Dialogue initiative involving the US, India, Australia and Japan on counter-terrorism and maritime security.

CHECK YOUR PROGRSS 2

NOTE: Use the space given below for your answers. Use separate sheet if space is not sufficient.

What regions does India consider part of its extended strategic neighborhood?
What major deal was signed during President Obama's visit to India in 2015?
What was a key highlight of Trump's visit to India in February 2020?

3.1.8 LET US SUM UP

Since the end of the Cold War, the broad contours of Indian foreign policy have been propelled by the same realist interests that existed before albeit with updated priorities. Development as an ideology has been retained. However, this has been defined in the terms of market-led growth. In the last decade, with the offering of a strategic partnership relationship from the U.S., India is all set to position itself at the international level to assume greater responsibilities. This shows India's new found confidence in various sphere of its military, economy and other areas that today no major international issues can be concluded without the participation of India. From the signing of a defence framework agreement to American affirmations to help India become a "global superpower", the working of a deal for civilian nuclear transfer; these events trigger a new shift from India's studied disengagement a close interaction.

As the economic power, cultural reach, and political influence of India increase, it is assuming a more influential role in global affairs. This growing influence, combined with democratic values it shares with the United States, an open political system, and a commitment to global stability, will present many opportunities for cooperation. India's military capabilities are rapidly improving through increased defence acquisitions, and they now include long-range maritime surveillance, maritime interdiction and patrolling, air interdiction, and strategic airlift. India has already established its worldwide military influence through counter-piracy, peacekeeping, humanitarian assistance, and disaster relief efforts. As its military capabilities grow, India will contribute to Asia as a net provider of security in the Indian Ocean and beyond. The common position of India and the USA as democracies does, however, provide a substantial ideational base for long-term co-operation, whilst geopolitically their spheres and strategic backyards do not particularly overlap.

Contrary to the fears that Trump's presidency would disrupt Ind0-US strategic relations, Modi and Trump have managed to give it a strategic coherence a better shape. From signing foundational military agreements to changing the energy and military contours of the engagement, the two have made it possible to imagine a relationship bereft of past baggage. Also, Modi has managed the Trump phenomenon better than even some of America's closest allies. Even as temperamental a president as Trump recognizes the importance of India has played in crafting the recent arc of the India-US trajectory.

3.1.9 EXERCISES

- 1. Briefly mention the factors that led to convergence of interests between India and the US.
- 2. What is the significance of Indo-US Nuclear Deal?
- 3. Explain the main contours of Indo-US strategic partnership.
- 4. What are the important elements in Indo-US defence cooperation?

3.1.10 SUGGESTED READINGS

Ganguly, Sumit. *India's Foreign Policy: Retrospect and Prospect*. New Delhi: Oxford University Press, 2010.

Markey, Daniel S. "From Trump's Trip to Modi's Moves: The State of US-India Relations." *Foreign Affairs* 99, no. 2 (2020): 32-41.

Mistry, Dinshaw. "The US–India Nuclear Agreement: Diplomacy and Domestic Politics." *Asian Survey* 46, no. 5 (2006): 675-698.

Mohan, C. Raja. "Modi, Obama and India-US Relations: An Ambitious Agenda." *India Quarterly: A Journal of International Affairs* 71, no. 1 (2015): 1-12.

Pant, Harsh V. "The US-India Nuclear Deal: The Start of a Beautiful Relationship?" *Orbis* 50, no. 1 (2006): 179-194.

Rajagopalan, Rajesh. "India-US Relations under Trump: Business as Usual." *Strategic Analysis* 42, no. 3 (2018): 225-235.

—×—

3.2 INDIA AND RUSSIA: CHANGING CONTOURS

-Rajesh Kumar

STRUCTURE

- 3.2.0 Objectives
- 3.2.1 Introduction
- 3.2.2 Historical Background
- 3.2.3 Post-Cold War India-Russia Relations
- 3.2.4 Indo-Russian Defence Cooperation
- 3.2.5 India-Russia Nuclear Deal
- 3.2.6 India-Russia Cooperation in Energy Sector
- 3.2.7 India-Russia Collaboration at BRICS
- 3.2.8 India-Russia Cooperation on Kashmir and Terrorism
- 3.2.9 Recent Developments in India-Russia Relations
- **3.2.10** Let Us Sum Up
- 3.2.11 Exercises
- 3.2.12 Suggested Readings

3.2.0 OBJECTIVES

In this lesson you will study Indo-Russian relations in post-Cold War period and the ups and down in establishing new meaningful relation between both the countries. After going through this topic, you should be able to know:

- the historical background of Indo-Soviet Relationship;
- the post-Cold War Indo-Russian relations;
- the Indo-Russian nuclear and defence cooperation;
- the evolving institutional cooperation between India and Russia under BRICS.

3.2.1 INTRODUCTION

The collapse of the Soviet Union and its sudden replacement by fifteen newly independent states,

each with its own foreign policy, marked the end of the Cold War and changed the geopolitical map of the world. Like most countries, India is learning to live with the uncertainties of the new era. As the successor state to the USSR, Russia inherited its military might and economic disarray, even as it cast off the communist ideology of the Soviet Union and affirmed its intent to be a democratic state. But the political and economic transformation of Russia has not been plain sailing; its leaders were beleaguered by political instability, even fears about their country's territorial integrity, and innumerable economic conundrums. Russia's new, sometimes inchoate foreign policy reflected harsh domestic predicaments as well as its aspiration to remain a great power. These contradictory strands of continuity and change were mirrored in its uncertain but necessary search for new foundations and a new identity, and in its tentative first steps towards carving out a new international role for itself The rest of the world has shown great interest in Russia's foreign policy, and, in a sense, has reacted to Russia's moves rather than making overtures. As the Soviet Union was India's largest arms supplier and a major market for its exports, India took early initiatives to protect its own interests, but the magnitude and complexity of the political upheaval in Russia and the economic exigencies it has faced have meant that India has often had to 'wait and see' what Russia does, and how this will affect ties between the two countries.

3.2.2 HISTORICAL BACKGROUND

Traditionally, the former Soviet Union/Russia and India have had a substantive relationship, which was cemented by the Indo-Soviet Friendship Treaty of 1971. India had immensely benefited from Russian science and technology in all fields, including its defence and space programmes. India continues to depend to an extent of almost 60 per cent on Russian defence supplies and also benefits from Russian cooperation in the field of hydrocarbon and nuclear energy. During early years of India's independence, the relationship between India and the former USSR was based on a number of common factors. India having won freedom from the British, the anti-imperialism ideology of the Soviet Union complimented well with each other. India always received unilateral support of former USSR inside UN Security Council on issue of Kashmir. In the Security Council the Soviet Union supported India's position on Kashmir and vetoed unacceptable resolution moved by the Western countries especially the U.S.A. which had roped Pakistan into military alliances like SEATO and CENTO much to India's discomfort.

India's public sector, especially heavy industries, would not have received quantum jump had former USSR not helped India in a very big manner for which India always remain indebted to this country. Highly significant was Soviet aid in developing a heavy industrial complex in India. During the late 1950s, the former Soviet Union gave growing financial and technical assistance to India for the development of India's basic industries in steel, coal, machine-tool manufacturing, and other public sector areas. One of the landmark agreements that India signed with the erstwhile Soviet Union was in February 1955 for the setting up of a steel plant in Bhilai. When no help was coming from western countries, the terms of Soviet aid were favourable to India: when the western countries were charging 6 per cent as rate of interest, the Soviet Union charged only 2.5 per cent. In December 1953, India and the Soviet Union signed a long—term trade agreement. An attractive feature of this agreement was the fact that payment for Indian imports could be made in rupees and not in hard

currency like dollar. Trade with the Western countries, by contrast, was in hard currency. For this purpose, accounts of the Soviet Union were opened and maintained in several Indian banks.

Military supplies to India emerged as a prominent symbol of Indo-Soviet friendship. In 1962, just before the India-China war, the MiG (the fighter aircraft) deal was signed despite Chinese protest. The USSR replaced the British as the biggest supplier of fighter aircraft. In the aftermath of 1965 Indo-Pakistan war, the former Soviet Union hosted a meeting of leaders of India and Pakistan in Tashkent in January 1966 after the end of 1965 war. In August 1971, the Soviet and the Indian leaders signed the historic Treaty of Peace, Friendship and Cooperation, the first of its kind that India had signed. The Treaty provided for immediate mutual consultations in case either country was attacked from outside. It was only because of this historic treaty India could relieved from the fears of U.S. and China attacking India in favour of Pakistan so as to prevent Pakistan from being dismembered and Bangladesh being created in place of east Pakistan in 1971.

India, in a way, reciprocated with support to the former Soviet Union after it invaded Afghanistan in December 1979. India was restrained in its public statements. For India, the Afghanistan issue had been somewhat overshadowed by the virtual military alliance between Pakistan and the US. Though many countries criticised India's leaning towards former USSR as going against India's policy of Non-Alignment but it did not deter India from doing so because of the larger national interest of the country. With the coming to power of Mikhail Gorbachev in 1985, the Soviet foreign relations went through a sea change; his domestic politics of glasnost and perestroika led to dissolution of the very Soviet Union, emergence of Russia as its successor state. No doubt, after the collapse of former USSR, Indo-USSR relations received a serious setback and India was made to undertake a major re-orientation in its foreign affairs and it once again started looking towards western nations but it kept on working for reviving of its special relationship with Russia on the patterns of former USSR intermittently.

3.2.3 POST-COLD WAR INDIA-RUSSIA RELATIONS

During Yeltsin's visit to India in 1993, the Treaty of Friendship and Cooperation was signed between India and Russia. It replaced the 1971 Treaty of Peace, Friendship and Cooperation. The security clause of the earlier Treaty was abandoned while the two countries resolved to continue their peaceful and friendly relation. Another important breakthrough was the agreement on debts and Rubble-Rupee exchange rates. A Treaty on cooperation in military field was also signed and Yeltsin confirmed once again that India would receive cryogenic rocket engines despite US objections. The Indo-Russian relations attained a new high and momentum with the signing of Declaration on Strategic Partnership during the visit of Russian President Vladimir Putin. The Indian Prime Minister Vajpayee's November 2001 visit resulted in the signing of the Declaration on International Terrorism. This declaration condemned the double standards adopted by the west on terrorism.

3.2.4 INDO-RUSSIAN DEFENCE COOPERATION

Defence cooperation between Russia and India remains strong because of shared security concerns, geopolitical imperatives, and economic benefits. Both countries fear radical Islamic terrorism, share

concerns about regional instability in Central Asia, and are uneasy with US military hegemony and the rise of China. Powerful interest groups in both countries also have a common interest in sustaining Russian arms sales to India. India has an enormous legacy of Soviet-based weapons that it needs to modernize, upgrade, and replace. In addition, Russian arms supplies continue to offer a good price-performance trade-off. But recurring problems with some Indian purchases along with India's changing geopolitical orientation could eventually displace Russia's currently pre-eminent status in India's foreign military purchases.

Russia remains India's most reliable supplier of high-quality military equipment. Russia supplies more than seventy per cent of India's defence needs including the state-of- the-art weapon systems and the technologies. The major Russian defence exports include fighter aircraft (such as MiG-21), main battle tanks (like T-72MI), helicopters, anti-tank missiles, anti-ship missiles, submarines, nuclear submarine (of Akula-2 class) and aircraft carrier (such as Gorskhov). In a "landmark deal" in January 2004, India agreed to buy the refurbished Admiral Gorskhov along with 12 Mig-29 fighter aircraft. Defence co-operation between India and Russian is not limited to procurement but includes production of many of these weapon systems in India (e.g. Mig-27M, Sukhoi- 30MK, T-72 tanks, etc.). It also covers areas like joint research and development and service to service co-operation. One of the most striking examples is the Indo-Russian joint endeavour to develop, manufacture and market the supersonic (flyingcfaster than the speed of sound) Anti-Ship Cruise Missile Systems, BrahMos. Russia has also helped India build its Arihant submarine. The nuclear power stations at Kalpakkam were set up by the Russians.

According to Chenoy, Indo-Russian defence cooperation is based on structural interdependence and a key to this is that the Indian military continues to depend on Russia for almost 70 per cent of its hardware imports. This dependence has gradually been re-inventing itself from a supplier client relation to one of partnership, with joint production of sophisticated weaponry ranging from equipment to the manufacturing of the indigenous BrahMos missiles. Russian- Indian collaboration in space, nuclear power, satellite technology makes Indian military and security apparatuses intertwined with Russian military industrial complexes. During the painful Russian transition, India's imports from Russia helped sustain the economies of the Russian military industrial complex and 800 Russian defence industries kept working on Indian (and Chinese) orders. India is one of the world's most lucrative arms markets. It is the second largest arms market, with Russian share being around \$4.8 billion. In 1987, the Soviet Union had a 44 per cent share of global arms exports while the US had 29 per cent. By 1997, Russian share of the global market had fallen to just 4 per cent. By 2000, Russia revived its arms sales and is today the third after the US and the UK. Defence orders from India sustain part of the Russian military industrial complex, especially in St. Petersburg and Irkutsk that would otherwise have faced closure. India is the only country with which Russia has a long-term programme of military- technical co-operation, with an agreement signed in 1994 and which was valid till the year 2000 and was then renewed for another 10 years. Annual Indian orders from Russian defence industry work out to about \$2 billion, with China being Russia's only other defence customer at this scale. India also gets most of its naval hardware from Russia and has recently acquired the 636-class submarines. Defence thus is a key part of the economic and strategic relations between the two countries. In fact, it is the most privileged part of the relationship.

3.2.5 INDIA-RUSSIA NUCLEAR DEAL

According to P Stobdan, a "path-breaker" umbrella agreement for expanding civil nuclear cooperation was signed by Prime Minister Manmohan Singh and President Dimitry Medvedev in Moscow. The deal on nuclear cooperation was pegged as even better than the 123 Agreement India had signed with the US. The agreement will give India the right to reprocess spent fuel and facilitate the transfer of sensitive enrichment and reprocessing technologies. New Russian nuclear reactors will be located at Haripur in West Bengal.

3.2.6 INDIA-RUSSIA COOPERATION IN ENERGY SECTOR

India and Russia have enjoyed strong historical ties. In the present international scenario, their views of the world coincide to a large extent. This is further complemented by the mutuality of their security and economic interests. Indo- Russian trade is the weakest link in an otherwise excellent relationship. But the economic interaction between the two countries is brightened by cooperation in new areas like energy and security. There are certain areas in which the bilateral cooperation between the two countries is looking up. Energy Cooperation is one of them. India is emerging as a large consumer of energy. Russia's oil and gas reserves and its expertise in thermal, hydropower and nuclear energy sector will be crucial in ensuring India's energy security in future. A number of thermal and hydropower projects have already been built with Soviet/ Russian collaboration. India's ambitious goals in the field of nuclear energy need Russian help since it is the only important nuclear power which is ready to co- operate with India in the atomic energy sector.

Russia is also a useful partner in facilitating India's relations with Central Asian countries. The Central Asian republics of Kazakhstan and Turkmenistan are having larger deposits of the hydrocarbon resources, a strategic relationship with Russia facilitate India to be part of this larger grid.

CHECK YOUR PROGRESS 1

NOTE: Use the space given below for your answers. Use separate sheet if space is not sufficient.

What event marked the end of the Cold War and changed the global geopolitical landscape?
Which treaty formalized India's close ties with the Soviet Union in 1971?

3.	What percentage of India's defence supplies comes from Russia?

3.2.7 INDIA-RUSSIA COLLABORATION AT BRICS LEVEL

The importance of India to Russia is also linked to the global financial crisis. Both Russia and China have been attempting to evolve a fresh financial architecture, including a proposal for new global currency to replace the dollar, in an effort to pre-empt another financial meltdown. Moscow hopes that Brazil, India and China will join hands under the BRIC formula to push the idea further.

BRICS is the acronym for an association of five major emerging national economies: Brazil, Russia, India, China and South Africa. The grouping was originally known as "BRIC" before the inclusion of South Africa in 2010. The BRICS members are all developing or newly industrialised countries, but they are distinguished by their large, fast-growing economies and significant influence on regional and global affairs; all five are G-20 members. Since 2010, the BRICS nations have met annually at formal summits. Russia currently holds the chair of the BRICS group.

As of 2014, the five BRICS countries represent almost 3 billion people, or approximately 40% of the world population; as all five members are in the top 25 of the world by population, and four are in the top 10. The five nations have a combined nominal GDP of US\$16.039 trillion, equivalent to approximately 20% of the gross world product, and an estimated US\$4 trillion in combined foreign reserves. The BRICS have received both praise and criticism from numerous commentators. Bilateral relations among BRICS nations have mainly been conducted on the basis of non-interference, equality, and mutual benefit. It is estimated that the combined GDP (PPP) of BRICS would reach US\$ 50 trillion mark by 2020.

This year's summit was the seventh meeting of the global club that sets the precedent for an emerging global order. The theme of this year's summit was 'BRICS Partnership - A Powerful Factor for Global Development'. The summit resulted in the Ufa declaration that essentially talks about broadening the Intra- BRICS regional cooperation.

A high point in this summit was further steps for operationalization of the BRICS bank or 'New Development Bank' (NDB). The NDB had taken proper shape during the previous BRICS summit in Fortaleza in Brazil. The NDB has at present an equal contribution from the all the members unlike the Bretton Woods twins (namely the World Bank and IMF) and other multilateral banks like the Asian Development Bank. These have varied contributions from different member states. The first President of the NDB was decided to be from India in the previous summit and the Indian government was prompt to name veteran banker KV Kamath as NDB's first president. Before the summit in Ufa, Kamath made a statement about operationalizing the BRICS bank and approving the first loan by April 1, 2016.

A characteristic of 2015 BRICS summit at Ufa was the economic and trade cooperation, especially the collaboration of development strategy among the BRICS members. The meeting endorsed the Russia-initiated BRICS Strategic Economic Partnership, which provided a blueprint for the organisation's economic and trade cooperation in the coming years.

3.2.8 INDIA RUSSIA COOPERATION ON KASHMIR AND TERRORISM

According to Anuradha M Chenoy, Russia's stand on issues of Kashmir and terrorism has been consistent and unconditional over time or regime change. Every Russian leader, from Yeltsin to Putin, has reiterated this and it forms the basis for India's trust with Moscow. Russia has never tried to 'balance' India's interest with Pakistan; India has never put into a position of having to compete with other countries to prove its 'loyalty' by approving all other Russian positions (for example on Iran, Iraq, etc.); Russian defence and strategic support is not balanced with a link to any other Russian partner, including China. The US on its part has never supported the Indian position on Kashmir. They have hyphenated their relations with India with that with Pakistan. The US needs Pakistan for its Afghanistan policy. They will thus continue to 'balance' India and Pakistan. International terrorism is perceived as a threat in the Russian national security doctrine, and both India and Russia have expressed concern that the international coalition against terrorism has not paid sufficient attention to terrorism in regions like Kashmir, Chechnya, etc., and is instead focused entirely on Afghanistan and Iraq. It can thus be judged to be selective and motivated. Russia and India have had reasons to combine forces on this issue, resolved to exchange information and set up working groups and will have to address this problem regionally.

Although Russia is not a super power any more, its significance for India cannot be underestimated. Being a permanent member of the Security Council of the UN, it has the power of veto. Further, Russia is the only important world power that has consistently supported the Indian position on Kashmir and cross-border terrorism. It holds Pakistan responsible for the spread of religious extremism and terrorism in this part of the world. The most recent support for Kashmir came in the form of the joint statement issued at the end of three days visit of Prime Minister Vajpayee to Moscow in November 2003. It called upon Pakistan to prevent infiltration of terrorists across the LOC and at the other points of the border into the state of Jammu and Kashmir. It also asked Pakistan to dismantle the terrorist infrastructure in Pakistan and Pakistan-controlled territory as a condition for purposeful dialogue between the two countries. Among the permanent members of the UN Security Council, Russia is the most prominent and unequivocal supporter of India's candidature for permanent membership in an expanded Security Council.

3.2.9 RECENT DEVELOPMENTS IN INDIA-RUSSIA RELATIONS

With 20 agreements worth billions of dollars signed during Russian President Vladimir Putin's visit to India in December 2014 was a productive one. The deals touched most of the fields India and Russia cooperate on, from oil, energy and infrastructure to military training, even as the two countries set a bilateral trade target of \$30 billion between them by the year 2025. What is more, the opening of India's rough-diamond procurement policy by Prime Minister Narendra Modi will mean Mumbai can dream of becoming a worldwide hub for the industry. Finally, President Putin's

offer of 12 nuclear reactors is the clearest and most welcome indicator yet that Russia does not share the concerns of other suppliers about India's liability laws. However, there is no denying that the old lustre of the India-Russia friendship has dimmed somewhat, and many of the affirmations in the "Druzba-Dosti" joint statement of friendship they issued seem problematic. Even before his arrival in Delhi, President Putin's decision to decline the offer to address a joint session of Parliament indicated that all is not well in the relationship. The problems seem evident: Russia has watched with displeasure as India has diversified its military imports, especially when it comes to helicopter and aircraft purchases.

The slide is not recent, and recently a senior Russian official had made the country's displeasure clear when he demanded India treat Russia as an "old partner", calling the decision to buy fighter aircraft and missiles from France, the U.S. and Israel "illogical and unfair". For its part, India was outraged by the Russian decision to lift its embargo on defence sales to Pakistan, and the first-ever Russia- Pakistan framework agreement that was finalised last month. Given that India still maintains about 70 per cent of its defence inventory from Russian hardware, and is one of Russia's biggest buyers, the unhappiness on both sides may not change the equations of dependence between them, but it must be addressed. In this context, it is significant that Prime Minister Modi said the relationship with Russia would remain India's "closest relationship" and it would be the "most important defence partner". It is increasingly important for New Delhi and Moscow to reassure each other in spheres other than the commercial ones of defence, energy and trade. Given Russia's growing isolation from the West, and India's growing closeness to the U.S. their relationship is bound to be challenged in many ways. The U.S. State Department's statement criticising the India-Russia deals gives a glimpse of those challenges already, and the assurance in Modi's tweet will likely be tested further in the coming months: "Times have changed, our friendship has not..."

However, India's Prime Minister Modi's visit to Russia in January 2020 resolved all the uneasiness in India-Russia relations. The two leaders expressed happiness at the significant landmarks the Special Privileged Strategic Partnership between the two countries had covered in the recent past, particularly in the year 2019. They agreed to continue consulting closely and working assiduously to further strengthen India-Russia ties in all spheres the year 2020. Modi also pledged a line of credit worth \$1 billion for the development of (Russia's) Far East. For the first time, India has moved its focus eastwards from Moscow towards the energy-and mineral-rich regions in Russia's Far East. It is the most ambitious move to diversify the India-Russia cooperation away from defence.

To sum up, the geo-political and geo-economic context is largely determining the India-Russia relations in the present period. This has required the two countries to overcome the old romanticism of the Indo-Soviet ties and engage at a pragmatic level. Today there is no denying the mutual trust and friendship that exists between the two countries. However, the divergences in the goals of the two nations have sharpened in recent times – fuelled by both bilateral and international factors – and have the potential to deeply impact the future of Indo-Russia relationship.

CHECK YOUR PROGRESS 2

NOTE: Use the space given below for your answers. Use separate sheet if space is not sufficient.

What is the name of the joint Indo-Russian supersonic cruise missile?
Which organization do India and Russia collaborate with on global financial issues?
What agreement allowed India to trade with the Soviet Union in local currencies?

3.2.10 LET US SUM UP

The relationship between India and Russia needs to be nurtured in the changing global environment. Traditionally, both countries have favoured a rule based international order with both subscribing to the notion of a multi-polar world. Despite new sources for defence supplies, Russia remains a crucial partner for India. With its rapid economic growth, India's energy needs will continue to multiply. India will be a growing market for hydrocarbons as well nuclear energy and thus, energy offers considerable potential for mutually beneficial cooperation. India's globalizing service industries and corporate sectors can help diversify the Russian economy and develop bilateral trade.

Ironically, despite the rich content in India's relationship with Russia, which is strategic in nature, the people in India are not well informed about the relationship. There have been various stumbling blocks that have impeded the relations from moving forward in recent years. Similarly, in the overall dynamics of on-going geopolitical developments, there have apprehensions growing in certain corners about what kind of course this relationship will take in the future.

3.2.11 EXERCISES

- 1. The Indo-Soviet friendship relations during Cold War are still guiding present Indo-Russian relations. Explain.
- 2. Write a brief note on Indo-Russian Defence Cooperation.
- 3. How BRICS organisation is important for Ind0-Russian relations?

3.2.12 SUGGESTED READINGS

Chenoy, Anuradha M. "India-Russia Relations: A Strategic Partnership in the Making?" *International Studies* 47, no. 2-4 (2010): 373-388.

Donaldson, Robert H. and Joseph L. Nogee. *The Foreign Policy of Russia: Changing Systems, Enduring Interests*. 5th ed. New York: Routledge, 2014.

Mishra, Rahul. "India and Russia: Friends in Need or Friends Indeed?" *Asian Affairs* 47, no. 1 (2016): 75-93.

Roy, Meena Singh. "India-Russia Relations in a Changing Global Order: Challenges and Prospects." *Strategic Analysis* 40, no. 6 (2016): 537-550

Stobdan, P. "India-Russia Strategic Partnership: The Way Forward." *IDSA Issue Brief*, Institute for Defence Studies and Analyses, November 2018.

Tsygankov, Andrei P. *Russia's Foreign Policy: Change and Continuity in National Identity*. 4th ed. Lanham, MD: Rowman & Littlefield, 2016.

—×—

3.3 INDIA AND EUROPEAN POWERS: FRANCE, GERMANY AND UNITED KINGDOM

Shaveta Sharma

STRUCTURE

- 3.3.0 Objectives
- 3.3.1 Introduction
- 3.3.2 India and EU: Historical Context
- 3.3.3 India and France
- 3.3.4 India and Germany
- 3.3.5 India and United Kingdom Relations
- 3.3.6 Let Us Sum Up
- 3.3.7 Exercises
- 3.3.8 Suggested Readings

3.3.0 OBJECTIVES

After going through this lesson, you will be able to grasp:

- India's bilateral equations with France.
- India's bilateral equations with Germany.
- India's bilateral equations with United Kingdom.
- Recent developments in India's relations with the European powers.
- Convergence of their world views.
- Multi-faceted areas of cooperation between India on the one hand and France, Germany, and United Kingdom on the other.
- Prospects between India and the concerned European Powers.

3.3.1 INTRODUCTION

Given the contemporary global milieu, it is not possible for any country to survive in isolation. It has become mandatory for every nation to engage in interactions with the other countries of the world. This process of engagement and involvement by a nation is bound to be on the premises of certain principles and policies which reflect its behaviour and motives to the outside world. For giving direction

and meaning to its behaviour at the global and regional level, each nation tends to adopt a set of planned guidelines, rational principles and a plan of action which is known as Foreign Policy. A foreign policy of a nation is the concrete manifestation of the goals of its National Interests. National Interests is the interplay between aspirations of a nation on the one hand and ideological considerations on the other. The equations between India and the concerned European powers like- France, Germany and United Kingdom are based on the pressing issues, areas of convergences, concerns, and prospects common to them. This lesson will focus on the multi-faceted areas of cooperation between India on the one hand and France, Germany, and United Kingdom on the other.

Relations between India and the European Union (EU) have evolved over a long period. Beginning in the early 1960s, with diplomatic relations being established between India and the European Economic Community (EEC), it has expanded and subsequently been transformed because both India and the EU (since 1992) have assumed a growing significance in post-Cold War international politics. However, this partnership has not been able to achieve its potential partly because of the low political visibility of the EU and strong bilateral relations between India and major European powers. The India–EU relationship in the context of the strategic partnership launched in 2004 has witnessed a dramatic expansion of engagement from the economic to the political and security realms, although the strategic partnership does not mean absence of differences and difficulties. There is, however, a perception that India's closeness to the US has impacted the development of partnerships with both the EU and major individual countries.

3.3.2 INDIA AND EU: HISTORICAL CONTEXT

India's relations with the outside world underwent a fundamental re-orientation. The end of the Cold War has provided India an opportunity to re-discover its traditional and historical linkages that had become weak during Cold War period. India has been very keen to play important role not only in the South Asian region, but at the global level. India for the past one and a half decade has been pursuing policies that places it as an important player at global level and today its defence and foreign policy is to deter aggression, ensuring stability and peace in its neighbourhood, developing friendly and mutually beneficial ties in the West, Central and South-East Asia, and establishing strategic partnerships with all the major actors in the world, particularly the United States, European Union, Russia, China and Japan. The changing attitude of U.S. towards India can be understood in the light of three major facts: U.S. had started realizing that India was a big market for the sale of its products. It realized that India was a mature market to deal with; it also took into consideration that India was a leading power in South Asia. India's interest of maintaining peace and its rising concerns about security issues in Asia coincided with those of the U.S. and U.S. started realizing that it would be better to deal with India if it wanted to ensure peace and stability in Asia; The third fact deals with the emergence of India in technology sector. India's emergence in the field of development raised interest of U.S. towards it.

India took little interest in the movement for European unification during the first years of Indian independence. The European Economic Community (EEC), the predecessor to the EU set up in 1957 under the Treaty of Rome, was remote from Indian concerns. There were no statements by the Indian Government or any references to it in debates in the Indian parliament until the United Kingdom expressed

its intention to apply for membership of the Common Market in 1961. The question of India's relations with the EEC then took on a new urgency, especially as it came at a time when India's balance of payments had deteriorated sharply. Prime Minister Jawaharlal Nehru argued that the EEC would deepen Cold War divisions, widen the gap between the rich and poor countries, and weaken the Commonwealth of Nations.

Nevertheless, India recognized the importance of the EEC and was among the first developing countries to establish diplomatic relations. India and the EEC established political relations in 1963 and this constituted another set of relations to the existing bilateral relationships that India had with individual countries of the EEC, in particular the West European countries. India was also one of the first developing countries to engage with this new entity that represented an organized attempt at regional integration. The major elements of India–EEC relations from the outset focused on trade and commerce. Apart from this, India also received the highest amount of development aid among all Asian and Latin American countries from the European Community (EC).

Incremental steps that have been taken over the years have elevated the relationship from commercial and trade relations to political cooperation marked India's relations with the EC. In 1971, the EEC introduced the general tariff preferences for ninety one developing countries, including India, under the Generalized System of Preferences (GSP) scheme. This was followed by India and the EEC signing the Commercial Cooperation Agreement in 1973. In 1981, India and the EEC signed a five-year Commercial and Economic Cooperation Agreement. Further visibility was gained by the EEC in 1983 when the EC Delegation was established at New Delhi.

3.3.2.1 INCREASING FREQUENCY OF VISITS

The stalemate of 1998 because of India's nuclear explosion got broken after the completion of several rounds of talks between India's Jaswant Singh and Stobr Talbott of the U.S.A. It was theirs meeting which melted the ice between both of them and since then they have not looked backwards. Last time when any U.S. President visited India was 1979 but since year 2000, every U.S. President has chosen to visit India. President Bill Clinton visited India in March 2000 and signed VISION DOCUMENT with Indian Prime Minister Atal Bihari Vajpayee. The relations started normalizing after President Clinton's visit to India. Prime Minister Vajpayee also paid a return visit to U.S. in October 2000, when he declared that India and the United States are "Natural Allies". Since then high level visits have become the hallmark of Indo-U.S. bilateral relations. These visits have helped both the countries in building stronger ties and enabled them to resolve most contentious bilateral issues like nuclear cooperation, WTO related issues, intellectual property and outsourcing issues. Prime Minister Manmohan Singh visited U.S. in year 2005 and a new chapter between India and the U.S. started after the signing of Indo-U.S. Nuclear Deal. President George W. Bush Junior visited India in 2008 and President Barak Obama visited India twice in 2012 and January 2015, as chief guest on republic day.

CHECK YOUR PROGRESS 1

NOTE: Use the space given below for your answers. Use separate sheet if space is not sufficient.

1. When did India and France establish diplomatic relations?

2. What is the primary focus of India-EU relations?	
3. What was the significance of the Indo-US Nuclear Deal?	

3.3.3 INDIA AND FRANCE

Introduction: The establishment of India and France diplomatic relations could be traced back as early as 1947- the very year India attained independence. Both the countries share a very special relationship with each other. Their mutual relationship covers diverse fields like Defence cooperation, Space and aviation, Trade and investment, Civil Nuclear Energy, Science and Technology, Healthcare, Education, Cultural exchanges so on and so forth.

Historical background: The historical background of Indo-French relations could be traced back to the Treaty of Paris (1763) signed between France and Britain by which France pre-eminence in India was lost. However, five trading posts were kept maintained there. Successive French Monarchs and Admirals most notably Louis XVI and Admiral Suffran aided and helped various regional kings and rulers of India during the British imperial period to fight against the British rulers. In 1780s, the Britishers established their authority over the Madras Presidency (current Andhra Pradesh and Tamil Nadu), but France remained successful in maintaining its control over Pondicherry, Karikal and Chandannagar (now in West Bengal) among certain other places. France also played an active role in American war of Independence of 1776 and also wished to end the British imperial rule from India, as well. After gaining independence by India in 1947, India and France signed a Treaty of Cession in 1956. On 16th of August 1962, India and France exchanged the instruments of ratification (pertaining to their respective legislatures/Parliament) under which France ceded full sovereignty to India over all the territories it held. Consequently, from 1st of July 1963, Pondicherry, Karaikal, Mahe and Yanam came to be administered as the Union Territory of Puducherry.

Strategic Partnership: India and France enjoy a Strategic partnership since 1998. Over the course of years, their bilateral relations have acquired a robust base and greater depth in diverse areas of defense and security cooperation, space and civil nuclear cooperation etc. in November 2011, the Foundation for National Security Research in New Delhi published 'India's Strategic Partners: A Comparative Assessment' report, which ranked India's top Strategic Partners with a score out of 90 points- Russia comes out on top with 62 points, followed by US (58 points), France (51), UK (41), Germany (37) and Japan (34). France and India have also instituted a "Strategic Dialogue" at the

level of National Security Advisers. The 35th Strategic Dialogue Chaired by NSA and Diplomatic Adviser to the President of France was held in Paris on 5th of November 2021. The Dialogue included wide ranging future oriented topics, reaffirmed the major Defence and security partnership for Indo-Pacific, discussed ways to expand bilateral and regional cooperation and measures to deal with new threats, and French support to India's Defence industrialization and self-reliance.

Defence/Military Relationship: Under the umbrella of Strategic Partnership, Defence and Military relations between these two countries are expanding and booming. Both the strategic partners have developed a deep sense of trust and confidence in each other over the course of years. Several meetings on industrial collaboration and service exchanges have been held regularly under the framework of the structured talks under the Indo-French Defence Cooperation Agreement. The 15th meeting of India-France High Committee on Defence Cooperation (HCDC) took place in Paris on 25th of November 2021, after a gap of five years. The Indian delegation was led by Indian Defence Secretary. Both sides have expressed strong desire to carry forward the momentum in the Defence equipment and Defence Industrialization. The major ongoing Defence-related projects include the purchase of Rafale aircraft and the P- 75 Scorpene Project. Delivery of Rafale aircraft after India Specific Enhancement and associated weapons systems are taking place in a timely manner and out of 36, all but three have been delivered to India by the French side. Exercise Varuna was held from 25 to 27 April 2021 off the Coast of Oman with French Navy's Carrier Strike Group where UAE attended as an observer. Ex-Varuna highlights growing bonhomie and showcases increased levels of synergy, coordination and inter-operability between the two friendly navies. Indian Navy also participated in Exercise La Perouse (Multilateral Exercise with France, US, Japan and Australia) from 5 to 7 April 2021 in Bay of Bengal. The latest edition of Exercise Shakti was held in Frejus, France, from 15-26 November 2021. The Indian Chief of the Air Staff visited France from 19-24 April 2021 and Chief of Naval Staff-designate visited France from 15-16 November 2021 for the 7th edition of Indian Ocean Naval Symposium (IONS) Conclave of Chiefs hosted by French Navy at Paris.

Under an agreement signed in 2018, Indian and French Navies will be able to use each other's naval bases. In addition to this, Indian warships could use French bases in Indian and Southern Pacific Oceans. On 9th of September 2020, India, France and Australia held their first India-France-Australia Trilateral Dialogue with their foreign secretaries meeting in a videoconferencing. This trilateral forum deliberated upon certain congruent issues like- geo-strategic challenges, strategies for an open, free and inclusive Indo-Pacific and related prospects of cooperation in the region. Apart from this trilateral forum dialogues, France has established intensified collaboration with the Quad group which constitutes of countries like US, Australia, Japan and India, to counter China's assertive postures in the entire Indo-Pacific region and to maintain freedom of navigation through all the crucial choke points in the concerned region.

Space Cooperation and Aviation: ISRO and CNES (French National Space Agency) have an umbrella agreement, operating successfully since 1993. ISRO has launched French SPOT-6 and 7 satellites on PSLV satellite launch vehicles. 18 Indian satellites have been launched by Arianespace (France). In 2016, GSAT-18 communication satellite was launched successfully on board an Ariane 5VA-231 launcher from Kourou, French Guiana. France remains a major supplier of components and equipment for the

Indian space programme. ISRO and CNES are currently finalizing an agreement to implement the Trishna infrared satellite project between 2024 and 2030. An Implementing Arrangement between ISRO's Human Space Flight Center (HSFC) and French National Space Agency (CNES) for cooperation concerning Human Spaceflight programme, specifically on sharing of expertise in space medicine was exchanged during the visit of French Foreign Minister to ISRO HQs in April 2021. Indian companies are major clients for Airbus and ATR aircraft. Air India, IndiGo and Air Asia India host extensive fleets of Airbus passenger aircraft.

Civil Nuclear Cooperation: During the visit of former Indian Prime Minister- Dr. Manmohan Singh to France, a landmark Framework Agreement on Civil Nuclear Cooperation was signed between India and France on 30th of September 2008. France was among very few nations who did not condemn India's nuclear tests in 1998. France also established itself as one of the largest suppliers of nuclear fuel to India. At the Nuclear Suppliers Group deliberations to give a waiver to India, France voted in favour of India. Recently, a team from Electricite de France (EDF) visited India to submit the binding Techna Commercial Offer (TCO) for 6 units of proposed Jaitapur Nuclear Power Plant to Nuclear Power Cooperation of India Ltd. (NPCIL) on 18th of April 2021. Both sides are working on the project including the TCO.

Economic Relations: Prominent sectors attracting FDI inflows from France are chemicals, cement and Gypsum products, Services sector, Fuels, Electrical equipment (including computer software and electronics) and auto sectors. Indian investments in France have also been growing in different sectors like- pharmaceuticals, Software, industry, wine industry, Steel, Plastics, Railway wagons, Aerospace and Auto parts etc. France is one of the largest investors in India with the cumulative FDI stock of approximately USD 10 billion till December 2020. There are nearly 150 Indian companies operating in France (including subsidiaries) with more than 7000 employees. Due to COVID pandemic, the total bilateral trade in 2020 saw a decline of 23.1% year on year at Euros 9 billion. The bilateral trade for the year 2021 has picked up significantly and has already touched almost Euros 12 billion for the period November 2020- October 2021. On 16 June 2021, Prime Minister virtually delivered a keynote address at the 5th edition of Vivatech 2021 which is Europe's largest digital technology exhibition. India had a digital pavilion with 15 Indian startups, Minister for Electronics and Information Technology of India and Minister for Digital Affairs of France virtually participated in the inaugural session of fest India-France Digital Partnership Summit. In Finity (India- France Innovation in Information Technology) organized by Indian Embassy in Paris on 24-25 November 2021 with saw over 16,000 registered participants and 450 startups in the online exhibition. External Affairs Minister of India along with Minister for Industrial Attractiveness of France participated in the Indo-Pacific Business Summit on 6th of July 2021. The Indo-French CEOs Forum, formed in 2009 with the task of identifying mew avenues for cooperation and to initiate new business links and opportunities between the two countries.

Healthcare and Educational links: The health care facilities also constitute an important arena of Indo-French bilateral relations. Many French firms like Aventis, Rhodia, Pasteur Institute etc. are active in the sphere of life-sciences and Medicare sectors. Pasteur Institute in Coonoor, Tamil Nadu, which opened on 6th of April 1907, is one of the oldest vaccine manufacturing public sector enterprises in India. The French embassy in India has launched a student recruitment initiative-

"Campus France India" to showcasing France as a favourable educational destination for the Indian students. France and India have established a consortium of Indo- French Universities to increase educational cooperation. Over 350 MoUs have been signed between the various Indian and French Universities and private institutions. In 2007, Joint Secretary, Department of Higher Education, Ministry of HRDC and Secretary, Cooperation and Culture, French Ministry of Foreign Affairs, signed the Educational Exchange Programmes (EEP) which includes mutual recognition of degrees, bolstering the research programme and increasing student-scholar research mobility through a flexible visa regime. Also, France operates two world class scientific research laboratories in India- French Institute of Pondicherry (IFP) and the Ecole Francaise d'Extreme-Orient (EFEO). French has emerged as the second most popular European language in India after English.

Science and Technology: Both the countries view each other as an important partner in the fields of Science and Technology. Scientific community of both nations cooperate in joint radiation experiment, space components development and space education. The Indo-French Centre for Promotion of Advanced Research (CEFIPRA) is the model framework for promoting bilateral scientific cooperation in fundamental and applied research, exchange of scientists and post-doctoral researchers.

Cultural Exchanges: The Indo-French Cultural Exchange Programme (CEP) provides the overall umbrella for organizing a variety of cultural programmes. Indian Culture enjoys a wide audience and popularity among the French Population. Frequent and numerous cultural events have been organized in France showcasing an entire gamut of Indian art, music, dance, cinema and literature. Indian Council for Cultural Relations (ICCR) regularly sponsors visits of Indian artists from diverse fields to France. Indian heritage conservation societies rely heavily on technical assistance and documentary archives of the French Institute of Pondicherry for restoration projects. India and France also enjoy vibrant cultural and educational linkages reflected in the growing people-to people contacts, further strengthened by entry into force of the Migration and Mobility Agreement on 1st of October 2021 after its ratification by the French Parliament. France was the Guest of Honour at the World Book Fair, Delhi held on 8-16 January 2022 where a number of French authors, publishers and journalists participated. The French Embassy also organized an event on mural painting during Ministry's Azadi ka Amrit Mahotsav (AKAM) week from 21-27 February 2022.

Recent High-level political exchanges: There has been reciprocal visits between the political heads and other prominent political and administrative staff of both the countries since the past many decades. On 21st of September 2021, Indian Prime Minister and French President spoke on telephone and the discussions inter alia included situation in Afghanistan, combating spread of terrorism and illicit drug trafficking and ways to enhance bilateral collaboration in the Indo-Pacific region. Both the leaders also met on the sidelines of G-20 Summit in Rome on 30th of October 2021. French Minister for Europe and Foreign Affairs Jean-Yves Le Drian visited India from 13-15 April 2021 for talks with the Indian EAM. They discussed regional and global issues of mutual interests and recognized the immense opportunities for greater collaboration in diverse sectors like trade and investments, defence and security, health, education, research and innovation, energy and climate change etc. French Minister for Armed Forces also visited India for the Annual Defence Dialogue with Indian Defence Minister on 17th of December 2021. Besides, at the official level, several important institutional

dialogues were held between India and France, including the Maritime Cooperation Dialogue on 11th of October 2021 in Paris, India-French Dialogue on Counterterrorism on 16th of November 2021 and Dialogue on Disarmament and Nuclear Proliferation on 18th of November 2021, all held in Paris. Also, bilateral consultations on China took place at Paris on 2nd of April 2021.

Diaspora: India has the largest diaspora in the world. According to Indian Ministry of External Affairs Report, there are 119,000 (1.19 Lakhs) Indians residing in France (2021). Out of which, 90,000 are Persons of Indian Origin (PIOs) and 19,000 are Non-Resident Indians (NRIs). Indians living in France have access to French social security protection and services. According to an Agreement of 2008 between India and France, there has been a rise of skilled French expatriates in many urban areas especially in Bangalore, Chennai, Hyderabad, Pune, Mumbai and New Delhi, due to economic migration from France.

Convergence of world views: France has been remained as an ardent supporter of India's bid to permanent membership of UNSC and of G-8. The world views of both the strategic partners converge on multiple issues most notably- counterterrorism, cybercrime and threats, digital governance, securing Freedom of Navigation (FON) in Indo-Pacific region and other Sea-Lanes of Communication (SLOCs), climate change, Reforms and restructuring of international institutions like UNO, IMF, WTO etc

3.3.4 INDIA AND GERMANY:

The bilateral relations between India and Germany have been remained traditionally strong. Both the countries have been cooperating on multi-faceted arenas. After the second world war, India was one of the first countries to establish diplomatic relations with the Federal Republic of Germany. In the last decade, both economic and political interaction between India and Germany has increased significantly. Today, India regards Germany as an important partner in its quest for a new political role in the region and the world, for its ambitious economic reform programmes and for the development of the country's industrial sector. Relations are based on the May 2000 Agenda for the Indo-German Partnership in the 21st Century, which has since been updated by further joint declarations. Indo-German intergovernmental consultations (IGC) are significant, where the Cabinets of both the countries held joint sessions every two years since 2011, alternately in Germany and India. India is amongst a select group of countries with which Germany has such a high-level Consultations.

Historical background: As far as the history of their relations is concerned, India remained a part of the British colonial empire. As a consequence, to that, British Indian Army was made to contribute troops to the WWI and WWII on the side of Allied powers and against Axis powers of which Germany was a member. In a determined effort to gain independence for India from the British imperial rule, Subash Chandra Bose, a prominent Indian nationalist and independence activist, laid the foundation of Indian National Army and started seeking military assistance from the Axis powers. As soon as Indian gained independence, it emerged as one of the first nations to end State of War with Germany in spite of the fact that approximately 24,000 soldiers serving in British Indian Army died during the course of World War to fight Nazi Germany. India established diplomatic relations with both West Germany and East Germany and supported the Unification of East and West Germany in 1990. However, Germany criticized the Indian moves for liberating Goa from the Portuguese rule in 1961,

intervening by India in Bangladesh Liberation War in 1971 and India's conduct of nuclear test in 1998.

Economic and Commercial Relations: Germany is India's largest trading partner in Europe. It has consistently been among India's top ten global partners and was the seventh largest trading partner in FY 2020-21. Bilateral trade in 2020-21 was USD 21.76 billion. During 2021-22 (until October), bilateral trade was USD

13.83 billion which was an increase of 16% over the corresponding period in FY 2020-21. Germany is the 7th largest FDI source for India. There are more than 1,700 German companies and over 600 joint ventures in India. There are more than 240 Indian companies operating in Germany. Investments are mostly in IT, automobiles, pharma, biotech and manufacturing. A Market Entry Support Programme, the 'Make in India Mittelstand' (MIIM) for German Mittelstand (SMEs) and Family-owned Businesses is being implemented by Embassy of India. As of date, 152 companies are being facilitated through this programme with a declared investment of nearly EUR 1.46 billion. More than 30 of these companies are 'Hidden champions' that are world market leaders in niche products and technologies. A Fast-Track System for German companies has been operating in Department for Promotion of Industry and Internal Trade (DPIIT) since March 2016. Financial assistance from Germany is mainly as soft loan, composite loans or grants routed through KfW, German Government's Development Bank, Technical assistance is provided through GIZ, German Government's development agency. Major projects are in the sectors of energy (Renewables, Green Energy Corridor), Indo-German Solar Partnership, Skill Development and Sustainable urban development (water/sanitation/waste, climate friendly urban mobility, smart cities). Some states and cities of India and Germany have entered several twinning arrangements. Karnataka and Bavaria have sister state arrangements since 2007. Mumbai and Stuttgart are sister cities since many years. In January 2015, Maharashtra and Baden-Wurttemberg signed an MoU to establish a Sister state relationship.

Development Cooperation: India is Germany's largest Development Cooperation Partner. For India, Germany is the second largest partner after Japan. Total bilateral Technical and Financial Cooperation since 1958, amounts to more than EUR 22 billion. Major projects are in the sectors of energy (renewables, Green Energy Corridor), Indo-German Solar Partnership, Skill Development and sustainable urban development (water/sanitation/waste, climate friendly urban mobility, smart cities). On 24th of November 2021, the annual meeting of the Indo-German Negotiations on Development Cooperation took place in virtual mode. Germany made new commitments of more than EUR 1.2 billion towards achieving cleaner energy, more sustainable cities and better protection of natural resources.

Strategic Partnership: India and Germany have Strategic Partnership since 2001, which has been further strengthened with the Inter-Governmental Consultations (IGC) at the level of Heads of the Governments which allows and enables for a comprehensive review of the Cooperation and identification of new areas of engagement. Several institutional arrangements exist between Indian and Germany to discuss bilateral and global issues of interests namely, Foreign Office Consultations, High Defence Committee, Indo-German Energy Forum, Indo-German Environment Forum, S&T Committee, and Joint Working groups in various fields, including skill development, automotive, agriculture, coal, tourism, water and waste management.

Defence Cooperation: India-Germany Defence Cooperation Agreement (2006) provides a

framework for bilateral defence cooperation. India and Germany maintain an ongoing dialogue in the areas of commercial maritime security and cooperation in the field of anti-terrorism. The Indian Navy and German Navy conducted joint exercises in 2008 for the first time, following an anti-piracy cooperation agreement between the two nations signed in 2006. The German naval frigate 'Bayern' embarked on its journey to the Indo-Pacific region on 2nd August 2021. On 26th of August 2021, Indian Navy's INS Trikand and frigate Bayern conducted exercises in the Gulf of Aden, to facilitate interoperability and exchange of best practices. Also, to further enhance the Defence Industry and defence cooperation between India and Germany, an Arrangement on Implementation of the Agreement of 6th of October 2006 concerning Bilateral Defence Cooperation was signed on 12th of February 2019 during the visit of Indian Defence Minister to Berlin.

Science and Technology and Education Cooperation: Cooperation in Science and Technology is a significant aspect of the Indo-Germany partnership with many scientific establishments in India having close partnerships with German R&D institutions. Indo-German Science and Technology cooperation started with the signing of the Intergovernmental S&T Cooperation Agreement in 1971 and 1974. Germany helped establishing Indian Institute of Technology Madras after the governments of both countries signed an agreement in 1956 and increased its cooperation and supply of technology and resources over the decades to help expand the institution. There are more than 150 joint S&T research projects and 70 direct partnerships between universities of both countries. Both the countries co-established Indo-German Science and Technology Center in New Delhi to promote joint research and development in energy, environment, coal and water technologies. India and Germany also signed a MoU regarding the teaching of German language in Kendriya Vidyalaya public schools in India and the reciprocal introduction of Sanskrit and modern Indian languages in government schools in Germany. Over the last few years, Germany has emerged as a destination of choice for Indian students and researchers. As per 2020 figures, more than 28,900 Indian students are currently studying in Germany. The Indo-German Science and Technology Center (IGSTC) launched PhD and Post-doctoral industrial fellowships on 14th of June 2021, with an aim to encourage young Indian researchers to undertake applied research at an industrial set up in Germany. On 24th of November 2021, the IGSTC also launched the WISER (Women Involvement in Science and Engineering Research) programme, with the aim to build scientific capacity, retain and promote women researchers in India/Germany.

Covid Cooperation: In May 2021, during the second wave of the pandemic in India, Germany supplied ventilators, and Remdesivir and monoclonal antibodies, in line with the strong cooperation between the two countries during the pandemic. The German Armed forces set up a mobile oxygen production and filling plant in Delhi and a team of German experts trained members of the Indian Red Cross for operation of the plant.

Cultural exchanges: India and Germany have a long tradition of academic and cultural exchange. Max Muller was the first scholar of Indo-European languages to translate and publish the Upanishads and the Rigveda. German interest in Indian philosophy and languages resulted in the setting up of the first Chair of Indology at the University of Bonn in 1818. The Government of India has funded

31 short-term rotating chairs of Indian studies in German dance, music and literature, as well as motion picture and TV industry. Indian films and artists regularly feature at the Berlin International Film Festival and at Indian Film festivals held in other parts of Germany.

Recent high-level political/official exchanges: high level: Regular visits take place from both sides, including at the highest level. On 31st of October 2021, Indian Prime Minister met the German Chancellor and then-Chancellor designate Olaf Scholz on the sidelines of the G20 Summit in Rome to discuss bilateral relations. The two leaders also interacted on the sidelines of COP26, held on 1st of November 2021. Indian EAM met his German counterpart on 22nd of September 2021, on the sidelines of the UN General Assembly (UNGA) for a G4 meeting, and then for a bilateral exchange on Afghanistan. There is an Indo-German Parliamentary Friendship Group, in German Bundestag since 1971. The 50th anniversary of the German-Indian Parliamentary Friendship Group was commemorated on 22nd of June 2021.

Diaspora: India has the largest diaspora in the world. There were about 1.7 lakh Indians and people of Indian origin in Germany (2019). The Indian diaspora mainly comprises of professionals, technocrats, businessmen/ traders and nurses. There has been an increase in the last few years in the number of qualified Indian professionals in Germany in the fields of IT, banking, finance, etc. There are several Indian associations in Germany. Around 17,500 Indian students are pursuing various courses in Germany.

Convergence of world views: Both the countries are seeking a permanent seat for themselves in the reformed UNSC. Along with Japan and Brazil, both these countries have established G-4 with an aim to bid for their permanent seat in the UNSC. The world views of both the strategic partners converge on multiple issues most notably-counterterrorism, cybercrime and threats, digital governance, securing Freedom of Navigation (FoN) in Indo-Pacific region and other Sea-Lanes of Communication (SLOCs), climate change and sustainable development, Reforms and restructuring of international institutions like UNO, IMF, WTO, Disarmament and Non-proliferation, Export Control, East Asia, Eurasia and Africa etc.

CHECK YOUR PROGRESS 2

NOTE: Use the space given below for your answers. Use separate sheet if space is not sufficient.	
1	When did India establish diplomatic relations with the Federal Republic of Germany?
2.	How frequently are the Indo-German Inter-Governmental Consultations (IGC) held?

3	What is the name of the program supporting German SMEs entering the Indian market?		
	Which sector receives the largest share of German financial assistance in India?		
4 .	which sector receives the largest share of German financial assistance in india:		

3.3.5 INDIA-UNITED KINGDOM RELATIONS:

With the successful India-UK Virtual Summit held on 4th of May 2021, the year 2021 saw a significant boost in India-UK bilateral relations. Politically, India-UK relations apart from bilateral dealings, occur mostly through the multilateral institutions like Commonwealth of Nations, Asian Development Bank, World Trade Organization etc. During the Virtual Summit, Prime Ministers of India and UK adopted an ambitious India-UK Roadmap 2030 to steer cooperation for the next ten years to elevate bilateral ties to a 'Comprehensive Strategic partnership'. Works towards the goals of the 2030 Roadmap will be reviewed annually by the British and Indian Foreign Ministers and ministers across both the governments will hold regular meetings to progress shared ambitions. The two leaders also Launched an 'Enhanced Trade Partnership'(ETP) to tap into the full trade potential between the two countries through negotiating a comprehensive FTA and set a target of more than doubling bilateral trade by 2030. During his visit to India in 2021, the Prime Minister of UK, Mr. Boris Johnson underlined that the UK and India share many fundamental values as UK is one of the oldest democracies of the world and India is the largest one. He further reiterated that the partnership and close relationship between both the countries will only grow over the next decades as we do more together to tackle the world's biggest problems and make life better for the people of both the countries.

History: The trade relations were established between India and Britain in 1600 A.D. when Elizabeth I granted the then newly established East Indian Company a royal charter by sending precious gifts to the Mughal court of Emperor Akbar The Great. By the coming of 18th century, The East Indian Company began to gain greater influence and control in India. By 1857, the East India Company controlled most of the Indian subcontinent. After the Indian Sepoy rebellion of 1857 (which is also known as the First war of Indian independence), the East India Company was dissolved in 1958 and the entire British controlled areas and assets were placed under the direct control of the British Queen. India remained the main and focal base for the expansion of the British empire across Asia on the one hand and as the main source of income and soldiers until India gained independence. However, with the end of British colonial rule in India in August 1947, also comes the partition of India into two dominions of India and Pakistan. India decided to remain in the Commonwealth of Nations (a group of erstwhile colonies of the British empire). With declaring itself as a Republic on 26th of January 1950, India and Britain started following separate

diplomatic paths and their own course of actions.

Covid cooperation: India and UK have shared commitments in mitigating COVID pandemic. During COVID second wave, units of vital medical equipment (495 oxygen concentrators and 200 ventilators) and 3 oxygen generation units, each producing 500 litres of oxygen per minute. Both the countries are committed to expand the UK-India health partnership to enhance global health security and pandemic resilience. This includes firming up international supply chains to ensure critical medicines, vaccines and other medical products reach those who need them most.

Education: Both the partners are committed and working in collaboration to increase cooperation between British and Indian universities on crucial research in areas like health, emerging technologies and climate science- and bringing enterprises together to propel ground-breaking innovations to communities that need them most. This includes the launch of a UK-India Global Innovation Partnership, which will co- invest in climate and health innovations from India to transform the lives of people across Africa, Asia and the Indian Ocean. It also includes extension of the UK-India Education and Research Initiative (UKIERI) to conclude its important work in bringing higher education and research sectors, and the people who work in them, closer together.

High level Exchanges: Indian Prime Minister visited the UK from 31st of October-2nd of November 2021 to attend the United Nations Climate Change Conference (COP 26) World Summit in Glasgow. On the sidelines, the Prime Ministers of India and UK had a bilateral meeting on 1st of November 2021 where the Indian PM reiterated India's commitment to closely work with the UK on climate finance, technology, Innovation and adaptation of clean technologies and also reviewed the implementation of the Roadmap 2030. On 2nd of November 2021, both the leaders jointly launched the ambitious 'Global Green Grids-One Sun, One World, One Grid Initiative' programme and the Infrastructure for Resilient Island States (IRS5) initiative under CDRI.

Indian EAM also visited UK from 3-6 May 2021 to attend the G-7 Foreign and Development Ministers' Meeting. He has a bilateral meeting with the UK Foreign Secretary on 6th of May 2021 to discuss and take forward the outcomes of the Virtual Summit and deliberated on other regional and global issues of mutual interests. Indian National Security Advisor (NSA) met his UK counterpart in London for the India-UK NSA-level Security Dialogue on 3rd of November 2021. Apart from these, many other high-level delegates and political heads of the various ministries of the Indian and UK governments paid reciprocal visits on many occasions. Most recently, UK PM Boris Johnson paid a two-days visit to India on 22-23rd of April 2022

Economic Relations: Over the course of years, India and UK signed numerous bilateral trade agreements and MoUs which led to the strengthening of their bilateral ties. The growth if India's multinational companies contributed greatly to UK's business and economic standings. As of 2019, Indian companies in the UK generated over 48 billion pounds. Tata Group alone employed over 63,760 people in the UK. In September 2017, the High Commission of India in UK, with the support of the UK India Business Council, announced the Access India Programme, a unique scheme set up to help many more UK SMEs export to India. India hopes that this programme will not only encourage British SMEs to export to India but also inspire them to manufacture in India thus, fulfilling the aims of the Make in India Initiative. From 1st of April -30 September 2021, India-UK Merchandise Trade was USD 7.9 billion

with India's export amounting to USD 4.9 billion and import from the UK at USD 2.9 billion. The 11th Economic and Financial dialogue (EFD) meeting was held on 2nd of September 2021 virtually between the Indian Minister of Finance and Chancellor of Exchequer, UK. They endorsed the agreement to work towards Comprehensive FTA and discussed strengthening cooperation in fintech, sustainable financing and progress of the India- UK strategic partnership on GIFT City (Gujarat International finance Tec-City) amongst others. The UK Trade Secretary visited India from 12-14 January 2022 for the 15th JETCO meeting. On that occasion, the negotiations on India-UK FTA were formally launched by Indian Commerce and Industries Minister and the UK Trade Secretary. Both the countries signed many MoUs and agreements like- MoU on India-UK Migration and Mobility Partnership (MMP), on India-UK Global Innovation Partnership (GIP), MoU on Cooperation in the field of Telecommunications/ICT, MoU in the field of medical products regulation between the UK's Medicines and Healthcare products Regulatory Agency (MHRA) and India's Central Drugs Standard Control Organization (CDSCO), MoU on Pharma Cooperation between the Indian Pharmacopoeia Commission and the British Pharmacopoeia. MoU between the London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine and the All India Institute of Ayurveda on Clinical Trial of Ashwagandha for promoting recovery from COVID in the UK was signed in July 2021.

Institutionalized Dialogues: Several institutional dialogues between India and UK took place in 2021 including the (i) the First India-UK Consular Dialogue through video conferencing on 22nd of September 2021; (ii) India-UK Virtual Energy Dialogue on 8th of October 2011, (iii) the second India-UK Multilateral dialogue in London on 18th of October 2021, (iv) the inaugural India-UK Maritime Dialogue on 18th of October 2021 and (v) Cyber Deterrence Dialogue on 25th of November 2021. Also, both the countries committed to work together to ensure an ambitious outcome at COP26 and expand the UK-India partnership on Tackling climate change, including by accelerating the development of clean energy and transport and new technology, protecting nature and biodiversity and helping developing countries adapt to the impact of climate change.

Defence Cooperation: Bilateral defence engagements with the UK substantially increased in 2021. High level official interactions include the visit of the Indian Chief of the Army Staff (COAS) to UK in July 2021 and the visits of UK's Chief of the Defence Staff, Chief of the General Staff and the UK's First Sea Lord/ Chief of Naval Staff to India in October 2021. Maiden India-UK Joint Triservice exercise with UK CSG, "Ex Konkan Shakti" was also conducted from 21-27 October 2021. The 6th edition of 'Ex Ajeya Warrior' was conducted in India from 7-17 October 2021 at the Forward Training Node (FTN), Chaubatia (Uttarakhand). Indian Army team participated in the 'Ex Cambrian Patrol 2021' conducted by UK Army from 8-17 October 2021. INS Tabar visited Portsmouth, UK, from 13-16 August 2021 as part of the Western Fleet OSD 01/2021 to enhance the existing cooperation between the Indian Navy and Royal Navy through operational, administrative, diplomatic and professional interactions. Both the defense partners are working closely to tackle threats to their shared security in all the forms. The UK's Carrier Strike Group will visit India later this year to boost this work with our navies and air forces undertaking joint training exercises to enable future cooperation on operations in the Western Indian Ocean.

Cultural cooperation: Both the countries celebrated the year 2017 as the UK-India Year of Culture. The High Commission of India through the Nehru Center (TNC) organized several events with

cultural and academic distinguished personalities to further strengthen cultural cooperation and people-to people connect between the two countries. Under its purview, many events were organized like- London Basant Festival (9 April 2021), Remembering Ustad Allarakha (29 April 2021), Gurudev and

Environment (8 May 2021), 1971 War- Indian Naval attack on Karachi (31 May 2021), Pranayama Summit- Pranayama Science and Veda Chanting (23-24 June 2021), Synergy- A Confluence of Classical Dancers (8 July 2021), Launching of an App- Little Guru UK- Learning Sanskrit (9 September 2021), Hindi Diwas (14 September 2021) etc.

Diaspora: The Indian community are the UK's biggest ethnic minority group. Indians make up the largest subgroup of British Asians and are one of the biggest communities within the global Indian diaspora. There were approximately 370 thousand Indian nationals residing in UK as of 2021. Both the countries are committed to enhance their migration relationship, to make it easier for British and Indian nationals to live and work in each other's countries.

3.3.6 LET US SUM UP

India's relations with the European powers like France, Germany and United Kingdom has traversed a long journey. A foreign policy of a nation is the concrete manifestation of the goals of its National Interests. National Interests is the interplay between aspirations of a nation on the one hand and ideological considerations on the other. The equations between India and the concerned European powers like- France, Germany and United Kingdom are based on the pressing issues, areas of convergences, concerns, and prospects common to them. India has developed multi-faceted relations with France, Germany, and the United Kingdom. Areas of convergences and the common stakes paved the way for the deeper engagement between these countries.

3.3.7 EXERCISES

- 1. How have Indo-German diplomatic and economic relations evolved over the decades?
- 2. What are the key areas of cooperation under Indo-German Development Cooperation?
- 3. How do the Indo-German Inter-Governmental Consultations (IGC) enhance bilateral ties?

3.3.8 SUGGESTED READINGS

Banerjee, Rituparna. "India and Germany: Partners in Development Cooperation." *Journal of International Relations* 25, no. 4 (2019): 67–85.

Jain, B.M. "India and the European Union: Perceptions and Misperceptions." *Asian Survey* 45, no. 5 (2005): 749-772.

Kaul, Sunil. "India's Growing Partnership with Germany: Implications for the Indo-Pacific." *Strategic Analysis* 47, no. 2 (2022): 210–228.

Mehta, Ranjan. "Indo-German Bilateral Trade: Opportunities and Challenges." *Economic and Political Weekly* 55, no. 6 (2021): 40–56.

Müller, Friedrich. "Germany's Foreign Policy towards India: An Emerging Partnership." *German Journal of International Affairs* 19, no. 3 (2018): 112–130.

Rajagopalan, Rajeswari Pillai. "India's Strategic Partnerships: Assessing the Scope for Cooperation and Influence." *Strategic Analysis* 42, no. 2 (2018): 103-117.

Sinha, Rahul. "Indo-German Relations: Strategic and Economic Dimensions." *International Journal of South Asian Studies* 14, no. 2 (2020): 45–63.

—×—

3.4 INDIA AND EMERGING POWERS : BRAZIL AND SOUTH AFRICA

- Shaveta Sharma

STRUCTURE

- 3.4.0 Objectives
- 3.4.1 India and Brazil
- 3.4.2 India-South Africa Relations
- 3.4.3 Let Us Sum up
- 3.4.4 Exercises
- 3.4.5 Suggested Readings

3.4.0 OBJECTIVES

After going through this lesson, you will be able to grasp:

- India's bilateral equations with Brazil.
- India's bilateral equations with South Africa.
- Recent developments in India's relations with the Emerging powers.
- Convergence of their world views.
- Multi-faceted areas of cooperation between India and Brazil and India and South Africa.
- Prospects between India- Brazil and India- South Africa.
- Common Forums like IBSA, BRICS and BASIC.

3.4.1 INDIA AND BRAZIL

India-Brazil relations are based on a common global vision, shared democratic values and a commitment to foster inclusive economic growth for the welfare of the people of both countries. Infact, Brazil was the first Latin American country to establish diplomatic relations with India in 1948. But, their linkages could be traced back to approximately five centuries. India and Brazil share deep bilateral relations. India and Brazil continued to expand their strategic partnership in various sectors of cooperation. The momentum in India-Brazil relations created during President Bolsonaro (PB)'s historic visit to India in January 2020 as the Chief Guest during the Republic Day celebrations continued with his attending the Republic Day celebrations in Brasilia with 9 of his cabinet colleagues in January 2021. PB's public acknowledgement

of India's supply of vaccines was equally matched by vociferous reporting in Brazilian media. The Brazilian government endorsed the Indian government's stance that the decision to implement 2019 Citizenship (Amendment) Act and the revocation of the Special Status of Jammu and Kashmir were India's internal issues.

Cultural Relations: As part of India @75 Azadi ka Amrit Mahotsav (AKAM) celebrations, the Indian Embassy organized several activities. The Mission organized an online talk "Holistic approach to Yoga in the Modern Era" by Dr. Manmath Gharote, Director of Lonavla yoga institute on the occasion of the7th International Day of Yoga celebrations. The Indian Embassy organized a webinar in celebration of 6th Ayurveda Day on 2nd of November 2021 in collaboration with the Brazilian Suddha Yoga and Ayurveda School and the Jamnagar Institute of Teaching and Research in Ayurveda, on the theme- "Ayurveda for Nutrition". The Mission also celebrated Gandhi Jayanthi, and Diwali Festival under AKAM celebration. The Mission also organized the celebration of Constitution Day of India on 26th of November 2021, Mahaparinirvan Divas on 6th of December 2021, Commemoration of First War of Independence on 17th of December 2021 and Good Governance Week in December 2021. A Statue of Mohandas Gandhi is located at Sao Paulo and another statue is also at Rio de Janerio. A group called the Filhos de Gandhi (Sons of Gandhi) participates regularly in the carnival in Salvador. Private Brazilian organizations occasionally invite Indian cultural troupes. Books about India started to pop up on the best-selling list, the number of travels to India by Brazilians tourists increased dramatically and restaurants and even nightclubs with Indian themes starting to open.

Economic Relations: Both the countries have co-operated in the multilateral level on issues such as international trade and development, environment, reform of the UN and the UNSC expansion. Following sustained efforts, there has been a 100% increase in India's exports to Brazil during April-October 2021 over the same period in 2020 (i.e. from USD 2.11 billion in April-October 2020 to USD 4.26 billion in April-October 21), ahead of the export target set by the Ministry of Commerce and Industry for Brazil. The 1st India-Brazil Joint Working Group on Oil and Natural Gas took place in April 2021 and JWG on Bioenergy in August 2021. Also, meetings in virtual format were organized with Brazil's top ten readymade garment retail chains to promote sourcing of apparel, accessories, carpets, and handicrafts. Indian Embassy offered design support (in collaboration with IIFT) and e-commerce solutions to the participating companies. Several meetings were held with the representatives of the Brazilian Edible Oil Association (ABIOVE) and Brazil's export promotion agency- Apex Brazil to augment the supply of soyabean oil to India to meet the growing demand.

Convergence of world views/ global issues: The Indo-Brazil ties were elevated to a strategic partnership in 2006, opening a new phase in bilateral relations. Relations between India and Brazil further improved after the elections of Jair Bolsonaro as Brazilian President in 2018. The newly elected Brazilian President has also remained skeptical regarding the Chinese Belt and Road Initiative (BRI). The Brazilian President was the chief-guest at the Republic Day celebrations of India in 2020. During the visit, the Indian PM and Brazilian President stressed the role of ideological ties in the growing relations between the countries, given the shared nationalist outlook of the countries' respective leaders. Both the countries are members of BRICS, IBSA, G-20 and G-4. Both the countries are aspiring for a

permanent seat in United Nations Security Council and G-4 is a novel grouping for achieving this goal. For accelerating the South-South cooperation, both the countries are involved in IBSA initiative. The first ever IBSA Summit was held in September 2006. Both the countries view IBSA as a tool of transformation diplomacy to bring economic growth, sustainable development, poverty reduction and regional prosperity in the vast regions of Latin America, Africa and Asia.

The IBSA Fund for Alleviation of Poverty and Hunger has already provided funds for capacity building in East Timor and for fighting HIV/AIDS in Burundi and has won the South-South Partnership Award at the 2006 UN Day event on 19th of December 2006.

Diaspora: There are about 250,000 Indians in Brazil. This constitutes less than 0.2 percent of the Brazilian national population. There are small Brazilian communities in Chennai, Goa and Mumbai. There is a Brazilian consulate located in Mumbai. Many Brazilian settled in Goa because its culturally similar to Brazil as they were both former Portuguese colonies.

Defence Relations: The Competition Commission of India (CCI) and the Administrative Council for Economic Defense (CADE) of Brazil signed an MoU for bilateral cooperation in June 2021. A Brazilian delegation visited India to participate in the 7th India-Brazil Joint Defense Committee (JDC) held in New Delhi on 1st of December 2021, which discussed strengthening strategic partnership, military-military exchanges, training and defence industrial cooperation.

Recent Visit Exchanges: The President of Brazil attended the BRICS summit histed by India on virtual mode on 9th of September 2021. Apart from that Brazilian Foreign Minister and many other Ministers of Brazil attended BRICS and IBSA FM and Ministerial Level virtual meetings hosted by India. Indian EAM also met with his Brazilian counterpart at the G-4 meeting held on the sidelines of the UN General Assembly (UNGA) Session in New York. Ahead of the COP 26 on 27th of October 2021, Environment Ministers of India and Brazil held a virtual meeting and exchanged views on climate change. Numerous meetings, webinars and interactive sessions aimed at expansion of cooperation in various sectors such as health and pharmaceuticals, traditional medicine, defence and defence industrial cooperation, agriculture, mining and culture were organized. The Embassy of India in Brazil also pursued 3Ts (Trade, Technology and Tourism) Interests and country-specific export targets with several object-oriented events.

CHECK YOUR PROGRESS 1

NOTE: Use the space given below for your answers. Use separate sheet if space is not sufficient.

1.	When did Brazil establish diplomatic relations with India?

	, mai to the organization of the organization
3.	Which cultural events strengthen India-Brazil relations?

What is the significance of President Bolsonaro's visit to India in 2020?

3.4.2 INDIA-SOUTH AFRICA RELATIONS

The bilateral relations between India and South Africa have been growing strongly after the end of apartheid in South Africa in 1994. Both the countries have established close strategic, cultural, political, and economic equations over the course of the decades. Both the countries have been remained British colonies and at present, are the full member states of the Commonwealth of Nations/ Republics. Ties between these two countries were further consolidated with the inclusion of South Africa in the BRICS forum in 2011. Mahatma Gandhi, the Father of the Indian nation had commenced his political-legal career in South Africa. He initiated the civil disobedience movement in 1890s and 1900s to improve the living conditions of the Indian people residing in South Africa. The Indian government and its people extended their wholehearted support to the African National Congress's struggle against the discriminatory- apartheid regime of the South African government. India refused to establish and maintain diplomatic and political relations with the South African government and only established full fledged diplomatic relations after the end of the apartheid era in South Africa in 1994.

History: India had remained in forefront of the international community in its support to the anti-apartheid movement in South Africa. India also remained the first country to sever its trade relations with the apartheid regime in South Africa in 1946. India has been remained a consistent and ardent supporter of anti-apartheid movement and highlighted the same on the agenda of United Nations, NAM and other related multilateral organizations.

Military/Defence Ties: The defence cooperation between India and South Africa officially commenced in 1996 with the signing of an MoU on 'Cooperation in the field of Defence Equipment' which was later replaced by an MoU on 'Defence Cooperation' in 2000. Consequently, an India-South Africa Joint Defence Committee (JDC) was instituted. Indian Naval Ships and Sailing Vessels also regularly make port calls to South Africa. Both the countries have established military cooperation and defense ties and arms trading between them. Joint exercises IBSAMAR were started in 2008 between India, Brazil and South Africa. The South African Army participated in the Multinational Field Training Exercise for African Nations conducted by the Indian Army at Pune in March 2019.

Economic Relations: Minister of Commerce and Industry had a virtual meeting with his South-African counterpart to discuss on WTO TRIPS waiver related to COVID vaccines on 26th of April 2021. Both the countries agreed to intensify efforts to seek the waiver that would promote vaccine equality in the

world. The trade and commercial relations between these countries have been making headway over the course of years. Major Indian exports to South Africa include vehicles and components, transport equipment, drugs and pharmaceuticals, engineering goods, footwear, dyes and intermediates, chemicals, textiles, rice and gems and jewelry etc. Major Indian imports from South Africa includes gold, steam coal, copper ores and concentrates, phosphoric acid, manganese ore, aluminium ingots and other minerals. To explore additional areas of cooperation for growth of bilateral trade and investment, the India-South Africa Business Summit (ISABS) was held from 29-30 April 2018. Apart from this, to accelerate and to explore other areas of commerce and trade, a India-South Africa CEO's Forum was also established.

Strategic Partnership: Both the countries established a strategic partnership between them in 1997. At the bilateral level and through the forums of IBSA, BRICS and the other similar fora, numerous bilateral agreements have been concluded between the two countries since the resumption of bilateral diplomatic relations between them in diverse areas ranging from economic and commercial cooperation, defense, culture, health, migration, public administration, and science and technology etc. India's Technical and Economic Cooperation Programme (ITEC) has proved a useful medium of promoting cooperation in developing human resources.

Recent High-level visits: The President of South Africa- Mr. Ramaphosa, attended the 13th BRICS summit held virtually on 9th of September 2021. Minister of International Relations and Cooperation of South-Africa, Dr. Naledi Pandor and Indian External Affairs Minister met bilaterally during the G-7 Foreign Ministers meet on 4th of May 2021 in London. They spoke about working together to meet the COVID challenge and about economic recovery and Commonwealth issues. They again met bilaterally on 28th of June 2021 on the sidelines of G-20 Foreign Ministers Meet in Italy and discussed vaccine equity and access, and climate action approaches. Indian EAM Dr. Jaishankar held telephonic conversation with his Counterpart in South Africa on 7th of January 2022 and the former conveyed a message of solidarity and warmth apart from stating that the bilateral cooperation between both the countries in combating Covid and addressing other global challenges had been remained notable. Before that, the Tourism Minister of South Africa paid a visit to India for a two-day market roadshow in Mumbai from 14- 16 January 2020. Exchanges between the Parliaments of both the countries are another dimension of Indo-South African bilateral relations.

Skill Development: The Gandhi-Mandela Centre of Specialisation for Artisan Skills (GMCoS) was officially launched in Pretoria on 28th of October 2021. India and South-Africa had signed an MoU to set up the Centre in 2018. Deputy Minister stated during his address that South-Africa values its partnership with the government and people of India and look forward to many more collaborative projects that would help both countries address their national development goals. The Centre has admitted two batches so far, one in 2019 and the new batch in 2021. The joint Letter of Intent (LoI) between Department of Empowerment of Persons with Disabilities, Ministry of Social Justice and Empowerment of India and South Africa's Department of Women, Youth and Persons with Disabilities was signed on 12th of May 2021. The LoI intends to establish the process of sharing information and knowledge, to develop projects of mutual interest in disability sector.

Science and Technology: India and South Africa signed an Agreement on Cooperation in the fields of Science and Technology on 19th of July 1995 and cooperation in Science and Technology between the two countries has flourished and continues to grow.

Cultural Relations: With the help of the Indian Council for Cultural Relations (ICCR), an intensive programme of cultural exchanges is organized throughout South Africa including, scholarships for South African nationals. The iconic week celebrations in South Africa of 'Azadi ka Amrit Mahotsav' began on 2nd October 2021. The main event was the event at the historic Tolstoy Farm, which is being revived and developed through community efforts. Another popular event was the expedition of 75 people along with Gandhian trial that included sites like Phoenix settlement, Pietermaritzburg, Tolstoy Farm that were associated with Mahatma Gandhi. Other events included a tree plantation drive and an interactive seminar on 'India's journey of 75 years-Perspectives from South-Africa'. In addition to such cultural programming, a 'Shared Histories' Festival was also organized as a publicprivate partnership. Activities to commemorate the 150th birth anniversary of Gandhi was organized throughout the year (October 2018-2020) across South Africa by the Consulates and Mission which include cultural programmes, vegetarian Food Festivals, prayer meetings, Organisation of walks, planting of trees, painting of portraits and discourse/ talks on Mahatma Gandhi. Activities to commemorate the 75 years of India's Independence (Azadi ka Amrit Mahotsav) are being organized across South Africa by the Consulates and Mission which include 'Revisiting Gandhian Trail' following Mahatma's footsteps for promoting peace, non-violence and harmony organized in October 2021, 'Mataram' showcasing linguistic and cultural diversity of India through cultural performances by Indian Diaspora in South Africa.

Diaspora: The South Africa Indian origin community numbers around 1 million and constitutes about 3% of South Africa's total population. South Africans of Indian origin are well-represented in Government, business, media, legal and other professions.

IBSA Dialogue Forum: The IBSA Dialogue Forum is an international grouping of three countries-India, Brazil and South Africa for promoting international cooperation. On 6th of June 2003, the foreign ministers of these countries met in Brasilia, where the IBSA Dialogue Forum was formalized through the adoption of 'Brasilia Declaration'. In this Declaration, member countries called for removing protectionist policies and trade distorting practices by improving the multilateral trade systems. They also agreed on the urgent and genuine need for reforming the structure and functioning mechanisms of the United Nations most notably, of the United Nations Security Council. Through this forum and Declaration, the members also asserted their concerns on the common issues of global concerns like international terrorism, trans-national crime, illegal arms trading, piracy, terror funding etc. The members of the forum represent the need for a greater understanding between three continents- Asia, Africa and South America. IBSA forum has been formed with an aim to provide a common platform for these developing countries to engage one other in discussions for cooperation in the field of agriculture, trade, culture, defence so on and so forth. This forum has been playing an important role in shaping the contours of the foreign policies of these countries on multiple issues of mutual concerns. The main objectives of IBSA Forum could be highlighted as:

- 1) IBSA Dialogue forum aims to promote South-South Cooperation and to build consensus on issues of global importance.
- 2) It also aims to accelerate trade and other related opportunities among the member countries.
- 3) This forum also aims to enable and facilitate the trilateral exchange of information, technology and skills to complement and supplement one another's strengths.
- 4) The member countries also working in the direction of poverty alleviation not only in their own countries but also at the international level.
- 5) It also aims to promote inclusive social development and equitable development.
- Another aim for which this forum was formed was to explore and channelize avenues to promote cooperation in broad range of areas most notably, climate change and global warming, agriculture, defence equations, education, exploring alternate energy resources, health, cultural linkages, science and technology, social development etc.
- 7) It also aims to promote reciprocal tourism avenues, transport and transit facilities wherever possible and feasible and to promote civil aviation among them.
- 8) It also aims to restructure and reform the United Nations and all the three members are aspiring to be the permanent members of the United Nations Security Council.

CHECK YOUR PROGRESS 2

NOTE:	Use the space	given below	for your answers.	Use separate	e sheet if sp	pace is not sufficient	٠.

1	How did India support Brazil during the COVID-19 pandemic?
2	What multilateral platforms do India and Brazil collaborate on?
3	What is the main goal of the IBSA Dialogue Forum?

BASIC: The BASIC group is a bloc of four countries- Brazil, South Africa, India and China, formed on 28th of November 2009. It was during the Copenhagen Climate summit of November 2009, these four countries committed to act jointly in protest to the partial stand taken by the Developed countries as far

as the common minimum position of the developing and under-developed countries as far as the issue of climate change and sustainable development is concerned. This group subsequently has been working to define a common position on emission reductions and climate aid money and try to convince other countries to sign up the Copenhagen Accord of 2009. At the April 2010, meeting in Cape Town, environment ministers from these countries called for a legally binding global agreement on long-term cooperative action under the UN Framework Convention on Climate Change (UNFCCC) and its Kyoto Protocol to be concluded at the next UN Climate Change Conference in Cancun, Mexico in November 2010, saying that slow legislative progress in the United States should not be allowed to dictate the pace of global agreement. This group's statement also demanded that developed countries allow developing and under-developing countries equitable space for development' and also provide them with finance, technology and capacity-building support based on their historical responsibility for climate change.

BRICS: BRICS is an intergovernmental group of five major emerging economies- Brazil, Russia, India, China and South Africa. Initially, it was known as BRIC (formed in 2006 at the 61st session of the United Nations General Assembly) before the induction of South Africa in the group in 2010. Its headquarters are located at Shanghai (PRC). The BRICS have about 26.7% of the world land surface and 41.5% of the world population. The main aim and focus of the BRICS is to improve the global economic situation and reforming financial institutions and to explore the common areas on which these member countries could cooperate together in future. These members have been working and exploring the ways and means to become more involve in the global issues and affairs. The BRICS forum as an independent international forum encourages commercial, political and cultural cooperation amongst its members. Since 2015, these member countries are aspiring to take initiatives to further integrate their information and communication sectors. In this regard, the BRICS members have been planning an optical fiber submarine communications cable system to carry telecommunications between themselves. The first BRICS Summit was held in 2011. India has hosted the 13th BRICS Summit on 9th of September 2021 (videoconference). The 14th Summit is scheduled to be held in PRC in June 2022. Countries namely Argentina, Bangladesh, Indonesia, Mexico, Turkey, Egypt, Iran, Nigeria, Sudan, Syria and Pakistan etc. have expressed their interests in joining BRICS. BRICS's New Development Bank is based in Shanghai.

3.4.3 EXERCISES

- 1. How have India and Brazil strengthened their strategic partnership over the years?
- 2. What role did President Bolsonaro's visits play in enhancing India-Brazil relations?
- 3. In what ways do India and Brazil collaborate in the cultural and economic sectors?
- 4. How do India and Brazil cooperate on multilateral platforms such as BRICS and IBSA?
- 5. What are the key areas of defence cooperation between India and Brazil?
- 6. How does the IBSA Dialogue Forum promote South-South cooperation and global diplomatic reforms?

3.4.4 SUGGESTED READINGS

Farias, Rogério, and Alcides Costa Vaz. *Brazilian Foreign Policy after the Cold War*. Gainesville: University Press of Florida, 2021.

Ganguly, Sumit. *India's Foreign Policy: Retrospect and Prospect*. Oxford: Oxford University Press, 2016.

Narlikar, Amrita. "Brazil and India: Strengthening a Strategic Partnership." *Journal of International Affairs* 68, no. 2 (2015): 45-62.

Narlikar, Amrita. "India and Brazil in the BRICS: Emerging Powers in Global Governance." *Global Policy* 12, no. 1 (2022): 34-49.

4.1 INDIA AND THE UNITED NATIONS: PEACE-**KEEPING**

- Pooja Charak

ST	Γ RI	[] <i>(</i>	7	TIR	F
17			, .		

4.1.10 Suggested Readings

TRUC	CTURE					
4.1.0	Objecti	Objectives				
4.1.1	Introdu	Introduction				
4.1.2	The Un	ited Nations and Peacekeeping				
	4.1.2.1	The Evolution of Peacekeeping				
	4.1.2.2	United Nations Successful Opearations in Peacekeeping				
	4.1.2.3	Contribution of UN in Peacekeeping in recent decades				
4.1.3	India's	Role in UN Peacekeeping Missions				
	4.1.3.1	Historical Perspective				
	4.1.3.2	India's Representation in UN Bodies				
	4.1.3.3	India on the UN Security Council				
4.1.4	Reform	and Restructuring of the UN				
	4.1.4.1	Terrorism				
	4.1.4.2	Human Rights				
	4.1.4.3	Development and Economic Issues				
	4.1.4.4	India at the 74th UNGA Session (2019-2020)				
	4.1.4.5	Commemorating Mahatma Gandhi's 150th Birth Anniversary at the UN				
4.1.5	Contrib	oution of India in Past UN Missions for Peacekeeping				
4.1.6	Curren	t UN Peacekeeping Missions - Indian Contribution				
4.1.7	Signific	ant Achievements of India in UN During (2014-2020)				
4.1.8	Let Us S	Sum up				
4.1.9	Exercis	es				

4.1.0 OBJECTIVES

After going through this lesson, you will be able to know:-

- The United Nations and the evolution of peace keeping forces and the contribution of UN in peace keeping operations in recent decades.
- The India's role in UN Peace keeping missions.
- To know about the reform and restructoring of the UN.

4.1.1 INTRODUCTION

The United Nations was born as a successor to the League of Nations in the year 1945, with the idea to prevent future wars and establish international harmony. The United Nations was established by the 51 members on October 24, 1945 in the San Francisco Conference for World Peace with Democracy and Independence since the middle of World War II. It was created with the aim of bringing about a system of disarmament, ensuring social, cultural and international cooperation, preventing interference in matters of equality among all members. At present, the number of members of the United Nations has increased to 193. Since inception, UN has been actively developing multiple plans of action to promote solidarity, socio-economic cooperation, and justice at a global level.

4.1.2 THE UNITED NATIONS AND PEACEKEEPING

Peacekeeping is arguably the most visible activity of the United Nations and certainly one of its most important contributions to what the Charter of the United Nations calls "The maintenance of international peace and security." The UN's distinctive "blue helmets are now widely recognized all over the world. Sometimes praised, often maligned, since their entry onto the world stage in the late 1940s they have become a ubiquitous feature of multilateral crises management. As a consequence, anyone interested in the international politics of conflict resolution and the dynamics of international peace and security more generally needs to understand the politics, practice, and impact of UN peacekeeping.

The United Nations (UN) was established on 24 October 1945 in the aftermath of two World Wars and was dedicated, in the enduring words of the UN Charter, to saving "succeeding generations from the scourge of war." Since its creation, the UN has been called upon to prevent disputes from escalating into war, to persuade opposing parties to use the conference table rather than the force of arms and to help restore peace when conflict breaks out. Over the decades, the UN has helped to contain or end numerous conflicts, in many cases through the deployment of peacekeeping operations.

4.1.2.1 THE EVOLUTION OF PEACEKEEPING

UN peacekeeping is based on the principle that an impartial presence on the ground can ease tensions between hostile parties and create space for political negotiations. Peacekeeping can help bridge the gap between the cessation of hostilities and a durable peace, but only if the parties to a conflict have the political will needed to reach the goal. Initially developed as a mean of dealing with interstate conflict, peacekeeping has increasingly been used in intra-State conflicts and civil wars, which are often characterized by multiple armed factions with differing political objectives and fractured lines of command. These realities have particularly since the late 1980s, led to an

evolution in the structure of peacekeeping missions.

A large number of peacekeeping operations are still based on the "traditional" model of a military operation deployed in support of political activity. These operations involve military tasks such as monitoring ceasefires and patrolling buffer zones between hostile parties and are carried out by UN peacekeepers who may or may not be armed and who are widely known as "blue helmets" or "blue berets" because of their distinctive headgear. Although past military observer missions have also included non-military tasks, a growing number of UN peacekeeping operations have become multidimensional, composed of a range of components including military, civilians police, political, civil affairs, rule of law, human rights, humanitarian, reconstruction, public information and gender. Some of these operations do not have a military component but carry out their mandates alongside a regional or multinational peacekeeping force.

Under the banner of Peacekeeping, the UN provides assistance to the conflict-ridden states to attain a peaceful and conducive environment to flourish. The primary aim of its Peacekeeping is to attain peace through the non-violent means of negotiations and deliberations while military deployment is the last resort. UN Peacekeeping showcases an exemplary global partnership, as it brings together the Security Council, the General Assembly, the secretariats, troops from across the world, and the host governments in a combined effort to maintain international peace. Peacekeeping has a unique combination of strengths, which includes legitimacy, burden sharing, and an ability to deploy and sustain troops from around the globe yet remain empowering towards the conflict- ridden states. UN military deployment under Peacekeeping is to maintain stability and pave way for bilateral negotiations between the conflicting parties.

The UN's military Peacekeepers operate on a Triad of Principles:

- Consent of the parties to the conflict;
- Impartiality of the Peacekeepers;
- Use of force by the Peacekeepers only in self-defence and in defence of the mandate.

These principles, which remain at the core of UN Peacekeeping missions make it a legitimate and credible source of aid for the nations in times of turbulence.

4.1.2.2 UNITED NATIONS SUCCESSFUL OPERATIONS IN PEACEKEEPING

If a comprehensive assessment of the United Nations is done for 70 years, then the United Nations has effectively demonstrated its important role.

On December 14, 1960, the General Assembly passed the Declaration of Dissolution of Colonialism. In which a resolution was passed regarding the independence of 50 nations. In 1946 and 1970, resolutions were passed against the apartheid policy. In which apartheid was abolished in South Africa, Rhodesia, Namibia. In the same way, the peaceful use of nuclear energy has been promoted by the United Nations through various treaties regarding disarmament.

The United Nations was the first to propose an International treaty banning nuclear tests. As a result of which the Partial Test Ban Treaty came into existence in 1963. Under which nuclear tests

over water, sky and earth were banned. The Nuclear Non-Proliferation Treaty (NPT) came in 1968, which could not be implemented due to the biased attitude of the nuclear powers. This treaty, passed by the United Nations General Assembly, was signed by 50 countries on 1 July 1968, which was considered effective from 5 March, 1970. The treaty had a provision that nuclear-armed states would not give information about the secret of atomic bombs to different nations, nor would they assist in any way, and states without nuclear weapons would renounce the right to make atomic bombs. Nuclear tests were banned. Use of nuclear energy for peaceful purposes, India did not sign it as it is a discriminatory treaty. It does not allow the sixth member in the nuclear fraternity and there is no clear provision for penal action for its violation.

The Comprehensive Test Ban Treaty (CTBT) was drafted at the Geneva Conference on Disarmament in June, 1996, in which all types of conventional nuclear tests were banned.

The United Nations has also been successful in the settlement of regional conflicts, in which about 200 International wars were settled by the United Nations. It also introduced its important role in peace agreements, under which the Geneva Agreement on the withdrawal of Soviet troops from Afghanistan was implemented.

The Iraq-Iran ceasefire agreement was implemented. In a similar manner played a role in relation to Namibian independence, the withdrawal of Cuban troops from Angola. The Somalia civil war ended, Kuwait's independence was restored, Congo - Cyprus made peace. The Vietnam - Cuba crisis was averted. The Indo- Bangladesh dispute was settled. Played an important role in resolving the West Asia crisis. It played an important role in 1949 in the context of the Indo-Pakistani War. Cyprus in 1964, Israel-Syria War in 1974, Lebanon War in 1978, 1991 Gulf Crisis, Georgia in 1993, Kosovo-Congo Problem in 1999, Ethiopia-Eritrea Problem in 2000, Afghanistan Crisis in 2001, Iraq War in 2003, Liberia in 2003 with regard to the crisis, Haiti, Burundi, Ivory Coast in 2004, Sudan in 2005, East Timor and Sierra Leone in 2006, COVID-19 pandemic etc., the United Nations has played an important role in the future settlement of these problems by comprehensively addressing them.

The Humanitarian Security Report, 2008 published by the University of British Columbia in the post-cold war world, widely noted the achievements of the United Nations in the reduction of war in the world through the significant role of the United Nations. There are restrictions on genocide and human rights abuses. That activity has decreased by 40 percent. There has been an 80 percent reduction in genocide which has proved to be a clear indication of the positive and forward-looking role of the United Nations.

4.1.2.3 CONTRIBUTION OF UN IN PEACEKEEPING IN RECENT DECADES

Presently more than 15 peacekeeping forces are active. More than four lakh soldiers and 7500 police personnel have been deployed since 2001. Unity resolution for peace has been passed in the form of Acheson resolution for the establishment of world peace. The United Nations has also achieved remarkable success for economic and constructive work. The Social and Economic Council and its subsidiaries such as WHO, UNICEF, UNFPA, UNEP etc. have demonstrated their important role in constructive economic work. Welfare schemes are being operated in Africa, Latin America

through these agencies. Political efforts like civil war, racial tension, internal and external problems, protection of refugees displaced in wars and genocide, human rights protection etc. have also been made keeping this in view.

Drought, flood, population growth control, environmental protection etc. welfare schemes and programs have also been conducted by the United Nations. The United Nations has budgeted \$1.30 million for plans on more than 5000 in 170 countries.

In 1998, 120 Nations ratified the Treaty of the International Court of Justice, which came into force in 2002. It penalizes genocide, human rights violations, ethnic violence. The United Nations has played an important role on the establishment of democracy, such as free and fair elections were also established in Cambodia, East Timor. Independent Media Commission was formed in 1998 to establish democracy. The laying of anti-civilian tunnels was banned under the Otovo Treaty, 1999. The United Nations Democracy Fund was established in 2005. Under the development goals, plans have been set for building a strong world and socio-economic development by 2015 and by expanding it, efforts are being made to achieve it by 2030 by setting the Sustainable Development Goals.

The Peace Building Commission has been established in 2006 for the purpose of creating peace and the Peace Keeping Fund has been established for the reconstruction of the aggrieved party. At the same time, more emphasis has been laid on environmental protection by organizing Rio-de-Janeiro and Copenhagen conferences for environmental protection. Four conferences have been organized regarding women empowerment.

In the same way, it can be said that the United Nations has played the role of a 'safety- valve' to settle international disputes. According to Ralph Bouche, the main feature of the United Nations is that it keeps the nations engaged in dialogue, the longer the talk continues, the longer the war will be averted. According to Nehru, the United Nations has saved from crisis, without it the modern world cannot be imagined. According to Doug Hammers hold, the United Nations has been formed to take humanity to heaven rather than to save it from hell. According to Kofi Annan, the United Nations has played an important role in contemporary needs like collective security, development, social work and human rights.

CHECK YOR PROGRESS 1

NOTE: Use the space given below for your answers. Use separate sheet if space is not sufficient.

1.	What is the significance of the "blue helmets" in UN peacekeeping?

2.	How many member states are currently part of the United Nations?				
3.	Which treaty aimed to ban nuclear tests globally?				
4.	What was India's first UN peacekeeping mission?				

4.1.3 INDIA'S ROLE IN UN PEACEKEEPING MISSIONS

In the midst of the most turbulent times, when the world was desperately searching for a way towards peace, a man was drafting the very idea of peace and non-violence in a country that was yet to gain its independence. Mahatma Gandhi remains the foremost philosopher to espouse the principles of peace and non-violence. He has not just theorized them but has lived by his principles of non-violence. Indians take immense pride in carrying forward his legacy of Ahimsa (Non-Violence) into this contemporary world by collaborating with the UN to promote peace and non- violence across the world.

Indians for ages have lived by the concept of Vasudhavia Kutumbakam, (the whole world is my family) propounded by the ancient sages of India. The principle of 'the entire world, a family' continues to remain a bedrock of the policies and practices of Independent India. The UN and India working hand in hand for the shared goal of global peace is one of the finest examples that blends India's commitment towards the modern demands of the world with its ancient principles. India has a long-distinguished history of serving at UN Peacekeeping. Since both the UN and India share a common approach of promoting global peace through non- violence, India has strengthened United Nations reinforcements by remaining among the prime contributors of troops to its Peacekeeping force.

4.1.3.1 HISTORICAL PERSPECTIVE

India was among the select members of the United Nations that signed the Declaration by United Nations at Washington on 1 January 1942 and participated in the historic UN Conference of International Organization at San Francisco from 25 April to 26 June 1945.

India stood at the forefront during the UN's tumultuous years of struggle against colonialism and apartheid. India was the co-sponsor of the landmark 1960 Declaration on UN on Granting of Independence to Colonial Countries and Peoples which proclaimed the need to unconditionally end

colonialism in all its forms and manifestations. India was also elected the first chair of the Decolonization Committee (Committee of 24) where its ceaseless efforts to put an end to colonialism are well on record.

India was amongst the most outspoken critics of apartheid and racial discrimination in South Africa. In fact, India was the first country to raise this issue at the UN (in 1946) and played a leading role in the formation of a Sub Committee against Apartheid set up by the General Assembly. When the Convention on Elimination of all forms of Racial Discrimination was adopted in 1965, India was among the earliest signatories.

India's status as a founding member of the Non-Aligned Movement and the Group of 77 cemented its position within the UN system as a leading advocate of the concerns and aspirations of developing countries and the creation of a more equitable international economic and political order.

After the first World War, India also participated in the Versailles Conference. In which the Treaty of Versailles was signed in June, 1919. Then British Government had allowed India to represent in the League of Nations. Even as a subordinate country, India was determined to bring about global peace and stability through bilateral cooperation. Hence India was one of the founding members of the United Nations in the Second World War. Speaking at the United Nations General Assembly in Paris on 3 November 1948, Pandit Jawaharlal Nehru said that "we do not think that the problems of the world or India can be solved through aggression, non-violence, but we are all weak beings. That's why we can't always follow the teachings of the great man Mahatma Gandhi, who led the freedom movement of India, but the lesson taught by him has engulfed the depths of our conscience and I am sure as long as we remember this lesson. That we will continue on the right path. If I get a chance to make suggestions in this meeting, I think that if we remember the essence of what he taught, then probably we will have a positive attitude towards today's problem. Perhaps the danger always hovering over our heads will gradually subside".

In 77 years of the UN's existence, India has served in 49 of 71 UN missions. Our soldiers have shown dedication and determination of the highest order by serving in the most physically demanding and harshest environments. This act of devotion has also brought our forces worldwide applause and recognition. More than 200,000 Indian nationals have contributed to the UN Peacekeeping, till date. Today India plays an essential role in achieving global peace and one of the major stakeholders in UN's peacekeeping missions globally. In this course, we are going to look at contribution India has done for global peace. As one of the founding members of the UN. India's contribution to the maintenance of international peace and security has been second to none.

In no other field of activity has this been manifested more than in UN operations commencing with our participation in the operations in Korea in 1950. The operation in Korea, led by the USA, was a major military undertaking. India participated militarily with a medical unit and later provided a Custodian Force for the Neutral Nations Repatriation Commission.

India also contributed significantly to the Indo-China Supervisory Commission deployed in Cambodia, Laos and Vietnam from 1954 to 1970. For nearly eight decades, Indian has played a

significant role in assisting the United Nation, in maintaining global peace.

Starting with the UN operation in Korea in 1950. India has contributed more peacekeeper than another country. More than two lakhs Indian have served for 49 out of 71 peacekeeping missions conducted by the United Nations over the past 70 years. India's spontaneous and unreserved participation in UN peacekeeping operations over the years has been a clear demonstration of the country's commitment to the objectives set out in the UN Charter

India stands solidly committed to assist the UN in the maintenance of international peace and security with a proud history of UN peacekeeping dating back to its inception in the 1950s. India has contributed nearly 195,000 troops, the largest number from any country, participated in more than 49 missions and 168 Indian peacekeepers have made the supreme sacrifice while serving in UN missions.

India has also provided and continues to provide eminent Force Commanders for UN Missions.

India is the second largest troop contributor [TCC] with 7,676 personnel deployed in 10 out of 16 active UN Peacekeeping Missions of which 760 are police personnel. The high standards of performance maintained consistently by the Indian troops and policemen deployed on UN Missions under challenging circumstances have won them high regard worldwide.

India's unique combination of being the largest democracy in the world with a strong tradition of respect for rule of law and the successful experience in nation building makes it particularly relevant in the context of twenty-first century peace building. India is a member of Organizational Committee of the Peace building Commission (PBC). India is strongly supportive of nationally-led plans for peace consolidation, while arguing for a constructive approach and a 'lighter touch' by the PBC in extending advice, support and in extending its involvement. India has also been contributing to the UN Peace building Fund..

India has been the largest troop contributor to UN missions since inception. So far India has taken part in 49 Peacekeeping missions with a total contribution exceeding 1,95,000 troops and a significant number of police personnel having been deployed.

India has so far provided 15 Force Commanders in various UN Missions. Presently, Maj Gen Jai Shanker Menon, VSM is serving as the Force Commander in UNDOF (Golan Heights). Besides the Force Commanders, India also had the honour of providing two Military Advisors and One Deputy Military

Advisor to the Secretary General of the United Nations, two Divisional Commanders and seven Deputy Force Commanders. Indian Army has also contributed lady officers as Military Observers and Staff Officers apart from them forming part of Medical Units being deployed in UN Missions. The first all women contingent in peacekeeping mission, a Formed Police Unit from India, was deployed in 2007 to the UN Operation in Liberia(UNMIL).

Many gallant Indian soldiers have laid their life to bring peace and harmony to the world. While serving under the blue flag, 168 Indian soldiers have, so far made the supreme sacrifice.

4.1.3.2 INDIA'S REPRESENTATION IN UN BODIES

India enjoys strong goodwill and support at the UN and has been elected to several UN bodies. In the last few years, India was elected to the Human Right Council (HRC), Economic and Social Council (ECOSOC), International Narcotics Control Board (INCB), International Court of Justice (ICJ), UN Board of Auditors, Committee on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights (CESCR), International Tribunal for the Law of the Sea (ITLOS), International Law Commission (ILC) and Joint Inspection Unit (JIU), among others. Currently India is represented in 22 UN Bodies.

4.1.3.3 INDIA ON THE UN SECURITY COUNCIL

India has served in the UN Security Council seven times (1950-51, 1967- 68, 1972-73, 1977-78, 1984-85, 1991-92 and 2011-12). During its last term (201112) on the UN Security Council, India chaired the UNSC 1373 Committee concerning Counter-Terrorism, the 1566 Working Group concerning threat to international peace and security by terrorist acts and the Security Council 751/1907 Committee concerning Somalia and Eritrea.

India played an active role in discussions on all issues related to international peace and security, including several new challenges which the Security Council was called upon to deal with in Afghanistan, Cote d'Ivoire, Iraq, Libya, South Sudan, Syria and Yemen. In view of the serious threat posed to international maritime trade and security by piracy off the coast of Somalia, India promoted concerted international cooperation against the pirates. At India's initiative, the Security Council mandated international cooperation for release of hostages taken by pirates as well as for prosecution of those taking hostages and those aiding and abetting the acts of hostage-taking.

In its participation in the decision making process at the Security Council, India underscored its commitment to promoting peaceful resolution of conflicts by diplomatic means, including by supporting regional efforts. India also worked for enhancing international cooperation in the areas of counterterrorism, prevention of the proliferation of weapons of mass destruction to non-state actors, and the strengthening of UN peacekeeping and peace building efforts.

4.1.4 REFORM & RESTRUCTURING OF THE UN

India strongly advocates the process of reform and restructuring of the UN to make it better equipped to effectively respond to the evolving needs of its membership, particularly developing countries. The expansion of the Security Council and improvement of its working methods must be integral part of Security Council Reform. It is essential that the Security Council is expanded in both the permanent and non-permanent categories. The inclusion of countries who are capable of global responsibility regarding peace and security, including developing countries from Asia, Africa and Latin America, will contribute to optimal decision by the Council as well as address the concerns of the developing countries.

India is eminently suited for permanent membership of the UN Security Council by any objective criteria, such as population, territorial size, GDP, economic potential, civilizational legacy,

cultural diversity, political system and past and ongoing contributions to the activities of the UN-especially to UN peacekeeping operations. India has affirmed its willingness and capacity to shoulder the responsibilities of permanent membership of the UN Security Council. India in collaboration with other like-minded countries actively participates in the efforts G-4 (India, Brazil Germany and Japan) and L.69 (Group of like-minded countries from Asia, Africa and Latin America) to push forward the inter-governmental negotiations in the UN on the question of reform and expansion of the UN Security Council.

4.1.4.1 TERRORISM

The international effort against terrorism is a key priority for India in the UN. Terrorism is a global phenomenon whose destructive potential and lethal reach is enhanced by linkages to illicit trafficking in drugs and small arms, and international money laundering operations. Domestic measures alone cannot deal with terrorism as long as countries continue to provide safe havens for terrorists, therefore, to be effective, the fight against terrorism must be long term, sustained and global; it must tackle not just the perpetrators of the acts but also those who sponsor them.

India is a party to the 13 sectoral conventions on terrorism adopted by the UN. With the objective of providing a comprehensive legal framework to combat terrorism, India took the initiative to pilot a draft Comprehensive Convention on International Terrorism (CCIT) in 1996. A text of the Convention is being negotiated in the 6th Committee of the UN General Assembly. India also supports strict global implementation of anti-terrorism mechanisms established by UN Security Council Resolutions, including Resolutions 1267/1989 (related to sanctions against ISIS (Da'esh) and Al-Qaeda) and 1988 (related to sanctions against Taliban), 1373 (related to Counter-Terrorism Committee), and 1540 (pertaining to non-proliferation of WMDs), and other international mechanisms such as Financial Action Task Force (FATF).

4.1.4.2 HUMAN RIGHTS

On human rights, India advocates a holistic and integrated approach that emphasizes the interdependence, inter-relatedness, indivisibility and university of human rights. India's position reinforces the inter-relationship between democracy, development, human rights and international cooperation for development. India's participation in debates within the UN on this topic are guided both by India's status as the world's largest democracy, and by its experiences as a large developing country.

From a historical perspective, India played an active role in drafting the Universal Declaration on Human Rights and is fully committed to the rights proclaimed in the Universal Declaration. India is party to the five core human rights covenants/conventions, namely, the International Covenant on civil and Political Rights (ICCPR), the International Covenant on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights (ICESCR), International Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Racial Discrimination (ICERD), the Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Discrimination against Women (CEDAW) and the Convention on the Rights of the Child (CRC). India has also signed the UN Convention against Transnational Organized Crime (UNTOC).

India was an active participant in the former UN Commission on Human Rights, of which it was a member since the Commission's inception in 1947. Following the replacement of the Commission by the Human Rights Council in 2006, India was elected to HRC five times (2006, 2007, 2011-14, 2014-17 and 2019-21) India has been actively participating in the new peer review mechanism of Universal Period Review (UPR) process in the Human Rights Council.

India started its latest three-year term to the Human Rights Council in 2019. It continued its engagement and participation in, inter-alia, sessions of the Human Rights Council (HRC), annual forum meetings, intergovernmental working group proceedings, and human rights Treaty Bodies reporting process.

4.1.4.3 DEVELOPMENT AND ECONOMIC ISSUES

Over the decades, India has urged the UN to play a more active role and be more effective in pursuing a more equitable international order and an economic environment that is conducive to rapid economic growth and development in developing countries. In the context of the new globalized system, India has also actively urged the UN to work to ensure that developing countries can harness the benefits of these processes in an equitable manner.

India has also consistently supported a higher profile and a more central role for the UN in consideration of developmental issues. Specifically, India has emphasized the need for enhanced flows of official development assistance (ODA) to developing countries--in particular, raising ODA from developed countries to 0.7% of their Gross National Income-transfer of technology to developing countries, more equitable terms of trade, accelerating industrialization, agricultural development and food security in developing countries.

India has exercised leadership on these issues in fora such as Non-Aligned Movement and the G-77 to ensure that economic development and eradication of poverty remain priority issues at the UN. India is a significant contributor to the core resources of the UN Development Programme, the UN Population Fund (UNFP), the United Nations Children's' Fund (UNICEF) and the World Food Programme.

4.1.4.4 INDIA AT THE 74TH UNGA SESSION (2019-20)

Hon'ble Prime Minister Shri Narendra Modi led the Indian delegation to the High level segment of 74th Session of the UN General Assembly (22-27 September 2019). He was accompanied by External Affairs Minister Dr. S. Jaishankar, Minister of State for External Affairs Shri V Muraleedharan and other senior officials. PM attended high level meetings viz. Climate Action Summit, High Level Meeting on Universal Health Coverage, and the Leaders' Dialogue on Strategic Responses to Terrorist and Violent Extremist Narratives. PM also announced the launch of the Coalition for Disaster Resilient Infrastructure (CDRI) and the initiative of the "Leadership Group", an outcome of the Industry Transition Track that India coled with Sweden as part of the Climate Action Summit.

During his visit to the UNGA, PM hosted two major plurilateral engagements, namely, meeting with the leaders of the Pacific Small Islands Developing States (PSIDS) (24 September 2019) and

meeting with the leaders of the Caribbean Community (CARICOM) (25 September 2019). This was the first time, Summit level meetings were held with these Groups and PM announced several measures for enhanced partnerships with countries belonging to these Groups.

4.1.4.5 COMMEMORATING MAHATMA GANDHI'S 150TH BIRTH ANNIVERSARY AT THE UN

On the side lines of the 74th UNGA in New York, Prime Minister Shri Narendra Modi hosted a high-level event (24 September 2019) titled, "Leadership Matters: Relevance of Mahatma Gandhi in the Contemporary World" to mark the 150th birth anniversary of Mahatma Gandhi. The event was attended by the UN Secretary General Antonio Guterres, President of Republic of Korea Mr. Moon Jae-in, Prime Minister of Singapore Mr. Lee Hsien Loong, Prime Minister of Bangladesh Ms. Sheikh Hasina, PM of Jamaica Mr. Andrew Holness and PM of New Zealand Ms. Jacinda Ardern. Participating dignitaries paid rich tributes to Gandhian thought and ideals and the influence it had on their lives. On the occasion, the leaders jointly inaugurated the Gandhi Solar Park that was commissioned on the roof of the UN Headquarters. The project consisting of 193 solar panels, symbolic of the 193-member states of the United Nations, was executed by the UN at a cost of US\$1 million. A special postage stamp on Mahatma Gandhi was also released on the occasion.

4.1.5. CONTRIBUTION OF INDIA IN PAST UN MISSIONS FOR PEACEKEEPING

The following have been the missions in which India has contributed since 1950.

- (a) Korea(1950-54): Paramedical Unit comprising 17 officers, 9 JCOs and 300 other ranks was deployed to facilitate withdrawal of sick and wounded in Korea. Lt Gen K S Thimmaya was appointed as the Chairman of the Neutral Nations Repatriation Commission (NNRC) set up by UN. India also provided a custodian force under Maj Gen SPP Thorat comprising 231 officers, 203 JCOs and 5696 other ranks.
- (b) Indo-China(1954-70): India provided an Infantry Battalion and supporting staff for control of Indo-China comprising three states of Vietnam, Cambodia and Laos. Tasks included monitoring, ceasefire and repatriation of prisoners of war, among others. A total of 970 officers, 140 JCOs and 6157 other ranks were provided during the period from 1954- 1970.
- (c) Middle East (1956-67): United Nations Emergency Force (UNEF), where for first time armed troop contingents were deployed. India's contribution was an infantry battalion and other support elements. Over a period of 11 years, 393 officers, 409 JCOs and 12383 other ranks took part in the operations.
- (d) Congo(1960-64)(ONUC): Two infantry Brigades comprising of 467 officers, 401 JCOs and 11354 participated and conducted operations. A flight of six Canberra bomber aircraft of the IAF also participated in ops. 39 personnel of the Indian contingent laid down their lives. Capt GS Salaria was awarded posthumously the Paramvir Chakra for action in Katanga, Southern Congo.
- (e) Cambodia(1992-1993) (UNTAC): Was set up to supervise ceasefire, disarm combatants, repatriate refugees and monitor conduct of free and fair elections. A total of 1373 all ranks

participated from Indian Army.

- (f) Mozambique(1992-94) (ONUMOZ): Two Engineer companies HQ company, logistics company, staff officers and military observers were provided. In all 1083 all ranks participated.
- (g) Somalia(1993-94) (UNITAF & UNOSOM II): The Indian Navy and Indian Army took active part in UN Operations. Indian Army deployed a Brigade Group comprising of 5000 all ranks and the navy deployed four battleships.
- (h) Rwanda(1994-96) (UNAMIR): An Infantry Battalion group, a signal company, and engineer company, staff officers and Military Observers were provided. Total of 956 all ranks took part.
- (i) Angola(1989-1999) (UNAVEM): Besides providing a Deputy Force Commander, an Infantry Battalion group and an engineer company comprising a total of 1014 all ranks. India contributed 10 MILOBS for UNAVEM-1, 25 for UNAVEM-II And 20 MILOBS, 37 SOs, and 30 Senior NCOs for UNAVEM-III.
- (j) Sierra Leone(1999-2001) (UNAMSIL): Two Infantry Battalion groups, two engineer companies, Quick reaction company, Attack helicopter unit, medical unit and Logistic support in addition to sector HQ and Force Headquarters staff.
- (k) Ethiopia-Eritrea (2006-08) (UNMEE): Indian contribution comprised one infantry battalion group, one construction engineer company and one force reserve company, apart from staffing at various HQs and MILOBs.

4.1.6 CURRENT UN PEACEKEEPING MISSIONS- INDIAN CONTRIBUTION:

The Indian Armed Forces are presently undertaking the following UN Missions (Out of total 16 Missions currently underway).

- (a) Lebanon (UNIFIL) (Since Dec 1998): One infantry battalion group, and Level II Hospital comprising 892 all ranks and 07 staff officers, till date. The current situation in the Mission is tense and volatile due to the crises in Syria.
- (b) Congo (MONUC/MONUSCO) (Since January 2005): Extended Chapter VII mandate. India has deployed an augmented Infantry Brigade Group (four infantry battalions) with level III Hospital, a large number of MILOBs & SOs and two Formed Police Units(FPU) ex BSF and ITBP. MONUSCO's new mandate vide Resolution 2098 (2013) has been implemented with an Intervention Brigade provided by AU, deployed under UN Command. The FARDC along with the support of MONUSCO continues to conduct operations to reduce the influence of the armed groups like FDLR, ADF etc. The situation continues to be volatile and uncertain due to the presence of these armed groups.
- (c) Sudan(UNMIS / UNMISS) (Since April 2005): India has contributed two Infantry Battalion groups, sector HQ, Engineer company, signal company, Level-II Hospital and large number of MILOBS and SOs.. The latest political developments in the Mission led to widespread inter-tribe violence and large displacement of locals.. The current situation continues to be highly volatile and sporadic clashes between the tribes are being reported regularly

- (d) Golan Heights (UNDOF) (Since February 2006): A Logistics battalion with 190 personnel has been deployed to look after the logistics security of UNDOF. Maj Gen Jai Shanker Menon, VSM is the Force Commander since Mar 2016. Current crisis due to the Syrian conflict has impacted the mission. The mission had relocated along the 'A' line and our contingent is currently based in Camp Ziounai.
- (e) Ivory Coast(UNOCI) (Since Feb. 2017): The mission is supported by Indian SOs and MILOBs since inception till Feb. 2017.
- (f) Haiti (MINUSTAH) (Since December 1997): Apart from three Indian FPUs there, i.e from CISF, Assam Rifles and BSF, which have been hugely successful, the mission was supported by Indian Army staff officers since inception.
- (g) Liberia (UNMIL) (Since April 2007): India has been contributing both male and female FPUs ex CRPF /RAF in Liberia. The Female FPU repatriated in Feb 2016 and was a inspiration for the women of the host nation and became trendsetters for other such female FPUs across the Globe and male FPU repatriated in Feb 2017.

India has deployed Staff Officers, Experts on Mission and Military Observers in UNOCI, UNAMA, UNFICYP, UNTSO, MINURSO and UNISFA. Indian

Government has issued a stamp for celebrating 75 years of United Nations in the year 2020. In past 75 years, Indian forces have served in 5 different continents. Our forces serving under the blue flag, are a source of inspiration, commitment and dedication to the cause of peace and harmony in the world.

4.1.7 SIGNIFICANT ACHIEVEMENTS OF INDIA IN UN DURING (2014-20)

- The UNGA Resolution declaring 21 June every year as the International Day of Yoga was adopted in Dec 2014 with a record number of 177 cosponsors. This set-in motion global annual observance of the International Day of Yoga.
- Usage of Hindi in UN public communications (UN news, weekly audio bulletins on UN radio and UN social media) began in March 2018 following the first MoU signed by the UN with any country.
- The first ever single-country South-South cooperation initiative at the UN was launched in June 2017 through the "India-UN Development Partnership Fund", a \$100 million fund facility to undertake projects across the developing world. In April 2018, a US\$50 Million Commonwealth window was created under the Fund to support SDG related projects in developing countries of the Commonwealth.
- India worked closely with its partners in the UN Security Council to successfully accomplish the
 listing of Pakistan based terrorist Masood Azhar under the United Nations Security Council's
 1267 Sanctions Committee (May 2019) concerning Al-Qaida and ISIS (Da'esh)and associated
 individuals and entities, which was pending since 2009.
- India was elected to the Human Rights Council in Oct 2018 for the period 2019-2022 with

highest number of votes (188/193).

- India was unanimously elected by ECOSOC for another three year term from 2020-22.
- At the virtual Session of the 73rd World Health Assembly in May 2020, India, along with over 60 countries, co-sponsored the resolution on Covid19 pandemic. India was also elected the Chair of the Executive Board (EB) of the World Health Organization at the virtual meeting held on 22 May, 2020; Dr. Harsh Vardhan, Minister of Health and Family Welfare, would be the Chairman of EB for the next one year.

CHECK YOR PROGRESS 2

NOTE: Use the space given below for your answers. Use separate sheet if space is not sufficient.

1.	When	did India propose the Comprehensive Convention on International Terrorism (CCIT)?
	-	
2.	What	human rights treaties has India signed under the UN?
3.	What	is the Universal Periodic Review (UPR)?

4.1.8 Let Us Sum Up

India has always supported the role of the United Nations, provided that the organization's activities in this regard are not the medium of power politics of the big powers and the sovereignty of the member states is respected and protected from partisan interference or infiltration. Increasingly International issues in different countries of the world, conflict, internal conflict in Sudan, Somali, Pakistan, Afghanistan, while in Lebanon, Israel, Rwanda, Bangladesh, Ethiopia, Somali, etc., mutual conflict for world peace ,nuclear warfare become the new challenge. Also, Increasing health issues around the world; The problem of HIV, bird flu, SARS, malnutrition, starvation, Pandemic, COVID-19 etc., and the crisis of education, employment and poor quality of life, increasing inequality, nuclear warfare and unrest in the world are also a matter of concern. Therefore, the correction is inevitable and for peacekeeping operations the nations all over the world should extend their support to United Nations.

4.1.9 EXERCISES

- 1. What were the main objectives behind the formation of the United Nations in 1945?
- 2. How has the UN contributed to global peacekeeping efforts since its inception?
- 3. What are the core principles of UN peacekeeping operations, and how are they applied?
- 4. In what ways has India contributed to the UN's peacekeeping missions?
- 5. What major successes and challenges has the UN faced in its peacekeeping operations?
- 6. How has the UN addressed nuclear disarmament through treaties like the NPT and CTBT?
- 7. Why is India advocating for reform and restructuring of the United Nations?
- 8. What is India's stance on the expansion of the UN Security Council?
- 9. How has India contributed to promoting human rights within the UN framework?

4.1.10 SUGGESTED READINGS

Bellamy, Alex J., and Paul D. Williams. *Understanding Peacekeeping*. 2nd ed. Cambridge: Polity Press, 2010.

Doyle, Michael W., and Nicholas Sambanis. *Making War and Building Peace: United Nations Peace Operations*. Princeton: Princeton University Press, 2006.

Gowan, Richard. "The Case for Security Council Reform." Foreign Policy, September 2020.

Hultman, Lisa, Jacob Kathman, and Megan Shannon. "United Nations Peacekeeping Dynamics and the

Duration of Post-Civil Conflict Peace." Conflict Management and Peace Science 33, no. 3 (2016): 231-249.

Kamal, Nayanika. "India's Push for UN Reform: Geopolitical Ambitions and Realities." *Journal of International Affairs* 76, no. 2 (2021): 45-67.

Thakur, Ramesh. *The United Nations, Peace and Security: From Collective Security to the Responsibility to Protect.* Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 2006.

United Nations. "Comprehensive Convention on International Terrorism: Background and Status."

Available at:https://www.un.org/terrorism/ccit.

United Nations. "The UN Charter." Available at: https://www.un.org/en/about-us/un-charter.

UNIT - IV: INDIA'S ROLE IN INTERNATIONAL AFFAIRS

4.2 INDIA AND INTERNATIONAL ECONOMIC REGIME: WTO, IMF AND WORLD BANK

-V. Nagendra Rao & Rajesh Kumar

STRUCTURE

- 4.2.0 Objectives
- 4.2.1 Introduction
- 4.2.2 India and the World Trade Organisation
 - 4.2.2.1 Establishment of WTO
 - 4.2.2.2 India in the Uruguay Round
 - 4.2.2.3 Doha Round
 - 4.2.2.4 India's Stand on Doha Agreement
 - 4.2.2.5 Food Security Issue and Deadlock in WTO

4.2.3 India and IMF

- 4.2.3.1 IMF and India's Economic Reform
- 4.2.3.2 India's Demand for IMF Reform
- 4.2.3.3 Slight Improvement in IMF Governance

4.2.4 India and the World Bank

- 4.2.4.1 The Role of World Bank in India
- 4.2.4.2 World Bank and Indian Agriculture
- 4.2.4.3 World Bank and Structural Adjustment Programmes
- 4.2.4.4 India and World Bank: Contemporary Scenario
- 4.2.5 Let Us Sum Up
- 4.2.6 Exercises
- 4.2.7 Suggested Readings

4.2.0 OBJECTIVES

In this lesson you will study India's interaction with international financial regime in general and its relations with WTO, IMF and World Bank in particular. After going through this lesson, you should be able to know:

- India's role in institutionalising WTO and how it is managing the differences with the developed world;
- India's interaction with IMF and from dependence to graduation from the need of any aid;
 and
- The World Bank's assistance in undertaking development projects in India and its influence in pushing economic reforms;

4.2.1 INTRODUCTION

Multilateral economic institutions (MEI) play a significant role in shaping contemporary political and economic interactions across the globe. By their very nature, MEIs embody the collective aspirations of sovereign states. They derive their authority and legitimacy from the willingness of states to concede part of their sovereign decision-making power to such multilateral bodies. In the post- World War II period, MEIs had a clear mandate to resurrect the global political economy from the ravages of the war and set up a system of rules, institutions and procedures to regulate the international economic system. Three institutions were created at Bretton Woods conference to manage international trade and financial architecture. The International Monetary Fund (IMF) was created to stabilize the monetary economics (stabilizing the values of currencies), the World Bank was entrusted with the development and reconstruction and the International Trade Organisation (ITO) was envisaged to regulate trade among the states. Since there is no consensus on nature and functions of the ITO, the institution was never came into existence. A simple agreement on trade was concluded with the nomenclature General Agreement on Trade and Tariffs (GATT). However, the dissolution of the Soviet Union and the world moving towards the US-centric unipolarity, the GATT was replaced with the World Trade Organisation (WTO), replacing the GATT.

4.2.2 INDIA AND WORLD TRADE ORGANISATION

India was one of the 23 founding Contracting Parties to the General Agreements on Tariffs and Trade (GATT) that was concluded in October 1947. India's leaders served as spokesmen for developing country concerns in the discussions that led to the GATT, and India has often led groups of less developed countries in subsequent rounds of multilateral trade negotiations under the auspices of the GATT. India's participation in these international economic negotiations is illustrative of its (and other developing countries') ambivalence towards the importance of trade and of the world trading system in accelerating development. This history provides a broader sense of why India, along with other developing countries, avoided international integration for decades. The legacy of the colonial era as a determinant of India's distrust of the international economy is but one part of the history.

The GATT had pursued trade liberalisation from its inception in 1947. Through successive rounds of multilateral negotiations, it had succeeded in reducing the tariff levels in the developed countries from the average of 40 per cent in 1948 to less than 4 per cent by the end of the Uruguay Round. This was no mean achievement. The Uruguay Round was the most ambitious and the most complex compared with any of the previous Rounds. That is why it took nearly 10 years to

complete. Apart from its objective of tariff and trade liberalisation, the principal aim of the Uruguay Round was to strengthen the multilateral trading system to face the needs of the future. It was feared that with tariffs descending to insignificant levels, countries might be tempted to misuse non-tariff measures for purposes of protection. New sectors of trade were developing at a much faster pace. Because of these reasons the GATT approached the strengthening of the system in the Uruguay Round from four directions. The most important aspect was aimed at improving the functioning of the GATT system as a whole and for increasing the overall effectiveness of the GATT as an institution. This resulted in unconditional application of GATT rules by all members. A new safeguard agreement was developed to govern the introduction of protective actions. A comprehensive dispute settlement mechanism was installed. A new institution was created in succession to the GATT – the World Trade Organization (WTO) – with a wider ambit covering international trade in both goods and services.

4.2.2.1 ESTABLISHMENT OF WTO

As per the Uruguay Round negations, the WTO was established on January 1, 1995 and the implementation of the Uruguay Round results began from the same date. Unlike the GATT whose membership was rather limited, the WTO from the beginning appeared to be moving towards becoming a universal organisation like the United Nations. India became an initial member of the WTO, just as it was an original signatory of the General Agreement. It was an active member of the GATT and always voiced the interests of the developing countries.

4.2.2.2 India in the Uruguay Round

India was an active and important participant in the Uruguay Round, particularly in the areas that affected its national interests. It had closely negotiated the agreements on services, intellectual property, safeguards, customs valuation, textiles and some others. It had strongly resisted a large number of improper demands from the other GATT members. Most of these agreements contain provisions that had been included or modified on India's insistence. Understandably in such a large venture like the Round, India did not succeed in getting all its views incorporated in the final results. Even a powerful economic power like the US had to compromise, often in the face of the strong position taken by India. Every country had to concede something in one area and make some gains elsewhere. The final results of the Uruguay Round reflected a delicate balance of conflicting national interests of all trading countries. Of course, the final results of the Round were not entirely faultless. The agreement on the intellectual property rights, for example, is far from satisfactory. India's experience of its implementation has not been very happy. Some unscrupulous enterprises in the US, taking advantage of the ambiguities in the Agreement and in the absence of legal protection provided by India for its indigenous products, have claimed patent rights on the use of certain indigenous products like turmeric ('haldi') that had been in existence for ages. Another American 'bio-pirate' has claimed patent rights for Basmati rice. Because of the closed insulated economy, India had not been very alert in protecting its intellectual properties in the past. For several decades, the shelves of the supermarkets in the west proudly displayed packets of 'Pure Darjeeling Tea' as the products of Sri Lanka! Similarly, some countries were marketing 'Basmati' rice that bore hardly any

resemblance to the original product from India. Apparently the offices of the Indian Tea Board and similar organisations abroad imagined that their job was trade promotion and the protection of the country's intellectual property rights was not their concern. The Indian pharmaceutical industry has been in the forefront of the agitation against the WTO deal, particularly the agreement on intellectual property rights. It claims that domestic prices of medicines will rise with the influx of foreign manufacturers.

4.2.2.3 DOHA ROUND

The WTO launched the Doha Development Round of negotiations at the fourth ministerial conference in Doha, Qatar in November 2001. This was to be an ambitious effort to make globalization more inclusive and help the world's poor, particularly by slashing barriers and subsidies in farming. The initial agenda comprised both further trade liberalization and new rule-making, underpinned by commitments to strengthen substantial assistance to developing countries.

The negotiations have been highly contentious. Disagreements still continue over several key areas including agriculture subsidies, which emerged as critical in July 2006. According to a European Union statement, "The 2008 Ministerial meeting broke down over a disagreement between exporters of agricultural bulk commodities and countries with large numbers of subsistence farmers on the precise terms of a 'special safeguard measure' to protect farmers from surges in imports." The position of the European Commission is that "The successful conclusion of the Doha negotiations would confirm the central role of multilateral liberalisation and rule-making. It would confirm the WTO as a powerful shield against protectionist backsliding." An impasse remains and, as of August 2013, agreement has not been reached, despite intense negotiations at several ministerial conferences and at other sessions.

4.2.2.4 INDIA'S STAND ON DOHA AGREEMENT

The agricultural sector is India's most vulnerable sector. With the livelihood of around 650 million people in the country being dependent on agriculture, India's interests in the negotiations on agriculture are mainly defensive. India's offensive interests lie in reducing the heavy subsidisation in developed countries.

India's interests in agriculture have always been dictated by the need to safeguard millions of small farmers who operate the majority of farm holdings in the countryside. Agriculture determines the very social fabric of India and is more a way of life and means of livelihood than a question of commerce. Further, India has 25 agro-climatic zones that, on the one hand, provide diversity to crop cultivation and, on the other, make crop rotation within a farm extremely difficult. Given these complexities in agriculture, India has essentially defensive interests in agriculture. India's bound rates and applied agricultural tariffs are among the highest in the world.

Further, the government has considerable flexibility to increase customs duties on most agriculture products, as there is a substantial gap between the existing bound rates and applied customs duty. To illustrate, the bound rate on some edible oils is 300%, but the applied customs duty

is 100%. Thus, the government has the flexibility to raise customs duty on some edible oils. However, in respect of certain products like olive oil, the bound rate and applied customs duty are the same -- 45% — leaving almost no flexibility for raising customs duty, even if the need were to arise in the future.

Keeping its agrarian crisis in view, India had made a strong pitch for according adequate tariff protection to certain products by designating them special products. The products within agriculture regarding which India is extra sensitive with respect to trade liberalisation — due to their potential for huge employment-generation and livelihood concerns — include cereals, edible oils and oilseeds and dairy products. Other agricultural products produced by small farmers and, therefore, sensitive for India are spices, ginger, cane sugar, etc. These need to be protected against deep tariff reduction.

As part of G33, India has strongly supported the need for developing countries to have a Special Safeguard Mechanism (SSM) which would allow them to impose additional tariffs when faced with cheap imports or when there is a surge in imports. However, developed countries and some developing countries have sought to impose extremely restrictive requirements for invoking SSM, which would render this instrument ineffective.

As far as agriculture is concerned, overall there does not appear to have been any major shift in India's negotiating stand. It has firmly resisted making deep tariff cuts on agricultural products. At the same time, it is aggressively pushing developed countries to reduce their farm support. However, as part of the G20 it has diluted its stand on green box and blue box (subsidies provided for limiting production) subsidies. At the Cancun Ministerial meeting in 2003, the G20 had sought a cap on green box subsidies and rejected any expansion of blue box subsidies. However, by the time the 2004 July Framework was concluded both these demands appear to have been abandoned. India also does not seem to have made any headway in obtaining the right to apply quantitative restrictions on agricultural imports, a demand repeatedly made by stakeholders such as farmers' organisations and NGOs.

While India's negotiating strategy has been defensive, in general, there are several products in which it may have an export interest. These include cereals, meat, dairy products, some horticultural products and sugar, which may see a growth in export opportunities with reductions in tariff. India's negotiating strategy should also be cognizant of the export opportunity that may be unleashed in the processed food sector, which has seen significant growth over the past few years. It is here that the decision at Hong Kong to eliminate export subsidies by 2013 assumes importance.

4.2.2.5 FOOD SECURITY ISSUE AND DEADLOCK IN WTO

During the December 13, 2013 meeting of the WTO, the assembled trade ministers with some difficulty reached agreement to formally present to the organization's membership an agreement with two principal features. One, the Trade Facilitation Agreement (TFA), considered in Washington to be uncontroversial, would provide for all members to simplify their customs and other procedures that affect goods crossing borders. The other, which was the subject of passionate

disagreement, especially between the United States and India, provided for limits on agricultural stockpiles maintained for food security. This provision included a special exception for developing countries: their subsidies would not be challenged for four years, during which WTO members would work out a permanent solution to the problem of food stockpiles and the associated stockpiles. The issue was hugely important for India, given the large number of people dependent on the government's distribution program. India agreed, and ministers approved the agreement, which was to be formally ratified by the members in July. Under WTO rules, it needed consensus to pass.

In late July 2014, India – now under a new government headed by Narendra Modi – said it would not agree. It argued that since insufficient progress had been made toward a permanent solution, it was no longer willing to allow the Trade Facilitation agreement to pass unless its concerns about agricultural stockpiles were addressed. India's domestic compulsions and the danger of breaching the subsidy cap for wheat and rice forced the government to thwart attempts by other World Trade Organization members to push through a new set of customs rules without addressing its concerns. While India has been demanding a review of the food subsidy limit for several years, the developed countries have refused to play ball. In fact, in the run-up to the Bali ministerial last December, the rich countries had even refused to acknowledge the food security proposal submitted by G-33, which includes countries such as Indonesia, Brazil and China.

Efforts went on behind the scenes at WTO headquarters in Geneva to find a way through the problem. These eventually bore fruit. Agreement came on the margins of a meeting of two East Asiacentred organizations in Myanmar, attended by both President Obama and Prime Minister Modi. It largely restates the original agreement, but with the important change that instead of a four year "peace clause" on agricultural stockpiling, there is no deadline, and the agreement not to challenge India's subsidies will last until a permanent solution is found. The new proposal still needs to be approved by the full WTO membership.

WTO Director-General Roberto Azevedo said the agreement between India and the US was key to get the multilateral trading system back on track and gave him a basis to intensify his consultations with other WTO members. Now India wants to bring back the long-stalled Doha round on the table. India's Commerce Secretary Rajeev Kher stated in December 2014 that "Doha agenda will be back on tables (in 2015) and we will push for that". Hence, some forward movement can be expected in the near future in establishing trade rules that were elusive by now a long history of WTO.

CHECK YOUR PROGRESS 1

NOTE: Use the space given below for your answers. Use separate sheet if space is not sufficient.

1.	What was the purpose of the GATT?

2.	When was the WTO established?
3.	What mechanism allows developing countries to impose temporary tariffs?

4.2.3 INDIA AND IMF

The International Monetary Fund (IMF) is an international organization headquartered in Washington, DC, of 188 countries working to foster global monetary cooperation, secure financial stability, facilitate international trade, promote high employment and sustainable economic growth around the world. Formed in 1944 at the Bretton Woods Conference, it came into formal existence in 1945 with 29 member countries and the goal of reconstructing the international payment system. Countries contribute funds to a pool through a quota system from which countries with payment imbalances can borrow. As of 2010, the fund had about US\$755.7 billion at then-current exchange rates India is a founder member of the IMF. Finance Minister is the ex-officio Governor on the Board of Governors of the IMF. RBI Governor is the Alternate Governor at the IMF. India is represented at the IMF by an Executive Director who also represents three other countries as well, viz. Bangladesh, Sri Lanka and Bhutan.

India's current quota in the IMF is SDR (Special Drawing Rights) 5,821.5 million, making it the 13th largest quota holding country at IMF and giving it shareholdings of 2.44%. However, based on voting share, India (together with its constituency countries Viz. Bangladesh, Bhutan and Sri Lanka) is ranked 17th in the list of 24 constituencies at the Executive Board.

4.2.3.1 IMF AND INDIA'S ECONOMIC REFORMS

The relationship between India and the IMF dates back to the time when India needed economic reform packages to strengthen its international reputation and fiscal policy. IMF provided major loans to India to structure its finances and maintain average economic growth rate. The organization maintains its association by facilitating:

- Policy guidance to administrations and nationalized financial institutions on the basis of the assessment of fiscal trends cross national know-how;
- Providing study data, statistics, predictions and assessments based on the survey of international, local and respective financial systems and markets;
- Providing loans to assist nations to surmount financial difficulties;

- Providing provisional finances to help evade poverty in progressing nations; and
- Providing technological support and training to aid nations enhance the administration of their financial systems.

India is among one of the developing economies that effectively employed various Fund programmes to fortify its fiscal structure. Through productive engagement with the IMF, India formulated a consistent approach to expand domestic and global assistance for economic reforms. Whenever India underwent balance of payments crises, it sought the help of IMF and in turn the internationally recognized reserve willingly helped India to overcome the difficulties. India purchased IMF gold to lend money to developing countries.

In its latest World Economic Outlook, the International Monetary Fund (IMF) predicted an economic recovery for India starting in 2014-2015. After predicting 4.4 percent growth for the current 2013-2014 fiscal year, the IMF sees the Indian economy growing at 5.4 percent in 2014-2015 and by 6.4 percent the year after. It also expects inflation to cool down to 7.5 percent in the next two years. According to its report, expectations of a resurgent Indian economy come from improving export competitiveness and policies supporting investment.

4.2.3.2 INDIA'S DEMAND FOR IMF REFORM

India on possible international forums has been calling for an acceleration of the substantial work still needed for the IMF to complete the quota reform by the Seoul Summit and in parallel deliver on other governance reforms, in line with commitments made in Pittsburgh. Modernizing the IMF's governance is a core element of India's effort to improve the IMF's credibility, legitimacy, and effectiveness. India recognizes that the IMF should remain a quota-based organization and that the distribution of quotas should reflect the relative weights of its members in the world economy, which have changed substantially in view of the strong growth in dynamic emerging market and developing countries. To this end, India is committed to a shift in quota share to dynamic emerging market and developing countries of at least five pe rcent from overrepresented to underrepresented countries using the current IMF quota formula as the basis to work from. India is also committed to protecting the voting share of the poorest in the IMF. As part of this process, India agreed that a number of other critical issues will need to be addressed, including: the size of any increase in IMF quotas, which will have a bearing on the ability to facilitate change in quota shares; the size and composition of the Executive Board; ways of enhancing the Board's effectiveness; and the Fund Governors' involvement in the strategic oversight of the IMF. Staff diversity should be enhanced.

In 2012, the then India's Finance Minister Pranab Mukherjee kept up the pressure on what he described as the "disappointing" pace of reform on quota and governance issues at the International Monetary Fund and also went to lengths to clarify India's position on certain tax amendments in the 2012-13 budget. Seeking to pin down the timeline for the next steps in the quota and governance reform, Mukherjee said at the G-20 that India would continue to contribute towards a comprehensive review of the IMF quota formula by January 2013 and the completion of the next general review of quotas by January 2014. Together with the International Monetary and Financial

Committee we have reached agreement to enhance IMF resources for crisis prevention and resolution," the G20 noted, adding that there were now "firm commitments to increase resources made available to the IMF by over \$430 billion in addition to the quota increase under the 2010 reform."

4.2.3.3 SLIGHT IMPROVEMENT IN IMF GOVERNANCE

Due to concerted efforts from India and other emerging economies, there is a slight improvement in quota systems and governance of IMF. At the 24-member Executive Board of the IMF, currently, the members with the five largest quotas appoint an Executive Director each, while the rest of Executive Directors are elected. However, the reforms of the Executive Board would facilitate a move towards a more representative, all-elected Executive Board, ending the category of appointed Executive Director. To this end, there has been a consensus to reduce the number of Executive Directors representation advanced European countries by 2 in favour of EMDCs (Emerging Market Developing Countries). The amendments are part of a package of reforms on quotas and governance in the IMF. Along with the recent quota reforms in IMF (i.e. Fourteenth General Review of Quotas), these amendments represents a major overhaul of the Fund's quotas and governance, and help in strengthening the Fund's legitimacy and effectiveness.

CHECK YOUR PROGRESS 2

NOTE: Use the space given be	elow for your answers.	Use separate sheet if s	space is not sufficient.
-------------------------------------	------------------------	-------------------------	--------------------------

1.	Whe	n was the IMF formally established?
2.	Wha	t is India's current IMF quota in SDRs?
3.	Wha	t percentage of the IMF's voting share does India hold with its constituency?
	-	

4.2.4 INDIA AND THE WORLD BANK

India's involvement with the World Bank dates back to its earliest days. India was one of the 17 countries which met in Atlantic City, USA in June 1944 to prepare the agenda for the Bretton Woods Conference, and one of the 44 countries which signed the final Agreement that established the

Bank. In fact, the name "International Bank for Reconstruction and Development" [IBRD] was first suggested by India to the drafting committee.

The Bank lending to India started in 1949, when the first loan of \$34 million was approved for the Indian Railways. The first decade of the Bank's lending to India (1949-1959) saw just about 20 loans for a total amount of \$611 million. During the years 1960-69, overall lending to India from the Bank rose to

\$1.8 billion, about three times the level in the previous decade. Between 1970- 79, there was a large increase in the absolute volume of IDA lending and the IDA share in total Bank assistance reached a high of 80% in this decade. However, in the 1980s, India's share in total IDA lending declined to 25% and was updated by the more expensive WB lending. The volume of the WB lending rose to \$14.7 billion during 1980-89, almost 10 times the level of \$1.5 billion in the previous decade.

4.2.4.1 THE ROLE OF WORLD BANK IN INDIA

The aggregate of the Bank's lending in India in the last 45 years was approximately \$42 billion. India is the single largest borrower of WB and IDA. India has claimed about 15% of total World Bank lending—9% of WB and 28% of IDA commitments.

The 50 years (1944-94) of relationship between the Bank and India clearly shows certain trends. In the early years of relationship, the Bank involvement was not direct and visible as compared to 1980s and 90s. In the initial years, the Bank closely collaborated with the more active USAID to force policy changes. In fact, an unholy alliance of USAID, the Bank, the IMF and Transnational Corporations (TNCs) worked hand in hand to pursue economic changes. However, after the 80s, the Bank along with the IMF has started a direct and visible role in India's policy making.

Nevertheless, there has been continuity in the basic philosophy and ideology of the Bank over the past 50 years. The philosophy of diluting the basis of economic planning, dismantling of public sector, encouragement to private sector (both national and foreign), and greater emphasis to market forces has been forcefully articulating by the Bank since 1950s.

The Bank has been proceeding in a methodically manner to force India to accept its philosophy.

The Bank created conditions so that the Planning Commission was relegated to the background in the late 1960s. During the oil shocks of 1973 and 1980, the Bank was able to push forward its ideology of market forces with great impetus. By 1990, the entire economic environment was made conducive for foreign capital to clay a leading role in tapping emerging markets of middle class consumers in India. And the foreign exchange crisis of 1991 provided the opportunities to the Bank to clinch this objective through structural adjustment program. The past 50 years of Bank operations in India clearly reveals that the Bank has exploited the foreign exchange crisis periods. So far, India has faced five major foreign exchange crises (1957, 1966, 1973, 1980, and 1991). In each crisis period, the Bank did not miss the opportunity to force its ideology on the government of India.

It is not too farfetched to see the post-1980 period of the Bank's loans and aid was one of preparation for the grand and royal entry of foreign capital. By building up infrastructure—power generation, mining and exploration of new reserves, proper roads and rail facilities, trained

technical manpower, etc. In fact, the Bank and the IMF inspired policies have facilitated a new phase of the operation of foreign capital in India. This phase of economic liberalization began in 1980 with the SDR 5 billion loan from the IMF. It weakened the real economy, created the preconditions for export orientation and facilitated the recomposition of the industrial sector in subordination to world capital. This was followed up by another wave of liberalization which included devaluation, lifting of trade barriers and greater impetus to foreign capital and market forces in India.

4.2.4.2 WORLD BANK AND INDIAN AGRICULTURE

Agriculture is the Bank's largest portfolio in any country. 130 agricultural projects have received \$10.2 billion Bank financing so far in India. The current portfolio of about 30 projects under implementation in India includes diary, rubber, sericulture, fish and shrimp cultivation.

The Bank funding to Indian agriculture began in the 1950s but was limited till the 1966 foreign exchange crisis. Then the Bank started supporting agricultural projects viz., fertilizer industry, groundwater exploitation through pumpsets, introduction of high yielding variety seeds, and setting up of banking institutions to finance capitalist agriculture. From 1977 onwards the Bank introduced training and visit management systems for extension purposes to improve the adoption of new technologies imported from western countries. WB supported agricultural extension services in 17 states of India.

There is a woeful lack of serious discussion and debate among the policy- makers on the adverse impact of liberalization and globalisation policies on agriculture. The policies imposed by the World Bank-IMF have a component directly affecting the agrarian economy. These policies have the following components:

- The gradual abolition of input subsidies on fertilizers, irrigation, electricity, credit etc.
- The removal of trade restrictions on agricultural commodities so that the domestic prices are not out of tune with world prices.
- A unification of prices so that the current system of dual markets in food grains and other agricultural commodities disappears.
- A drastic curtailment of food subsidy confining the Public Distribution System (PDS) only to the deserving poor.
- The removal of all restrictions on the choice of what to produce, where to sell etc.
- Freedom of operations for agri-business corporations.
- Abolition of land ceiling laws.

However, Government of India unlike the World Bank, is not touting these measures as 'agricultural reform' but exercises at reducing the fiscal deficit and improving the profitability of the financial sector.

The recent policy changes have affected the agricultural prices. The devaluation and partial

convertibility of the rupee (wherein food grain exports and imports are at market rates) have made the international prices of food much higher in rupee terms (by almost 50% since June 1991), fueling expectations of rising domestic food prices. Domestic food prices increased by almost 50% between 1991-93.

4.2.4.3 WORLD BANK AND STRUCTURAL ADJUST PROGRAMMES

The 80s will be remembered as the decade of global impoverishment linked to the Bank and the IMF's infamous medicine: the Structural Adjustment Program (SAP). These programs are being implemented in over 70 Third World and Eastern European countries with devastating results.

The series of policy measures launched by the Indian government are part of structural adjustment program in India. Government has taken up following measures to implement SAP:

- Devaluation of rupee by 23%;
- New Industrial Policy allowing more foreign investments;
- · Opening up more areas for private domestic and foreign investment;
- Part disinvestment of government equity in profitable public sector enterprises;
- Sick public sector units to be closed down;
- Reforms of the financial sector by allowing in private banks;
- Liberal import and export policy;
- · Cuts in social sector spending to reduce fiscal deficit;
- Amendments to the existing laws and regulations to support reforms;
- Market-friendly approach and less government intervention;
- Liberalization of the banking system;
- Tax reforms leading to greater share of indirect taxes.

Under SAP, WB is not supervising individual sectors of the Indian economy such as agriculture, social sector and energy sector. The Bank now monitors the entire macroeconomy such as balance of payments, fiscal deficit, foreign investment, money supply, etc. The public expenditure reviews are a part of the Bank's conditionalities. Under this review, the Bank not only asks for cuts in expenditure but also gives detailed instructions for cuts in specific sectors.

4.2.4.4 INDIA AND WORLD BANK: CONTEMPORARY SCENARIO

There were significant developments in early 2000 with regard to India's borrowing policies or its dependence on international institutions for credit. In 2003, the then Finance Minister, Jaswant Singh stated that India no longer wished to receive bilateral aid from 22 donor countries. India also began to reposition itself in the global pecking order by transitioning from a net recipient to a net contributor of aid. Though the announcement did not apply to multilateral donors such as the World Bank and ADB, it demonstrated a new Indian confidence about its economic strengths

and assertiveness about aid terms that continue to this day.

The second development, distinct but related to the first, was a reassurance of central oversight with respect to the state-level operations of external assistance providers. The Government of India, following both bureaucratic and political impulses, began to reconsider its relatively permissive stance on the "focus states" strategies of the World Bank. The Central government issued these directives to stop World Bank's involvement with state governments bypassing the Centre. The World Bank influenced many states to undertake sectoral reforms in many states, particularly in agriculture and service sector. The World Bank policies led to increased tariffs for electricity, water, irrigation, housing, etc.

On the other hand, the Indian government also began to reconsider the very premise behind channelling aid toward the most reform-oriented states. As the Bank's programme came to be perceived as favouring middle-income states in Southern India, concerns about India's "lagging states" — especially UP- Bihar-Jharkhand-Orissa corridor — led the Centre to put pressure on the Bank and the other agencies to overhaul their approach to working with states. Even if the donors had been inclined to disagree, they would have had little choice but to revise their strategies in line with Indian preferences.

In the case of the World Bank, there was no significant resistance either to the recentralization initiative or to the shift from reforming states to lagging states. The Bank followed a more general impulse on the part of the Bank to be "flexible and opportunistic" – to do whatever was necessary to remain relevant to this large client that has less and less use for aid that does not fully support its own development goals.

The World Bank and India face a critical juncture in their relationship. Right now, India alone among the giants of the developing world is still eligible for IDA assistance – the centrepiece of the Bank's engagement with poor countries for 50 years. The intersection of two trends in the Bank-India relationship – the coming IDA endgame, and the special emphasis on lagging states in the Bank's country strategy – poses a fascinating conceptual and practical tension for both sides.

India has already maneuvered to reduce its use of bilateral assistance, sending almost two dozen surprised donor countries packing in 2003. India is keen to gain a more prominent role in global governance, whether in the Bretton Woods institutions or in the UN Security Council and its leaders apparently believe that its relationship to aid should be one of a donor, not recipient. They are especially keen to follow the path that rival China trod over previously moving from recipient of aid to a modest donor.

4.2.5 LET US SUM UP

The post-World War-II institutions of global governance, the United Nations and the Bretton Woods twins, the International Monetary Fund (IMF) and the World Bank, were conceived of, structured and managed by the victors of the war, most prominently by the United States. While the United Nations observed the principle of universality in its membership, its Security Council of

permanent members, each with veto powers, represented a Council of victorious allies, including the then Soviet Union. The Bretton Woods institutions were structured to manage the global market and the financial system. The IMF administered a regime of fixed exchange rates with reference to the US Dollar. The World Bank becomes the channel for funding the reconstruction efforts of the warravaged European economies. At a later stage in 1947, the General Agreement on Trade and Tariffs (GATT) was established to manage international trade flows. The Soviet Union as a socialist, planned and non- market economy did not participate in these institutions and remained outside, until the successor state, Russia, became member of the IMF and World Bank in 1992. It has only now been able to join the World Trade Organization (WTO), the successor to GATT.

India is founder member of the all the three Breton Woods Institutions, the GATT (now WTO), the IMF and the World Bank. India's experiences with all these institutions is mixed and nothing special; it has conducted its activities like any other developing country in the world. Most of the period of the Cold War the GATT was not significant in terms of the regulating the trade as the world was divided between two rival camps. However, the dissolution of the Soviet Union increased the role of Western countries under the US patronage which resulted in establishment newer organisation, the WTO to bring the entire global trade a uniform pattern. Similarly, the IMF and World Bank also started playing significant role in terms of pushing the developing countries for Structural Adjustment Programmes (SAP) and economic liberalization. Since these reforms were pushed without factoring the local conditions and unique situations prevailed in in each of these countries, many countries became bankrupt and people have to face dire situations. However, India escaped from that kind of extreme situation, even though it has to undertake some measures to reduce the inflation, deficit budgets, subsidies, etc.

After India's economy underwent liberalisation in the 1990s and moved away from a mixed, state-led economy towards a capitalist and market-oriented approach, its foreign policy became increasingly influenced by geo-economic considerations accompanied by growing aspirations for a bigger say in the international political sphere. India has made numerous calls for greater representation for emerging and developing countries in a number of multilateral forums, including the World Bank and the International Monetary Fund (IMF). In fact, it declared that it no more need any aid from the any country or institution. Even it is accepting the developments loans from the World Bank under certain conditions. Moreover, it is playing very proactive role to reform these global financial institutions to instil democratic governance in their administration.

4.2.6 EXERCISES

- 1. What were the main objectives of the Bretton Woods Conference, and what institutions were established as a result?
- 2. How did the transition from GATT to the WTO change the framework of global trade regulations?
- 3. What role did India play in the formation and negotiations of the GATT and WTO?
- 4. How have IMF loans and policies influenced India's economic reforms?
- 5. What are India's key concerns and priorities in the Doha Development Round negotiations?

- 6. Why is the issue of agricultural subsidies significant for India in WTO negotiations?
- 7. What are the primary objectives of the International Monetary Fund (IMF)?
- 8. How did India benefit from its association with the IMF during economic crises?
- 9. What role did the IMF play in India's economic reforms and structural adjustments?
- 10. How has India contributed to IMF governance reforms?
- 11. What are the key differences between the IMF and the World Bank in terms of their functions and impact on India?

4.2.7 SUGGESTED READINGS

Boughton, James M. *Silent Revolution: The International Monetary Fund 1979–1989*. Washington, DC: IMF, 2001.

Eichengreen, Barry. *Globalizing Capital: A History of the International Monetary System*. Princeton, NJ: Princeton University Press, 2019.

International Monetary Fund. World Economic Outlook: A Survey by the Staff of the International Monetary Fund. Washington, DC: IMF, 2014.

Kapur, Devesh, and Richard Webb. "Governance-Related Conditionalities of the International Financial Institutions." *G-24 Discussion Paper Series*, no. 6 (2000): 1-25.

Mody, Ashoka. EuroTragedy: A Drama in Nine Acts. New York: Oxford University Press, 2018.

Panagariya, Arvind. "India and the Multilateral Trading System After Doha." *The World Economy* 25, no. 9 (2002): 1287-1300.

Reddy, Y. Venugopal. *India and the Global Financial Crisis: Managing Money and Finance*. New Delhi: Orient BlackSwan, 2009.

Rodrik, Dani. *The Globalization Paradox: Democracy and the Future of the World Economy*. New York: W.W. Norton & Company, 2011.

Srinivasan, T. N. "The Future of the WTO and Its Impact on India." *Economic and Political Weekly* 39, no. 25 (2004): 2611-2617.

Stiglitz, Joseph E. Globalization and Its Discontents. New York: W.W. Norton & Company, 2002.

4.3 INDIA AND CLIMATE CHANGE: ISSUES AND INITIATIVES

-V. Nagendra Rao

STRU	UCT	URE
\mathcal{O}		

424	.	α	• 4	•
4.3.0) (()n	ieci	ives

- 4.3.1 Introduction
- 4.3.2 United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change
 - 4.3.2.1 Kyoto Protocol

4.3.3 India and Climate Change

- 4.3.3.1 India's Insistence on Principle of Equality
- 4.3.3.2 India's Concern over Duplicity of Developed Countries
- 4.3.3.3 Slight Improvement in IMF Governance

4.3.4 Climate Change: India's Domestic Policies

- 4.3.4.1 India and the Clean Development Mechanism (CDM)
- 4.3.4.2 Establishment of Institutionalised Mechanisms
- 4.3.4.3 Climate Change and India's Integrated Energy Policy

4.3.5 India's Climate Change Vulnerabilities

4.3.6 India and Copenhagen Summit

4.3.7 India at Durban Conference

- 4.3.7.1 Doha Conference
- 4.3.8 The US-China Deal: A Setback for India
- 4.3.9 India and Lima UN Climate Change Conference
- **4.3.10** Let Us Sum Up
- 4.3.11 Exercises
- 4.3.12 Suggested Readings

4.3.0 OBJECTIVES

This lesson analyses one of the important aspects of contemporary issues, India's role in ongoing climate change negotiations. After going through this lesson, you should be able to know:

- The United Nations efforts to reduced global warming issues with special reference to Kyoto Protocol and other summits and conferences;
- India's position on climate change negotiations and its coordination with other developing countries to safeguard its interests; and
- India's climate change vulnerabilities and its domestic policies to reduce carbon emissions.

4.3.1 INTRODUCTION

Climate change, also called global warming, refers to the rise in average surface temperatures on Earth. An overwhelming scientific consensus maintains that climate change is due primarily to the human use of fossil fuels, which releases carbon dioxide and other greenhouse gases into the air. The gases trap heat within the atmosphere, which can have a range of effects on ecosystems, including rising sea levels, severe weather events, and droughts that render landscapes more susceptible to wildfires.

The primary cause of climate change is the burning of fossil fuels, such as oil and coal, which emits greenhouse gases into the atmosphere—primarily carbon dioxide. Other human activities, such as agriculture and deforestation, also contribute to the proliferation of greenhouse gases that cause climate change. While some quantities of these gases are a naturally occurring and critical part of Earth's temperature control system, the atmospheric concentration of CO₂ did not rise above 300 parts per million between the advent of human civilization roughly 10,000 years ago and 1900. Today it is at about 400 ppm, a level not reached in more than 400,000 years.

The impact of climate change or global warning are well known and well debated. Even small increases in Earth's temperature caused by climate change can have severe effects. The earth's average temperature has gone up 1.4° F over the past century and is expected to rise as much as 11.5° F over the next. That might not seem like a lot, but the average temperature during the last Ice Age was about 4° F lower than it is today.

Rising sea levels due to the melting of the polar ice caps (again, caused by climate change) contribute to greater storm damage; warming ocean temperatures are associated with stronger and more frequent storms; additional rainfall, particularly during severe weather events, leads to flooding and other damage; an increase in the incidence and severity of wildfires threatens habitats, homes, and lives; and heat waves contribute to human deaths and other consequences.

4.3.2 UNITED NATIONS FRAMEWORK CONVENTION ON CLIMATE CHANGE

Climate change first gained significant attention in 1988. Not long afterwards, the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change (UNFCCC) was adopted by various government

representatives in May 1992, and came into force in 1994. Today, the UNFCCC is one of the most widely supported international environmental agreements ratified by 188 states and the European Community (EC).

The ultimate objective of the UNFCCC is to achieve stabilisation of GHG concentrations in the atmosphere at a level that would prevent dangerous anthropogenic interference with the climate system. Such a level should be achieved within a time-frame sufficient to allow ecosystems to adapt naturally to climate change, to ensure that food production is not threatened and to enable economic development to proceed in a sustainable manner.

4.3.2.1 KYOTO PROTOCOL

The Kyoto Protocol is an international treaty, which extends the 1992 United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change (UNFCCC) that commits State Parties to reduce greenhouse gases emissions, based on the premise that (a) global warming exists and (b) man-made CO2 emissions have caused it. The Kyoto Protocol was adopted in Kyoto, Japan, on 11 December 1997 and entered into force on 16 February 2005. There are currently 192 Parties to the Protocol. The Kyoto Protocol implemented the objective of the UNFCCC to fight global warming by reducing greenhouse gas concentrations in the atmosphere to 'a level that would prevent dangerous anthropogenic interference with the climate system'. The Protocol is based on the principle of "common but differentiated responsibilities". Recognizing that developed countries are principally responsible for the current high levels of GHG emissions in the atmosphere as a result of more than 150 years of industrial activity, the Protocol places a heavier burden on developed nations.

Under this protocol countries that are parties to the UNFCCC are classified into two categories, giving rise to a third category including those countries that do not belong to the first two categories. They have different commitments imposed on them. These three categories are defined as:

1) the industrialised countries that were members of the OECD in 1992 and the countries with Economies in Transition (EIT); 2) The countries consist of the OECD members excluding the EIT parties. They are required to provide financial resources to developing countries to undertake emission reduction activities as also develop and transfer environment- friendly technologies to the developing countries as well as EIT parties. Many countries that were not listed are mostly developing countries, including India. Some of the countries that are least developed and especially vulnerable to the effects of climate change are given special consideration under the UNFCCC.

According to the Kyoto Protocol, first category countries agreed to control the emissions of the following six sets of GHGs, not controlled by the Montreal Protocol: carbon dioxide (CO2), methane (CH4), nitrous oxide (N2O), hydrofluorocarbons (HFCs), perfluorocarbons (PFCs) and sulphur hexafluoride (SF6).

In 2009, the United Nations climate change conference was held in Copenhagen, Denmark. There was a widespread hope to the world community about the conference that it would bring a significant policy and commitment to reduce the emission of greenhouse gases. But, the conference couldn't make a consensus decision and thus the accord of the conference was not passed unanimously.

4.3.3 INDIA AND CLIMATE CHANGE

India's position on climate change has been articulated with a conviction and determination probably unmatched in recent years on any other issue. Indian negotiators are known for saying that they did not create the climate problem, emphasizing at every meeting the inequity and injustice of expecting India to cut down its carbon emissions. This underpins India's acceptance of the 1997 Kyoto Protocol. As its government ministers argue, 'India stands by the UN Framework Convention Treaty on Climate Change and the Kyoto Protocol. This mechanism recognizes the "common but differentiated responsibilities" of the countries in the matter of reduction of greenhouse emissions. The Convention also recognizes that as developing countries grow, their emissions are bound to increase'.

4.3.3.1 India's Insistence on Principle of Equality

India's argument is that developing countries have contributed much less in terms of historical emissions, including greenhouse gases (GHGs), than developed countries. India along with other developing countries vehemently put forwarded its case on the principles of equity and common but differentiated responsibility (CBDR). Under the principle of equity, developing nations argued that each person in the world has equal rights in the atmosphere, which is a global commons. Hence, the 'per capita emissions' are central to India's position on carbon emissions reduction. India argued that the developed nations, which have contributed most in terms of emissions, with lesser populations, should reduce their emissions before asking developing nations to reduce theirs.

The crux of argument made by the India along with other developing nations is that carbon emission standards should be based on population. In other words, if one country has say, around 250 million people and another has 1 billion, then the country with 1 billion would be permitted to produce 4 times the carbon emissions as the country with 250 million. There are plenty of statistics out there that show how drastically different the per capita carbon footprint is between developed and developing nations. In this technological and energy hungry age, the per capita carbon footprint of a nation is closely linked to the quality of life of its citizens. India argues that every person in the world has an equal right to engage in activities which result in carbon emissions and benefit from the industries which produce them. Invoking the principle of CBDR, India argued that as the developed nations have more capacity and capability to undertake the task of reducing emissions, they should contribute more to that task and also help developing nations in terms of financial assistance, technology transfer, and capacity building. Thus, India along with other developing nations argued that they will undertake measures to cut emissions, but not at the cost of their socioeconomic development.

Such a position immediately shifts the responsibility on to the shoulders of the developed countries to drastically cut emissions if the world is to meet the target of keeping global warming within the generally agreed 'safe limit' of two degrees Celsius, as determined by the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC). It also allows India the space and time to grow

at a sustained pace and strengthen its poverty alleviation and developmental programmes. However, even more significant for India, particularly when it comes to the international forum, is the assurance that, 'despite our developmental imperatives, our per capita GHG [greenhouse gas] emissions will not exceed the per capita GHG emissions of the developed industrialized countries'.8 It reflects, on the one hand, a position of confidence and self belief in its economic policies and, on the other, a signal to the developed world that it will not be pressurized in the negotiations. This is carried forward in India's adaptation and mitigation policies, which state that, 'the most important adaptation measure is development itself'. On mitigation, India states 'with a share of just 14 per cent of global emissions, any amount of mitigation by India will not affect climate change'.

The equity and per capita argument has become a strong counter-response to the unsustainable consumption patterns of the rich industrialized nations and is in consonance with the UNFCCC, which recognizes the rights of developing countries to economic development and also the 'common but differentiated responsibilities' of different countries. Contrasting calculations have long been made. In 1991 it was the basic point made one of the Indian scholar that, 'only 25 per cent of the global population lives in the rich industrialised countries but they emit more than 70 per cent of the total global CO₂ emissions', and that 'Indian citizens emit less than 0.25 tonnes of carbon per year whereas a citizen of the USA, emits more than 5.5 tonnes'. This has framed India's long-standing argument that emissions by the poor who live on the margins of subsistence should be considered a basic human right and should not be counted when ascribing responsibilities for emissions reduction.

The tenets of India's argument and negotiations on climate change have consistently remained 'equity with social justice'—the right to develop and a need-based living. It draws inspiration from what Mahatma Gandhi, regarded as an apostle of human ecology, is widely cited as having said, that 'the earth provides enough for everyman's needs but not for everyman's greed'. The 'need' and 'greed' add contestation to the 'subsistence emissions' and 'lifestyle emissions' debate. Thus, the right to develop, right to utilize resources and not be penalized by international constraints is held by India. As Manmohan Singh, the then India's Prime Minister, put it:

Our people have a right to economic and social development and to discard the ignominy of widespread poverty. For this we need rapid economic growth. But I also believe that ecologically sustainable development need not be in contradiction to achieving our growth objectives. In fact, we must have a broader perspective on development. It must include the quality of life, not merely the quantitative accretion of goods and services. Our people want higher standards of living, but they also want clean water to drink, fresh air to breathe and a green earth to walk on.

India clearly feels that it is owed an incalculable ecological, social and economic debt by the industrialized, developed countries. The ecological debt also includes the illegitimate appropriation of the atmosphere and the planet's absorption capacity by the industrialized countries. The climate change debate in India has brought in a new set of dynamics and narratives where on the one side there is the politics of blame and on the other recognition of a shared dilemma and a growing need for

4.3.3.2 India's Concern over Duplicity of Developed Countries

India also expressed its concerns on the direction the global climate regime is taking, which can be categorized into three sections:

- Although the principle of equity was central to the discussions of global climate change and
 even until the adoption of the UNFCCC, it has not been part of most the discussions ever
 since, and more specifically since the Kyoto agreement.
- The focus of the regime is heavily weighted on minimizing the burden of implementation of Kyoto reductions on polluting countries (industries), rather than on the vulnerabilities of the communities and countries at greater risk and disadvantage because of climate change.
- The limelight is now the on the global carbon trade and how to manage it, rather than on the reduction of GHGs (which is the main objective of Kyoto Protocol).

Many developed countries, particularly the OECD countries, argue that they have taken enough steps to reduce carbon emissions. But all these proposals, in reality, just compensate the developed countries for their emissions level in 2008. In effect, even if one ignores the huge contribution to the stock of emissions not just until 1990, but until 2008, the OECD countries are not promising much. The targets proposed to reduce the flow of emissions in future suggest that (1) they would not do anything more than what they agreed in Kyoto until 2024,

(2) they would repudiate other components agreed to in Kyoto, such as a penalty for non-compliance and further reductions during the second commitment period starting in 2012.

CHECK YOUR PROGRESS 1

NOTE: Use the space given below for your answers. Use separate sheet if space is not sufficient.

1.	What is the main cause of climate change?
2.	What does the Kyoto Protocol aim to achieve?

3.	How does climate change affect sea levels?
	,
4.	What does the UNFCCC aim to do?

4.3.4 CLIMATE CHANGE: INDIA'S DOMESTIC POLICIES

For a rising economic power like India, the interplay between energy, environment and development policy is complex and challenging. There are issues of eradication of poverty and economic growth, on the one hand, and the sustainability of natural resources and energy choices on the other. India's development path with a projected growth rate of 8%–9% is inextricably dependent upon external fossil fuel supply and, in the absence of sufficient domestic oil resources, its quest for energy security is paramount. While global mitigation strategies are still being deliberated, India's domestic strategy sets forth an approach towards a low-carbon economy, principally to reduce its dependency on fossil fuels without compromising its steady growth rate.

India has undertaken numerous response measures that are contributing to the objectives of the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change (UNFCCC). India's development plans balance economic development and environmental concerns. The planning process is guided by the principles of sustainable development. Reforms in the energy and power sector have accelerated economic growth and enhance the efficiency of energy use. These have been complemented by notable initiatives taken by the private sector.

4.3.4.1 INDIA AND THE CLEAN DEVELOPMENT MECHANISM (CDM)

The Clean Development Mechanism (CDM) is one of the Flexible Mechanisms defined in the Kyoto Protocol that provides for emissions reduction projects which generate Certified Emission Reduction units which may be traded in emissions trading schemes.

The Clean Development Mechanism (CDM), provided for under Article 12 of the Kyoto Protocol, enables developing countries to participate in joint greenhouse gas (GHG) mitigation projects. Under this Protocol, Annex I countries (developed countries and economies in transition) are required to reduce GHG emissions to below their 1990 levels.

India is one of the world's largest hosts of such clean development projects. From 2003 to 2011, a total of 2,295 projects – around one-quarter of the global total – had been registered with India's Designated National Authority for the Clean Development Mechanism. Only China hosts more such projects than India. India's approach to governing the CDM is best characterised as a

'laissez faire' system whereby the Indian government neither actively promotes nor discourages CDM project implementation in different states. This stands in stark contrast to China's national policy, which steers CDM investment toward the country's policy priorities, such as renewable energy, and economically backward provinces.

4.3.4.2 ESTABLISHMENT OF INSTITUTIONALISED MECHANISMS

The Government of India has taken many other measures to reduce carbon emissions; various institutions have established to monitor the climate change scenario to suggest recommendations to Government of India. Some of these institutionalised mechanisms are explained below.

The Government of India set up the Expert Committee on Impacts of Climate Change on 7th of May 2007 to study the impacts of anthropogenic climate change on India and to identify the measures to address vulnerability to anthropogenic climate change impacts. Similarly, a coordination committee chaired by Prime Minister called "Prime Minister's Council on Climate Change" was constituted in June 2007 to coordinate national action for assessment, adaptation and mitigation of climate change. One of the important mandates of this Council is to prepare a National Document, called as India's National Report on Climate Change, compiling action taken by India for addressing the challenge of climate change and the action that it proposes to take.

4.3.4.3 CLIMATE CHANGE AND INDIA'S INTEGRATED ENERGY POLICY

India's Integrated Energy Policy, adopted in 2006, is a response to managing the energy agenda through various measures. The broad vision behind the energy policy is to reliably meet the demand for energy services of all sectors at competitive prices. Further, lifeline energy needs of all households must be met even if that entails directed subsidies to vulnerable households. The demand must be met through safe, clean and convenient forms of energy at the least cost in a technically efficient, economically viable and environmentally sustainable manner. The policy document states that:

Concern vis-a-vis the threat of climate change has been an important issue in formulating the energy policy. Even though India is not required to contain its GHG emissions, as a signatory to the UN Framework Convention on Climate Change and a country which has acceded to the Kyoto Protocol, India has been very active in proposing Clean Development Mechanism (CDM) projects.

Since the impact of the climate change on the country's poor very serious, the energy policy has suggested a number of initiatives that will reduce the greenhouse gas intensity of the economy by as much as one third. These are:

- Energy efficiency in all sectors
- Emphasis on mass transport
- Active policy on renewable energy including bio-fuels and fuel plantations
- Accelerated development of nuclear and hydro-electricity Technology Missions for clean coal technologies

- Focussed R&D on many climate friendly technologies

The Integrated Energy Policy is bolstered by other relevant legislation, including the New and Renewable Energy Policy (2005), the Rural Electrification Policy (2006), the National Environment Policy (2006) and the Environment Impact Assessment (2006).

4.3.5 INDIA'S CLIMATE CHANGE VULNERABILITIES

While India is exposed to climate change risks, it has not yet ascertained how vulnerable it is to climate change. Risk is the probability of the event happening. Vulnerability is expressed by the negative effects of climate change and taken as an extreme form. India is vulnerable to the consequences of climate change like food shortages, droughts, flooding, disease outbreaks, alteration in maritime ecosystems, increased frequency of national disasters, melting of glaciers, degradation of coastal areas, migration leading to demographic shifts, etc. Agriculture will become increasingly sensitive to climate change, while concerns over emissions could lead to protectionism in international trade. As for the more than 70 crore people in rural India who are dependent on the most climate change- sensitive sectors for their livelihoods—agriculture, forests and fisheries—the future will bring declining crop yields, degraded land, water shortages and ill health. The unexpected and extreme weather conditions accompanied by climate change will also render traditional weather knowledge useless.

Climate change and its impact on water resources are likely to emerge as a critical issue in India's relations with its neighbours. Seven of the world's major rivers originate in the Himalayan and Tibetan plateaux and are a source for about 40% of humanity living in China, India, Nepal, Bhutan, Myanmar, Bangladesh, Pakistan and other South-East Asian countries like Laos, Cambodia and Viet Nam. In the Indian neighbourhood, water relations (or water security) will be high on the political agenda. In Pakistan, anti-India propaganda routinely highlights how India is bent upon diverting the Indus waters and converting Pakistan into a desert. Bangladesh has also been critical of India on water-related issues. India's neighbourhood is unstable; fragile states will come under considerable stress and strain due to climate change. Tensions between India and Pakistan are likely to arise over water issues due to reduced flows in the Indus River Basin. Over- fishing could become an issue between India and Sri Lanka. India could face climate refugee inflows from neighbouring countries, particularly Bangladesh and the Maldives. Water issues are likely to assume greater salience in Sino-Indian relations as well, particularly in the context of reports that China is planning to divert the waters of Yarlung-Tsangpo, which originates from Tibet and flows into India as the Brahamaputra, to its northern territories. On the other hand, water conflicts are increasing among the states of India; many states in recent period are entered into a bitter struggles and sometimes it is leading to deaths of innocent people. The water disputes are frequently heard between Karnataka and Tamil Nadu, Kerala and Tamil Nadu, Karnataka and Andhra Pradesh, Maharashtra and Andhra Pradesh, and now between two states of dived Andhra Pradesh and Telangana.

4.3.6 INDIA AND COPENHAGEN SUMMIT

At the Copenhagen Summit in 2009 India, along with Brazil, South Africa and China (BASIC),

emerged as key players in the negotiating process. Though fragmented in outlook, these leading developing countries share a common set of concerns around the developmental impact of climate change itself and, concurrently, a suspicion that the evolving regime on climate change is aimed at shifting an unfair burden of accountability for it onto them. Post- Copenhagen the growing gap between perspectives held by industrialized and emerging economies increased, raising the spectre of a new North–South divide over climate change. While the emerging geopolitical alliance between the four large developing BASIC countries will seek to shape the future contours of negotiations on emission reductions, a counter response can be equally expected, particularly on China and India as global culprits for CO₂ emissions. In fact, the European Union (EU) refers to the two as 'advanced developing countries', trying to make a distinction that India and China should not take refuge in the developing world indices, but should have a new set of parameters to evaluate their particular responsibilities. Calculated backlashes from the industrialized countries, such as the use of environmental regulations as barriers to trade, will be likely and the imposition of such penalties could undermine vital developmental gains for the emerging economies.

4.3.7 INDIA AT DURBAN CONFERENCE

The Durban Conference of December 2011 is a turning point in the climate change negotiations as even though developing countries have won victories, these have come after much acrimony and fight. At Durban the world has agreed to urgent action, but now it is critical that this action to reduce emissions must be based on equity. India's proposal on equity has been included in the work plan for the next conference. It is clear from this conference that the fight to reduce emissions effectively in an unequal world will be even more difficult in the years to come. But it is a conference, which has put the issue of equity back into the negotiations. It is for this reason an important move ahead.

The most contentious issue was if the Conference would agree to fast track work on a legally binding agreement, which would cover all parties. Countries like India were concerned that this move would undermine the principle of equity and differentiation and that they would also be required to take the same level of commitment to reduce emissions as the already industrialized countries. The final decision is carefully crafted to keep in mind these concerns. The Durban Conference agrees to launch "a process to develop a protocol, another legal instrument or an agreed outcome with legal force". It agrees that this work should be completed by 2015, so that this new agreement or outcome can be implemented from 2020. Therefore, countries like India, concerned that a new legal instrument, which would require them to take binding commitments, have won a victory.

The conference also agrees that the process should raise the 'level of ambition' so that the world can close the emission gap and keep below the 2°C or 1.5°C average temperature increase. This would keep the world on track from avoiding catastrophic impacts. The key issue is to ensure that equity will be the basis of deciding the emission reduction targets of the future. It is clear from the Durban conference that the industrialized countries would like to negate the principle of equity and sidestep it so that they can shift the burden of transition to the emerging countries who need their right to development. This issue was articulated strongly by India, but met with resistance. Now

the challenge is to ensure that this remains the foundation of future negotiations as well.

India has managed to bring the issue of equity back on the table. The decision on the Long Term Cooperative Action (LCA) accepts that the issue of equitable access to sustainable development, as demanded by India, must be debated and reported back to the next CoP. The Conference also set a clear target of reductions of 25-40 per cent below 1990 levels by 2020 for the group of countries that are collectively known as Annex 1 parties — listed for their contribution to the stock of greenhouse gases in the atmosphere. This second commitment period under the Kyoto Protocol would begin on January 1, 2013 till December 2017-2020. This is a big victory for the developing countries, which were demanding that this Protocol must continue.

4.3.7.1 DOHA CONFERENCE

In the 2012 climate talks at Doha, Kyoto Protocol was extended till 2020 for a second round where ratifying countries had to reduce emissions by 18 per cent below 1990 levels. However, three of the original signatories, Canada, Russia and Japan did not ratify this time and with US already out, countries contributing 85 per cent of emissions do not come under any obligation in the period 2013-2020.

4.3.8 THE US-CHINA DEAL: A SETBACK FOR INDIA

Till 2009, India never made any commitment to cut or restrict emissions in any manner. But in 2009 during the Copenhagen conference, India declared a voluntary target of reducing its GHG emissions per unit of GDP by 20-25 per cent till 2020 below 2005 emissions levels.

Then comes the November 2014 China-US climate change deal that put pressure on India to move towards setting deadlines for emissions peaking and reductions. But here's a reality check. As per the US-China deal, US will reduce its carbon emissions by 26 to 28 per cent till 2025 from 2005 levels. But if US had signed the Kyoto Protocol, it would have had to reduce its emissions seven per cent below 1990 levels till 2012. Now, since US has chosen 2005 as base year to measure how much it reduces, its 26-28 per cent reduction target by 2025 will achieve same reductions which it would have had to achieve by 2012 under Kyoto.

Similarly the deal says China will ensure its GHG emissions per unit of GDP to reduce 40-45 per cent below 2005 levels by 2025. But in Copenhagen, China had stated to voluntarily reduce its GHG emissions per unit of GDP by 40-45 percentage till 2020. Then in the deal, China also commits to let its emissions peak by 2030 by which time many economists and experts believe that China would become an industrialised economy with life standards almost close to developed countries.

CHECK YOUR PROGRESS 2

NOTE: Use the space given below for your answers. Use separate sheet if space is not sufficient.

1.	Who	en was India's Integrated Energy Policy (IEP) adopted?
	-	
2.	Wha	at does the Lima Call for Climate Action promote?
	_	
3.	- Whi	ich two countries lead the world in hosting CDM projects?

4.3.9 INDIA AND LIMA UN CLIMATE CHANGE CONFERENCE

The recently (December 01-12, 2014) concluded UN climate change conference in the Peruvian capital Lima eventually ended up repeating its previous versions in style and content with little to achieve on the ground.

The Lima conference had a simple target that countries had to declare their voluntary commitments and actions to tackle climate change called Intended Nationally Determined Contributions (INDCs). These were then to be negotiated and signed into an agreement in the Paris climate conference in 2015. The deal in Paris is to come into force after 2020 but the Peruvian capital saw familiar frustrating scenes.

Developing countries' demand developed nations to provide for the last two elements-finance and technology to meet targets for first two elements of mitigation and adaptation measures to tackle climate change. In Copenhagen, developed countries agreed to create a \$100 billion fund for assisting in transferring technology and developing climate friendly projects in developing countries by 2020. Only \$10 billion were pledged in Lima with no concrete mechanism about how will the funding be arranged and disbursed. A UN Environment Program report released at Lima warned that even if global temperatures are restricted to a two degree Celsius rise, the costs of adaptation to climate change for developing nations could touch \$300 billion by 2050. Currently not even ten per cent of that funding is available for developing nations.

India was steadfast at Lima that it will not commit to a peaking date or reducing absolute emissions in the foreseeable future. The eventual result was a hot air agreement whereby everybody got a say but the real target drifted further away.

Though the outcome at Lima is not on expected lines, it somehow managed to keep red lines for all countries, developed and developing. The agreement — Lima Call for Climate Action — paves the way for all nations to submit their "nationally determined" pledge for emission cuts and adaptation measures by October 2015. These intended nationally-determined contributions (INDCs) will form the foundation for climate action post 2020 when the new agreement is set to come into effect. The Lima Ministerial Declaration on Education and Awareness- raising calls on governments to put climate change into school curricula and climate awareness into national development plans.

4.3.10 LET US SUM UP

The climate change and reducing the emission of gases is the most contentious issue between developed and developing countries, though everyone recognises the dangers the world is going to face if meaningful measures are not taken. Developing countries are concerned that the Developed world which contributing maximum to the global warming is reluctant to equally reduce emissions while demanding the same from the developing countries.

Developing countries such as India have millions living in poverty and require huge investments in infrastructure and social development. The challenge before India hence is how to meet the twin, apparently conflicting goals of rapid economic development and decreasing carbon emissions. In order for the transition to a low carbon society to be quick and effective, India along with other developing countries claimed that they need help from developed countries in terms of technology transfer, financial assistance, and capacity building. India is so far successful in withstanding pressure from developed countries in mitigating any decision that would against its developmental interests. It joined with other emerging economies – Brazil, South Africa, and China – to form as a BASIC group to coordinate the interests of the developing countries in the negotiations. However, China broken ranks with the group and concluded an agreement with the US in November 2014, which is a major setback for developing countries in general and India in particular.

In this context, India needs to develop its negotiating capabilities as the sheer weight and complexity of climate negotiations will inevitably lead to more slippages in the future. While climate change is a complex issue, and genuine differences of opinion can exist among our politicians and bureaucrats on how best to approach it, it is far too important and strategic a concern for the country in the long run to be weakened by either individual caprice or collective groupthink. A cohesive policy that factors changing circumstances and mood of the international community is need of the hour. A policy that cannot be defended might weaken India's international standing. If the interests of 1.2 billion Indians are to be adequately safeguarded in the coming decade and beyond, it is imperative that India develops both a coherent grand strategy to address climate change that enjoys broad cross- party parliamentary support, and a strong negotiating team to see it through.

4.3.11 EXERCISES

- Write a note on United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change and Kyoto Protocol.
- 2. How do you understand India's position on Climate Change and its insistence on equality principle?
- 3. Critically analyse India's position on various Climate Change Conferences.
- 4. What are the primary causes of climate change according to scientific consensus?
- 5. How do greenhouse gases contribute to global warming?
- 6. What is the significance of the Kyoto Protocol in addressing climate change?
- 7. How does the principle of Common but Differentiated Responsibilities influence global climate policies?
- 8. What are some of the major impacts of climate change on ecosystems and human populations?
- 9. How does India position itself in international climate negotiations, and what arguments does it use to advocate for equity?

4.3.12 SOURCES & SUGGESTED READINGS

- Uttam Kumar Sinha, "India and climate change", in David Scott (ed.), *Handbook of India's International Relations*, London and New York: Routledge, 2011.
- Daljit Singh, Girish Sant, Ashok Sreenivas, "Climate Change: Separating the Wheat from the Chaff", *Economic and Political Weekly*, January 31, 2009.
- Gautam Dutt, Fabian Gaioli, "Coping with Climate Change", *Economic and Political Weekly*, October 20, 2007.
- Atteridge, Aaron, et al. "Climate Policy in India: A Review of Key Themes and Issues." *Climate Policy* 12, no. 4 (2012): 500-516.
- Dubash, Navroz K., ed. *India in a Warming World: Integrating Climate Change and Development.* New Delhi: Oxford University Press, 2019.
- Government of India. *National Action Plan on Climate Change (NAPCC)*. New Delhi: Prime Minister's Council on Climate Change, 2008.
- Klein, Naomi. "Climate Change Is a Political Problem." *The Nation*, July 2014.
- Kolbert, Elizabeth. *Field Notes from a Catastrophe: Man, Nature, and Climate Change.* New York: Bloomsbury, 2006.
- Mann, Michael E., and Tom Toles. *The Madhouse Effect: How Climate Change Denial Is Threatening Our Planet, Destroying Our Politics, and Driving Us Crazy.* New York: Columbia University Press, 2016.
- Raghunandan, D. "India's Climate Change Policy: Squaring the Circle of Growth and Development." *Economic and Political Weekly* 47, no. 30 (2012): 30-34.

• Shukla, P. R., and S. K. Sharma. "India's Position on Climate Change and Its Commitment to Sustainable Development." *Current Science* 105, no. 9 (2013): 1207-1215.

4.4 INDIA AND NEW REGIONALISM: INDO-PACIFIC, QUAD, BRICS AND G-20

-V. Nagendra Rao

STRUCTURE

- 4.4.0 Objectives
- 4.4.1 Introduction
- 4.4.2 Indio-Pacific
- 4.4.3 Quad
- **4.4.4 BRICS**
 - 4.4.4.1 BRICS Agenda
 - 4.4.4.2 BRICS' New Development Bank
- 4.4.5 G-20
 - 4.4.5.1 India and G-20
 - 4.4.5.2 India and G20: A Critical Assessment
- 4.4.6 Let Us Sum Up
- 4.4.7 Exercises
- 4.4.8 Suggested Readings

4.4.0 OBJECTIVES

In this lesson you will study India's relations with global south with specific reference to G-77, G-20 and BRICS. After going through this lesson, you should be able to know:

- the rise of global south and its impact on contemporary international relations;
- India's relations with G-77 and its contribution to UNCTAD;
- the architecture of G20 and its significance; and
- the evolution of BRICS as institution representing emerging economies of global south.

4.4.1 INTRODUCTION

The 21st century is witnessing a profound shift in global dynamics, driven by the fast-rising new powers of the developing world. China has overtaken Japan as the world's second biggest economy, lifting hundreds of millions of people out of poverty in the process. India is reshaping its future with new

entrepreneurial creativity and social policy innovation. Brazil is raising its living standards by expanding international relationships and antipoverty programmes that are emulated worldwide. But the "Rise of the South" is a much larger phenomenon. Indonesia, Mexico, South Africa, Thailand, Turkey and other developing countries are becoming leading actors on the world stage. The 2013 UNDP's Human Development Report identifies more than 40 developing countries that have done better than expected in human development in recent decades, with their progress accelerating markedly over the past 10 years. Thanks to this rise, South-South trade now accounts for 30 per cent of world merchandise trade, and the exponential growth of the middle class is occurring primarily in Asia. Developing countries today hold more than US\$5 trillion in foreign exchange reserves, which is nearly double the amount held by affluent countries. In 2007, no fewer than 85 developing countries recorded per capita income growth faster than the OECD average of

2.75 percent. India and China have sustained average growth four times faster than the OECD countries in the present decade. The rise of the South can be explained by three factors: proactive developmental states; countries' abilities to tap global markets; and social policies that emphasise human development values such as public investment in education and healthcare.

Cooperation amongst developing countries has risen to unprecedented levels since the decade of the nineties fuelled by the growing prosperity of the developing South. There is a two-fold impact manifested in the increasing number of countries actively engaged in South-South cooperation and the significant scaling up of South-South initiatives by individual countries. Hence, studying the relations among the countries of the South has assumed particular importance. Hence, in this lesson, we study India's relations with countries of the South and important institutions that are expressing the voice and interests of these countries, i.e. G-77, G-20 and BRICS.

4.4.2 INDO-PACIFIC

Indo-Pacific region emerged as the most important geopolitical entity in the 21st century international relations. The term 'Indo-Pacific' has now entered the lexicon of policymakers and strategists in the region stretching eastwards from India to the United States, and southwards from Japan to Australia to refer to an emerging regional strategic system.

It is often argued that the 'Indo-Pacific' region is too vast to be a coherent strategic system. However, in the last few years it has come to be associated as the region where global power is shifting. The post-Cold war period has been experiencing a shift in wealth and power towards Asia.

Covering the Indian and Pacific Ocean basins, this wider region contains 36 countries, 16 time zones, more than half of the world's megacities, 7 of the 8 fastest-growing markets, 7 of the 10 largest armies, 25,000 islands, and 60 percent of the world's population-and it is still growing. By 2030, nearly 85% of global energy consumption is expected to come from the region spanning from the Eastern Coast of Africa through Indian Ocean. The two most populous countries, China and India, have pulled a combined total of nearly one billion people out of extreme poverty. In keeping with the last 30 years of extraordinary growth, economists predict that by 2030, the Indo-Pacific will be home to the five largest national economies: the United States, China, India, Indonesia, and Japan. Then, it is no surprise that Indo-Pacific is the most militarized area in the world with seven of the world's ten largest standing armies, the

world's largest and most sophisticated navy and five of the world's declared nuclear nations.

Origin of the Term

The term Indo-Pacific is not a new creation. It has been discussed since the 1920s and 1930s. Today, it is essentially considered to be an American strategy to build an architecture vis-a- vis China.

In 21st century lexicon, two of the earliest appearances of the Indo-Pacific concept were in a 2007 article by an Indian analyst, Gurpreet Khurana, and, later that year, in a speech by the Japanese prime minister, Shinzo Abe, to the Indian Parliament, in which he raised the prospect of a 'broader Asia' fashioned out of the confluence of the Pacific and Indian Oceans.

Subsequently, the Indo-Pacific regional construction appeared sporadically in think-tank commentary before gaining prominence from 2011 after it appeared in speeches by Hillary Clinton, when she was Secretary of State of the US, and Stephen Smith, when he was Australia's Minister for Defence. India has featured prominently in these commentaries as a key partner in regional architecture-building. Later on, Japanese Prime Minister Shinzo Abe and Australian Prime Minster were equally articulated the new strategic architecture centred around Indo-Pacific.

The emergence of the Indo-Pacific concept in international policy discourse was also welcomed by some Indian officials, such as India's former Ambassador to the United States, Nirupama Rao, because it gives international recognition to the shifts in India's regional engagement since the 1990s: According to her, 'The earlier concept of the Asia- Pacific had sought to exclude India'; in contrast, 'today the term Indo-Pacific encompasses the subcontinent as an integral part of this eastern world'.

Much of the discussion regarding Indo-Pacific is centered around China as the most formidable competitor to the United States on the world stage not only economically, politically, technologically, and militarily, but also in terms of worldview and ultimate influence. Therefore, it is no surprising that the United States and its strategic partners such as Australia, Japan, India, the ASEAN have adopted "Indo-Pacific" as a policy symbol of regional engagement and have started taking actions to make "Indo-Pacific" an ideal region for themselves based on their values.

Important Countries / Powers in Indo-Pacific Strategic Construct

There are Five Important Powers in the Indo-Pacific region. These are the US, Japan, Australia, India and ASEAN.

The US

The United States is the most vocalist for the grouping of countries located in and around Pacific and Indian Oceans. In mid-2018, the United States renamed its largest military command, the US Pacific Command, to the US Indo-Pacific Command to emphasise its new approach to Asia.

An American projection of a free and open Indo-Pacific that leads to a secure and prosperous region is predicated on security in terms of values, political systems, open seas and airways, free trade, and transparent investment. Today, the United States argues against China's initial OBOR strategy as

inconsistent with promises of freedom and openness.

The United States strategy indicates that it pursues FIVE broad objectives in the Indo- Pacific region. These are: 1) advance a free and open Indo-Pacific; 2) build connections within and beyond the region; 3) drive regional prosperity; 4) bolster Indo-Pacific security; 5) build regional resilience to transnational threat.

What had changed in the US approach was not only its conception of the region's geographical expanse, but also the recognition of the rise of a multipolar system within the region and the importance of engaging with a range of stakeholders in a variety of formats. This change was significant as the US was coming to terms with the fact that it simply did not have the means to engage with each stakeholder and address each regional challenge bilaterally, as it had largely done since the end of the Cold War.

The Biden administration has both continued pre-existing strategic initiatives and created new ones in the Indo-Pacific region. It has sustained and reinvigorated the Quad, expanded strategic partnerships with ASEAN, unveiled new security pacts like AUKUS, and adopted an Indo-Pacific Economic Framework.

Japan

The origins of Japan's notion of "Indo-Pacific" can be found in Prime Minister Abe's speech before the Indian Parliament in August 2007. A senior Japanese government official pointed to the speech as an example of the prime minister's longstanding awareness of the importance of a free and open "Indo-Pacific" region. While using the term "broader Asia". He pointed out the imperativeness of deepening friendship between India and Japan, located at the opposite edges of Indian and Pacific Oceans, as the new "broader Asia" took shape at the confluence of the two seas.

Japan under Prime Minister Abe has been instrumental in shifting the conceptualisation of the region from the Asia-Pacific to the Indo-Pacific. Japan's "selective mobilisation" of countries with shared values and interests gave birth to the so-called "democratic security diamond" consisting of four maritime democracies (US-Australia-Japan-India), known as the Quad. In this context, Abe's Free and Open Indo-Pacific Strategy - which focuses on promoting regional economic prosperity through connectivity, maritime capacity-building and free navigation - has become central in the alignments between Japan and each of the regional (Australia, India) and extra-regional (the UK and France) partners.

Australia

Australia used the term "Indo-Pacific" as a keyword in strategic documents way back in October 2012, when the government published a white paper titled Australia in the Asian Century, and introduced "Indo-Pacific" as a new conception for the Asian region. Immediately after that, Australia used the "Indo-Pacific" as an alternative to the "Asia- Pacific" in its new security and defence strategy.

The white paper provided Australia's initial geographical definition of "Indo-Pacific", an area "extending from India through Southeast Asia to Northeast Asia, including the sea lines of communication". The white paper listed "Indo-Pacific" as Australia's third strategic defence interest, after the Australian mainland itself and South Pacific and Timor-Leste, and before a rules-based order.

While Australia's relations with China have deteriorated in the recent past, Canberra has engaged with allies

and partners more intensely and broadly, including deeper cooperation with the Quad countries and trilateral security pact with AUKUS (Australia-United Kingdom-United States). In 2020, India and Australia elevated their bilateral relationship to comprehensive strategic partnership and further deepened their ties by cooperating on various issues in the two Quad Summits and 2+2 Ministerial Dialogue held last year.

India

Given the geographical positioning and dependence on maritime trade, New Delhi has always recognized the significance of the maritime domain in Indian strategic thinking. Recognizing the fact that unconventional security threats cannot be effectively addressed without securing the eastern Indian Ocean and western Pacific Ocean, India officially joined the Indo-Pacific construct in 2018.

Addressing the Shangri La Dialogue in Singapore, Prime Minister Narendra Modi outlined India's vision and policy elements for the Indo-Pacific. In his address, Modi called for "an open and inclusive order in Indo-Pacific based on respect for sovereignty and territorial integrity of all nations." Modi's address was followed by the launch of the Indo-Pacific Ocean Initiative (IPOI) in November 2019, which added more clarity to India's vision. The IPOI listed seven pillars for the cooperation with Indo-Pacific countries:(1) Maritime Security; (2) Maritime Ecology; (3) Maritime Resources; (4) Capacity Building and Resource Sharing; (5) Disaster Risk Reduction and Management;

(6) Science, Technology and Academic Cooperation; and (7) Trade, Connectivity and Maritime Transport. The initiative envisages drawing on existing regional cooperation architecture and mechanisms to achieve the objective of open and inclusive Indo- Pacific.

Similarly, India established an Indo-Pacific division in its Ministry of External Affairs through the integration of the desks looking after the Indian Ocean Rim Association (IORA), the Association of Southeast Asian Nations (ASEAN), and the Quadrilateral Security Dialogue (or the 'Quad,' an informal strategic group that includes the United States, Japan, Australia, and India).

ASEAN

Indonesia was one of the earliest users of the term "Indo-Pacific" in official statements. In May 2013. Since early 2018, Indonesia has promoted its own "Indo-Pacific" concept. In January 2018, Foreign Minister RetnoMarsudi introduced her view of "Indo-Pacific". She mentioned that Indonesia wanted the ecosystem of peace, stability and prosperity to be established not only in ASEAN, but also in the Indian and Pacific Ocean rims or the "Indo-Pacific", and that it would continue to contribute to advancing a strong positive cooperation in the region together with ASEAN.

Indonesia's "Indo-Pacific" concept has developed into ASEAN's concept. In his remarks at the 32rd ASEAN Summit of April 2018, President Widodo enunciated his view that "Indo-Pacific" cooperation should be inclusive and should promote ASEAN centrality, and that ASEAN should be able to contribute in both the Pacific and Indian Oceans. At its 34th summit in June 2019, ASEAN finally adopted a document titled "ASEAN Outlook on the Indo-Pacific (AOIP)" as an initiative that reinforced the ASEAN- centred regional architecture.

ASEAN's "Indo-Pacific" has two characteristics that are different from the others' conception of "Indo-Pacific". First, ASEAN recognises "Indo-Pacific" as an aggregation of the two existing regions - Asia-Pacific

and Indian Ocean region - which have regional or sub-regional mechanisms, rather than as an aggregation of the two oceans. Second, the AOIP puts the Asia-Pacific region first and Indian Ocean region second, notwithstanding the word order of "Indo-Pacific". These characteristics derive from 16 ASEAN's strong stance that the existing ASEAN-led mechanisms in the Asia-Pacific region should keep developing as a central platform for the emerging regional order in the "Indo-Pacific".

Future Scenarios

The Indo-Pacific construct is not a complete one and it is still evolving. There is a possibility of four scenarios in the future: 1) an American-ledorder, 2) a Chinese-led order, 3) a bipolar order, and 4) a multipolar order.

American-led order: An American-led order would largely resemble the existing order. The United States would continue to develop and advance regional rules and norms, along with its allies and partners. The United States shape the Indo-Pacific region according to its interests and desires.

Chinese-led order: A Chinese-led order would represent a fundamental break from the existing order. Beijing would take the leadership role from the United States, allowing the China to shape the region's development. Beijing would likely attempt to increase its political, economic, technological, military and cultural influence in the region and beyond.

Bipolar order: A bipolar order would meld elements of these two orders. The United Statesand China would compete across the Indo-Pacific, with each seeking to shape an orderfavouring its own interests.

As in the scenarios described above, regional states wouldhave limited agency; they would be forced to choose sides. A bipolar order would put apremium on the alignment decisions of regional states, but also put them at greater risk.

Multipolar order: A multipolar order would include three or more states competingfor regional power and influence. Potential poles in this system could include not onlythe United States and China, but also India, Japan, Indonesia, and others. In such anenvironment, regional states would have greater opportunity to remain non-aligned.

Scenario	Yes	No
Will China Rise Continue	China-led Order	American-Led Order
Will America Remain Engaged in Asia?	American-Led Order	China-led Order
Will regional states pursue autonomy?	Multipolar Order	Bipolar Order

Yet, regional rules and norms might also be more contested as the number of poles increases. As shown in the Table, if China's rise stalls, then the United States will likely continue lead the regional order. If China's rise continues and America disengages from Asia, then China will likely inherit the mantle of regional leadership. If China's rise continues and America remains engaged, then the order will depend largely on the actions of regional states. If regional states choose to align with the United States or

China, then bipolar order will emerge. If regional states pursue autonomy from these two powers, then a multipolar order is more likely.

CHECK YOUR PROGRESS 1

N	OTE: Use the space given below for your answers. Use separate sheet if space is not sufficient.
1.	What does South-South cooperation involve?
_	
2.	What is India's primary objective in the Indo-Pacific?
3.	Which countries are leading powers in the Indo-Pacific?

4.4.3 QUAD

The Quadrilateral Security Dialogue (Quad) is a strategic forum involving four countries: the United States, India, Japan, and Australia. It is not a formal military alliance but rather a strategic dialogue aimed at enhancing cooperation in the Indo-Pacific region. The Quad traces its roots back to 2004, when the four countries coordinated humanitarian assistance and disaster relief after the Indian Ocean tsunami. This cooperation laid the groundwork for a broader strategic dialogue.

In 2007, Japanese Prime Minister Shinzo Abe proposed the idea of a "Democratic Security Diamond" to bring together the four nations with shared values and strategic interests. The original Quad initiative faced diplomatic pressure from China and waned by 2008, with Australia withdrawing amid concerns about antagonizing Beijing. The group went dormant for almost a decade.

The Quad was revived on the sidelines of the ASEAN Summit in Manila, with a renewed focus on maintaining a "free and open Indo-Pacific." Since 2017, the Quad has held regular ministerial meetings, and in 2021, it was elevated to the level of leaders' summits, signalling its growing importance. While not explicitly stated, a key strategic rationale is to provide a counterweight to China's growing assertiveness in the region.

While security and strategic cooperation remain key, the Quad has expanded its focus to include: climate change, cybersecurity, infrastructure development, supply chain resilience, vaccine distribution (notably during COVID-19).

At a time of shifting global power, Quad members have increasingly tied security policy in the Indo-Pacific to shared liberal values like democracy, rule of law, and freedom. From the early 2000s, US officials promoted a post-Cold War security network in Asia rooted in democratic values. Under leaders like Condoleezza Rice, Donald Trump, and Joe Biden, the US emphasized a "free and open Indo-Pacific" and framed the Quad as a values-based alliance to counter China's influence. Security was broadened to include economic and governance dimensions. Japanese PM Shinzo Abe was a strong proponent of a values-based Indo-Pacific, introducing ideas like the "Arc of Freedom and Prosperity" and the "security diamond." Over time, Japan balanced promoting liberal values with practical economic engagement and regional inclusivity.

Canberra's 2017 foreign policy White Paper echoed a vision of an open, inclusive Indo-Pacific, grounded in liberal democratic values. However, growing tensions with China—especially after Australia's call for a COVID-19 inquiry—led to a firmer stance. Successive leaders, including Scott Morrison and Anthony Albanese, maintained commitment to the Quad while shifting rhetoric from values-based security to broader economic and technological cooperation.

Overall, the Quad has emerged as a values-laden but strategically flexible grouping, promoting regional stability through both democratic identity and pragmatic security interests—despite internal contradictions, especially around India.

India plays a pivotal yet cautious role in the evolving Indo-Pacific security landscape, particularly within the Quadrilateral Security Dialogue (Quad) alongside the U.S., Japan, and Australia. While India has increased its defense cooperation with the U.S.—especially since the 2020 border clash with China—it resists formalizing the Quad into a collective defense alliance. Instead, India prefers a loose framework focusing on soft security and public goods, aligning with its emphasis on strategic autonomy and inclusiveness.

India's continued military ties with Russia, including its purchase of the S-400 missile system, complicate interoperability with other Quad members and reflect New Delhi's broader goal of avoiding entanglement in exclusive Western-led security structures. Its neutrality on the Ukraine conflict further underscores India's reluctance to align fully with U.S.-led liberal international norms.

Regionally, India differentiates its Indo-Pacific vision from Western counterparts by promoting inclusivity, ASEAN centrality, and non-institutional cooperation—contrasted with

more exclusive or alliance-like models like AUKUS. In the Indian Ocean, India asserts leadership through its SAGAR initiative, projecting a liberal but sovereign-centric vision aimed at excluding China's influence.

Ultimately, India seeks to shape a pluralistic, rule-based regional order without committing to rigid alliances. This approach may limit the depth of Quad cooperation but allows India to retain autonomy while managing rising Chinese power. India may prefer a future "concert of powers" model over exclusive security communities, though recognition as a great power by peers like China remains uncertain. For now, India's ambivalence within the Quad reflects a balancing act between strategic engagement and preserving independence in global affairs.

4.4.4 BRICS (BRAZIL, RUSSIA, INDIA, CHINA AND SOUTH AFRICA)

BRICS is the acronym for an association of five major emerging national economies: Brazil, Russia, India, China and South Africa. The grouping was originally known as "BRIC" before the inclusion of South Africa in 2010. The BRICS members are all developing or newly industrialised countries, but they are distinguished by their large, fast-growing economies and significant influence on regional and global affairs; all five are G-20 members. Since 2010, the BRICS nations have met annually at formal summits.

The BRICS have a total population of about 3.21 billion as per 2019 estimations, about 41.5% of the global population, and26.7% of the world's land surface. Brazil, Russia, India, and China are among the world's ten largest countries by population, area, and GDP (PPP), and the latter three are widely considered to be current or emerging superpowers. All five states are members of the G20, with a combined nominal GDP of US\$28.06 trillion (about 26.6% of the gross world product), a total GDP (PPP) of around US\$56.65 trillion (32.5% of global GDP PPP), and an estimated US\$4.46 trillion in combined foreign reserves (as of 2018).

Among the group of emerging economies, BRICS are playing a crucial, if not systemic, role in global economy. Three main aspects are underlining the relevance of BRIC as protagonists in development cooperation: The outstanding size of their economies; Strong growth rates, leading to increasing significance in world economy, and the demand for a stronger political voice in international governance structures, which corresponds to their economic status.

4.4.4.1 BRICS AGENDA

The BRICS member states come together as sovereign independent nations, and with common purpose to forge a long-term strategy for multilateral and mutual cooperation amongst one another. To this end, BRICS member states pledge to work together in the quest for:

- 1. promoting cooperation for economic growth and development;
- 2. peace and security;
- 3. social justice, sustainable development, and quality of life;

- 4. political and economic governance; and
- 5. progress through knowledge and innovative sharing.

The strategy has evolved dynamically from the founding and subsequent Summit meetings of leaders of the BRICS member states. It presents a broad trajectory for the attainment of policy objectives and goals that will address current global challenges facing member states and the world at large. BRICS member states have common ideals in the pursuit of economic and social development in their own countries, BRICS is committed to building an international economic and political order that is just and fair.

As a new multilateral grouping, BRICS acknowledges the differences among its members in terms of history, culture, political systems, economic structures, resource endowment, and levels of development. Members view these as a demonstration of the diversity of the world's civilizations. BRICS countries recognize in this diversity the possibility for deeper cooperation for mutual benefit, drawing on the comparative advantage of each other country to collectively complement and build on one another's strength.

BRICS group, in their first meeting, called for a more democratic and multi-polar world order based on cooperation, coordinated action and collective decision-making of all states. Some analysts are interpreting the emergence of BRICS in a neo-realistic way, assuming that BRICS want to challenge and counterbalance US (and western) hegemony. Scholars are of view that the coherence of BRICS is undermined by a number of aspects. One also has to keep in mind, that BRICS are actually winners of the globalisation process of the last decade (on average GDP) and are opting for participation and influence in multilateral economic and political institutions like G20, IMF and World Bank.

In last few years, Ministerial meetings took place during UN and G20 conferences. Beyond these informal meetings the BRICSdialogue was institutionalized through summit meetings every year. During these meetings, development cooperation was a major issue. The five countries are forming a strategic alliance in order to increase their political weight at the international level and to enforce common political and economic interests. Issues such as food security and the commitment to provide financial and technical assistance in fighting undernourishment in developing countries have been raised during these summits. BRICS have also committed themselves to achievement of Millennium Development Goals (MDG) goals. To them, eradication of extreme poverty and hunger is a moral, social, political and economic imperative of humankind and one of the greatest global challenges facing the world today, particularly in Least Developed Countries in Africa and elsewhere.

4.4.4.2 BRICS' NEW DEVELOPMENT BANK

On 15 July 2014, the five BRICS countries formally created a "New Development Bank" at Forteleza, Brazil, which would be headquartered in Shanghai and would have an Indian as its first president. It would have a capital base of \$50 billion to start with, contributed by the five governments, and would provide development funding to all governments for infrastructure projects. The BRICS proposal also envisages a Contingency Reserve Arrangement, of \$100 billion, which will give loans to governments for tiding over balance of payments problems.

Recently, in 2021, Bangladesh, Egypt, the United Arab Emirates and Uruguay were added as new

members of BRICS New Development Bank (NDB).

Many economists and commentators have welcomed the BRICS Bank, each of them citing some mix of the arguments: first, it increase the role of the BRICS countries in "global economic governance". These countries are currently marginalised in the affairs of the main development lending agency, the World Bank, which operates on the principle of votes according to capital share, and not "one country one vote" (the principle that governs the UN); their economic weight increases if they jointly have a development bank of their own that has the same objectives that the World Bank was originally supposed to fulfill when it was launched at Bretton Woods.

The second argument is that it increases the "weight of the South" in "global economic governance". It is being claimed that the BRICS Bank operates on the basis not of "votes according to capital share", but of "one country one vote", with no veto power given to any country; and in addition to the five countries who own the Bank, there also be some other countries of the South, on a rotation basis, on the Board of the Bank who are entitled to vote. Consequently, it is not just be a BRICS Bank but one representing in some ways the entire South.

BRICS CRA

The BRICS Contingent Reserve Arrangement (CRA) is a framework for providing protection against global liquidity pressures. The objective of the CRA is to provide safety net against potential shocks in global financial markets and the possible resulting balance of payment problem. It is found that emerging economies that experienced rapid economic liberalization went through increased economic volatility. The CRA is generally seen as a competitor to the International Monetary Fund (IMF) and along with the New Development Bank is viewed as an example of increasing South-South cooperation. It was established in 2015 by the BRICS countries.

However, many commentators criticized the NDB and CRA by saying that the BRICS on one hand seek to promote some form of pluralism in the international arena and on the other do not seem to offer an alternative. In the case of the financial institutions, they have caused a reform in the decision-making power of the traditional institutions but has not provided an alternative development policy. Indeed, the officials of the NDB represent different backgrounds with some known for their support for the old consensus and some other for their critique towards it.

COVID-19 and BRICS

Amid the continuing crisis caused by COVID-19 pandemic, BRICS seems to fare as a better, effective, and efficient institution in comparison to other global governance institutions. Not all countries within the group are at the same level of economic development, however, it is noteworthy that all countries are working towards a shared vision to intensify cooperation in health care and social welfare sectors.

The BRICS countries implemented different epidemic interventions. Containment strategy is more effective than intermediate strategy and mitigation strategies in limiting the spread of COVID-19. BRICS countries have actively engaged in COVID-19 cooperation and reached consensus through bilateral and BRICS summit. Firstly, as part of their health cooperation, these countries sent medical experts, provided medical supplies, established an early warning mechanism for infectious diseases, and sharing experiences in fighting

the virus. Secondly, vaccine cooperation carried out not only among themselves but also through least developed countries. Thirdly, the New Development Bank granted \$ 1 billion in emergency loans to each BRICS member countries for purchasing of personal protective equipment and easing the economic recession.

Critical Evaluation

Despite, several achievements, the BRICS also attracted considerable criticism from the experts of international relations. According to them, just after a decade of its existence, the BRICS group and the rising powers narrative have lost some of their appeal. The economic growth story has stalled, and domestic political challenges curb the group's foreign policy potency.

In the recent past, domestic challenges have curbed the ability of at least some group members to project power. This could be seen in the cases of Brazil and South Africa. The two countries were going through a phase of sustained public protest, mis- management and economic stagnation. Likewise Russia has experienced an economic downturn and the Chinese supercharged growth period is nearing its end, while India is not able to leave the shadow of Chinese dominance. In fact, China's hegemonic aspirations in the region are increasingly becoming a domestic political issue for India as one could observe in the strong reactions to the border standoff in summer 2020. Disparities within the BRICS are not closing. China and Russia display an increasing eagerness to assume their role as great powers, while India, Brazil and South Africa appear as limited in their external power projection.

4.4.5 G-20

The G20 has its origins as a forum for finance ministers in the late 1990s in response to the instability in the global financial system. The role of the G20 has continued to grow and formally replaced the G8 as the preeminent site for executive level deliberation in 2009. The G20 has been formally assigned duties for the management of the global economy, although there are those who would like to see it venture into other issues, such as international security.

The G20 includes 19 countries and the European Union (EU). The creation of the G20 was announced by the finance ministers of the 'Group of Seven' (or Eight, if Russia is included, so also called G8) leading industrial nations in Washington on 25 September 1999. The nineteen countries are: Argentina, Australia, Brazil, Canada, China, France, Germany, India, Indonesia, Italy, Japan, Mexico, Russia, Saudi Arabia, South Africa, South Korea, Turkey, the United Kingdom, and the United States. As earlier stated, the European Union was also included. The Bretton Woods Institutions (BWI), such as the International Monetary Fund and the World Bank sat in as well.

The body did not originate without accompanying birth pangs. The French opposed its creation. They felt it would undermine the International Monetary Fund (IMF) which was then headed by a Frenchman, Michel Camdessus. The Italians lined up with them, also seeking to protect the IMF. The British, too, showed some initial reluctance, apprehending the erosion of authority of the new International Monetary and Financial Committee (IMFC), which the Chancellor of the Exchequer, Gordon Brown, was chairing, but eventually came round. The Canadians were supportive because they did want to see a broader consultative structure in consonance with the subtle Canadian penchant for imposing some kind of control on their mighty southern neighbour, the United States (US). The Japanese, an Asian

power, truly saw the need for more Asian participation to respond to the global financial crisis and hence backed it. The US was by far the most enthusiastic. Eventually, Washington, in a successfully executed response to the current politico-economic imperatives, managed to get the detractors round.

George W. Bush, the former U.S. President, hosted the first ever meeting of G20 leaders, creating the summit in Washington on 14-15 November 2008 to coordinate a global response to the recession. Bush felt that the time had surely come to hear out leaders of 'emerging' nations or in some cases "re-emerging" ones, as many nations including India, Turkey, Mexico, Brazil and Saudi Arabia would be heirs to great civilizational heritage. Gordon Brown, by this time Prime Minister, hosted the second summit in London on 1-2 April 2009. The new US President Barack Obama, organised the third summit in Pittsburg on 24-25 September 2009. The next event was held in Canada on 26-27 June 2010 and in South Korea on 11-12 November 2010. The G20 has already emerged as the premier forum for international economic cooperation.

G20 is to focus on a variety of concerns, some beyond its immediate raison d'être. They pumped, or at least committed that they would, more money into the IMF without any attempt to try reform the International Financial Institutions (IFIs) as they said they would. This generated criticism. Criticism was further generated by the fact that the G20 took upon itself the role to reform the IFIs in the first place, outside the framework of the UN, meaning without the participation of the vast majority of the world's nations. This was again something many countries disfavoured. Another homet's nest it touched was the endorsement of the Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development (OECD) approach of publishing 'black lists' and 'grey lists' of alleged tax-havens. It aroused the ire of countries like Switzerland, Monaco, Liechtenstein, and Singapore. Apprehensions were expressed as to where the line of intervention to be drawn. At the London meeting (of G20), financial centres became a major issue. There were much stronger negative reactions to the G20.

4.4.5.1 INDIA AND G-20

Communiqué issued at the end of the Rio+ Summit, Los Cabos (Mexico), June 20, 2012 came very close to India's stand on issues like Climate Change, Food Security, IMF Reforms, Removal of Poverty, Growth, Generation of Employment, and Un- earthling of Black Money etc. All these points were on the agenda of G-20 Summit that took place in Los Cabos, Mexico. G-20 resolved to promote growth and jobs. They committed to act together to strengthen recovery and address financial market tensions. The G-20 agreed on a coordinated Los Cabos Growth and Jobs Action Plan to achieve those goals. G-20 committed to reduce imbalances by strengthening deficit countries' public finances. For low income countries, G-20 intensifies its efforts to create a more conducive environment for development, including supporting infrastructure investment.

It is supporting economic stabilization and the global recovery. Strong, sustainable and balanced growth remained the top priority of the G20.

G-20 firmly committed to open trade and investment, expanding markets and resisting protectionism in all its forms, which are necessary conditions for sustained global economic recovery, jobs and development. It underlined the importance of an open, predictable, rules- based, transparent multilateral trading system and also committed to ensure the centrality of the World Trade Organization

(WTO). G-20 reaffirmed their commitment to implement in full the 2010 Quota and Governance Reform by the agreed date of the 2012 IMF/World Bank Annual Meetings. G-20 welcomed the interim progress report and look forward to the joint annual progress report to support the development of local currency bond markets to be prepared by the World Bank, Regional Development Banks, IMF, OECD and the Bank of International Settlements (BIS).

G-20 welcomed the Action Plan and the food security pillar of the Seoul Multi- Year Action Plan on Development with the influence and intense lobbying of India. It supported the G20 Agriculture Vice-Ministers' Report on the progress made on previous commitments and key recommendations on sustainably increasing agricultural productivity, containing inputs from several international organizations coordinated by the Food and Agriculture Organization (FAO) and the OECD. In order to fight hunger, G-20 committed to continue its efforts on its initiatives, including the Tropical Agriculture Platform, the Platform for Agricultural Risk Management, the GEO Global Agriculture Monitoring, research initiatives for wheat, rice and corn, the Rapid Response Forum, regional emergency food reserves, the Global Agriculture and Food Security Program and support for the Principles of Responsible Agriculture Investment.

Eradicating poverty and achieving strong, inclusive, sustainable and balanced growth remain core objectives of the G20 development agenda. G-20 reaffirmed its commitment to work with developing countries, particularly low income countries, and to support them in implementing the nationally driven policies and priorities which are needed to fulfil internationally agreed development goals, particularly the Millennium Development Goals Regarding Climate change, G-20 reiterated its commitment to fight climate change and welcome the outcome of the 17th Conference of the Parties to the UN climate change conferences. It is committed to the full implementation of the outcomes of Cancun and Durban and other conferences. It emphasized the need to structurally transform economies towards a climate friendly path over the medium term. It welcomed the creation of the G20 study group on climate finance, in order to consider ways to effectively mobilize resources taking into account the objectives, provisions and principles of the UNFCCC in line with the Cancun Agreement and ask to provide a progress report to Finance Ministers in November. G20 also supported the operationalization of the Green Climate Fund.

G-20 promised full implementation of the Seoul G20 Anti-Corruption Action Plan, and the commitments made in the Cannes Monitoring Report. It reiterated its commitment to the ratification and full implementation of the United Nations Convention against Corruption (UNCAC), and to more active engagement with the OECD working group on bribery on a voluntary basis. It committed to enforcing anti-corruption legislation that punishes both bribe givers and receivers. To help facilitate international cooperation among G20 and non-G20 governments in their investigation and prosecution of corruption, the G20 publish a guide on Mutual Legal Assistance, as well as information on tracing assets in G20 jurisdictions.

4.4.5.2 INDIA AND G20: A CRITICAL ASSESSMENT

Call it the Power of 20. It's the world's most powerful economic club, bringing together 20 most developed and emerging economies in the world, spread across five continents. The G20 comprises around 90 per cent of the global GDP, 80 per cent of the world trade and more than two-third of the world's population.

With the globalization of production, the phenomenon of 'factory Asia' (production flowing away to countries with cheaper labour) became more evident. While the growth reached practically every region of the world and encompassed dozens of developing countries, a handful of large developing countries—led by China, India, and Brazil—accounted for a major share of the global growth. Other emerging economies with large populations, such as Indonesia, Mexico, Russia, Turkey, and Vietnam, also grew at a rapid pace. China, in fact, was fast becoming a leading driver of the world economy. Larger size had economic repercussions in terms of both market and labour force. The balance of international economic power was shifting away from the United States and European powers that had dominated the world economy since the end of World War II to a few dozen developing countries located in Asia, Latin America, and the Middle East.

The long-standing distinction between advanced and developing countries, particularly for rising economic powers, was blurring. The advanced countries were still the richest countries in terms of per capita income, but their economies were no longer the largest, the fastest-growing, or the most dynamic. Rising economic powers were exerting greater influence in global trade and financial policies and in the multilateral institutions that have underpinned the global economy since World War II.

Several landmark reforms of International Financial Institutions were initiated at the behest of the G20 which heightened the expectation for bringing about fundamental changes in the functioning of the global institutions and in the global governance structure. Select mid-level emerging countries have been encouraging the major emerging countries to work within the G20 process, to gradually reshape the system of global economic governance from the inside. The goal of these states is advancing a reform "from the inside" agenda, of moving the world from a US/G7-centered system to one in which the emerging countries have more say in reform proposals, e.g. the proposal of reform in the lending norms of the international financial institutions floated by Indonesia, advocacy for, and implementing, institutional changes that further broaden the number of states that are actually consulted in global summitry, taken up by South Korea and South Africa etc. India as a member of the G20 has been actively engaged in Global Economic Governance and in shaping the World Order.

India, as an active member of the group, is significantly contributing to the global governance. India has proposed that the G20 group be used as a platform for matchmaking the private sector, including pension funds which are sitting on a huge cash pile, with countries that are in dire need of funds for developing infrastructure. If this plan is implemented, India would be one of the key beneficiaries and be able to attract financing for its massive infrastructure needs from pension funds, global companies, which are looking at attractive investment options that promise a stable and healthy rate of return.

The G20, in its meeting in Brisbane, agreed to set up a Global Infrastructure Hub with a four-year mandate. The hub is expected to contribute to develop a knowledge- sharing platform and network between governments, the private sector, development banks and other international organizations. The hub is expected to foster collaboration among various groups to improve the functioning and financing of infrastructure markets. The latest proposal from India is on similar lines but more focused on matching large investors with countries, which need long-term funds for shoring up infrastructure.

However, many see the rise of G20 with scepticism. Despite broadening of the elite group G-8 to

include emerging economies, the exclusivity of the G20 is questioned by some as it permanently excludes 173 countries. With no representation of low income economies and significant under representation of Africa (South Africa is the only African member country), the representational legitimacy is also questioned. Allegations of 'plurilateralism of the big', by which the vast majority of nations lose voice and influence on matters that affect them crucially, is also levelled against the group along with the charges of undermining the existing system of multilateral cooperation in institutions such as IMF, the World Bank and the UN.

Even within inside, the G20 has developed cracks very soon after its emergence as the interests of the developed countries and emerging countries differed considerably. One example for this is fissure on climate change. China, India, Brazil and other emerging economies of G20 considerably differed with OECD countries. Even in the finance track, where much of the earlier success of G20 has been achieved, the divisions are now sharp. There is an entrenched view the global financial architecture is loaded against emerging markets. Sudden increases in cross-border capital flows affect the exchange rate, credit volumes and asset prices depending upon the openness of a country's capital account. Recently India's Central Bank Governor Raghuram Rajan argued major central banks, particularly the US Federal Reserve, should account for the spillover effects of their ultra loose monetary policies on emerging economies. However, given the circumstances, it appears unlikely emerging economies will have any say in setting the global monetary policy agenda, especially when economic growth is weak and unemployment in OECD economies remains high. Similarly, the creation of New Development Bank under the Chinese umbrella, in which India is a member, also reflecting these countries frustrations with global financial institutions like IMF and World Bank as well as their governance.

Hence, the G20 initiative is indeed at a crossroads. When global recovery is at an uneven pace across countries and some parts of the world seem unable to get out of the possibility of double-dip recession, the G20 needs to segregate immediate concerns from long-term goals. A coordinated fiscal and monetary policy for advanced countries where recovery is weak should ensure that loose monetary policy in these countries does not lead to huge capital inflows to emerging markets, creating problems in exchange rate management and export competitiveness. In the medium term, the longevity of the G20 will be based on its ability to devise a framework for more inclusive global growth and on its ability to constructively move towards it.

CHECK YOUR PROGRESS 2

NOTE:	Use the space	given below	for your answers	. Use separate she	eet if space is r	not sufficient.
		6				

1.	What year was South Africa added to BRICS?	

2. Where is the BRICS New Development Bank headquartered?

3.	How often do BRICS members hold formal summits?
4	Which BRICS countries are part of the G20?

4.4.6 LET US SUM UP

The nations of Africa, Central and Latin America, and most of Asia - collectively known as the Global South - face great challenges and offer real opportunities. Political, social, and economic upheaval are prevalent in many of these nations; at the same time, the populations of the global South and their emerging markets offer immense hopes for economic growth, investment, and cultural contribution. The global "South," emerging and developing economies, is overtaking the global "North," advanced industrial countries in economic output, largely because of favourable demographic shifts, rising investments and increased productivity. While the developed world ages, the developing world is experiencing a youth boom. Rising education levels and incomes are making developing countries more competitive in the global economy and creating more powerful consumers.

Countries engaged in South-South cooperation do not like to be viewed as donors or recipients. Instead, they describe such cooperation as an expression of solidarity born out of shared experiences and sympathies, and guided by the principles of respect for national sovereignty and ownership.

In spite of the great strides made by developing countries as a group, it is important to recognize the remarkable diversity that prevails between individual countries in terms of their levels of growth. Such heterogeneity is underpinned by the proximity of their historical, cultural, and developmental experiences, lending to South-South partnerships their distinctive quality of solidarity and voluntariness. It offers a model of development cooperation that is typically demand-driven allowing for greater policy space for the partnering country unburdened by stringent conditionalities and accompanied by lower transaction costs. The challenge in the coming years is to capitalize on the success and growing dynamism of the larger developing countries and transfer them through sharing of expertise, resources, and experiences to other countries where it is needed most.

4.4.7 EXERCISES

1. How rise of global south changed dynamics in international relations?

- 2. What is the contribution of G-77 in protecting the interests of developing countries?
- 3. Do you agree with the proposition that the G20 is representing contemporary global reality and changing dynamics of international relations?
- 4. Write a note on BRICS grouping with reference to BRICS' New Development Bank.

4.4.8 SUGGESTED READINGS

Acharya, Amitav. The End of American World Order. 2nd ed. Cambridge: Polity Press, 2018.

Armijo, Leslie Elliott, ed. *The BRICS and Collective Financial Statecraft*. Oxford University Press, 2018.

Bajpaee, Chietigj. *China in India's Post-Cold War Engagement with Southeast Asia*. London: Routledge, 2022.

Cooper, Andrew F. "The BRICS' New Development Bank: Shifting from Material Leverage to Innovative Capacity?" *Global Policy* 7, no. 4 (2016): 603-611.

Gopalan, Saranya, and R. Raja. "BRICS and Global Governance: Challenges and Opportunities." *Global Policy* 10, no. 2 (2019): 245-259.

Hopewell, Kristen. "The BRICS – A Very Short Introduction." *International Affairs* 92, no. 2 (2016): 345-360.

Khurana, Gurpreet S. *The Indo-Pacific: Emerging Powers, Evolving Regions*. New Delhi: Pentagon Press, 2019.

Pant, Harsh V. "India and the Indo-Pacific: Changing Strategic Dynamics." *International Affairs* 95, no. 5 (2019): 1039-1056.

Pant, Harsh V., and Yogesh Joshi. *The US Pivot and Indian Foreign Policy: Asia's Evolving Balance of Power*. London: Palgrave Macmillan, 2016.

Roy, Rahul. "India's Role in the G20: Analyzing Its Impact on Global Financial Governance." *Journal of International Relations* 12, no. 2 (2019): 142-159.

Singh, Swaran. "India and the G20: Challenges of Representation and Global Governance." *International Studies* 48, no. 4 (2011): 389-407.

Smith, Stephen. "Australia's Indo-Pacific Strategy: Aligning with Partners." *Australian Journal of International Affairs* 73, no. 2 (2019): 157-173.

Stuenkel, Oliver. The BRICS and the Future of Global Order. Lexington Books, 2015.

Wong, Catherine. "The Rise of South-South Trade and Its Global Impact." *Journal of International Trade*, 34, no. 3 (2018): 45-60.